Inorganic Lanthanide Compounds with Complex Anions

Mathias S. Wickleder*

Köln, Institut für Anorganische Chemie, Universität zu Köln, Greinstrasse 6, D-50939 Köln, Germany

Received January 10, 2002

Contents

Ι.	Intr	oduction	2011
II.	Те	trahedral Anions	2012
	Α.	Silicates	2012
		1. Ortho-Silicates	2012
		2. Disilicates	2020
		3. Higher Silicates	2023
	B.	Phosphates	2025
		1. Ortho-Phosphates	2025
		2. Polyphosphates	2028
		3. Phosphonates and Phosphinates	2031
	C.	Sulfates	2033
		1. Sulfate Hydrates	2033
		2. Anhydrous Sulfates	2035
		3. Ternary Sulfates	2037
		4. Basic and Acidic Sulfates	2040
		5. Halide Sulfates	2044
		6. Amidosulfates	2045
		7. Methanesulfonates	2047
	D.	Selenates	2049
		1. Selenate Hydrates	2050
		2. Anhydrous Selenates	2051
		3. Ternary Selenates	2051
		4 Acidic Selenates	2052
	F.	Perchlorates	2053
		1. Perchlorate Hydrates	2053
		2. Anhydrous Perchlorates	2055
		3. Basic Perchlorates	2055
Ш.	Ρv	ramidal Anions	2056
	A.	Chalcogenites	2056
		1. Sulfites	2056
		2. Selenites	2057
		3. Selenate Selenites	2061
	B.	Halogenates	2062
	2.	1. Chlorates	2062
		2 Bromates	2062
		3. Iodates	2062
IV	Tri	angular Anions	2063
	A	Carbonates	2063
	7	1 Carbonate Hydrates	2064
		2 Basic Carbonates	2064
		3. Acidic Carbonates	2065
		4. Ternary Carbonates	2000
		5 Eluoride Carbonates	2000
	R	Nitrates	2000
	υ.	1 Nitrate Hydrates	2000
		2. Basic Nitrates	2069
			2007



Mathias S. Wickleder was born in Bergen, Germany, in 1965. He received his Dr. rer. nat. degree at the University of Hannover under the direction of Professor G. Meyer in 1994. Thereafter he joined the group of Professor H. U. Güdel, Bern, Switzerland, as a postdoctoral fellow for two years. In 2000 he finished his Habilitation at the Institute for Inorganic Chemistry in Cologne. His research interests include the structural chemistry and thermal behavior of rare-earth and transition-metal compounds with complex anions.

	3. Hydrous Ternary Nitrates	2072
	4. Anhydrous Ternary Nitrates	2073
V.	Bent and Linear Anions	2074
	A. Chlorites	2074
	B. Nitrites	2074
	C. Thiocyanates	2075
	D. Azides	2078
	E. Cyanamides	2078
	F. Cyanides	2079
VI.	Acknowledgement	2079
VII.	References	2079

I. Introduction

Complex anions play an important role in the chemistry of rare-earth elements. The most important natural sources of lanthanides are silicates such as *gadolinite*, phosphates such as *xenotime* and *monazite*, and carbonates such as *bastnasite*. In the early days of rare-earth chemistry double nitrates and double sulfates were used to separate the elements by means of fractional crystallization.¹ However, also when more sophisticated separation procedures such as chromatographic methods and solvent

* To whom correspondence should be addressed. Fax: 0221 470 5083. E-mail: mathias.wickleder@uni-koeln.de.

extraction were developed,² there was still considerable interest in these complex compounds. In the 1950s and 1960s both inorganic and organic ligands were used to prepare lanthanide complexes in order to investigate their properties in solution and in the solid state.³ However, structural investigations were only rarely done at that time. With the improvement of X-ray crystallography the number of crystal structure determinations increased dramatically, and during the last 25 years our knowledge of coordination numbers and geometries of rare-earth ions has improved remarkably. On the other hand, this knowledge is mainly restricted to those compounds which can be gained easily in single-crystalline form. Crystal growth is always easy to achieve from solution or from the melt. Growing from a melt requires a certain thermal stability of the compounds, while solution growth methods lead very often to solvent-containing complexes. Thus, crystal structures of solvent-free nitrates, carbonates, and others are still not known. This review will focus on the recent results of the structural characterization of rare-earth compounds with inorganic complex anions. In some cases the preparative aspects and selected properties will also be mentioned. Excluded are carboxylates which are not inorganic in a strictly sense and, of course, organic complexes which have been subject of various excellent reviews and which will be presented elsewhere. Although they have gained some attraction as catalysts, the triflates of the rare-earth elements are not considered in this review, not only because they might be seen as not typical inorganic, but more importantly because structural information of these compounds is still lacking, except for the nonahydrates. To not go beyond the scope of this review, some other interesting anions have been left out. For example, the rare-earth borates are not considered here but some recent papers on the crystal chemistry and properties of borates might be helpful substitutes.^{4,5} Also, octahedral or even larger anions are not regarded being aware that a lot of interesting chemistry has been done in that field.

A comprehensive review of rare-earth compounds with complex anions was presented in 1986 by Niinistö and Leskelä with a coverage of the literature until 1985.6,7 Also, Gmelin's handbook provides a good overview of the early literature.⁸ The present work strongly emphasizes the structural chemistry of the compounds under investigation and covers the results of roughly the last 20 years. However, to be comprehensive and attempting to provide helpful data at least the tables will include (to the best of the author's knowledge) all data of structurally characterized compounds known so far. Only those compounds will be considered for which X-ray singlecrystal data have been provided or for which at least high-quality Rietveld refinements have been performed. For many compounds several refinements have been carried out, and sometimes it is obvious that exactly the same data appear in different publications, presumably in a different context. Nevertheless, all of these references are included in the tables, and it is for the reader to decide which might be the appropriate paper for him.

If it seems worthwhile, known structures may be also described in the text, but new developments will be emphasized in more detail. As a guide throughout this review the shape of the respective anions shall serve. Starting with the tetrahedral anions (section II), which will provide the largest part, we will focus on tetra-atomic anions which might be pyramidal (section III) or planar (section IV) and then move to bent and linear anions (section V).

II. Tetrahedral Anions

A. Silicates

Silicates belong to the most important rare-earth minerals being a natural reservoir of the rare-earth elements. As examples, the minerals *thortveitite* (Sc₂- Si_2O_7) and *gadolinite* (Be₂FeY₂O₂(SiO₄)₂) may serve with the former being a mineral nearly pure in scandium. Due to the well-known tendency of the [SiO₄] tetrahedra to condense to disilicates, trisilicates, or even more extended polyanionic arrays, the number of different compositions is very large. Furthermore, due to the thermal stability of the silicates, the growth of single crystals is quite easy. Thus, there is a huge number of structurally characterized compounds (Tables 1–3). Extensive systematic studies were undertaken in the early 1970s by Felsche, who has summarized the results in an excellent review.9 Nevertheless, there are new developments especially in the crystal chemistry of halide silicates and transition-metal-containing silicates. Mainly these new findings are summarized in the following.

1. Ortho-Silicates

Interestingly, there is no simple *ortho*-silicate with the composition $M_4(SiO_4)_3$ for the trivalent rare-earth elements. On the other hand, with divalent europium, two modifications of Eu₂SiO₄ are known which adopt the monoclinic β -Ca₂SiO₄ and the orthorhombic α -K₂SO₄ type of structure, respectively.^{10,11} With the trivalent rare-earth ions, oxide silicates, M₂O(SiO₄), frequently occur. Two structures are known, called A- and B-type. In former times it was believed that the A-type is adopted by the larger lanthanides La-Tb and the B-type by the smaller ones Tb-Lu.9,12-16 However, recent studies showed that the oxide silicates with M = Dy-Lu, Y may also be obtained in the A-type structure, so that a dimorphism with the A-type as the low-temperature form and the B-type as the high-temperature form can be assumed.^{17,18} Both types of structures are similar in the sense that they contain oxide-centered [OM₄] tetrahedra as the characteristic structural feature. In the A-type the tetrahedra are linked to a two-dimensional network according to ${}^{2}_{m}$ [O(M1)_{1/1}-(M2)_{3/3}]⁴⁺, while anti-SiS₂ type chains ${}^{1}_{m}$ [O(M1)_{2/2}-(M2)_{2/2}]⁴⁺ are found in the B-type structure (Figure 1) 1). Charge compensation is achieved by the SiO_4^{4-} anions. The coordination numbers for the crystallographically different M³⁺ ions is seven and nine for the A-type and six and seven in the B-type, respectively.

The substitution of the oxygen atom which is not part of the SiO_4^{4-} tetrahedron for the heavier chal-

Table 1. Crystallographic Data of Ortho-Silicates

				lattice para	meters			
compound	space group	a/Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
Eu ₂ SiO ₄	Pnma	7.137(3)	5.665(2)	9.767(3)				10
Eu_2SiO_4	$P2_{1}/c$	5.661	7.101	11.518		122.01		11
		chalco	ogenide-silica	tes				
$Gd_2(SiO_4)O$	$P2_{1}/c$	9.120(10)	7.060(10)	6.730(10)		107.6(2)	100.0(1)	12
$Y b_2(SiO_4)O$ $Y (SiO_4)O$	B112/D	14.28(1) 10.410(2)	10.28(1) 6 721(2)	6.653(5)		102 65(9)	122.2(1)	13
$Y_2(SiO_4)O$	$\frac{12}{12}$ B112/b	14 590	10 520	6 820		102.03(2)	122 25	14
$Tm_2(SiO_4)O$	$\frac{D112}{P2_1/c}$	9.0017(7)	6.7874(4)	6.6271(4)		105.44(1)	122.20	18
Lu ₂ (SiO ₄)O	$P2_{1}/c$	8.987(1)	6.706(1)	6.5951(7)		104.18(1)		18
$Er_2(SiO_4)O$	$P2_1/c$	8.9964(9)	6.8328(6)	6.6503(7)		105.95(1)		18
$Nd_2(SiO_4)Se$ L $2_2(SiO_4)Se$	Pbcm	6.182(2) 6.270(4)	7.174(2)	11.024(2) 11.177(7)				19
Er ₂ (SiO ₄)Se	Pbcm	6.002(2)	6.880(2)	10.752(2)				21
$Pr_2(SiO_4)Te$	Pbcm	6.3370(3)	7.2442(4)	11.2513(8)				22
Pr ₂ (SiO ₄)Te	$P2_{1}/c$	9.8990(7)	6.4803(4)	8.7068(7)		94.31(1)		22
		ha	lide-silicates					
$La_3(SiO_4)_2Cl$	$\frac{C2}{c}$	14.512(2)	6.526(7)	8.844(2)		98.35(1)		23
$Pr_3CI(SiO_4)_2$ Nd ₂ CI(SiO_4)_2	$C_{2/c}$	14.300(2) 14.166(1)	6.430(1) 6.3870(6)	8.754(2) 8.7221(0)		98.36(2) 98.40(1)		24 25
$Nd_2Cl(SiO_4)_2$	Pnma	7.0936(7)	18.157(2)	6.3148(6)		30.40(1)		25
$Sm_3Cl(SiO_4)_2$	Pnma	7.0174(8)	18.008(2)	6.2663(7)				26
Sm ₃ Cl(SiO ₄) ₂	Pmna	7.023(2)	18.022(4)	6.282(3)				27
$Y_3Cl(SiO_4)_2$	Pnma	6.8584(4)	17.752(1)	6.1865(4)				28
$1D_3(SIU_4)_2CI$ Cd ₂ Br(SiO ₄) ₂	PNMA Imma	6.731(2) 6.960(3)	17.556(8)	6.129(2) 6.284(2)				29 31
$Ce_3Cl_5(SiO_4)_2$	Pnma	16.197(2)	4.1526(4)	14.236(1)				32
$La_3Cl_5(SiO_4)$	Pnma	16.225(2)	4.262(1)	14.238(2)				33
$Eu_5Cl_6(SiO_4)$	$C_{2/c}$	9.004(1)	14.017(2)	11.123(2)		103.51(1)		34
$La_2 I_2(SiO_4)$	P_1	8.479(4)	8.574(4)	11.95(2)	99.6(1)	108.3(2)	90.1(1)	35
$La_{212}(SiO_4)$ La ₇ OF ₇ (SiO ₄)	$\frac{PZ_1}{C}$	8.474(3) 10.7020(1)	18.7089(2)	22.30(3) 9.7906(1)		123.15(1)		35 36
		anatit	e-derived silics	atos		(_)		
La _{4.67} (SiO ₄) ₃ O	$P6_3/m$	9.550		7.140				37
Ce _{4.67} (SiO ₄) ₃ O	$P6_3/m$	9.736		7.116				38
$Gd_{4.67}(SiO_4)_{3O}$	$P6_3/m$	9.45(1)		6.87(1)				39
$Sm_{4.67}(SiO_4)_3O$ $Sm_{4.67}(SiO_4)_3N_2$	$P_{0_3/M}$	9.550 9.517(6)		7.140 6.981(4)				37
$CaLa_4(SiO_4)_{3}O$	$P_{6_3/m}$	9.651(1)		7.155(1)				40
$NaPr_9S_2(SiO_4)_6$	$P6_3/m$	9.8105(4)		6.8968(2)				42
$NaSm_9S_2(SiO_4)_6$	$P6_3/m$	9.7532(9)		6.7646(7)				43
$KNd_9(SiO_4)_6O_2$	$P6_3$	9.576(2)		7.009(2)				44
$Ca_{2}Nd_{8}(SiO_{4})_{6}O_{2}$	$P_{0_3/III}$ $P_{0_2/m}$	9.5291(5) 9.5303(4)		7.0222(1) 7.0147(1)				40 46
$MnSm_4(SiO_4)_3O$	$P6_3/m$	9.444(2)		6.829(2)				47
$Er_6Pb_3(SiO_4)_6$	$P6_3/m$	9.642		6.780				48
$Ca_{2.2}Nd_{7.8}(SiO_4)_6O_{1.9}$	$P6_3/m$	9.5300(4)		7.0147(1)				46
$Nd_4Mn(SiO_4)_3O$	$P6_3/m$	9.4986(9)		6.9436(5)				49 50
$La_{9,21}(Si_{1,04}\Omega_4)_{3}O$	P_{6_2}	9.502(2) 9.699(1)		7.075(1) 7 125(1)				51
$(Li_{0.142}Sm_{0.756})_2Sm_3Si_3O_{12.91}$	$P6_3/m$	9.4601(1)		6.9113(1)				52
$La_{7.58}(Si_{1.048}O_4)_6(H_2O)_2$	$P6_3$	9.629(1)		7.059(2)				51
$La_3Nd_{11}(SiO_4)_9O_3$	$P6_3/m$	9.638(2)		21.350(8)				53
$\operatorname{NaY}_9(SIO_4)_6O_2$ Fu ₂ (SiO ₄) ₂ F	$P_{0_3/M}$	9.334(2) 9.5470(0)		6.759(1) 7.0416(6)				54 55
$Yb_5(SiO_4)_3S$	$P6_{3}/m$	9.7236(9)		6.4849(6)				55
		tei	rnary silicates					
LiTm(SiO ₄)	Pnma	10.7896(2)	6.2677(2)	4.898(1)				56
NaNdSiO ₄	$Pna2_1$	20.000	9.280	5.450				57
$NaSmSiO_4$	I4/m I4/	11.800		5.450				58
NaGu(SIO4) NaYSiO4	14/111 Pc?n	5.128(1)	6.393(1)	5.410 11.135(3)				59 60
NaYSiO ₄	$Pbn2_1$	4.950	11.300	6.300				61
LiYSiO ₄	$P112_{1}/b$	5.368(5)	10.806(6)	6.191(5)			113.40(2)	62
LiScSiO ₄	Pbnm	4.8214(7)	10.444(1)	5.973(1)				63
$Y_4 I1(SiO_4)_2 OF_6$	Cmcm Ā	14.949(4)	10.626(2)	7.043(2)				64 65
1Na514(SIO4)4F Li2EuSiO4	14 P3.21	5.0270(5)		5.590(1) 12.470(2)				00 66
Eu_3 (BSiO ₆)(SiO ₄)	Pbca	9.673(1)	6.992(3)	22.867(3)				67
Gd ₃ (BSiO ₆)(SiO ₄)	Pbca	9.630(1)	6.959(1)	22.792(3)				68
$Ce_3(BSiO_6)(SiO_4)$	Pbca	9.9007(6)	7.2036(4)	23.292(2)				69

 $Ba_9Sc_2(SiO_4)_6$

^a Pushcharovsky, D. Yu.; Arakcheeva, A. V.; Voloshin, A. V.; Zubkova, N. V.; Lubman, G. U. *Kristallografiya* **1999**, *44*, 458. ^b Hughes, J. M.; Foord, E. E.; Jai-Nhuknan, J.; Bell, J. M. *Can. Miner* **1996**, *34*, 817. ^c Zhang, J.-H.; Fang, Z.; Liao, L.-B. *Kuangwue Xuebao* **1992**, *12*, 131. ^d Mill, B. V.; Belokoneva, E. L.; Simonov, M. A.; Belov, N. V. Zh. Struk. Khim. **1977**, *18*, 399. ^e Wang, L.-H.; Schneemeyer, L. F.; Cava, R. J.; Siegrist, T. J. Solid State Chem. **1994**, *113*, 211.

21.9376(7)

9.8716(2)



R3

Figure 1. Crystal structures of the two modifications (A-type and B-type) of the oxide silicates $M_2O(SiO_4)$.

cogenides Se and Te is possible and leads to the selenide and telluride *ortho*-silicates $M_2X(SiO_4)$ (X = Se,^{19–21} Te²²), which also adopt two different structure types, again named A- and B-type. The structures shall be described for $Pr_2Te(SiO_4)$ because for this compound both modifications were confirmed by X-ray single-crystal determinations.²² Single crystals were obtained on reacting Pr, TeO₂, and SiO₂ in silica ampules with CsCl as a flux. The A-type has an orthorhombic crystal structure with alternating layers of the composition [Pr(2)Te]⁺ and [Pr(1)(SiO_4)]⁻ parallel to (001) (Figure 2a). Pr(1)³⁺ is surrounded by six oxygen atoms and three Te²⁻ ions, whereas Pr-(2)²⁺ is surrounded by six oxygen atoms and four

telluride ions. In contrast, the monoclinic crystal structure of the B-type consists of double layers [(Pr- $(1)Te)_2$]²⁺ and [(Pr(2)(SiO₄))₂]²⁻ which are alternating stacked in the [100] direction (Figure 2b). For the cations a coordination number of eight (Pr(2), 4O²⁻ and 4Te²⁻) and nine (Pr1, 8O²⁻ and 1Te²⁻) results. Figure 2 compares both structures.

Halide ortho-silicates of the rare-earth elements are mainly known with Cl⁻ as the halide component. Those with the composition $M_3Cl(SiO_4)_2$ crystallize either in a monoclinic (A-type) or an orthorhombic (B-type) modification.^{23–29} The A-type occurs with the larger M³⁺ ions and the B-type with the smaller ones (cf. Table 1). Dimorphism has been observed for Nd₃- $Cl(SiO_4)_2$, and both structure types were established by X-ray data.²⁵ Each of them contains anionic double layers $[(Nd1)_2(SiO_4)_2]^{2-}$ and cationic monolayers $[(Nd2)Cl]^{2+}$ which are stacked alternating in the [100] (A-type) and [010] direction (B-type), respectively. As can be judged from Figure 3, the packing of the double layers is more dense in the A-type structure. This leads to higher coordination numbers for the two different Nd³⁺ ions in A–Nd₃Cl(SiO₄)₂ (Nd(1) 1Cl⁻, $8O^{2-}$; Nd(2) 2Cl⁻, $8O^{2-}$) compared to B-Nd₃Cl(SiO₄)₂ (Nd(1) 1Cl⁻, 7O²⁻; Nd(2) 2Cl⁻, 6O²⁻). Due to its higher density, the A-type has been assumed to be adopted even with the smaller M³⁺ ions under high pressure. This was confirmed by high-pressure X-ray powder diffraction recently.³⁰ The only structurally investigated bromide ortho-silicate known so far is $Gd_3Br(SiO_4)_2$.³¹ It has, in principle, the B-type structure of the chloride compounds, but the symmetry of the unit cell is slightly higher now (Imma instead of Pnma, cf. Table 1) due to a slightly different orientation of the SiO_4^{4-} tetrahedra (Figure 3). With La₃-Cl₅(SiO₄) and Ce₃Cl₅(SiO₄), two examples of chlorinerich chloride ortho-silicates are known.^{32,33} They are isotypic and show a certain similarity to the trichlorides LaCl₃ and CeCl₃ (UCl₃ type of structure) when four Cl⁻ ions of the tripled formula are substituted for SiO₄^{4–}. For the discrete silicate anions a statistical distribution on two cyrstallographic positions is found. A chloride ortho-silicate is also known for divalent europium with the composition $Eu_5Cl_6(SiO_4)$. It contains three crystallographically different Eu²⁺ ions which are in 8- and 9-fold coordination of oxygen atoms and chloride ligands.³⁴

Table 2. Crystallographic Data of Disilicates

				lattice para	meters			
compound	space group	a/Å	b/Å	c/Å	α/°	<i>β</i> /°	γ/°	ref
			pure disilicate	8				
$La_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P4_1$	6.846(3)		24.855(5)				80
$La_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P2_{1}/c$	5.4075(8)	8.792(1)	14.199(3)		111.93(2)		81
$La_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P2_1/c$	5.4109(6)	8.7976(8)	14.287(1)		112.74(2)		82
$Ce_2(Si_2O_7)$	PZ_1/c	5.401(1)	8.723(1)	14.169(2)		112.61(6)		82
$La_2(Sl_2U_7)$	PZ_1/C	7.2614(4)	23.5320(8)	10.1311(5)		90.16(1)		83
$La_2(Sl_2U_7)$	$P4_1$	0.8383(7)	6 9664(4)	24.730(4) 12 5022(9)	99 59(1)	99 02(1)	99 06(1)	84
$La_2(SI_2O_7)$ $Co_2(Si_2O_7)$	P2./n	13 080	0.0004(4) 8 797	5 405	62.55(1)	00.03(1) 00.13	00.90(1)	04 85
$Ce_2(Si_2O_7)$	$\frac{P_{1}}{P_{2}}$	5 4116(7)	8 742(2)	14 158(3)		112 26(1)		86
$Pr_{2}(Si_{2}O_{7})$	$P4_1$	6 766	0.742(2)	24 608		112.20(1)		87
$Pr_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P2_1/c$	5.405	8.674	14.082		112.50		88
$Pr_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P4_1$	6.769(1)	01011	24.607(5)		110100		9
$Pr_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P4_1$	6.769		24.607				89
$Pr_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P2_1/c$	5.407(1)	8.679(1)	14.082(2)		112.53(7)		89
$Nd_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P4_1$	6.738(2)		24.532(3)				90
$Nd_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	5.394(5)	12.95(1)	8.72(1)				91
$Nd_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P2_12_12_1$	5.394(5)	12.95(1)	8.72(1)				92
$Sm_2(Si_2O_7)$	<i>P</i> 1	8.553(5)	12.849(5)	5.392(2)	91.08(2)	88.61(4)	89.68(4)	93
$Sm_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P4_1$	6.695(5)		24.40(2)				94
$Eu_2(Si_2O_7)$	$Pna2_1$	13.914	5.055	8.349				9
$Gd_2(Sl_2U_7)$	$Pnaz_1$	13.870	5.073	8.330				95
$Gu_2(Si_2O_7)$ Ho. (Si_2O_7)	$PIId\lambda_1$ Dno9	13.87(2) 13.681(4)	5.075(5)	0.33(1) 9.197(9)				92
$H_{02}(Si_2O_7)$	$\overline{P_1}$	6.612(4)	4.557(3) 6.660(4)	12.107(2)	85 81(2)	80 38(3)	88 57(3)	02 06
$Fr_{0}(Si_{0}O_{7})$	C^{2}/m	6.849(1)	8 940(1)	4 7222(5)	00.01(2)	101 81(1)	00.07(0)	97
$Er_2(Si_2O_7)$	C2/m	6.843(2)	8.939(2)	4.720(1)		101.77(2)		98
$Er_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P112_{1}/b$	4.683(5)	5.556(5)	10.79(1)		101111(1)	96.0(2)	92
$Er_2(Si_2O_7)$	$P112_{1}/b$	4.683(5)	5.556(5)	10.79(1)			96.0(2)	99
$Yb_2(Si_2O_7)$	C2	6.802(5)	8.875(5)	4.703(5)		102.1(2)		100
$Yb_2(Si_2O_7)$	A2/m	4.715(1)	8.870(3)	6.805(3)		102.0(1)		101
$Yb_2(Si_2O_7)$	C2/m	6.7988(3)	8.8759(4)	4.7101(3)		101.98(1)		97
$Yb_2(Si_2O_7)$	C2/m	6.802(5)	8.875(10)	4.703(5)		102.12(3)		92
$Y_2(Si_2O_7)$	Pnam	13.665(5)	5.016(3)	8.139(3)				102
$Y_2(Si_2O_7)$	$Pna2_1$	13.6650(1)	5.0166(1)	8.1494(1)		110.0(0)		97
$Y_2(Sl_2U_7)$	PZ_1/M	7.50(3)	8.06(3)	5.02(2)		112.0(9)		103
$Y_2(SI_2U_7)$ (V L 2)(Si 0)	PZ_1/a	5.344 5.275(1)	10.780	4.000		90.10		104
$(1_{1.335}La_{0.665})(S1_2O_7)$ Sca(SiaO_2)	$F \mathcal{L}_{1}^{\prime} \mathcal{L}$	0.287(1)	0.309(1)	13.803(1)		111.79(1)		105
$Sc_2(Si_2O_7)$	$\frac{P2}{m}$	6503(2)	8 498(3)	4 682(2)		102 77(7)		107
$Sc_2(Si_2O_7)$	C^2/m	6.542(5)	8 519(5)	4.669(5)		102.6(2)		108
$Sc_2(Si_2O_7)$	C_2/m	6.560	8.580	4.740		103.13		109
$Sc_2(Si_2O_7)$	C2/m	6.5304(4)	8.5208(4)	4.6806(5)		102.63(1)		110
$(Sc_{1.2}Y_{0.8})(Si_{1.95}Al_{0.04}O_7)$	C2/m	6.650(1)	8.616(1)	4.686(1)		102.20(1)		111
(Sc _{1.4} Y _{0.6})(Si _{1.96} Al _{0.05} O ₇)	C2/m	6.587(1)	8.547(1)	4.695(1)		103.65(1)		112
$(Sc_{1.7}Y_{0.3})(Si_{1.96}Al_{0.05}O_7)$	C2/m	6.582(1)	8.555(1)	4.693(1)		102.59(1)		112
$(Sc_{1.94}Y_{0.06})(Si_{1.97}Al_{0.06}O_7)$	C2/m	6.527(1)	8.507(1)	4.691(1)		102.78(1)		112
		chalocoger	nide and halide	disilicates				
$La_4Se_3(Si_2O_7)$	I4 ₁ /amd	12.285(1)		14.699(1)				118
$La_4S_3(Si_2O_7)$	I4 ₁ /amd	12.098(3)		14.379(5)				119
$Ce_4Se_3(Si_2O_7)$	I4 ₁ /amd	12.217(1)		14.566(2)				120
$Pr_4Se_3(Si_2O_7)$	$I4_1/amd$	12.154(1)		14.455(3)				121
$Pr_4S_3(Sl_2O_7)$	I4 ₁ /amd	12.016(1)		14.120(2)				122
$Nd_4Se_3(Sl_2U_7)$	14 ₁ /amd	12.099(1)		14.387(3) 14.064(2)				120
$\operatorname{Nu}_{4}\operatorname{S}_{3}(\operatorname{SI}_{2}\operatorname{U}_{7})$ Sm S (Si O)	I41/amd	11.960(1) 11.920(5)		14.004(2) 12.028(5)				121
$SIII_4S_3(SI_2O_7)$ Sm $So_2(Si_2O_7)$	I41/amd	12.039(3)		13.920(3) 14.911(9)				121
$\operatorname{Sm}_4\operatorname{Se}_3(\operatorname{Si}_2\operatorname{O}_7)$	M_1/amd	12.013(1) 11 864(1)		13.870(2)				121
$Gd_4Se_2(Si_2O_7)$	I_1/amd	11.940(1)		14.105(2)				121
$Er_4S_3(Si_2O_7)$	I_4/amd	11.646(1)		13.473(2)				121
$Yb_4S_3(Si_2O_7)$	I4 ₁ /amd	11.543(1)		13.322(1)				124
$La_3(Si_2O_7)Cl_3$	$P2_1$	5.364(8)	12.148(9)	7.922(4)		108.87(6)		125
$Pr_3Cl_3(Si_2O_7)$	$P2_1$	5.3096(6)	12.002(1)	7.8311(8)		109.07(1)		126
$Er_4F_2(Si_2O_7)(SiO_4)$	$P\overline{1}$	6.4849(5)	6.6035(5)	13.244(1)	87.45(1)	85.79(1)	60.82(1)	127
		te	ernary disilicat	es				
Na ₃ Lu(Si ₂ O ₇)	$P6_3/m$	9.385(1)	<u> </u>	13.716(2)				128
$K_3Nd(Si_2O_7)$	$P6_3/mcm$	10.025(1)		14.526(1)				129
Na ₃ Tm(Si ₂ O ₇)	$P6_3$	9.387(2)		13.717(4)				130
$Na_3Y(Si_2O_7)$	$P6_3/m$	9.422(1)	0.0.0	13.790(2)				131
$Na_3Sc(Si_2O_7)$	Pbnm	5.354(3)	9.347(4)	13.089(4)				132
$Na_6YSC(Si_2O_7)_2$	P_{0_3}	10.726(2)		13.491(3)				133
$1Na_6 Y SC(S1_2U_7)_2$	$P0_3$	10.726		13.491				134

 Table 3. Crystallographic Data of Higher Silicates

				lattice para	meters			
compound	space group	<i>a</i> /Å	bځ	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
Y ₃ F(Si ₃ O ₁₀)	$P2_1/n$	7.3038(5)	11.1247(8)	10.3714(7)		97.24(1)		142
$(Y_{2.7}Er_{0.3})F(Si_3O_{10})$	$P2_1/n$	7.318(2)	11.134(3)	10.379(3)		97.2(1)		143
$Dy_3F(Si_3O_{10})$ Here $F(Si_2O_{10})$	$P2_1/n$	7.3406(6)	11.1655(9) 11.1168(0)	10.4062(8)		97.28(1) 97.24(1)		144
$Er_{2}F(Si_{2}O_{10})$	$P2_1/n$	7.2789(6)	11.0702(9)	10.3521(8)		97.24(1) 97.21(1)		144
$Y_3(OH)(Si_3O_{10})$	$P_{1}^{1}12_{1}/n$	10.343(5)	7.294(6)	11.093(8)			97.3(1)	145
$La_3F_3(Si_3O_9)$	P62 <i>c</i>	7.0832(3)		10.8948(6)				146
$Ce_3(Si_3O_6N_3)$	P62c	7.256		9.459				147
$Y_3(Si_3O_6N_3)$	P11m	7.021	7.021	9.100			120.0	147
$Y_3(Si_3O_6N_3)$	Cmcm	12.161	7.021	9.100			12010	149
KEu ₂ (Si ₄ O ₁₀)F	$P2_1/n$	11.499(3)	8.488(2)	11.626(4)		112.10(1)		X
$Na_2MgGd_2(Si_4O_{12})F_2$	$P2_1/c$	5.178(3)	7.510(2)	14.381(4) 11 5615(0)		90.22(2) 103.28(1)		W 151
$N_{a}BaNd_{a}(Si_{4}O_{12})$	Pcmn	6.9522(7)	13.463(3)	14.027(1)		103.28(1)		151 a
$Nd_2Ba_2(Si_4O_{13})$	$P\bar{1}$	6.657(1)	8.924(2)	10.084(1)	86.44(1)	73.58(1)	86.24(1)	115
$Na_4Sc_2(Si_4O_{13})$	$Pna2_1$	14.442(3)	5.288(1)	14.219(4)				116
$Eu_2Cl_2(SiO_3)$	14/m D2 m	11.187(5)		9.526(1)				152
$Na_6Eu_3(SI_6O_{18})$ $V_4(Si_9O_7N_9)$	$\frac{RSIII}{P2}/c$	75601(2)	10 4411(3)	13.467(2) 10.7626(3)		110.04(1)		155 h
$Na_{15}Lu_3(Si_{12}O_{36})$	R32	21.926(4)	10.1111(0)	12.556(2)		110.01(1)		154
$Na_{15}Lu_3(Si_{12}O_{36})$	R32	21.926(4)		12.556(2)				155
$Na_{15}Dy_3(Si_{12}O_{36})$	$R_{3}^{3}c$	22.096(5)		12.619(4)				156
$Ag_{15}Ho_3(Si_{12}O_{36})$ N2. Vb. (Si. O)	R_{3c}	22.175(5) 21.060(5)		12.863(4)				157
$Na_{15}Yb_{2}(Si_{12}O_{26})$	$R\bar{3}c$	22.082(5)		12.716(9)				158
$Ag_{15}Yb_3(Si_{12}O_{36})$	$R\bar{3}c$	22.077(4)		12.814(3)				158
$Na_{15}Y_3(Si_{12}O_{36})$	$R\bar{3}c$	22.062(8)		12.621(4)				159
$Na_{15}Y_3(Si_{12}O_{36})$	R_{3c}	22.109(9)		12.692(5)				159
$Na_{15} I_3(SI_{12}O_{36})$ $Na_{15} V_2(Si_{12}O_{26})$	$R\bar{3}c$	22.000 22.035(1)		12.010				161
$Na_{15}Sc_3(Si_{12}O_{36})$	$R\bar{3}c$	21.679(3)		12.001(1) 12.441(2)				162
K ₃ H ₀ (Si ₃ O ₉)	$P2_1mn$	13.949(8)	12.905(7)	5.857(5)				163
$K_6Lu_2(Si_6O_{18})$	$Pm2_1n$	14.011(2)	12.919(2)	5.853(2)				165
$K_3H0(SI_3U_9)$ NavV(SivOv)	Pmz_1n P2.2.2.	13.949(8)	12.905(7) 15 142(1)	5.857(5) 15.213(1)				164
La(BSiO ₅)	$P3_1$	6.815(1)	10.142(1)	6.758(1)				168
$La(B_{0.95}SiO_{4.93})$	$P3_{1}21$	6.839(2)		6.782(1)				169
La(BSiO ₅)	$P_{3_1}21$	6.827(2)		6.779(2)				170
$Ce(BSiO_5)$	$P3_1$	6.85(3)		6.70(3) 6.700(4)				171
La(BSiO ₅)	$P3_1$	6.874(1)		6.717(3)				172
Nd(BSiO ₅)	$P3_{1}21$	6.8035(4)		6.6487(3)				174
$La(B_{0.95}SiO_{4.93})$	$P3_1$	6.876(2)		6.747(1)				175
$La(BSiO_5)$	$P3_1$	6.838(2)	14 094(2)	6.773(2)				176
$K_3Nd(Si_6O_{15})$ $K_2Nd(Si_2O_{15})$	Pham	15 951(5)	14.984(3) 14.909(4)	7 260(2)				178
$Na_3Y(Si_6O_{15})$	Ibmm	10.468(2)	15.247(1)	8.3855(6)				179
$Na_2LiY(Si_6O_{15})$	Cmca	14.505(1)	17.596(1)	10.375(1)				180
$K_2Ce(Si_6O_{15})$	B112/b	17.661(6)	11.854(4)	8.698(2)			132.32(1)	181
$Na_{3} I (SI_{6}O_{15})$ NaPr(Si_{6}O_{14})	Tham	14.744(8) 7.682(2)	17.044(0) 15 445(3)	19.724(6)				c d
NaNd(Si ₆ O ₁₄)	Ibam	7.662(5)	15.392(5)	19.679(7)				d
$Ca_{3}Y_{2}(Si_{3}O_{9})_{2}$	C2/c	13.320(3)	7.729(2)	14.785(2)				е
$*Ca_3Sc_2(Si_3O_{12})$	la3d Drumh	12.220	10 10(1)	F 007(9)				f
$K_3 I (SI_3O_8) (OH)_2$ LiSc(Si ₂ O ₂)	$\frac{P_{IIIID}}{C_{2}}$	98033(7)	8 9581(7)	5.807(2) 5.3515(4)		110 28(1)		g h
$Y_{0.5}(Si_{2.25})(N_{15,25}O_{0.75})$	$P3_1c$	7.8295(1)	0.0001(1)	5.7077(1)		110.20(1)		i
$Y_{0.5}(Si_{9.3}Al_{2.7})(N_{15.1}O_{0.9})$	$P3_1c$	7.8293(1)		5.7076(1)				j
$Na(In_{0.80}Sc_{0.20})(Si_2O_6)$	$\frac{C2}{c}$	9.8907(5)	9.1164(2)	5.3623(3)		107.20(1)		k
$Na(In_{0.65}Sc_{0.35})(Si_2O_6)$	$C^{2/c}$	9.8782(5)	9.1043(2) 9.1008(3)	5.3582(3)		107.19(1)		K k
$Na(In_{0.55}Sc_{0.45})(Si_2O_6)$	C2/c	9.8734(5)	9.0947(2)	5.3570(3)		107.19(1)		k
$Na(In_{0.50}Sc_{0.50})(Si_2O_6)$	C2/c	9.8701(4)	9.0901(2)	5.3559(2)		107.18(1)		k
$Na(In_{0.40}Sc_{0.60})(Si_2O_6)$	C2/c	9.8634(6)	9.0827(3)	5.3542(4)		107.17(1)		k,
$1 \times a(1n_{0.20} \otimes c_{0.80}) (S1_2 \cup c_6)$ CaSc(Si_0)(OH)	Cz/c	9.8059(5) 9.701(8)	9.0848(2)	5.3553(3) 7.076(6)	98 91 (8)	107.18(1) 102.63(8)	84 17(8)	K I
CaSc(AlSiO ₆)	$\frac{C1}{C2/c}$	9.884(2)	8.988(1)	5.446(1)	50.51(0)	105.86(1)	01.17(0)	
$(Mg_{38.63}Sc_{3.10})(Li_{1.16}Si_{0.07})Si_{40}O_{127}$	P2/a	9.429(2)	8.748(2)	27.038(8)		93.25(2)		n
$(Mg_{28.40}Sc_{4.62})Li_{1.33}Si_{32}O_{100}$	P2/a	9.429(2)	8.741(1)	21.808(6)		91.20(2)		n
$(1NaSc)(Sl_2U_6)$ NaSc (Si_2O_2)	C2/c	9.8438(4) 0.827(1)	9.0439(4)	5.3540(2)		107.21(1)		0
1 100(01206)	Chil	0.007(1)	0.0000(0)	J.J400(U)		101.10(1)		p

Table 3. (Continued)

			lat	tice parameter	S			
compound	space group	a/Å	b∕Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
$Ca_3Y_2(SiO_4)_3$	Pnma	6.536(4)	15.626(3)	10.029(2)				q
$(Li_{0.3}Mg_{0.7})(Sc_{0.3}Mg_{0.7})(Si_2O_6)$	Pbcn	9.251(2)	8.773(2)	5.377(1)				r
$Ca_2Y_2O_2(Si_2O_7)$	Pnma	10.453(3)	3.720(2)	10.290(2)				S
$(Mg_{1.54}Li_{0.23}Sc_{0.23})(Si_2O_6)$	Pbcn	9.2554(4)	8.7650(5)	5.3333(2)				t
$(Mg_{1.54}Li_{0.23}Sc_{0.23})(Si_2O_6)$	Pbcn	9.2351(6)	8.7310(7)	5.3216(2)				t
$(Mg_{1.54}Li_{0.23}Sc_{0.23})(Si_2O_6)$	Pbcn	9.2178(6)	8.7039(6)	5.3119(4)				t
$(Mg_{1.54}Li_{0.23}Sc_{0.23})(Si_2O_6)$	$P2_1cn$	9.1167(4)	8.7857(4)	5.1837(2)				t
$(Mg_{1.54}Li_{0.23}Sc_{0.23})(Si_2O_6)$	$P2_1cn$	9.0877(5)	8.7526(5)	5.1531(3)				t
$(Mg_{1.54}Li_{0.23}Sc_{0.23})(Si_2O_6)$	$P2_1cn$	9.0548(6)	8.7120(6)	5.1209(3)				t
$(Mg_{1.54}Li_{0.23}Sc_{0.23})(Si_2O_6)$	$P2_1cn$	9.0219(7)	8.6711(6)	5.093(4)				t
$(Mg_{1.54}Li_{0.23}Sc_{0.23})(Si_2O_6)$	$P2_1cn$	8.9921(8)	8.6310(7)	5.0659(5)				t
$K_2 \tilde{S}c(Si_2O_6)(OH)$	Pbam	12.725(4)	12.741(6)	8.441(3)				u
$(Mg_{39.20}Sc_{2.56})(Mg_{0.08}Si_{0.44})Si_{40}O_{124}$	P2/a	9.424(2)	8.738(2)	27.021(8)		93.2(1)		V
$(Mg_{31.24}Sc_{2.76})(Mg_{0.60}Si_{0.04})Si_{32}O_{100}$	P2/a	9.434(1)	8.731(1)	21.791(4)		91.30(5)		V
$(Mg_{34.80}Sc_{2.98})(Mg_{0.32}Si_{0.24})Si_{36}O_{112}$	P2/a	9.424(1)	8.740(1)	48.808(6)		92.40(8)		V
$Eu_{.92}(Al_{1.76}Si_{2.24}O_8)$	C2/m	8.373(2)	12.959(1)	7.124(1)		115.5(1)		192
$La_{1.3}(Al_4Si_{12}O_{32})$	Fd <u>3</u> m	24.730						193
$La_{25.68}(Al_{76.8}Si_{115.2}O_{384})$	Fd <u>3</u> m	25.050						194
$La_{1.3}(Al_4Si_{12}O_{32})$	Fd3m	24.730						195
$Pr_4V(Si_2O_7)_2(V_2O_4)_2$	C2/m	13.410(2)	5.5998(9)	11.027(3)		100.57(2)		135
$La_4V(Si_2O_7)_2(V_2O_4)_2$	C2/m	13.482(7)	5.604(3)	11.091(3)		100.44(3)		136
$Nd_4V(Si_2O_7)_2(V_2O_4)_2$	C2/m	13.377(4)	5.589(4)	10.983(3)		100.61(2)		137
$La_4V(Si_2O_7)_2(V_2O_4)_2$	C2/m	13.510(3)	5.605(1)	11.114(2)		100.45(2)		138
$La_4Ti(Si_2O_7)_2(TiO_2)_8$	C2/m	13.545(2)	5.751(1)	15.188(1)		110.92(2)		139
$La_4Ti(Si_2O_7)_2(TiO_2)_8$	C2/m	13.536(2)	5.750(1)	14.252(1)		95.39(2)		139
$La_4Ti_5(Si_2O_7)_2O_8$	C2/m	13.621(4)	5.673(3)	11.143(2)		100.59(2)		140
$La_4Ti(Si_2O_7)_2(Ti_8O_{16})$	C2/m	13.542(8)	5.750(3)	15.186(3)		110.94(2)		141
$La_4Mn(Si_2O_7)_2(Mn_2O_4)_2$	C_2/m	14.024(2)	5.571(2)	11.703(2)		114.34(2)		138
Nd ₂ (SiBe ₂ O ₇)	$P\underline{4}2_1m$	7.470(1)		4.864(1)				186
$Ho_2(SiBe_2O_7)$	$P_{4}^{1}2_{1}m$	7.288(2)		4.754(3)				186
$Y_2(SiBe_2O_7)$	$P42_1m$	7.283(2)		4.755(1)				187
$Er_6(Si_{11}N_{20}O)$	$P3_1c$	9.773(1)		10.597(1)				190
$\text{Er}_{6.254}(\text{Si}_{11}\text{N}_{20.762}\text{O}_{0.238})$	$P3_{\underline{1}}c$	9.785(1)		10.644(1)				190
$Ce_{16}(Si_{15}O_6N_{32})$	<i>P</i> <u>a</u> 3	15.4039(9)						191
$Sm_2(Si_3O_3N_4)$	P_{42_1m}	7.6889(4)		4.9960(4)				182
$Y_2(Si_3O_3N_4)$	$P42_1m$	7.5974(5)		4.9082(3)				183
$Y_2(Si_3O_3N_4)$	$P42_1m$	7.6083(1)		4.9113(1)				184
$Y_2(Si_3O_3N_4)$	$P42_1m$	7.6137(2)		4.9147(2)				185

^a Malinovskii, Y. A. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* **1983**, *272*, 1375. ^b MacKenzie, K. J. D.; Gainsford, G. J.; Ryan, M. J. *J. Eur. Ceram. Soc.* **1996**, *16*, 553. ^c Bourguiba, N. F.; Dogguy, L. S. *Mater. Res. Bull.* **1994**, *29*, 427. ^d Karpov, O. G.; Pushcharovskii, D. Y.; Pobedimskaya, E. A.; Belov, N. V. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* **1976**, *228*, 88. ^e Yamane, H.; Nagasawa, T.; Shimada, M.; Endo, T. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1997**, *53*, 1533. ^f Novak, G. A.; Gibbs, G. V. *Am. Mineral.* **1971**, *56*, 791. ^g Maksimov, B. A.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Belov, N. V. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* **1968**, *181*, 591. ^h Hawthorne, F. C.; Grundy, H. D. *Can. Miner.* **1977**, *15*, 50. ⁱ Izumi, F.; Mitomo, M.; Suzuki, J. *J. Mater. Sci. Lett.* **1982**, *1*, 533. ^j Izumi, F.; Mitomo, M.; Bando, Y. *J. Mater. Sci.* **1984**, *19*, 3115. ^k Ohashi, H.; Osawa, T.; Sato, A. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1990**, *B46*, 742. ^l Mellini, M.; Merlino, S. *Am. Mineral.* **1982**, *67*, 604. ^m Ohashi, H.; Ii, N. *Assoc. Miner. Petrol. Geol. Sendai* **1978**, *73*, 267. ⁿ Takeuchi, Y.; Kudoh, Y.; Ito, J. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1984**, *B40*, 115. ^e Hawthorne, F. C.; Grundy, H. D. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1973**, *B29*, 2615. ^p Ohashi, H.; Osawa, T.; Shimada, M.; Endo, T. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1997**, *53*, 1367. ^r Smyth, J. R.; Ito, J. *Am. Mineral.* **1977**, *62*, 1252. ^s Yamane, H.; Nagasawa, T.; Murakami, Y.; Kamata, T.; Shindo, D.; Shimada, M.; Endo, T. *Mater. Res. Bull.* **1998**, *33*, 845. ^t Yang, H.-X.; Finger, L. W.; Conrad, P. G.; Prewitt, C. T.; Hazen, R. M. *Am. Mineral.* **1999**, *84*, 245–256. ^a Pyatenko, Y. A.; Zhdanova, T. A.; Voronkov, A. A. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* **1979**, *248*, 868. ^v Takeuchi, Y.; Mori, H.; Kudoh, Y.; Ito, J. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1994**, *30*, 845. ⁴ 4840, 126. ^w Maisonneuve, V., Leblanc, M. *Can. Miner.* **1998**, *36*, 1039. ^s Jacobsen, H.; Meyer, G. *Z. Kristallogr.* **1994**, *209*, 348.

The two modifications of La₂I₂(SiO₄) are the only iodide *ortho*-silicates which have been described so far.³⁵ Both of the structures, triclinic (Figure 4a) and monoclinic (Figure 4b), exhibit double layers of I⁻ ions which are alternating stacked with cationic [La₂-(SiO₄)]²⁺ sheets. The coordination numbers of the La³⁺ ions are eight (5O²⁻, 3I⁻) and nine (7O²⁻, 2I⁻) in both structures.

Interestingly, the number of fluoride *ortho*-silicates is very limited. Besides the mixed disilicate–*ortho*silicate $\text{Er}_4\text{F}_2(\text{Si}_2\text{O}_7)(\text{SiO}_4)$ and the mixed-valent apatite $\text{Eu}_5(\text{SiO}_4)_3\text{F}$, which will be described below, the recently published oxide fluoride $\text{La}_7\text{OF}_7(\text{SiO}_4)_3^{36}$ is the only example. The crystal structure consists of cationic chains according to $\frac{1}{2}[\text{La}_3\text{F}_5]^{4+}$ oriented along [001] which are arranged in a hexagonal fashion and linked by $[La_4F_2]^{10+}$ double triangles. The empty voids in this La–F substructure are filled by SiO_4^{4-} tetrahedra and lonesome oxide ions (Figure 5). For the La³⁺ ions, coordination numbers of 8, 9 and 10, respectively, are found.

A huge number of rare-earth *ortho*-silicates can be derived from the structure of the mineral *fluoro-apatite*, $Ca_5(PO_4)_3F$,^{37–55} (Table 1). As can be seen from the scheme in Figure 6, the structure is retained when the SiO_4^{4-} ion is placed for PO_4^{3-} and F^- is substituted for O^{2-} . However, to maintain the charge balance, the Ca^{2+} ions cannot be replaced completely by M^{3+} ions. In the so-called rare-earth *oxy-apatites* the 4f site is only partly occupied with M^{3+} ions,



Figure 2. A and B-type structure of chalcogenide *ortho*-silicates $M_2X(SiO_4)$ (X = Se, Te) for the example of A-Pr₂Te-(SiO₄) (a) and B-Pr₂Te(SiO₄) (b).



Figure 3. Comparison of the A- and B-type of $Nd_3Cl(SiO_4)_2$ (on the example of the lanthanum samarium compound) with $Gd_3Br(SiO_4)_2$.

leading to cation defect compounds $M_{4.667}(SiO_4)_3O$. Another possibility to achieve electroneutrality is the mixed occupancy of cationic sites with rare-earth ions and lower valent ions such as Ca^{2+} , K^+ , or Na^+ . This may occur for both of the crystallographically different sites as found, for example, for CaLa₄(SiO₄)₃O or for one specific site as in $NaSm_9(SiO_4)_6S_2$. The latter compound shows another frequently observed variety of the apatite structure: The smaller F^- or O^{2-} may be substituted for the larger Br^- or S^{2-} ions, because the structure offers not only a site with trigonal planar coordination (Wyckoff notation 2a; 0, 0, 1/4) which is preferred by F^- and O^{2-} but also a site (2b; 0, 0, 0) with octahedral coordination, necessary for the large Br^- and S^{2-} ions. With respect to the natural abundant minerals these compounds are called bromo-apatites. The flexibility of the apatite type of structure allows a great variability of the composition as may be seen from the various examples given in Table 1. Finally, it should be emphasized that even mixed-valent rare-earth orthosilicates with apatite structure have been prepared.⁵⁵

In the ruby red Eu₅(SiO₄)₃F, the larger Eu²⁺ ions occupy the 4f site leading to a 9-fold coordination while the Eu³⁺ ions are in 7-fold coordination on the 6h position. Thus, one can formulate the compound as $(Eu^{III})_3(Eu^{II})_2(SiO_4)_3F$. In the black ytterbium apatite Yb₅(SiO₄)₃S (*bromo-apatite* structure) there must be a certain mixture of Yb²⁺ and Yb³⁺ that may be expressed by the formula $(Yb^{III})_3(Yb^{III/II})_2(SiO_4)_3S$.

A further group of rare-earth *ortho*-silicates are the pseudo-ternary compounds NaM(SiO₄) (M = Nd, Sm, Gd, Y) and LiM(SiO₄) (M = La, Y, Sc) which have been known for a long time.^{56–63} Recently, the lithium compound LiTm(SiO₄) which crystallizes with the olivine type of structure has been investigated in more detail due to its lithium ionic conductivity.⁵⁶ Besides the mineral *yftisite*, Y₄TiOF₆(SiO₄)₂,⁶⁴ and Eu₅(SiO₄)₃F, Na₅Y₄(SiO₄)₄F is one of the few examples of an *ortho*-silicate containing a fluoride ion additionally.⁶⁵ The latter is coordinated by four Y³⁺ ions in a square planar manner. The [FY₄]¹¹⁺ units are surrounded by four SiO₄^{4–} groups, and charge compensation is achieved by the Na⁺ ions (Figure 7). A



Figure 4. Crystal structures of the two modifications of $La_2I_2(SiO_4)$: (a) triclinic, (b) monoclinic.



Figure 5. Crystal structure of $La_7OF_7(SiO_4)_3$; the $[F_2-La_4]^{10+}$ units built up from edge-sharing $[FLa_3]^{8+}$ triangles are emphasized.



 $(M1)_{2}(M2)_{3}(YO_{4})X$

Figure 6. Schematic representation of the apatite type of structure and its derivatization.

ternary *ortho*-silicate of divalent europium is Li_2Eu -(SiO₄).⁶⁶ In the trigonal acentric crystal structure the Li^+ ions are tetrahedrally surrounded. The [LiO₄] and



Figure 7. Crystal structure of the fluoride *ortho*-silicate $Na_5Y_4(SiO_4)_4F$.

 $[SiO_4]$ tetrahedra join common vertexes to build a three-dimensional network which incorporates 8-fold coordinated Eu^{2+} ions. Thus, the compound can be seen as a *litho*-silicate.

The *ortho*-silicates $M_3(BSiO_6)(SiO_4)$ (M = Ce, Nd, Sm, Eu, Gd) contain not only isolated $[SiO_4]$ tetrahedra but also the dianions $[BSiO_6]$ which are built by the vertex linkage of an *ortho*-silicate group and a $[BO_3]$ triangle.^{67–70} The *ortho*-silicate and *boro*silicate anions are arranged in layers which alternate in the [001] direction of the orthorhombic unit cell (Figure 8). The three crystallographically different M^{3+} ions connect the anions and are in 8-fold (M(1)³⁺, M(2)³⁺) and 9-fold coordination (M(3)³⁺) of oxygen atoms.

Ternary ortho-silicates containing transition-metal ions were described recently with the compounds M_2 - $Ti_2O_5(SiO_4)$ (M = La, Ce)^{71,72} and La₃Mo₄O₁₀(SiO₄).⁷³ In both types of compounds the transition-metal ions are in octahedral coordination of oxygen atoms. The octahedra are linked in the same way as that found in the rutile structure. The rutile-type parts of the



Figure 8. Stacking of $[BSiO_6]^{5-}$ dianions and *ortho*-silicate groups in the crystal structure of $M_3(BSiO_6)(SiO_4)$.



Figure 9. Crystal structure of the so-called *Langasite*, La₃-Ga₅O₁₀(SiO₄), with Ga³⁺ in the tetrahedral *and* octahedral environment of oxygen atoms.

structure are linked by the [SiO₄] tetrahedra. The three-dimensional network provides the empty space for the M³⁺ ions, which gain coordination numbers of 10 in the titanium compounds and 8-11 for the molybdenum silicate. A very similar structural feature is also found among the disilicates with even more extended rutile-type arrays (see below). The gallium compound La₃Ga₅O₁₀(SiO₄),⁷⁴ the so-called *langasite*, is not isotypic with the respective molybdenum compound but contains the Ga³⁺ ions in both octahedral and tetrahedral coordination of oxygen atoms. The [GaO₄] tetrahedra connect the [GaO₆] octahedra to columns along the [001] direction of the trigonal unit cell. The columns are linked with each other by the silicate groups. In this way, channels are formed along the c-axis in which the La³⁺ ions reside (Figure 9). Langasite crystallizes with the acentric space group P321 and shows an interesting piezoelectric effect. Therefore, the crystal growth of the compound and the investigations of its physical properties has attracted considerable interest.75-79

2. Disilicates

Until recently, seven types of rare-earth disilicates, $M_2(Si_2O_7)$, were known.^{80–112} According to Felsche they are labeled with the capital letters A–G.⁹ The largest number of structure types arises from the variable packing patterns of the Si₂O₇^{6–} ions (Figure

10) and can be attributed to the different coordination requirements of the M^{3+} ions within the lanthanide series. Furthermore, there is a great flexibility of the shape of the disilicate anion. The bridging angle Si-O-Si varies from 128° to 180°. The latter is observed in the C- and D-type and shows the linearity of the bridge. As can be seen from Table 2, different structures occur even for the same rare-earth element, e.g., polymorphism of the disilicates is frequently observed. Attempts to describe the relation between the different polymorphs by T/M^{3+} and p/Tdiagrams, respectively, were done by Felsche and Bocquillon and are depicted in Figure 11.^{113,114} A new polymorph of $La_2Si_2O_7$ has been found recently and, consequently, is named H-type.⁸⁴ It is closely related to the well-known A-type, but the stacking sequence of the disilicate anions in the [001] direction is ABA'B' for the H-type instead of the simple AB stacking in the A-type.

Special emphasis shall be put on the B-type of the disilicates and the recently discovered ninth modification, called the I-type.⁸³ While the B-type has been confirmed by powder diffraction for the lanthanides Eu-Er,⁹ the I-type is exclusively known for lanthanum. Both types are interesting in the sense that they are not real disilicates but mixed catena-trisilicate-ortho-silicates according to M₄[Si₃O₁₀][SiO₄] (M = Eu-Er) in the case of the B-type and a mixed catena-tetrasilicate-ortho-silicate according to La₆-[Si₄O₁₃][SiO₄]₂ for I-La₂Si₂O₇. In the trisilicates M₄- $[Si_3O_{10}][SiO_4]$, all of the M^{3+} ions are in 8-fold coordination of oxygen atoms. The [Si₃O₁₀]⁸⁻ ions are linear with angles Si-O-Si of 118° and 132°, respectively. In $La_6[Si_4O_{13}][SiO_4]_2$ the tetrasilicate anion has a unique shape in the form of a horseshoe. Both of the terminating tetrahedra are attached to the same La³⁺ ions. This is the first example for such a coordination feature of a tetrasilicate anion, although other tetrasilicates are found in rare-earth chemistry, namely, Ba₂Nd₂(Si₄O₁₃)¹¹⁵ and Na₄Sc₂(Si₄O₁₃).¹¹⁶ The complete crystal structure of I-La₂Si₂O₇ can be seen as built up from alternating layers of $[Si_4O_{13}]^{10-}$ and $[SiO_4]^{4-}$ anions in the [010] direction with the La³⁺ ions (CN = 9-11) within and between the layers (Figure 12).

While the disilicates of rare-earth elements have been known for more than 30 years, it was only in 1982 when the first structurally characterized derivative of a disilicate, Sm₄S₃(Si₂O₇), occurred in the literature.¹¹⁷ It was obtained as a side product during the chemical transport of SmS_2 with I_2 in silica ampules. To date a number of isotypic compounds were obtained, either with larger or smaller M³⁺ ions and with S^{2-} or Se^{2-} as chalcogenide anion¹¹⁷⁻¹²⁴ (Table 2). They all contain two crystallographically different M^{3+} ions which are in 8-fold and 9-fold coordination, respectively. The ligands are five X²⁻ ions (S²⁻ or Se²⁻) and three oxygen atoms for $M(1)^{3+}$ and three X^{2-} ions and six oxygen atoms for $M(2)^{3+}$. The disilicate anions are arranged in two orientations along the [001] direction of the tetragonal unit cell as can be seen from Figure 13. For all of these compounds the angle Si–O–Si within the $(Si_2O_7)^{6-}$ ion is ca. 130°.



Figure 10. Polymorphs of rare-earth disilicates, after *Felsche* labeled with capital letters A–G. Note that the B-type is not a disilicate but a mixed *tri-* and *ortho*-silicate.



Figure 11. T/M^{3+} and p/T diagrams for the occurrence of rare-earth disilicate modifications.

Derivatization of rare-earth disilicates is also possible by introducing chloride ions in the crystal structure. Two examples are the isotypic compounds La₃Cl₃(Si₂O₇) and Pr₃Cl₃(Si₂O₇).^{125,126} The acentric crystal structure (space group $P2_1$) contains three crystallographically different M³⁺ ions, which are coordinated by five Cl⁻ and five O²⁻ (M(1)³⁺), four Cl⁻

and five O^{2-} (M(2)³⁺), and three Cl^- and six O^{2-} (M(3)³⁺) ligands, respectively. The angle Si–O–Si in the isolated disilicate ions is 148°. Figure 14 shows the crystal structure of the compounds in the [100] direction. Pure disilicates containing additional F^- ions are not known, but with $Er_4F_2(Si_2O_7)(SiO_4)$ an interesting crystal structure was described contain-



Figure 12. Crystal structure of the I-type of $La_2Si_2O_7$ containing the horseshoe-shaped tetrasilicate anions $[Si_4O_{13}]^{10-}$ and *ortho*-silicate groups according to $La_6[Si_4O_{13}]$ - $[SiO_4]_2$.



Figure 13. Crystal structure of the chalcogenide disilicates $M_4X_3(Si_2O_7)$ (X = S, Se).



Figure 14. Crystal structure of the chloride disilicates $M_{3}\text{-}Cl_{3}(Si_{2}O_{7}).$

ing disilicate and *ortho*-silicate ions.¹²⁷ The F^- ions are surrounded by three Er^{3+} ions in a nearly trigonal planar manner, and two of these triangles are sharing a common edge leading to cationic $[Er_2F_4]^{10+}$ units. The anions form channels in the crystal



Figure 15. Crystal structure of $Er_4F_2(Si_2O_7)(SiO_4)$ with $[Er_4F_2]^{10+}$ double triangles located in channels formed by $Si_2O_7^{6-}$ and SiO_4^{4-} anions.



Figure 16. Crystal structure of the disilicates M_4M' - $(Si_2O_7)_2(M'O_2)_{4m}$ (M = La, Pr, Nd; M' = Ti, V, Mn; m = 1, 2) containing rutile-type layers (the shown example is La₄-Ti(Si₂O₇)(TiO₂)₈).

structure which incorporate these complex cations (Figure 15).

The disilicates $A_3M(Si_2O_7)$ (A = Na, K; M = Nd, Tm, Lu, Y, Sc) are pseudo-ternary derivatives of rareearth disilicates containing alkali-metal ions.^{128–132} The hexagonal crystal structures show the two crystallographically different M^{3+} ions in 6-fold coordination of oxygen atoms. For $M(1)^{3+}$ a trigonal prism and for $M(2)^{3+}$ an octahedron results as coordination polyhedra. These are arranged along the [001] direction and linked via the disilicate groups which show the same orientation. The empty voids of this threedimensional network are filled by A⁺ ions which are coordinated by six, nine, and eight oxygen atoms, respectively. Mixed crystals with Y and Sc have been also obtained.^{133,134}

Another group of disilicates can be seen as composed of rutile slabs $(M'O_2)$ and disilicate layers according $M_4M'(Si_2O_7)_2(M'O_2)_{4m}$ (M = La, Pr, Nd; M' = Ti, V, Mn; m = 1, 2).^{135–141} If m = 1, rutile and silicate slabs are stacked alternating; for m = 2, rutile double layers are inserted (Figure 16). Some of the transition-metal ions are located within the silicate layers, being in octahedral coordination of oxygen atoms which belong exclusively to disilicate ions. The rare-earth ions are placed on the borderline between the different layers and show a coordination number of 10. These type of compounds have attracted considerable interest because they are mixed valent with respect to the transition-metal ions. Indeed, the



Figure 17. Thalenite type of structure for Y₃F(Si₃O₁₀).

compounds are shown to be semiconductors with band gaps of 0.25 and 0.12 eV for $La_4Ti(Si_2O_7)(TiO_2)_8$ and $La_4Ti(Si_2O_7)(TiO_2)_8$, respectively.¹³⁹

3. Higher Silicates

With the B-type disilicates $M_2Si_2O_7$ (= $M_4(Si_3O_{10})$ - $[SiO_4]$) and $I - La_2Si_2O_7$ (= $La_6[Si_4O_{13}][SiO_4]_2$), rareearth compounds containing silicate groups of higher condensation were mentioned in the previous section. Further lanthanide compounds with the catenatrisilicate anion $[Si_3O_{10}]^{8^-}$ are the fluoride silicates $M_3F(Si_3O_{10})$ (M = Dy, Ho, Er, Y).¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁴ They adopt the *thalenite* type of structure, named after a mineral which has nearly the composition $Y_3F(Si_3O_{10})$ but which usually contains various amounts of other rare-earth ions and OH⁻ instead of F⁻.¹⁴⁵ Characteristic features of the crystal structure are trigonal $[FM_3]^{8+}$ units and U-shaped $[Si_3O_{10}]^{8-}$ anions. The ions are arranged as depicted in Figure 17, leading to coordination numbers of 7 (2×) and "7+1", respectively, for the three M^{3+} ions. The *catena*-tetrasilicate anion $[Si_4O_{13}]^{10-}$ is known from two other lanthanide compounds, $Ba_2Nd_2(Si_4O_{13})$ and $Na_4Sc_2(Si_4O_{13})$.^{115,116} In contrast to the horseshoe shape found in I-La₂- Si_2O_7 , the anion has a zigzag form in the barium compound and is nearly linear in $Na_4Sc_2(Si_4O_{13})$ (Figure 18). Tri- and tetrasilicates are also known as cyclo-silicates, and for the rare-earth elements a limited number of crystal structures were determined. $La_3F_3(Si_3O_9)$ is a fluoride *cyclo*-trisilicate that is built up of honeycomb-shaped ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [LaF_{3/3}]²⁺ layers which are alternating stacked with the silicate anions along the [001] direction of the hexagonal unit cell (Figure 19).¹⁴⁶ For the La³⁺ ions, a tricapped trigonal prism (3F⁻, 6O²⁻) arises as coordination polyhedron with the distances ranging from 243 to 252 pm. Cyclotrisilicates are additionally found among the nitridosilicates of rare-earth elements. The hexagonal compounds $M_3(Si_3O_6N_3)$ (M = La, Ce,)¹⁴⁷ and the monoclinic or orthorhombic $Y_3(Si_3O_6N_3)^{148,149}$ contain the anions $[Si_3O_6N_3]^{9-}$ which are stacked in different ways in the two structure types, leading to coordination numbers of 12 (La, Ce) and 8 (Y), respectively. Structural data of *cyclo*-tetrasilicates have been provided for $M_6Cl_{10}(Si_4O_{12})$ (M = Sm, Y)^{150,151} and the divalent europium compound Eu₈Cl₈(Si₄O₁₂).¹⁵² The former two compounds are isotypic and contain cationic double layers ${}^{2}_{\infty}[M(2)_{5}Cl_{9}]^{6+}$ and anionic monolayers ${}^{2}_{\infty}[M(1)Cl(1)(Si_{4}O_{12})]^{6-}$ which are ar-ranged parallel (001). The two crystallographically different M³⁺ ions are surrounded by six oxygen and



Figure 18. Crystal structures of the *catena*-tetrasilicates $Ba_2Nd_2(Si_4O_{13})$ and $Na_4Sc_2(Si_4O_{13})$. Note, in contrast to the findings for $La_2Si_2O_7 = La_6[Si_4O_{13}][SiO_4]_2$, the tetrasilicate anions $[Si_4O_{13}]^{10-}$ are zigzag shaped in both compounds.



Figure 19. Crystal structure of $La_3F_3(Si_3O_9)$ with honeycomb-shaped ${}^2_{\sim}[LaF_{3/3}]^{2+}$ layers and silicate anions alternating stacked along [001].

two chloride ligands $(M(1)^{3+})$ or by five Cl^- ions and two oxygen atoms $(M(2)^{3+})$. The europium silicate may also be seen as built up from layers; in this case the anionic sheets have the composition ${}_{2}^{2}[(Si_{4}O_{12})Cl_{4}]^{12-}$ and the cationic ones are composed



Figure 20. Crystal structure of the *cyclo*-tetrasilicate Eu_2 -Cl₂(SiO₃) = $Eu_8Cl_8(Si_4O_{12})$. The projection of the tetragonal structure on (001) shows the high symmetry of the anion.

according to ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [Eu₂Cl]³⁺. They are stacked along [001] in a way that a coordination number of seven (4O²⁻, 3Cl⁻) is gained for Eu²⁺. A projection of the tetragonal structure on (001) reveals the highly symmetric *cyclo*-tetrasilicate ion which is located on the 4-fold axis of the unit cell (Figure 20).

Even higher condensed *cyclo*-silicates have been prepared. The divalent europium silicate Na₆Eu₃-(Si₆O₁₈)¹⁵³ contains the *cyclo*-hexasilicate anion which shows a chair conformation with respect to the Si atom arrangement. The anions are stacked in the [001] direction of the rhombohedral cell and coordinated by the cations. The Eu²⁺ ions have coordination numbers of 6 and 8, respectively. A couple of cyclododecasilicates, A₁₅M₃(Si₁₂O₃₆) (A = Na, Ag; M = Dy, Ho, Yb, Lu), are known.^{154–162} They have attracted attention because part of the A⁺ cations are located in large channels provided by the special arrangement of the ring-shaped anions. These cations are highly disordered, causing the ionic conductivity of these compounds.

More extended arrays of linked [SiO₄] tetrahedra, like chains (ino-silicates), sheets (phyllo-silicates), and three-dimensional networks (tecto-silicates) are known for various rare-earth silicates. The compounds $K_3M(Si_3O_9)$ (M = Ho, Lu)¹⁶³⁻¹⁶⁵ contain infinite chains of vertex-sharing [SiO₄] tetrahedra running down the [100] direction. With respect to the crystallographic period of identity, the chain can be named a Sechser-Einfach-chain according to Liebau's nomenclature.¹⁶⁶ The chains are connected by M³⁺ ions in distorted octahedral coordination and in the empty voids of the network formed, thereby the K⁺ are located. Another *ino*-silicate is Na₃Y(Si₃O₉),¹⁶⁷ which has a complicated structure with 4 crystallographically different Y³⁺ ions and 12 different [SiO₄] tetrahedra. The latter are linked to infinitely winding Zwölfer-Einfach chains which are joined together by the cations. The *boro*-silicates $M(BSiO_5)$ (M = La, Ce, Nd, Gd),^{168–176} which crystallize with the structure of the mineral stillwellite, contain Dreier-Einfach chains with respect to the linked [BO₄] tetrahedra.



Figure 21. Linkage of $[BO_4]$ and $[SiO_4]$ tetrahedra to chains in the *stillwellite*-type *boro*-silicates M(BSiO₅) (M = La, Ce, Nd, Gd).



Figure 22. Layer structure of the *melilith*-type *nitrido*-silicates $M_2(Si_3O_3N_4)$ (M = Ce, Nd, Sm, Gd, Y).

These chains are attached by *ortho*-silicate ions as depicted in Figure 21. By linking the chains, the M^{3+} ions achieve a coordination number of nine in the structure.

 $K_3Nd(Si_6O_{15})$ may serve as an example for a *phyllo*-silicate, which has been obtained under high pressure. 177,178 It contains puckered sheets of the composition $_{\infty}^2[Si_2O_5]^{2-}$ which are extended in the (010) plane. The K^+ ions are incorporated within these layers, while the Nd^{3+} ions reside between the layers. In contrast, the compounds $Na_3Y(Si_6O_{15})$ and $Na_2LiY-(Si_6O_{15})$ contain no layers. $^{179-181}$ For the neat sodium silicate two structures are known, one with silicate double chains and the other with discrete $[Si_6O_{15}]$ units. The lithium compound also shows the double chain structure.

The *nitrido*-silicates $M_2(Si_3O_3N_4)$ (M = Ce, Nd, Sm, Gd, Y)^{182–185} are also *phyllo*-silicates with the silicate layers stacked in the [001] direction of the tetragonal unit cell (Figure 22). These *nitrido*-silicates with the M^{3+} in 8-fold coordination are referred to as *melilith*-type phases with respect to their structural similarities with the respective mineral. The same structure has been found for the *beryllo*-silicates $M_2(Be_2SiO_7)$ (M = Nd, Ho, Y)^{186,187} with layers of vertex-connected [BeO₄] and [SiO₄] tetrahedra.

In NaM(Si₆O₁₄) (M = Pr, Nd) the [SiO₄] tetrahedra are condensed to triple layers containing Na⁺ ions in their cavities.¹⁸⁸ Further Na⁺ and the M³⁺ ions connect the layers in the [001] direction. Finally, further connection of the silicate tetrahedra lead to the *tecto*-silicates, for which $K_2Ce(Si_6O_{15})$ is an example.¹⁸⁹ The three-dimensional silicate network provides the space for the incorporation of K⁺ and Ce⁴⁺ ions, the latter being in octahedral coordination of oxygen atoms. A three-dimensional network of tetrahedra is also possible with nitrogen-containing silicates, and thus, a few *nitrido-tecto*-silicates are known. Besides $Er_6(Si_{11}N_{20}O)$ and $Er_{6.254}(Si_{11}N_{20.762}O_{0.238})$,¹⁹⁰ the cerium compound Ce₁₆(Si₁₅O₆N₃₂) is remarkable because it contains the silicon atoms not only tetrahedrally coordinated but also in an octahedral environment of nitrogen atoms.¹⁹¹

Aluminum-containing *tecto*-silicates exist in a great number and with a lot of different compositions. Among the rare-earth compounds, the structure of the *anorthite*-type europium silicate $Eu_{0.92}(Al_{1.76}-Si_{2.24}O_8)^{192}$ and of the *zeolite*-type compounds $La_{1.3}-Al_4Si_{12}O_{32}$ and $La_{25.68}Al_{76.8}Si_{115.2}O_{384}$ were determined.¹⁹³⁻¹⁹⁵ The europium silicate shows an 8-fold coordination for Eu^{2+} , whereas the La^{3+} ions are distributed over three crystallographically different sites with coordination numbers of "6+4".

B. Phosphates

Two of the naturally abundant rare-earth phosphates, *monazite* and *xenotime*, are important sources for the production of rare-earth metals. Both are ortho-phosphates, MPO₄, with monazite containing the larger lanthanide ions La-Nd (and Th) and xenotime mainly yttrium and various amounts of the smaller rare-earth ions. These minerals and their artificial analogues have been extensively investigated. Similar to the silicates, the phosphates also show the tendency to condense to larger aggregates, thereby forming either ring-shaped (cyclo-phosphates) or chain-like (catena-phosphates) polyanions. Thus, the number of different rare-earth phosphates is large. For example, the phase diagram La_2O_3/P_2O_5 shows six compositions with the molar ratios 3:1, 7:3, 1:1, 1:2, 1:3, and 1:5.¹⁹⁶ Additionally, the number of known phosphates increases if one takes the ternary compounds into account. Structural investigations of the phosphates started in the 1940s, and until 1985 roughly 100 structure determinations were performed. Most of them have been reviewed by Palkina in 1982¹⁹⁷ and Niinistö in 1986/1987,^{6,7} so emphasis will be put here on more recent investigations.

1. Ortho-Phosphates

The *ortho*-phosphates can be prepared by fusing the binary oxides M_2O_3 and P_2O_5 or by precipitation from aqueous solutions containing M^{3+} ions with alkali phosphates or phosphoric acid. Single crystals are gained hydrothermally or by flux methods.

The *ortho*-phosphates of the larger lanthanides La–Gd crystallize with the monoclinic structure of Monazite and contain the M^{3+} ions in 9-fold coordination of oxygen atoms which belong to seven PO_4^{3-} ions.^{198–211} Two of the latter are chelating ligands. With the lighter rare-earth elements Tb–Lu, Y, and Sc, the tetragonal structure of ZrSiO₄ is adopted.^{212–229} The M^{3+} ions are 8-fold coordinated by oxygen atoms from two chelating and four monodentate phosphate ions. For La, Ce, and Nd, also a hexagonal structure has been found.^{230,231} Formerly it was thought that

they might contain small amounts of water,²³⁰ but further investigations showed that this it not necessarily the case. Another hydrate that was found for rare-earth *ortho*-phosphates is DyPO₄·1.5H₂O, which is said to crystallize with an orthorhombic structure.²³² However, besides the monoclinic mineral Weinschenkit,²³³ (Y,Er)PO₄·2H₂O, none of the few *ortho*-phosphate hydrates has been characterized unambiguously by single-crystal data.

Several structure determinations have been performed on *ortho*-phosphates containing mixtures of rare-earth elements. The considerable interest in these types of compounds arose from the possibility of using them as materials for the long-term disposal of nuclear waste²³⁴⁻²³⁶ or as host lattices for spectroscopic investigations.

A large number of ortho-phosphates of the composition A₃M(PO₄)₃ with M being the rare-earth and A an alkali metal is known. Some of them have been investigated by X-ray single-crystal diffraction (Table 4).²³⁷⁻²⁴³ In general, they all consist of isolated PO₄³⁻ tetrahedra separated by the cations. The great variety of structures arises from the different coordination requirements of the cations. In principle, for all of the different structures the mineral *Glaserite*,²⁴⁴ $K_3Na(SO_4)_2$, is the aristotype. It has a trigonal crystal structure and contains the Na⁺ ions in octahedral and the K⁺ ions in 10- and 12-fold coordination, respectively. In the ternary rare-earth phosphates the octahedral position is occupied by the M^{3+} ions. For the small ions such as Lu³⁺ it is possible to retain the Glaserite structure, but an increasing M³⁺ radius may cause severe distortions leading to lower symmetry structures (cf. Table 4). A change of the coordination number is easily achieved by reorientation of the PO_4^{3-} groups (Figure 23). Thus, a temperature dependent polymorphism is frequently observed for a given compound. The distortion from trigonal symmetry can also be confirmed by IR spectroscopy, as has been recently shown for orthorhombic $K_3Sm(PO_4)_2$.²⁴² During the last 20 years the double phosphates have attracted some interest as host materials for luminescent lanthanide ions, and for that purpose several mixed lanthanide compounds have been prepared.²⁴⁵⁻²⁴⁷

Another group of rare-earth double phosphates is mainly based on the element scandium. The compounds have the composition $A_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$ and contain the small alkali ions Li⁺ and Na⁺ or in some cases even Ag⁺.²⁴⁸⁻²⁶⁶ The Sc³⁺ ions are in an octahedral coordination of oxygen atoms, while for the A⁺ ions several crystallographic positions are, in principle, available which are only partly occupied. These partly occupied sites and the low energetic barriers for ion movements make this type of phosphates an excellent ionic conductor.²⁶⁷ Due to the different ordering schemes of the A⁺ ions, the symmetry of the compounds may vary. The structure of the A₃Sc-(PO₄)₃-type compounds is very similar to that of $NaZr_2(PO_4)_3$ and $Na_4Zr(SiO_4)_3$ (Figure 24). A mixture of the latter two is known as NASICON (Na super ionic conductor). Methods to evaluate the conductivity of the alkali scandium double phosphates included impedance and NMR spectroscopy.²⁶⁸

Table 4. Data of Ortho-Phosphates

			la	attice parameter	s			
compound	space group	a/Å	b/Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
	<u></u> D2 /o	9 95(9)	7.00(1)	6 47(1)		126 16(0)	,	911
$La(PO_4)$ La(PO_4)	$\Gamma \lambda_1/a$ $PG_0 22$	7.081(5)	7.09(1)	0.47(1) 6.468(8)		120.10(9)		230
$Nd(PO_4)$	$P_{6_{2}22}$	6.98(1)		6 34(2)				230
$La(PO_4)$	$P2_1/n$	6.825(4)	7.057(2)	6.482(2)		103.21(4)		198
Sm(PO ₄)	$P2_1/n$	6.669(1)	6.868(2)	6.351(1)		103.92(2)		199
Eu(PO ₄)	$P2_1/n$	6.639(3)	6.823(3)	6.318(3)		104.00(4)		199
Gd(PO ₄)	$P2_1/n$	6.621(2)	6.823(2)	6.310(2)		104.16(2)		199
$Pr(PO_4)$	$P2_1/n$	6.741(3)	6.961(4)	6.416(3)		103.63(3)		200
$Nd(PO_4)$	$P2_1/n$	6.722(1)	6.933(1)	6.390(2)		103.72(2)		200
$Nd(PO_4)$	PZ_1/n	6.732(2)	6.930(2)	6.383(2)		103.61(2)		201
$Ce(PO_4)$	$\frac{PZ_1}{n}$	6.770 6.700	7.040	6.460 6.460		104.00		202
$Ce(PO_4)$	$P2_1/n$	0.790 6.77(1)	6 99(1)	6.400 6.45(1)		104.00		203
$Ce(PO_4)$	$P2_1/n$	6.790(1)	7.0203(6)	6.4674(7)		103.38(1)		205
$La(PO_4)$	$P2_1/n$	6.831(1)	7.0705(9)	6.5034(9)		103.27(1)		205
$Ce(PO_4)$	$P2_1/n$	6.788(1)	7.0163(8)	6.4650(7)		103.40(1)		205
$Pr(PO_4)$	$P2_1/n$	6.7596(8)	6.981(1)	6.4344(9)		103.50(1)		205
Nd(PO ₄)	$P2_1/n$	6.735(1)	6.9500(9)	6.4049(8)		103.68(1)		205
Sm(PO ₄)	$P2_1/n$	6.682(1)	6.8877(9)	6.3653(9)		103.86(1)		205
$Eu(PO_4)$	$P2_1/n$	6.681(1)	6.8618(9)	6.3491(8)		103.96(1)		205
$Ga(PO_4)$	PZ_1/n	6.0435(9)	6.841(1)	6.3281(6)		103.98(1)		205
$Eu(PO_4)$	I41/AIIIU IA./amd	0.792(2) 6 863(3)		5.955(2) 6.007(3)				212 213
$Dv(PO_4)$	I_{4}/amd	6.91(1)		6.04(1)				213
$Tb(PO_4)$	I_1/amd	6.940(1)		6.068(1)				215
$Dy(PO_4)$	I4 ₁ /amd	6.907(2)		6.046(2)				215
Ho(PO ₄)	$I4_1/amd$	6.882(2)		6.025(2)				215
Er(PO ₄)	I4 ₁ /amd	6.860(1)		6.003(1)				216
Tm(PO ₄)	$I4_1/amd$	6.839(1)		5.986(1)				216
Yb(PO ₄)	I4 ₁ /amd	6.816(2)	0.000(0)	5.966(2)				216
$Ce(PO_4)$	$P12_{1}/n1$	6.777(3)	6.993(3)	6.445(3)		103.54(4)		206
$Lu(PO_4)$	14 ₁ /amd	6.792(2)		5.954(2)				217
$Dy(FO_4)$ Th(PO_4)	I41/amd	6.91(1) 6.931(1)		6.04(1) 6.061(1)				210
$Dv(PO_4)$	I_{4_1}/amd	6.905(1)		6.0384(6)				219
$H_0(PO_4)$	I_1/amd	6.877(1)		6.0176(8)				219
Er(PO ₄)	I4 ₁ /amd	6.851(1)		5.997(1)				219
Tm(PO ₄)	I4 ₁ /amd	6.8293(9)		5.980(1)				219
Yb(PO ₄)	$I4_1/amd$	6.8093(8)		5.9639(5)				219
Lu(PO ₄)	I4 ₁ /amd	6.783(1)		5.9467(6)				219
$Ce(PO_4)$	$P_{6_2}22$	7.055(3)	7 001(4)	6.439(5)		100.00(4)		230
$La_{0.95}(PO_4)$	$\frac{PZ_1}{n}$	6.852(4)	7.091(4)	6.510(4)		103.62(4) 102.51(1)		207
$T_{0.9} = 0.1 (P O_4)$	141/11 14./amd	6.734(1) 6.9423(1)	7.020(1)	6.0640(3)		105.51(1)		220
$Tb(PO_4)$	I_{4_1}/amd	6.9414(2)		6.0704(4)				220
$Ce(PO_4)$	$P2_1/n$	6.77(1)	6.99(1)	6.45(1)		103.6(2)		209
$Ce(PO_4)$	$P3_{1}21$	7.069(3)		6.443(5)				231
Ce(PO ₄)	$P2_1/n$	6.770	7.010	6.450		103.63		210
$Sc(PO_4)$	I4 ₁ /amd	6.578(2)		5.796(2)				221
$Sc(PO_4)$	$I4_1/amd$	6.574(1)		5.791(1)				217
$\Upsilon(PO_4)$	I41/amd	6.862 6.979(9)		6.174 6.026(2)				222
$V(PO_4)$	141/dIIIU M1/amd	0.070(3)		6.030(3) 6.0177(6)				223 217
$Y(PO_4)$	I41/amd	6.8947(6)		6.0276(6)				224
Sc(PO ₄)	I41/amd	6.579		5.796				225
$(Sc_{0.96}Y_{0.04})(PO_4)$	$I4_1/amd$	6.589(1)		5.806(1)				226
(Gd _{0.5} Tb _{0.5})(PO ₄)	$I4_1/amd$	6.9449(9)		6.068(1)				227
$(Gd_{0.75}Tb_{0.25})(PO_4)$	I4 ₁ /amd	6.9647(7)		6.090(6)				227
$(Lu_{0.9}Tb_{0.1})(PO_4)$	I4 ₁ /amd	6.8003(8)		5.9638(6)				227
$Gd_{0.5}Er_{0.5}(PO_4)$	I41/amd	6.880(2)		6.017(2)				228
$Ga_{0.5}\Upsilon_{0.5}(PO_4)$	141/amd	0.914(3)		b.042(4)				228
$Gu_{0.5}$ I $D_{0.5}$ (PO4) $Gd_{0.7}$ V $b_{0.7}$ (PO 1)	141/AIIIA M./amd	0.803(2) 6 003(2)		0.004(2) 6.024(2)				220 229
$Gd_{0.75} r D_{0.25} (r O_4)$	141/amd	6 865(2)		6 004(2)				220 220
$Gd_{0.5}Y_{0.5}(PO_4)$	I41/amd	6.914(3)		6.042(4)				228
$Sc(H_2PO_4)_3$	R3c	8.274(5)		25.98(1)				a
$Na_3Nd(PO_4)_2$	$Pbc2_1$	15.874(8)	13.952(8)	18.470(9)				237
$K_3Ce(PO_4)_2$	$P_{2_{1}}^{2}/m$	9.621(1)	5.756(3)	7.496(1)		90.6(1)		238
$K_3Lu(PO_4)_2$	$P\bar{3}$	9.601(2)		7.725(4)				239
$K_3Sc(PO_4)_2$	P3	9.430(2)		7.629(2)				243
$Na_3Ce(PO_4)_2$	$Pca2_1$	14.091(4)	5.357(1)	18.740(3)		00.07(2)		240
$K_3Nd(PO_4)_2$	$P2_1/m$	9.532(2)	5.631(3)	7.444(3)		90.95(2)		241

Table 4. (Continued)

				lattice parame	eters			
compound	space group	<i>a</i> /Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
$K_3Sm(PO_4)_2$	$P2_1/m$	7.4347(5)	5.6270(5)	9.4919(5)		90.87(1)		242
$K_2CsSc(PO_4)_2$	$P\bar{3}$	5.4836(6)		7.9157(9)				243
Na _{4.50} Yb _{1.50} (PO ₄) ₃	$R\bar{3}c$	9.12(1)		21.81(6)				248
$Na_{2,28}Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	C2/c	15.641	8.913	9.016		124.80		250
$Na_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	B11b	16.10(1)	9.109(4)	8.928(4)			127.15(4)	251
$Na_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	$R\bar{3}c$	8.927(3)		22.34(4)				252
$Li_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	Pcan	8.828(1)	12.399(2)	8.823(1)				253
$Li_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	$P112_{1}/n$	8.853(2)	12.273(2)	8.802(1)			90.01(2)	253
$Na_{2.63}Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	C2/c	15.709(7)	8.936(1)	9.024(1)		126.01(5)		254
$Na_4Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	C2/c	15.464(7)	8.936(1)	9.024(1)		124.74(5)		254
$Na_{1.2}Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	$R\bar{3}c$	8.930(2)		22.245(4)				254
$K_2(YZr)(PO_4)_3$	$P2_{1}3$	10.3346(1)						266
$Li_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	Pcan	8.853	12.273	8.802				255
$Ag_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	$R\bar{3}c$	8.986(4)		22.605(7)				56
$Na_3Sc_2P_3O_{12}$	$R\bar{3}c$	8.927		22.367				257
$Na_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	B11b	15.404(4)	9.103(3)	8.919(2)			123.53(2)	259
$Na_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	$R\bar{3}c$	8.950(2)		22.230(4)				259
$Na_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	$R\bar{3}c$	8.9273(2)		22.3668(6)				60
$Na_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	$R\bar{3}c$	8.9274(1)		22.5493(6)				260
$Na_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	$R\bar{3}c$	8.92(1)		22.276(3)				261
$Li_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	$P112_{1}/n$	8.8483(4)	12.2737(5)	8.7959(4)				262
$Li_{3.2}Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	Pbcn	12.3998(6)	8.8352(4)	8.8270(4)				262
$Li_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	$P2_1/n$	8.847	12.270	8.801		90.02		263
$Li_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	Pcan	8.829	12.397	8.821				263
$Na_3Sc_2(PO_4)_3$	$R\bar{3}c$	8.931(4)		22.326(7)				264
Li _{2.96} (Sc _{1.96} Zr _{0.04})(PO ₄) ₃	$P112_{1}/n$	8.8572(3)	12.2998(4)	8.8183(3)				265
$Li_{2.8}(Sc_{1.8}Zr_{0.2})(PO_4)_3$	Pbcn	12.3708(4)	8.8086(3)	8.8356(2)				265
Li _{2.64} (Sc _{0.9} Ti _{0.1}) ₂ (PO ₄) ₃	Pbcn	12.3332(4)	8.7829(3)	8.8067(3)				262
Li _{2.96} (Sc _{0.9} Zr _{0.1}) ₂ (PO ₄) ₃	Pbcn	12.3542(5)	8.7947(4)	8.8202(4)				262
Sr ₃ La(PO ₄) ₃	I43d	10.185(2)						269
Sr ₃ La(PO ₄) ₃	I43d	10.163(1)						269
Ba ₃ La(PO ₄) ₃	I43 <i>d</i>	10.5241(5)						270
$Ca_{19}Ce(PO_4)_{14}$	R3c	10.4619(1)		37.4713(2)				b
$Pr_3(GeO_4)(PO_4)O$	$P2_1/n$	7.021(1)	12.490(2)	9.219(1)		107.58(2)		278
KEu(PO ₄)	Pnma	7.359(3)	9.630(4)	5.569(2)				274
RbEu(PO ₄)	Pnma	7.462(3)	9.797(3)	5.649(2)				274
$Nd_3(PO_4)O_3$	Ст	12.966(3)	13.233(5)	12.266(3)		108.66(2)		275
$Na_2Y(MoO_4)(PO_4)$	Ibca	18.02(1)	12.11(1)	6.847(6)				279
$Na_2Y(MoO_4)(PO_4)$	C2/c	13.93(1)	18.02(1)	6.847(6)		119.62(6)		279
$Ce_3Cl_5(PO_4)$	$P6_3/m$	12.4636(9)		4.0693(4)				280

^a Sholin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F.; Domanskii, A. I. *Kristallografiya* **1982**, *27*, 239. ^b Lazoryak, B. I.; Kotov, R. N.; Khasanov, S. S. *Zh. Neorg. Khim.* **1996**, *41*, 1281.

Ternary *ortho*-phosphates with alkaline-earth metal ions are known as $Sr_3La(PO_4)_3$ and $Ba_3La(PO_4)_3$ and crystallize with the *Eulytite* type of structure.^{269,270} This highly symmetric structure contains disordered PO_4^{3-} ions, and attempts have been undertaken recently to study the disorder by neutron diffraction.²⁶⁹ From powder diffraction it is known that the respective europium phosphate $Eu_3La(PO_4)_3$ adopts the same structure.²⁷¹ There were a few other Eu(II) phosphates, namely, $Eu_3(PO_4)_2$,²⁷² $Eu_5(PO_4)_3OH$,²⁷³ and $AEu(PO_4)$ (A = K, Rb),²⁷⁴ but they have all been investigated only by powder diffraction. Indexing is usually easy because the compounds are isotypic with the respective alkaline-earth phosphates.

A few mixed anionic rare-earth phosphates entered the literature, among them the only structurally characterized oxide *ortho*-phosphate Nd₃(PO₄)O₃.²⁷⁵ The crystal structure consists of oxygen-centered $[OM_4]$ tetrahedra which are linked via four edges to form infinite layers according to $^2_{\infty}[OM_{4/4}]^+$ which are stacked in the [010] direction alternating with layers of PO₄³⁻ ions (Figure 25). The nine crystallographically different Nd³⁺ ions have coordination numbers ranging from 7 to 9. It is surprising that besides Nd₃-

(PO₄)O₃, no crystal structures of further oxide phosphates are known, although the compositions $M_7P_3O_{18}$ $= M_7O_6(PO_4)_3$, $M_8P_2O_{17} = M_8O_9(PO_4)_2$, and $M_{12}P_2O_{23}$ $= M_{12}O_{15}(PO_4)_2$ were additionally found.^{276,277} With $Pr_3(GeO_4)(PO_4)O_1$, another oxide phosphate has been described additionally containing GeO44- ions.278 Again, the oxide ion centers a [OPr₄] tetrahedron. The tetrahedra are linked via a common edge to dimers $[OPr(1)_{2/2}Pr(2)_{2/1}]_2^{14+}$, which are surrounded in the structure by the anionic tetrahedra (Figure 26). The Pr³⁺ ions are in 7- and 9-fold oxygen coordination, respectively. Another compound with mixed tetrahedral anions is known in the form of Na₂Y-(MoO₄)(PO₄). Two modifications were investigated, both of which can be grasped as built up from alternating layers of the composition ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [Y(PO₄)] and ²_∞[Na₂(MoO₄)].²⁷⁹ The dimorphism arises fromslightly different orientations of the tetrahedra. In both structures the Y³⁺ ions are 8-fold coordinated.

The chloride phosphate $Ce_3Cl_6(PO_4)$, which has been obtained by reacting $CeCl_3$, Ce, CeO_2 , and P_2O_5 in silica tubes, is isotypic with the respective vanadates and shows the Ce^{3+} ions in coordination of



Figure 23. Comparison of $A_3M(PO_4)_3$ -type compounds. The structural differences are small and can be attributed to reorientations of the phosphate groups according to the coordination requirements of the A^+ ions.

seven Cl⁻ ions and three oxygen ligands.²⁸⁰ The structure can be seen as built up from [Ce₃Cl₆] units in the form of three vertex-connected [CeCl₃] triangles. These units are arranged in a way that pseudo-hexagonal channels occur along [001] which incorporate the $PO_4^{3^-}$ ions.

2. Polyphosphates

The diphosphates as the simplest polyphosphates are known in the form of the alkali-metal-containing species AY(P₂O₇) (A = Na-Cs) and CsYb(P₂O₇).²⁸¹⁻²⁸⁵ They all contain the P₂O₇⁴⁻ ion in a staggered conformation with typical angles within the P-O-P bridge around 125°. The different crystal structures (Table 4) arise from the different coordination re-

quirements of the A⁺ ions. While Na⁺ has a coordination number of "6+2", the larger ions have 9 (K⁺, Rb⁺) and 10 (Cs⁺) oxygen ligands. The M^{3+} ions are surrounded by six oxygen atoms in all of the diphosphates. The oxygen atoms belong to five $P_2O_7^{4-}$ ions, i.e., one of the latter acts as a chelating ligand. A unique diphosphate is the sodium compound Na₇Y₂- $(P_2O_7)_2(P_3O_{10})^{286}$ because it contains additionally the *catena*-triphosphate anion $P_3O_{10}^{5-}$. In the crystal structure the Y^{3+} ions are connected by the diphosphate ions which act as chelating ligands to layers in the [001] direction. These are connected further by the triphosphate groups to double layers according to ${}^{2}_{\infty}[Y_{2}(P_{2}O_{7})_{2}(P_{3}O_{10})]^{-7}$ (Figure 27). Charge compensation is achieved by the Na⁺ ions which are located within and between the layers. To date no other catena-triphosphate has been characterized for a rare-earth element, but the analogous cyclo-triphosphate anion, $P_3O_9^{3-}$, is found in the crystal structure of Ce(P_3O_9)·3H₂O.²⁸⁷ It has D_{3h} symmetry, and the angle P-O-P is 131°. Six monodentate $P_3O_9{}^{3-}$ ions are attached to the Ce^{3+} ions leading to a trigonal prismatic coordination polyhedron with each of its three rectangular faces capped by a water molecule. There are a number of compounds with the composition $M(P_3O_9)$, suggesting them also to be cyclo-triphosphates. In fact, two completely different structures are known for that composition, but none of them is a cyclo-triphosphate. Most of the compounds are *catena*-polyphosphates (see below) with infinite chains of vertex sharing tetrahedra which should be formulated as $M(PO_3)_3$, and the other are *cyclo*-tetraphosphates according to $M_4(P_4O_{12})_3$. They contain the $P_4 O_{12}^{4-}$ anion, which has been confirmed for the scandium compound by single-crystal investigations.^{288,289} Additionally this anion occurs in several ternary compounds of the composition AM- (P_4O_{12}) . Again, this notation should be preferred over AM(PO₃)₄, which is the formula for the also known ternary catena-polyphosphates. Single-crystal investigations were performed for the neodymium compounds RbNd(P_4O_{12}) and CsNd(P_4O_{12}),²⁹⁰⁻²⁹⁷ but



Figure 24. Similarity of the $A_3Sc(PO_4)_3$ -type compounds (right, $Na_3Sc(PO_4)_3$) and the Na^+ ionic conductor NASICON, a mixed phase of $NaZr_2(PO_4)_3$ (left) and $Na_4Zr(SiO_4)_3$.



Figure 25. Alternating stacked ${}^2_{\infty}$ [OM_{4/4}]⁺ sheets of edgeconnected tetrahedra and PO₄³⁻ ions in the crystal structure of Nd₃(PO₄)O₃.



Figure 26. Dimers of edge-connected $[OPr_4]$ tetrahedra according to $[OPr(1)_{2/2}Pr(2)_{2/1}]_2$ in the crystal structure of $Pr_3(GeO_4)(PO_4)O$.



Figure 27. Crystal structure of $Na_7Y_2(P_2O_7)_2(P_3O_{10})$ with $P_2O_7^{4-}$ (shown as polyhedra) and $P_3O_{10}^{5-}$ anions.

powder diffraction results proved the structures also to be adopted with other lighter lanthanides.^{298–301} The rubidium compound is dimorphic. The monoclinic modification consists of alternating layers of [NdO₈] dodecahedra and $P_4O_{12}^{4-}$ anions, whereas the packing in the cubic modification which is isotypic to the cesium compound occurs in a three-dimen-



Figure 28. Two modifications of the *cyclo*-tetraphosphate $RbNd(P_4O_{12})$. In the monoclinic form (on top) the anions are arranged to layers; in the cubic form they are in a three-dimensional way.

sional way (Figure 28). More recent studies showed that even *cyclo*-hexaphosphates can be prepared. They have the compositions $M_2(P_6O_{18}) \cdot xH_2O$, and the content of crystal water *x* may be 6, 10, 12, or 16 (cf. Table 5).^{302–306} The $P_6O_{18}^{6-}$ anion can be either "boat"-shaped like in $Nd_2(P_6O_{18}) \cdot 6H_2O^{303}$ or "chair"-shaped as in $Nd_2(P_6O_{18}) \cdot 12H_2O$, ³⁰⁴ but it has never been found to exhibit the high symmetries known for the respective *cyclo*-hexasilicates (cf. section II).

By far the largest number of rare-earth phosphates with the compositions $M(PO_3)_3^{307-311}$ and $AM(PO_3)_4^{312-334}$ are *catena*-polyphosphates (Table 5). They contain infinite chains of vertex-sharing [PO₄] tetrahedra according to ${}^{1}_{\infty}[PO_2O_{2/2}]^{1-}$. The huge variety of crystal structures arises from the flexibility of the chain. According to the coordination spheres required by the surrounding cations, it may be folded in several different ways as illustrated for the examples of La(PO₃)₃, Er(PO₃)₃, Yb(PO₃)₃, and LiNd- $(PO_3)_4$ in Figure 29. Thus, four structure types are known for the binary and nine for the ternary phosphates of the 1:1:4 composition. The coordination numbers of the rare-earth ions in these structures are usually 6-8 for the smaller lanthanides and 8-10 for the larger ones. A few examples are known with compositions $A_2M(PO_3)_5$, namely, $(NH_4)_2Ce$ -(PO₃)₅ and K₂Nd(PO₃)₅,³³⁵⁻³³⁸ which have been characterized by X-ray data and the isotypic compounds with Tl⁺ and Rb⁺. 339,340

5 8 I 5I I	Table	5.	Crystal	llogra	phic	Data	of	Po	lyp	hosp	hates
------------	-------	----	---------	--------	------	------	----	----	-----	------	-------

				lattice paran	neters			
compound	space group	a/Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
			diphosphat	es				
$CsY(P_2O_7)$	$P2_{1}/c$	7.898(3)	10.891(1)	8.753(3)		104.24(5)		281
$NaY(P_2O_7)$	$P2_1$	7.004(1)	5.3740(8)	8.691(1)		110.18(1)		282
$RbY(P_2O_7)$	$P2_1/c$	7.706(4)	10.927(1)	8.649(5)		105.31(6)		283
$\mathbf{K} \mathbf{I} (\mathbf{P}_2 \mathbf{O}_7)$ $\mathbf{C} \mathbf{s} \mathbf{V} \mathbf{h} \mathbf{P}_2 \mathbf{O}_7$	$\frac{2}{P2}\sqrt{c}$	5.710(1) 7 853(1)	9.210(1) 10.771(2)	12.244(1) 8.697(2)		104 35(1)		285 285
$Na_7Y_2(P_2O_7)_2(P_3O_{10})$	$\frac{P2}{c}$	16.205(4)	5.3746(9)	12.309(4)		97.96(2)		286
			cvclo-triphosp	hatas				
Ce(P ₃ O ₀)(H ₂ O) ₃	$P\bar{6}$	6.770(3)	<i>cyclo</i> -triphosp	6.073(3)				287
(-3-3)(2-)3			avela totranhos	nhatos				
$Sc_4(P_4O_{12})_2$	I43d	14 360(5)	<i>cyclo</i> -tetraphos	pilates				288
$Sc_4(P_4O_{12})_3$	$I\overline{4}3d$	14.390(8)						289
$KNd(P_4O_{12})$	B112/b	7.888	10.770	12.447			112.70	293
$KHo(P_4O_{12})$	B112/b	7.798(1)	10.511(1)	12.310(1)			112.63(1)	294
$RbSm(P_4O_{12})$	C2/c	7.868(2)	12.735(3)	10.589(2)		111.25(2)		295
$KPr(P_4O_{12})$ $KV(P_4O_{12})$	CZ/C	7.913(2)	12.489(3)	10.659(3)		110.48(2) 111.17(1)		296 207
$RhNd(P_4O_{12})$	C^2/c	7.845(2)	12.691(3)	10.688(3)		112.34(1)		291
$RbNd(P_4O_{12})$	I43d	15.241(7)	12:001(0)	101000(0)		112101(1)		292
$CsNd(P_4O_{12})$	$I\overline{4}3d$	15.233(9)						290
			cvclo-hexaphos	phates				
$Er_2(P_6O_{18})(H_2O)_{10}$	$P2_1/a$	18.315(8)	13.343(4)	11.211(4)		94.46(3)		302
$Nd_2(P_6O_{18})(H_2O)_6$	C2	24.58(1)	9.20(1)	12.14(1)		93.97(8)		303
$Nd_2P_6O_{18}(H_2O)_{12}$	$P2_1/c$	9.149(2)	11.693(3)	11.959(3)		96.92(1)		304
$Ce_2(P_6O_{18})(H_2O)_{10}$ Vb (D O)(H O)	$PZ_1Z_1Z_1$	13.522(5)	13.105(9) 10.00(1)	6.938(3)				305
I D ₂ (F ₆ O ₁₈)(H ₂ O) ₁₆	<i>F</i> &1&1&1	10.019(6)	19.99(1)	9.099(3)				300
NJ(DO)	<u>(</u> 7999	11 179(9)	catena-polyphos	sphates				207
$V_{0}(PO_{3})_{3}$	$P2_{1/c}$	11.172(2) 11.219(2)	0.000(2) 10 083(2)	7.204(2) 9.999(3)		97 30(2)		307
$Er(PO_3)_3$	P11m	10.943(3)	6.971(2)	9.670(2)		57.50(2)	91.82(2)	309
$Yb(PO_3)_3$	$R\bar{3}$	20.974(4)		12.134(3)			01102(2)	a
$La(PO_3)_3$	$C222_1$	11.303(4)	8.648(5)	7.397(3)				310
Sc(PO ₃) ₃	Cc	13.558(4)	19.588(6)	9.690(3)		127.11(5)		311
ErH(PO ₃) ₄	PZ_1/a	9.574(2) 5.617(2)	7.096(1)	13.637(3)		100.95(2)		D
$LiNd(PO_2)$	$\frac{R}{I2/c}$	9.844(2)	7.008(3)	13 25(2)		97.32(2) 90.1(2)		312
NdLi(PO_3) ₄	$\frac{12}{C2/c}$	16.408(3)	7.035(4)	9.729(4)		126.38(5)		313
LiEr(PO ₃) ₄	C2/c	16.229	7.009	9.524		125.92		314
CsNd(PO ₃) ₄	$P2_1$	7.123(2)	9.152(3)	8.782(2)		99.72(3)		315
$CsPr(PO_3)_4$	P_{2_1}	7.159(1)(9.190(2)	8.8091(8)		99.66(2)	100.00(1)	316
$CSID(PO_3)_4$ KNd(PO_2)_4	$P112_1$ $P2_1$	7.032(1)	8.703(1) 8.436(1)	9.051(1) 8.007(1)		91 97(3)	100.00(1)	317
$KEr(PO_3)_4$	$P112_1$	7.285(1)	8.012(2)	8.444(1)		51.57(5)	91.96(2)	319
$KTb(PO_3)_4$	$P2_1$	7.239(1)	8.325(2)	7.896(1)		91.82(1)		320
$KLa(PO_3)_4$	$P2_1$	8.106(3)	8.551(2)	7.326(3)		92.18(2)		321
$RbHo(PO_3)_4$	$P2_1/n$	10.266(4)	8.853(3)	10.953(3)		106.28(3)		322
$RbIm(PO_3)_4$	PZ_1/n	10.217(2) 10.215(2)	8.803(2)	10.928(2)		106.28(2)		322
$TNd(PO_3)_4$	$P2_1/n$	10.213(2) 10.440(3)	8.050(2)	11.130(2) 11.007(2)		100.32(2) 105.86(2)		323
$RbNd(PO_3)_4$	$P2_1/n$	10.461(3)	9.041(2)	10.983(4)		106.16(2)		324
CsNd(PO ₃) ₄	$P2_1/n$	10.448(3)	9.039(3)	11.233(2)		106.43(2)		325
$KEr(PO_3)_4$	$P2_1/c$	10.80(1)	8.959(7)	12.70(1)		128.89(6)		326
$KEr(PO_3)_4$	$C222_1$	11.75(1) 11.055(0)	10.325(2)	17.31(1) 17.26(1)				327
$(N\Pi_4) I (PO_3)_4$ NaFr(PO ₃)_4	$\frac{CLLL_1}{P2_1/n}$	7 16(2)	10.374(8)	9 66(3)		89 32(2)		329
$KCe(PO_3)_4$	$P2_1/n$	7.236(1)	13.168(4)	9.999(3)		90.46(2)		330
NaNd(PO ₃) ₄	$P2_1/n$	9.907(4)	13.10(1)	7.201(3)		90.51(3)		331
AgNd(PO ₃) ₄	$P2_1/n$	9.947	13.170	7.291		90.48		332
$KYb(PO_3)_4$	$P_{2_1/n}$	7.766(1)	8.853(1)	14.831(2)		96.36(1)		333
$INH_4 YD(PO_3)_4$ (NH_4)_NId(DO_3)_3	143d	15.233	11 729	13 275		90 50		334
$(1 \Pi 4)_2 1 \operatorname{Nd}(F O_3)_5$ K ₀ Nd(PO ₀) ₅	Cc	8.398 8.430(1)	11.755	13.375		90.50 90.68(1)		338
$(NH_4)_2Nd(PO_3)_5$	P1	7.241	13.314	7.241	90.30	107.50	90.30	336
······································			ultra_nhoenh	atos	00	0		
ErP ₅ O ₁₄	C2/c	12.837(8)	12.723(7)	12.381(7)		91.25(5)		341
TmP_5O_{14}	C2/c	12.822(2)	12.709(5)	12.358(2)		91.25(1)		342
YbP ₅ O ₁₄	C2/c	12.830(3)	12.676(3)	12.337(3)		91.25(2)		343
HoP ₅ O ₁₄	C2/c	12.881(5)	12.771(5)	12.424(5)		91.34(5)		344
PrP ₅ O ₁₄	$P2_1/c$	8.777(1)	9.029(2)	13.068(2)		90.35(2)		345
GUF 5014	Γ21/a	12.910(9)	0.090(1)	0.121(0)		90.33(2)		340

Table 5. (Continued)

				lattice para	meters			
compound	space group	a/Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
TbP ₅ O ₁₄	$P2_{1}/c$	8.721(3)	8.877(2)	12.91(1)		90.52(2)		347
NdP_5O_{14}	$P2_1/c$	8.7672(2)	8.9948(3)	13.0326(3)		90.48(1)		348
NdP ₅ O ₁₄	$P2_{1}/c$	8.771(3)	9.012(2)	13.057(3)		89.58(2)		349
SmP_5O_{14}	$P112_{1}/b$	8.750(4)	12.990(6)	8.944(4)			90.45(1)	350
ErP_5O_{14}	Pnma	8.638(2)	12.674(1)	8.8946(8)				351
NdP_5O_{14}	Pncm	8.794(2)	9.025(2)	13.066(3)				352
HoP ₅ O ₁₄	Pnma	8.726(4)	12.710(6)	8.926(4)				353
HoP_5O_{14}	Pnma	8.720	12.710	8.926				354
ErP_5O_{14}	C2/c	12.835	12.705	12.363		88.40		355
CeP_5O_{14}	<i>P</i> 1	9.227(5)	8.890(5)	7.219(4)	110.12(5)	102.68(5)	82.13(5)	356
CaYP7O20	C2/c	24.66(1)	6.850(3)	10.698(6)		107.40(4)		357

^{*a*} Anisimova, N. Yu.; Trunov, V. K.; Karmanovskaya, N. B.; Chudinova, N. N. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR* **1992**, *28*, 441. ^{*b*} Palkina, K. K.; Chudinova, N. N.; Balagina, G. M.; Maksimova, S. I.; Chibiskova, N. T. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR* **1982**, *18*, 156. ^{*c*} Palkina, K. K.; Maksimova, S. I.; Kuznetsov, V. G. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR* **1979**, *15*, 2168.



Figure 29. Different foldings of the polyphosphate chain in the *catena*-polyphosphates $La(PO_3)_3$ (a), $Er(PO_3)_3$ (b), Yb- $(PO_3)_3$ (c), and $LiNd(PO_3)_4$ (d).

The highest condensation of phosphate groups is found in the so-called ultra-phosphates. They can be prepared from the lanthanide oxides either with phosphoric acid or with (NH₄)₂HPO₄ at 600 °C if a great excess of the phosphorus component is used. As in the *catena*-phosphates, part of the [PO₄] tetrahedra share two common vertexes according to $[PO_2O_{2/2}]$ but there are also tetrahedra linked via three corners as expressed by [PO₁O_{3/2}]. These building units are composed in a ratio of 3:2, yielding an anionic network $[\dot{P}_5O_{14}]^{3-}$ as found in the compounds MP₅O₁₄ (Table 5). Depending on the linkage one finds cross-linked double chains or a strongly branched network (Figure 30). To date four different structure types are known, as can be seen from Table 5.341-356 There is one unique example for an ultra-phosphate



Figure 30. Examples for the branching modes within the anionic $[P_5O_{14}]^{3-}$ network in rare-earth ultra-phosphates $M_3(P_5O_{14})$.

with another composition. In CaYP₇O₂₀, the doubleconnected and the triple-linked [PO₄] tetrahedra are found in a ratio of 5:2, leading to the anionic network $P_7O_{20}^{5-.357}$ The ultra-phosphates were of certain interest for a period of time because they were thought to be promising laser materials. Unfortunately, large single crystals are hard to grow due to the decomposition of the compounds at higher temperatures.

3. Phosphonates and Phosphinates

Phosphonates (formerly called phosphites) and phosphinates (formerly hypophosphites) are salts of the acids H_3PO_3 and H_3PO_2 , respectively. Because part of the hydrogen atoms are attached to the phosphorus atom according to the formulation HPO- $(OH)_2$ and $H_2PO(OH)$ the anions have a tetrahedral geometry. However, they are special in the sense that coordination to a metal ion does not occur via one of the hydrogen atoms but only via the oxygen atoms. Thus, they behave more like pyramidal and bent anions, respectively. The only structurally characterized anhydrous phosphonate is Eu2(HPO3)3358 (Table 6). It contains the Eu^{3+} ions in 7-fold coordination of oxygen atoms which belong to six HPO_3^{2-} ions. Each of the latter is attached to four Eu³⁺ ions, leading to a three-dimensional structure as may be expressed by ${}^3_{\infty}$ [Eu(HPO₃)_{6/4}]³⁻ (Figure 31). The same 3D connectivity of polyhedra is found in the structures of the isotypic monohydrates $M_2(HPO_3)_3 \cdot H_2O$ (M = Pr, Nd),³⁵⁹ but additionally one H₂O molecule is coordinated to the M^{3+} ions so that the coordination number increases to eight. An even higher hydrate has been investigated with Eu₂(HPO₃)₃·2.5H₂O.³⁶⁰

Table 6. Crystallographic Data of Phosphonates and Phosphinates

				lattice para	ameters			
compound	space group	<i>a</i> /Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
			phosphonate	s				
$Eu_2(HPO_3)_3$	C2/m	14.822(3)	7.055(1)	10.205(2)		123.79(1)		358
Pr ₂ (HPO ₃) ₃ ·H ₂ O	$P2_1/n$	9.620(2)	8.005(1)	13.119(2)		108.98(1)		359
Nd ₂ (HPO ₃) ₃ ·H ₂ O	$P2_1/n$	9.581(2)	7.980(2)	13.056(3)		108.95(1)		359
$La(HPO_3H)_2 \cdot 3H_2O$	$P2_1/c$	9.687(3)	7.138(2)	13.518(5)		104.48(3)		362
$La(HPO_{3}H)_{2} \cdot 3H_{2}O$	$P2_1/c$	9.687(3)	7.138(2)	13.518(5)		104.48(3)		363
$Eu_2(HPO_3)_3 \cdot 2.5H_2O$	<i>P</i> 1	6.608(1)	6.899(1)	12.977(2)	82.66(1)	80.64(1)	73.97(1)	360
$Nd(H_2PO_3)(HPO_3) \cdot 2H_2O$	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	6.6840(9)	16.503(4)	7.053(3)				365
$Ce(H_2PO_3)(HPO_3)\cdot 2H_2O$	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	7.126(4)	16.539(4)	6.762(1)				364
$La(H_2PO_3)(HPO_3)\cdot 3H_2O$	$P2_1/c$	9.680(2)	7.135(1)	13.479(2)		104.54(2)		364
La(HPO ₃ H) ₃ ·H ₂ O	<i>P</i> 1	8.054(2)	9.672(3)	7.225(2)	111.35(2)	75.77(2)	118.66(2)	361
			phosphinate	S				
$Eu(H_2PO_2)_3 \cdot H_2O$	$P\overline{1}$	9.07(3)	8.30(3)	7.34(3)	115.50(3)	94.20(3)	111.80(3)	369
$La(H_2PO_2)_3$	$P\overline{1}$	6.7912(6)	7.0801(8)	8.863(1)	82.64(1)	74.43(1)	71.91(1)	366
$La(H_2PO_2)_3 \cdot H_2O$	P_{1}	7.2291(4)	7.983(1)	8.934(1)	110.57(1)	98.26(1)	104.35(1)	366
$La(H_2PO_2)_3 \cdot H_2O$	$P\underline{1}$	8.980	8.080	7.290	104.80	99.00	109.70	367
$Ce(H_2PO_2)_3 \cdot H_2O$	<i>P</i> 1	7.173(1)	7.9827(9)	8.8710(6)	110.64(1)	98.10(1)	104.97(1)	368
$Dy(H_2PO_2)_3$	C2/m	14.368(3)	5.734(1)	12.123(1)		122.33(2)		368
$Ho(H_2PO_2)_3$	C2/m	14.354(2)	5.7161(9)	12.104(1)		122.4(5)		370
$Er(H_2PO_2)_3$	<i>B</i> 112/ <i>m</i>	14.40(4)	12.14(4)	5.64(2)			111.3(4)	а
$Pr(H_2PO_2)(HPO_3)\cdot 2H_2O$	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	6.6558(5)	7.1539(5)	16.551(2)				368
		hy	/podiphosphon	ates				
$Er(HP_2O_6)\cdot 4H_2O$	Pbnn	7.187(1)	9.816(3)	11.517(3)				371
Yb(HP ₂ O ₆)·3H ₂ O	P2nn	7.325(3)	9.360(5)	11.575(6)				371
$Gd(HP_2O_6) \cdot 4H_2O$	Pbnn	7.220(1)	9.927(2)	11.588(9)				373
$Dy(HP_2O_6) \cdot 4H_2O$	Pbnn	7.202(2)	9.859(4)	11.530(9)				373
$HoH(P_2O_6) \cdot 4H_2O$	Pbnn	7.187(2)	9.840(2)	11.514(3)				373
$Eu(HP_2O_6) \cdot 4H_2O$	Pbnn	7.231(2)	9.948(3)	11.604(4)				374
$Nd(HP_2O_6) \cdot 4H_2O$	Pbnn	7.281(2)	10.946(2)	11.698(2)				375

^a Aslanov, L. A.; Ionov, V. M.; Porai-Koshits, M. A.; Lebedev, V. G.; Kulikovskii, B. N.; Novoderedzhkina, T. L. *Izv. Akad. Nauk* SSSR **1975**, *11*, 117. (This structure determination seems to contain an error, cf. ref 370).



Figure 31. Projection of the crystal structure of Eu_{2} -(HPO₃)₃ on (010).

The triclinic structure contains two crystallographically different Eu^{3+} ions. $Eu(1)^{3+}$ is surrounded by six phosphonate groups and one H_2O molecule, while $Eu(2)^{3+}$ has five HPO_3^{2-} ions and two H_2O ligands as neighbors. The anions are attached to four or three Eu^{3+} ions, respectively. An acidic phosphonate is known for the example of $La(H_2PO_3)_3 \cdot H_2O.^{361}$ Seven monodentate anions and one H_2O molecule coordinate the La^{3+} ions in the form of a distorted square antiprism. Three of the anions are bonded to three La^{3+} ions and the remaining four to two La^{3+} ions to give the three-dimensional structure according to ${}^{3}_{0}[La(H_2O)(H_2PO_3)_{3/3}(H_2PO_3)_{4/2}]$ (Figure 32).



Figure 32. Crystal structure of the acidic phosphonate $La(H_2PO_3)_3 \cdot H_2O$.

For M = La, Ce, and Nd, compounds have been found containing both $H_2PO_3^-$ and HPO_3^{2-} ions. The lanthanum phosphonate is a trihydrate, $La(H_2PO_3)$ -(HPO_3)· $3H_2O$, and has a layer structure.^{362–364} The layers are built by the linkage of the HPO_3^{2-} ions, while the $H_2PO_3^-$ groups take care of the connection of the layers by hydrogen bonds (Figure 33). In the latter, also two of the three H_2O molecules are involved whereas the third is coordinated to La^{3+} . The neodymium and cerium compounds are isotypic with each other and crystallize as dihydrates.^{364,365}



Figure 33. Comparison of the crystal structures of La- $(H_2PO_3)(HPO_3)\cdot 3H_2O$ and Nd $(H_2PO_3)(HPO_3)\cdot 2H_2O$.

The structure is essentially the same as that described for $La(H_2PO_3)(HPO_3)\cdot 3H_2O$, but there is only one water molecule between the layers, which are shifted slightly against each other (Figure 33). For the phosphinates the monohydrates $M(H_2PO_2)_3 \cdot H_2O$ with M = La, Ce, Eu^{366–369} and the anhydrous species with M = La, Dy, Ho, Er^{366,368,370} are structurally characterized. The monohydrates are isotypic and contain 8-fold oxygen-coordinated M³⁺ ions. Besides the H₂O molecule, the oxygen atoms belong to seven monodentate $H_2PO_2^-$ ions. These are bonded to three and two M^{3+} ions, leading to layers ${}^{z}_{\infty}$ [M(H₂O)(H₂PO₂)_{3/3}(H₂PO₂)_{4/2}] which are connected by hydrogen bonds. Eight monodentate H₂PO₂⁻ ions are bonded to La³⁺ in the anhydrous lanthanum phosphinate. Two of them are surrounded by two La³⁺ ions, while six of them have three La³⁺ neighbors leading to the three-dimensional structure ${}_{\infty}^{3}$ [La(H₂PO₂)_{6/3}(H₂PO₂)_{2/2}] shown in Figure 34. With the smaller ions Dy^{3+} and Er^{3+} a layered structure is formed according to ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [M(H₂PO₂)_{6/2}] with octahedral coordination of the cations. The only structurally investigated compound with $H_2PO_2^-$ and HPO_3^{2-} ions is $Pr(H_2PO_2)(HPO_3)\cdot 2H_2O.^{368}$ In principle, the same structure as for La(HPO₃)(H₂PO₃)·2H₂O described is found and even the space group is the same. Compared to the lanthanum compound the tetrahedron linking the layers via hydrogen bonds, $H_2PO_3^-$, has been exchanged for H₂PO₂⁻.

Finally, it should be mentioned that there exist also a series of monohydrogenhypodiphosphonates containing the dianion $HP_2O_6^{3-}$ (cf. Table 6). These compounds are known as tetrahydrates $M(HP_2O_6)$ · $4H_2O$ with M = Nd, Gd, Eu, Dy, Er, Yb.³⁷¹⁻³⁷⁵ The ytterbium compound is originally described as a



Figure 34. Crystal structure of $La(H_2PO_2)_3$ projected on (010).

trihydrate, but with respect to the nearly identical lattice constants compared to the other known compounds, it can be assumed that there is a mistake in the structure analysis, probably due to the poor X-ray data. In the crystal structure of the isotypic compounds, each M^{3+} ion is coordinated by four H_2O ligands and four $HP_2O_6^{3-}$ ions. The latter are themselves attached to four M^{3+} ions. Thus, two of the oxygen atoms remain uncoordinated and the proton needed for charge compensation is obviously distributed over these two oxygen atoms.

C. Sulfates

Due to their former use in the separation of rareearth elements, the lanthanide sulfates have been intensively studied. Thus, a great number of complexes and salts have been described in the literature, as might be seen from the overviews of several authors.^{376,377} Nevertheless, with respect to the plethora of sulfates, structural information is still limited. This is especially true for the anhydrous sulfates, and it was only recently when the first structure determinations were performed. The lacking information for the anhydrous species is due to the difficulties in growing single crystals for the structure determination. Compared to silicates and phosphates, which can be prepared even by hightemperature methods, the sulfates decompose at elevated temperatures so that they cannot be obtained from their melt. On the other hand, the use of a solvent, usually water, does not lead to solventfree compounds, and also flux grow methods often fail because the flux takes part in the reaction. Thus, most of the known structures are still those of hydrates and ternary sulfates.

Another group of sulfates which should be included in this section are derivatives formally obtained by the substitution of one oxygen atom of the $[SO_4]$ tetrahedron for NH₂ or CH₃ (Figure 35). In the former case, amidosulfates (sulfamates) are obtained; in the latter case, methanesulfonates are obtained. Both of these anions show a certain similarity to the hydrogensulfate ion, HSO_4^- , which might be also seen as a derivative of SO_4^{2-} .

1. Sulfate Hydrates

Investigations of the sulfate hydrates of rare-earth elements are quite numerous although in most cases



Figure 35. Derivatization of the sulfate group: The substitution of one oxygen atom of the $[SO_4]$ tetrahedron for OH, NH₂, or CH₃ leads to a hydrogensulfate, amidosulfate, or methanesulfonate anion.

not very systematic. The most common hydrated species are the octahydrates $M_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$, which have been characterized by means of single-crystal determinations throughout the whole lanthanide series including yttrium (Table 7).^{378–386} It turned out that the compounds are isotypic with each other and contain the M^{3+} in 8-fold coordination of oxygen atoms. The linkage of sulfate groups and M^{3+} ions can be formulated according to $[M(H_2O)_{4/1}(SO_4(1))_{3/3}$ - $(SO_4(2))_{1/2}]_2$, indicating that two crystallographically

different SO_4^{2-} ions with different functionalities are present in the structure. The water molecules are all coordinated to M^{3+} ions and act as donors in hydrogen bonds with the noncoordinating oxygen atoms of the sulfate groups as acceptors. Very accurate hydrogen positions have been extracted from neutron diffraction measurements on a single crystal of $Nd_2(SO_4)_3$ · $8H_2O.^{384}$

Sulfates with other water contents have been mainly found for the larger M^{3+} ions La–Nd. Enneahydrates, $M_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 9H_2O$, are known for M = La, Ce and contain the M^{3+} ions in 12-fold and 9-fold coordination of oxygen atoms.^{383,385,387,388} The high coordination number of 12 arises from six chelating SO_4^{2-} ions (Figure 36), while the second M^{3+} ion is surrounded by three SO_4^{2-} and six H_2O ligands. Three further water molecules are bound via hydrogen bridges in the structure.

The crystal structure of lower hydrates was determined for $M_2(SO_4)_3$, $5H_2O$ (M = Ce, Nd)^{385,389} and M₂-

Table 7. Crystallographic Data of Sulfate-Hydrates and Anhydrous Sulfates

		lattice parameters						
compound	space group	<i>a</i> /Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
			sulfate-h	ydrates				
Ce ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.743(4)	6.891(4)	18.468(4)		103.13(2)		385
$Pr_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$	C2/c	13.742(2)	6.883(1)	18.529(2)		102.85(1)		386
Pr ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.694(8)	6.803(3)	18.061(9)		102.0(1)		380
Pr ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.675(3)	6.832(3)	18.426(3)		102.8(3)		383
Nd ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.640(5)	6.825(2)	18.388(9)		102.70(5)		384
Nd ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.680(2)	6.8405(9)	18.458(3)		102.61(2)		386
$Sm_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$	C2/c	13.651(2)	6.812(1)	18.402(2)		102.38(1)		386
$Sm_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$	C2/c	13.43(3)	6.72(2)	18.13(5)		102.8(5)		378
Eu ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.636(2)	6.7828(7)	18.394(3)		102.34(2)		386
$Gd_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$	C2/c	13.531(7)	6.739(2)	18.294(7)		102.20(8)		381
$Gd_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$	C2/c	13.606(2)	6.7677(7)	18.335(3)		102.15(2)		386
Tb ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.572(2)	6.7465(9)	18.307(3)		102.19(2)		386
Dy ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.528(2)	6.735(1)	18.320(2)		102.23(1)		386
Ho ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.524(2)	6.7083(8)	18.268(3)		102.10(2)		386
$Er_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$	C2/c	13.461(1)	6.6721(9)	18.1621(6)		101.91(1)		382
$Tm_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$	C2/c	13.490(2)	6.6763(8)	18.193(3)		102.05(2)		386
Yb ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.417(2)	6.642(1)	18.110(3)		102.0(1)		379
Yb ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.459(2)	6.6589(8)	18.181(3)		101.98(2)		386
$Lu_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$	C2/c	13.442(2)	6.6336(6)	18.153(3)		101.89(2)		386
$Lu_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$	C2/c	13.398(4)	6.621(1)	18.08(1)		101.86(4)		385
$Y_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$	C2/c	13.475(2)	6.6845(5)	18.219(2)		101.92(1)		386
$La_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 9H_2O$	$P6_3/m$	11.015(3)		8.091(5)				385
$La_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 9H_2O$	$P6_3/m$	10.980		8.130				388
$La_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 9H_2O$	$P6_3/m$	11.01(2)		8.08(2)				383
$Ce_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 9H_2O$	$P6_3/m$	10.997(4)		8.018(3)				387
$Nd_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$	C2/c	15.702(3)	9.586(1)	10.262(2)		120.05(1)		389
$Ce_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$	C2/c	15.741(3)	9.632(3)	10.358(3)		119.72(2)		385
$La_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$	$P2_1/n$	12.388(1)	7.140(1)	14.302(1)		90.65(1)		391
$Ce_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$	$P2_1/c$	13.390(2)	7.247(1)	18.328(2)		134.2(1)		390
$Nd_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$	$P2_1/n$	12.987(2)	7.190(1)	13.284(2)		92.40(1)		391
$Er_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$	<i>P</i> 1	6.635(1)	9.056(3)	10.465(2)	93.60(3)	107.18(2)	99.12(3)	382
Tb ₂ (SO ₄) ₃ ·4H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	6.701(1)	9.068(2)	10.527(2)	94.15(2)	107.17(2)	99.09(2)	386
$Lu_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 3H_2O$	$Cmc2_1$	13.527(5)	18.415(5)	9.242(7)				385
Ce(SO ₄) ₂ ·4H ₂ O	Pnma	14.599(2)	11.0064(4)	5.6601(5)				а
Ce(SO ₄) ₂ ·4H ₂ O	C2/c	35.813(7)	5.633(1)	14.597(3)		113.73(3)		b
			anhydrous	sulfates				
$Nd_2(SO_4)_3$	B112/b	21.72(3)	6.904(7)	6.673(6)			109.78(4)	401
$Er_2(SO_4)_3$	Pbcn	12.709(1)	9.1301(7)	9.2169(7)			. /	382
$Y_2(SO_4)_3$	Pbcn	12.740(1)	9.1676(9)	9.2608(7)				403
$Yb_2(SO_4)_3$	Pbcn	12.621(1)	9.0636(8)	9.151(1)				404
$Lu_2(SO_4)_3$	Pbcn	12.603(2)	9.075(1)	9.153(1)				404
$Sc_2(SO_4)_3$	$R\bar{3}$	8.707(1)		22.470(4)				403
		. /						

^a Filipenko, O. S.; Leonova, L. S.; Atovmyan, L. O.; Shilov, G. V. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk* **1998**, *360*, 73. ^b Lindgren, O. *Acta Chem. Scand. A* **1977**, *31*, 453.



Figure 36. 12-fold coordinated La^{3+} ion in the crystal structure of $M_2(SO_4)_3$ ·9H₂O. The high coordination number is gained by the chelating attachment of all sulfate ions.

 $(SO_4)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$ (M = La, Ce, Nd, Tb, Er).^{390,391,386,382} The pentahydrates were found to crystallize with the monoclinic space group C^{2}/c . The M³⁺ ions are surrounded by six sulfate groups and two H₂O molecules. One of the SO_4^{2-} ions is attached in a chelating way, leading to a coordination number of 9 for the cation. According to the formulation $[M(H_2O)_{2/1}(SO_4)_{6/4}]$, each sulfate group is bonded to four M³⁺ ions. One of the H₂O molecules is not bonded to a M^{3+} ion, and the description of the structure in space group C2/c requires one-half occupation of this oxygen site. However, with respect to piezoelectric measurements on $Ce_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$, there is clear evidence that the pentahydrates are in fact acentric with the space group $Cc.^{392}$ With $Sc_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$ another pentahydrate is known. It is triclinic and shows the Sc^{3+} ions in octahedral coordination of oxygen atoms.³⁹³ With respect to the lattice parameters, $Sc_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$ seems to be isotypic to the respective selenate (cf. section II.D). However, the latter has been described with the acentric space group P1, while the sulfate shows inversion symmetry (P1).

In the crystal structure of the tetrahydrates M_2 -(SO₄)₃·4H₂O with M = La, Ce, Nd, the CN 8 for the M³⁺ ions is achieved by coordination of two H₂O molecules and five SO₄²⁻ ions. One of the latter is again a chelating ligand. The sulfate groups are surrounded by four and three M³⁺ ions, respectively, as it may be described by [M(H₂O)_{4/1}(SO₄(1))_{3/3}-(SO₄(2))_{2/4}]₂ in Niggli's formalism.

Recently, lower hydrates of the lanthanide sulfates could be also prepared for the smaller lanthanides Tb, Er, and Lu. The isotypic tetrahydrates $Tb_2(SO_4)_3$ · $4H_2O$ and $Er_2(SO_4)_3$ · $4H_2O^{382,386}$ could be obtained from acidic solutions at elevated temperatures in single-crystalline form. In the triclinic crystal structure two crystallographically different M^{3+} ions are present. $M(1)^{3+}$ is coordinated by eight oxygen atoms leading to a square antiprismatic [MO_8] polyhedron. The oxygen atoms belong to five monodentate sulfate ions and three H_2O molecules. $M(2)^{3+}$ has seven oxygen ligands which are provided by six SO_4^{2-} groups and one water molecule. The coordination polyhedron is a monocapped trigonal prism. Two of the three crystallographically different SO_4^{2-} ions



Figure 37. Perspective view of the crystal structure of $Er_{2^-}(SO_4)_3$ ·4H₂O along [100]; hydrogen bonds are emphasized as black lines.

link four M^{3+} ions with each other, and the third is attached to three M^{3+} ions (Figure 37). Furthermore, significant hydrogen bonding is observed in the crystal structure.

Lu₂(SO₄)₃·3H₂O has also been obtained from an acidic solution.³⁸⁵ The crystal structure is very complex and contains three crystallographic Lu³⁺ ions and fully five different sulfate groups. $Lu(1)^{3+}$ is octahedrally coordinated by the oxygen atoms of six monodentate SO₄²⁻. The 8-fold coordination of the remaining two Lu³⁺ ions results from six monodentate and two chelating sulfate ligands $(Lu(2)^{3+})$ and five monodentate SO_4^{2-} ions and three water molecules $(Lu(3)^{3+})$, respectively. Thus, all of the three H₂O molecules per formula unit are located at one Lu^{3+} ion. The low content of water in the compound leads to a strong linkage of the polyhedra with four of the sulfate groups being in 4-fold coordination of Lu^{3+} and one ${\rm SO_4}^{2-}$ ion being attached to two Lu^{3+} ions in a chelating way.

The thermal behavior of the sulfate hydrates has been studied several times by means of DTA/TG measurements, mainly for the octahydrates.^{394–398} According to these investigations, the following reaction scheme has been established

$$\begin{split} &M_2(\mathrm{SO}_4)_3{\cdot}8\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O} \to \mathrm{M}_2(\mathrm{SO}_4)_3 + 8\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}^{\dagger} \\ &M_2(\mathrm{SO}_4)_3 \to \mathrm{M}_2\mathrm{O}_2(\mathrm{SO}_4) + 2\mathrm{SO}_2^{\dagger} + \mathrm{O}_2^{\dagger} \\ &M_2\mathrm{O}_2(\mathrm{SO}_4) \to \mathrm{M}_2\mathrm{O}_3 + \mathrm{SO}_2^{\dagger} + {}^1\!/_2\mathrm{O}_2^{\dagger} \end{split}$$

As pointed out by Niinistö et al., the onset temperatures of the last two steps depend on the ionic radii of the M³⁺ ions.³⁹⁹ Recent investigations on Gd₂-(SO₄)₃·8H₂O proved the reaction sequence by additional powder diffraction investigations of the intermediates.³⁸¹ The dehydration process of Er₂-(SO₄)₃·8H₂O has been also investigated by temperature-dependent powder diffraction and DTA/TG measurements.³⁸² It turned out that the trihydrate Er₂(SO₄)₃·3H₂O, isotypic with the lutetium compound, forms as an intermediate during the process (Figure 38). The dehydration processes of lower hydrates have been investigated occasionally. For example, for $Pr_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O_1$, a di- and monohydrate have been assumed as dehydration intermediates by means of DTA measurements and kinetic calculations.⁴⁰⁰ Er₂(SO₄)₃·4H₂O dehydrates in two steps which are, however, not very well resolved.³⁸²

2. Anhydrous Sulfates

Compared to the respective hydrates, the knowledge of the crystal structures of binary anhydrous



Figure 38. Thermal behavior of $Er_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$. The temperature-dependent powder diffraction shows that $Er_2 \cdot (SO_4)_3$ is formed as a mixture of its orthorhombic and trigonal modification (black arrows in the simulated pattern).

sulfates is rather limited (Table 7). More than 20 years ago Sirotinkin et al. reported the synthesis of $Nd_2(SO_4)_3$ and $Er_2(SO_4)_3$ in single-crystalline form by peritectic decomposition of $LiNd(SO_4)_2$ and $LiEr-(SO_4)_2$, respectively.^{401,402} The crystals obtained, however, were of poor quality, especially for the erbium compound. On the other hand, it has been shown that single crystals of anhydrous sulfates can be grown from alkaline halide melts, favorably LiF and NaCl, respectively. Unfortunately, the method works only for the smaller rare-earth elements Ho–Lu, Y, and Sc.^{382,403,404} The larger lanthanides form sulfate halides under these conditions.

In the crystal structure of $Nd_2(SO_4)_3$, Nd^{3+} is surrounded by seven sulfate groups. Two of the latter are chelating ligands yielding a coordination number of nine for Nd^{3+} . According to the formulation $[Nd(SO_4)_{5/5}(SO_4)_{2/4}]_2$, the SO_4^{2-} ions are coordinated by five or four neodymium ions. The linkage leads to the crystal structure depicted in Figure 39 with the stacking of the crystallographically different sulfate groups to layers parallel (001). Note that the crystal structure is closely related to the one of GdClSO₄, which is described below. For the crystal structures of the sulfates $M_2(SO_4)_3$ with M = Ho-Lu, Y, a CN of six with octahedral coordination of the M^{3+} ions is found. The sulfate groups are attached to four M^{3+} ions. Thus, the $[MO_6]$ octahedra and the SO_4^{2-}



Figure 39. Crystal structure of $Nd_2(SO_4)_3$ viewed along the [010] direction. Note that the crystal structure is closely related to the one of GdClSO₄ (cf. Figure 57).



Figure 40. Crystal structure $Er_2(SO_4)_3$ and $Sc_2(SO_4)_3$ and their relation to the binary sulfides Rh_2S_3 and Lu_2S_3 (α -Al₂O₃ type of structure), respectively.

tetrahedra are linked via all vertexes. If the complex anions are regarded as spheres, the analogy of the crystal structure to the binary sulfide Rh₂S₃ is obvious as can be seen from Figure 40. The same figure compares the crystal structures of Sc₂(SO₄)₃ and Lu_2S_3 (α -Al₂O₃ type of structure). The connectivity of the [ScO₆] octahedra and the sulfate tetrahedra in $Sc_2(SO_4)_3$ is the same as just described. However, the arrangement of the SO_4^{2-} ions is different. The close relationship of the structures makes it likely that phase transitions between them may occur. Although this has not been proven to date, it has been shown that the dehydration of Er₂(SO₄)₃·8H₂O yields $Er_2(SO_4)_3$ with the rhombohedral structure of Sc₂-(SO₄)₃.³⁸² With respect to X-ray powder diffraction investigations, there is strong evidence that the anhydrous rare-earth sulfates of Gd and La have a different crystal structure than those known so far. For $Gd_2(SO_4)_3$, a monoclinic cell with space group C2/c and the lattice parameters a = 9.097 Å, b =14.345 Å, c = 6.234 Å, and $\beta = 97.75^{\circ}$ was given.³⁸¹ For $La_2(SO_4)_3$, also a monoclinic cell was determined but with different parameters: a = 18.897 Å, b =

8.948 Å, c = 12.399 Å, and $\beta = 115.43^{\circ}$.⁴⁰⁵ Another crystal structure of an anhydrous rare-earth sulfate is the one of tetravalent cerium, Ce(SO₄)₂. It contains the Ce⁴⁺ ions in 8-fold coordination of eight monodentate SO₄²⁻ groups, each of them being attached to four Ce⁴⁺ ions.^{406,407}

3. Ternary Sulfates

There is a large number of ternary rare-earth sulfates with alkaline metal ions or NH_4^+ as the third component. They have been studied in the early days of lanthanide chemistry because of their application in the separation of rare-earth elements. With the beginning of the 1970s, the crystal structures of these compounds were determined, and to date roughly 70 crystal structures are known. Most of the structures have been discussed earlier in the review of Niinistö and Leskälä,^{6,7} so that only selected examples will be presented here. However, to be comprehensive, Table 8 includes all compounds of which the crystal structure has been determined to date.

For anhydrous ternary rare-earth sulfates, the composition $AM(SO_4)_2$ has been found for nearly the whole lanthanide series and for all of the alkaline ions A⁺.⁴⁰⁸⁻⁴²⁶ The synthesis may occur by fusing the binary components at elevated temperature or, in a few cases, by crystallization from aqueous solution at 70 °C. The coordination numbers of the M³⁺ ions in these compounds vary from 10, for example, in NaLa(SO₄)₂, 411 via 9 and 8 as found for NaNd(SO₄)₂ 419 and NaEr(SO₄)₂,⁴¹⁴ respectively, to 6 in LiLu(SO₄)₂.⁴¹⁰ Structural changes are not only observed with decreasing radii of the M³⁺ ions. Different crystal structures are found also for a given composition. Besides $KNd(SO_4)_2$, which can be either triclinic or monoclinic,^{418,425} NaTb(SO₄)₂ may serve as a striking example for the polymorphism of the double sulfates.⁴¹⁵ NaTb(SO₄)₂ adopt three different crystal structures, two of them with CN 8 and one with CN 9 for Tb³⁺. As it may be seen from Figure 41 these polymorphs are not only very similar to each other but also to the structure of CaSO₄. In particular, this is obvious if one compares CaSO₄ with the orthorhombic modification of $NaTb(SO_4)_2$. Thus, the latter may be seen as an ordered variant of anhydride with Na^{+} and Tb^{3+} , respectively, substituting for Ca^{2+} .

In accordance with their size, the A^+ ions show coordination numbers from 4 (Li⁺) up to 14 (Rb, Cs). The respective coordination polyhedra are mostly quite irregular. For Li⁺, for example, strongly distorted [LiO₄] tetrahedra are found in the crystal structures of LiPr(SO₄)₂ and LiTb(SO₄)₂.^{420,415} Note, the latter compound is isotypic with LiEu(SO₄)₂,⁴¹⁷ although an orthorhombic space group has been given for the europium compound. It seems very likely that it has to be corrected to the tetragonal one. The high coordination numbers of Rb⁺ and Cs⁺ are mainly achieved by chelating sulfate ligands, as may be seen from the surrounding of Cs⁺ in the crystal structure of CsPr(SO₄)₂: six chelating and two monodentate SO₄^{2–} groups are attached to the ion yielding a coordination number of 14. Another interesting SO_4^{2-} coordination feature is exhibited in the crystal structure of NH₄La(SO₄)₂:⁴²⁶ two of the six sulfate

groups around NH_4^+ act as tridentate chelating ligands. Ternary sulfates containing the ammonium ion are of special interest with respect to their application in rare-earth separation techniques and due to their thermal decomposition to anhydrous lanthanide sulfates. Unfortunately, single crystals of NH_4^+ containing anhydrous sulfates are not easy to obtain. Thus, structure determinations for these compounds are rather limited. Because NH_4^+ has a radius comparable to those of K^+ and Rb^+ , the crystal structures are often isotypic with each other and can be deduced from powder diffraction patterns.

As shown in Table 8, three ternary sulfates of the type $AgM(SO_4)_2$ are known. As might be expected from the similar ionic radii of Na⁺ and Ag⁺, two of them, $AgPr(SO_4)_2^{415}$ and $AgEr(SO_4)_2^{,413}$ are isotypic with the respective sodium compounds. On the other hand, for $AgTb(SO_4)_2^{415}$ a new structure type occurs which contains two crystallographically different Tb^{3+} and Ag^+ ions, respectively. The Tb^{3+} ions have CN of "7+2" and 9, while the Ag^+ ions are irregularly surrounded by 8 and 9 oxygen atoms with a wide distance range from 2.26 to 3.30 Å. The crystal structure is depicted in Figure 42.

Compared to the 1:1 compounds, double sulfate compounds of other compositions are not very well characterized, although a great number of phases are supposed to exist. With K^+ and Rb^+ (and $NH_4^+),$ sulfates of the composition $A_3M(SO_4)_3,^{427-433}$ $A_6M_4\text{-}$ $(SO_4)_9, {}^{427,434,435}A_7M_3(SO_4)_8, {}^{436,437}and A_5M(SO_4)_4 {}^{429,438}$ and the nonstoichiometric compounds $A_{6+3n}M_{4-n}(SO_4)_9$ have been reported. ^{436,439,440} Single-crystal data are only available for some of the A3M(SO4)3 compounds^{441,442} (also with $A = Cs^{443,444}$) and the ammonium compounds $(NH_4)_5M(SO_4)_4$ (M = La, Pr).^{445,446} The crystal structures of the latter show the same structural characteristic, although they crystallize with different symmetry. Both contain zigzag chains according to ${}^{1}_{\infty}$ [M(SO₄)_{4/2}(SO₄)_{2/1}]⁵⁻ which are held together by the NH_4^+ ions (Figure 43). Two other crystal structures which might be of interest are those containing Ce^{4+} . $Cs_2Ce(SO_4)_3^{447}$ consists of sheets formed by the linkage of [CeO₈] polyhedra and SO_4^{2-} tetrahedra in accordance with the formulation $_{\rm \infty}^2 [Ce(SO_4)_{6/2}]^{2-}.$ The sheets are connected via the Cs^+ ions. Besides Ce⁴⁺, the sulfate KCe₂(SO₄)₄ also contains Ce³⁺ ions and, hence, is the only mixed-valent rare-earth sulfate known so far.448 Both cerium ions are in 8-fold coordination of oxygen atoms, but the oxidation state can be assigned with respect to the distances Ce-O. They range from 2.26 to 2.38 Å for Ce^{4+} and from 2.37 to 2.57 for Ce^{3+} , respectively. The oxygen ligands of the cerium ions belong to eight monodentate sulfate groups which are themselves attached to four cerium ions. Thus, the connectivity may be written as $[Ce^{III/IV}(SO_4)_{8/4}]^{0.5-}$. Charge compensation is achieved by 9-fold coordinated K^+ ions which are incorporated in the three-dimensional network of [CeO₈] and [SO₄] polyhedra. It is remarkable that nearly all of the sulfates with other compositions than $AM(SO_4)_2$ seem to have acentric crystal structures with respect to the given space groups. However, in no case has the acentricity been proven by means of physical measurements, and in

Table 8. Crystallographic Data of Anhydrous and Hydrous Ternary Sulfates

				lattice para	ameters			
compound	space group	<i>a</i> /Å	b/Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
		anhydr	ous ternary si	ulfates				
$CsLa(SO_4)_2$	$P2_1/n$	7.929(1)	5.483(1)	17.153(1)		91.46(1)		408
$CsPr(SO_4)_2$	Pnna	9.497(3)	14.106(5)	5.457(1)				409
$LiLu(SO_4)_2$	PDCN DI	12.575(2)	9.051(4) 6 765(7)	9.138(4) 6 465(5)	102 25(2)	01 20(3)	76 71(2)	410
$NaTm(SO_4)_2$	$P112_{1}/m$	4 662(3)	10.143(7)	6837(4)	102.23(3)	91.20(3)	$110\ 40(4)$	411
$NaEr(SO_4)_2$	$P2_1/c$	4.673(2)	6.861(2)	9.575(3)		96.80(3)	110.10(1)	414
$AgEr(SO_4)_2$	$P2_1/m$	4.697(1)	6.806(1)	9.886(1)		95.18(2)		413
$AgEr(SO_4)_2$	$P\bar{1}$	6.737(1)	9.363(2)	10.151(2)	86.54(2)	87.54(2)	81.21(2)	415
NaTb(SO ₄) ₂	$P2_1/m$	4.704(1)	6.927(1)	9.589(2)		96.73(2)		415
$NaTb(SO_4)_2$	Pnma	7.033(2)	6.960(1)	6.157(1)				415
$NaTb(SO_4)_2$	P_1	6.275(1)	6.833(1)	7.022(1)	99.43(2)	95.70(2)	90.89(3)	415
$KDEU(SO_4)_2$	CZ/C Dpp9	13.483(4)	3.372(2)	9.444(2) 5 566(2)		102.40(2)		410
$LiEu(SO_4)_2$ LiEu(SO_4)_2	$P\overline{4}n$	7.032(4) 7.622(1)	7.032(4)	5 5353(8)				417
$KNd(SO_4)_2$	$P\bar{1}$	6.91(3)	5.30(2)	9.05(3)	92.03(5)	96.87(5)	90.80(5)	418
$NaNd(SO_4)_2$	$P\bar{1}$	6.950(3)	6.343(3)	7.215(4)	96.30(2)	98.95(2)	90.93(2)	419
$NaGd(SO_4)_2$	$P\overline{1}$	6.846(1)	6.270(1)	7.026(1)	95.82(2)	99.26(2)	90.93(2)	415
NaEu(SO ₄) ₂	$P\underline{1}$	6.860(1)	6.2687(9)	7.037(1)	95.97(2)	99.17(2)	90.92(2)	415
$AgPr(SO_4)_2$	P1	6.4005(9)	6.9944(9)	7.134(1)	98.60(1)	96.12(1)	91.09(1)	415
$LiPr(SO_4)_2$	$P_{1}^{1}12_{1}/b$	13.69(2)	7.005(6)	6.692(6)	01.07(0)	0.4 = 1.(0)	105.25(4)	420
$\text{KPr}(SO_4)_2$	P1 Pnna	6.94(2) 0.427(4)	5.39(2) 13 101(4)	8.47(1) 5 216(4)	91.27(3)	94.51(3)	88.33(3)	421
$RbLu(SO_4)_2$	P_{111}	9.427(4) 8 779(1)	8 779(1)	5.510(4) 7 590(1)		95 $7(4)$		422
$KEr(SO_4)_2$	$P2_1/n$	5.435(1)	13.342(1)	8.738(1)		92.80(1)		424
$KNd(SO_4)_2$	$P2_1/c$	8.551(1)	7.159(1)	10.679(1)		92.42(1)		425
$NH_4La(SO_4)_2$	$P2_1/m$	7.138(1)	5.425(1)	9.317(1)		98.85(1)		426
K ₃ Yb(SO ₄) ₃	B11b	10.39(2)	8.99(1)	14.65(3)			124.15(4)	441
$K_3Er(SO_4)_3$	Pc	9.222(2)	14.688(1)	9.008(1)		110.72(2)		442
$Rb_3Tm(SO_4)_3$		10.649(2)	15.149(3)	9.320(2)		124.49(1)		442
$C_{S_3} C_3 C_3 C_3 C_3 C_3 C_3 C_3 C_3 C_3 C_3$	R3C Cc	10.040	10.120(1)	9.479		106 83(9)		443
$(NH_{4})_{2}(I_{2}(SO_{4})_{3})$	$\frac{CL}{P_1}$	27.333(1) 8 109(8)	9 491(7)	12.035(1) 12.28(1)	83 22(6)	70.71(7)	69 65(7)	444
$(NH_4)_5 Pr(SO_4)_4$	C1c1	8.051(1)	22.976(2)	9.431(1)	00.22(0)	109.71(1)	00.00(1)	446
$Cs_2Ce(SO_4)_3$	$P2_1$	9.772(2)	16.797(2)	14.812(1)		96.40(1)		447
$KCe_2(SO_4)_4$	Cc	11.734(2)	15.695(2)	9.268(1)		132.00(1)		448
$(Na_{1.788}La_{0.062})SO_4$	$P6_3/mmc$	5.331(1)		7.188(1)				а
$(Na_{1.748}La_{0.102})SO_4$	$P6_3/mmc$	5.331(1)		7.188(1)				а
WTh(SO), UO	D119/b	hydro	us ternary sul	fates			190.0	440
$R_1 D(SO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$ $R_2 D(SO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$	$P2_1/c$	10.180	8 645(1)	0.300 10 495(2)		118 59(2)	120.0	449
$RbGd(SO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$	$P2_1/c$	10.265(1)	8.370(2)	10.443(2)		119.49(1)		451
$RbH_0(SO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$	$P2_1/c$	10.210(3)	8.298(2)	10.404(3)		119.63(2)		451
$RbYb(SO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$	$P2_{1}/c$	10.124(3)	8.255(2)	10.333(3)		119.82(3)		451
RbHo(SO ₄) ₂ ·H ₂ O	$P112_{1}/b$	10.361(4)	17.775(9)	8.320(4)			149.9(3)	452
$\text{KPr}(\text{SO}_4)_2 \cdot \text{H}_2\text{O}$	$P2_1/c$	10.866(2)	15.361(4)	10.031(3)		112.36(2)		453
$LiCe(SO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$	PZ_1/C	8.114(2)	4.612(2)	18.202(8)		96.89(4)		454
$NaLa(SO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$ $NaCo(SO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$	$P_{3_1} Z_1 = P_{3_2} P_3$	7.0557(7)		12.9009(9)				450
NaCe $(SO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$	$P_{3_1}^{221}$	7.013(1) 7.013(1)		12.920(2)				458
$AgCe(SO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$	$P3_{1}21$	7.013(3)		13.110(9)				459
$NH_4Sm(SO_4)_2 \cdot 4H_2O$	$P2_1/c$	6.582(2)	18.886(7)	8.736(4)		96.88(4)		460
NH ₄ Nd(SO ₄) ₂ •4H ₂ O	$P2_1/c$	6.6294(8)	18.929(2)	8.782(1)		97.11(1)		461
$CsLu(SO_4)_2 \cdot 4H_2O$	$P2_{1}/c$	6.670(1)	18.497(2)	8.637(1)		94.23(1)		462
$CsPr(SO_4)_2 \cdot 4H_2O$	$P2_1/c$	6.671(2)	19.054(3)	8.839(2)		94.55(4)		463
$RbPr(SO_4)_2 \cdot 4H_2O$	PZ_1/C	6.622(2)	18.997(2)	8.749(2)		96.17(2)		464
$C_{sL_2}(SO_4)_2 \cdot 4\Pi_2O$	PL_{1}/C P112./b	6.0047(7) 6.734(4)	10.929(2) 0.075(5)	0.7440(9)		90.21(1)	QA 13(A)	401
$RhSm(SO_4)_2 + H_2O$	$P2_{1/c}$	6.565(2)	18 913(6)	8 728(1)		96 26(2)	34.13(4)	466
$(NH_4)La(SO_4)_2 \cdot 4H_2O$	$P2_1/c$	6.720(1)	19.068(2)	8.841(1)		97.50(1)		467
(NH ₄)Tb(SO ₄) ₂ ·4H ₂ O	$P2_1/c$	6.522(4)	18.820(4)	8.681(1)		96.69(3)		467
KLu(SO ₄) ₂ ·2H ₂ O	$P2_{1}/c$	10.583(1)	7.748(1)	10.014(2)		97.36(1)		468
$TILa(SO_4)_2 \cdot 2H_2O$	$P2_1/n$	7.216(1)	11.853(1)	10.486(1)		92.05(1)		469
$TIPr(SO_4)_2 \cdot 2H_2O$	$P2_1/n$	7.153(2)	11.725(2)	10.416(2)		92.52(2)		470
$1Na_3(SC(SU_4)_3) \cdot 5H_2U$	$P0_3$	9.30(4)	18 323(8)	9.00(4) 21 30(1)		05 22(5)		401 k
$N_{2}H_{5}Nd(SO_{4})_{9}$ * $H_{2}O$	Pca?	10,951(3)	9 554(9)	15 762(3)		99.99(9)		170 170
Sc(NH ₃ (OH))(SO ₄) ₃ •1.5H ₂ O	P_1	5.123(1)	8.955(1)	10.147(1)	80.93(1)	75.36(1)	89,17(1)	480
$K_2Ce(SO_4)_3 \cdot H_2O$	C2	20.600(3)	7.0744(6)	18.583(3)	00.00(1)	126.08(1)		448
K ₂ Ce(SO ₄) ₃ ·H ₂ O	C2	20.594(6)	7.068(2)	17.851(5)		122.72(2)		C
$(NH_4)_8(Ce_2(SO_4)_8) \cdot 4H_2O$	$P2_1/c$	12.6472(7)	11.3613(6)	13.6908(7)		110.36(1)		481

^a Armbruster, R.; Mikhail, P.; Hulliger, J. *J. Solid State Chem.* **1999**, *145*, 309. ^b Iskhakova, L. D.; Gasanov, Y. M.; Bondar, S. A.; Klejnman, I. A.; Novik, V. K.; Trunov, V. K. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSR* **1988**, *24*, 998. ^c Sizova, R. G.; Voronkov, A. A.; Belov, N. V. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSR* **1974**, *217*, 1073.



Figure 41. Comparison of the monoclinic and the orthorhombic modification of $NaTb(SO_4)_2$ with the crystal structure of $CaSO_4$.



Figure 42. Crystal structure of $AgTb(SO_4)_2$ viewed along [001].



Figure 43. Zigzag chains ${}^1_\infty[M(SO_4)_{4/2}(SO_4)_{2/1}]^{5-}$ in the crystal structure of $(NH_4)_5M(SO_4)_4$ (M = La, Pr).

some cases the structure determinations are of poor quality, so therefore there remains at least some doubt.

Compounds with a $A^+:M^{3+}$ ratio of 1:1 are also the best investigated group among the hydrous ternary sulfates. They are either monohydrates^{449–459} or tetrahydrates^{460–467} and in few cases also dihydrates.^{468–470} The tetrahydrates are mainly found for the bigger monovalent ions Cs⁺, NH₄⁺, and Rb⁺. They are isotypic with each other and contain the M³⁺ ions in 9-fold coordination of oxygen atoms resulting from the attachment of two chelating and two monodentate sulfate groups and three water ligands. One of the H₂O molecules remains uncoordinated. Each of the SO₄²⁻ tetrahedra has two M³⁺ neighbors leading to two strongly puckered layers according to ${}_{\infty}^{2}$ [M(SO₄)_{4/2}(H₂O)₃]⁻ which are linked by the A⁺ ions. The ammonium compounds have been shown to decompose upon heating according to the reaction sequence

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{NH}_4\mathrm{M}(\mathrm{SO}_4)_2{\cdot}4\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O} &\to \mathrm{NH}_4\mathrm{M}(\mathrm{SO}_4)_2{\cdot}\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O} + 3\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}^{\dagger}\\ \mathrm{NH}_4\mathrm{M}(\mathrm{SO}_4)_2{\cdot}\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O} &\to \mathrm{NH}_4\mathrm{M}(\mathrm{SO}_4)_2 + \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}^{\dagger}\\ 2\mathrm{NH}_4\mathrm{M}(\mathrm{SO}_4)_2 &\to \mathrm{M}_2(\mathrm{SO}_4)_3 + (\mathrm{NH}_4)_2\mathrm{SO}_4^{\dagger} \end{split}$$

yielding the anhydrous sulfates.^{429,471–473} Furthermore, RbSm(SO₄)₂·4H₂O and NH₄Sm(SO₄)₂·4H₂O are found to exhibit a phase transition at lower temperature.⁴⁷⁴

For the smaller A^+ ions such as Na^+ the monohydrates became dominating. The crystal structures of the sodium compounds have only be determined for M = La and Ce, ^{456–458} but powder diffraction results suggest isotypy of the respective sulfates with the smaller M^{3+} ions down to Er.^{475–477} The crystal structure has been described with the enantiomorphic space group $P3_121$. Additionally, for NaCe(SO₄)₂· H₂O the second enantiomorph with the space group $P3_221$ has been reported.⁴⁵⁷ In the structure 9-fold coordinated M^{3+} and 8-fold coordinated Na⁺ ions are present. The sulfate groups act as chelating and monodentate ligands and are surrounded by three M^{3+} and three Na⁺ ions. The thermal behavior of the monohydrates NaM(SO₄)₂·H₂O (M = La, Ce, Nd, Sm) has been studied in great detail in order to determine the decomposition kinetics.⁴⁷⁸

As reported in a more recent work, replacement of Na⁺ for Ag⁺ is possible in NaCe(SO₄)₂·H₂O without structural changes⁴⁵⁹ while the incorporation of the small Li⁺ ions leads to a new layer structure with 9-fold coordinated Ce³⁺ ions and Li⁺ in distorted tetrahedral surrounding (Figure 44).^{454,464} Structures with more uncommon monovalent cations have been known for a long time in the form of the dihydrates TlM(SO₄)₂·2H₂O (M = La, Pr), which show an interesting lone pair effect of the Tl⁺ ions.^{469,470} Two more recent works reported ternary sulfates with N₂H₅⁺



Figure 44. Crystal structure of $LiCe(SO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$ viewed along [010].



Figure 45. ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [Nd(SO₄)_{6/3}]⁻ layers connected by hydrazinium ions in the structure of N₂H₅Nd(SO₄)₂·H₂O. Note that one nitrogen atom of the N₂H₅⁺ ions belongs to the coordination sphere of Nd³⁺.

and NH₃OH⁺ as complex monovalent ions. N₂H₅Nd-(SO₄)₂·H₂O consists of layers built from [NdO₈] polyhedra and SO₄²⁻ tetrahedra according to $^{2}_{\circ}$ [Nd(SO₄)_{6/3}]⁻ which are connected via the hydrazinium ions.⁴⁷⁹ As it is known from various transitionmetal compounds, one end of the N₂H₅ ions act also as a ligand with a distance Nd–N of approximately 2.8 Å (Figure 45). In the crystal structure of the sesquihydrate NH₃OHSc(SO₄)₂·1.5H₂O⁴⁸⁰ the NH₃-OH⁺ ions link double chains of octahedrally coordinated Sc³⁺ ions which are running along [100].

A last structure which might be emphasized here is the one of $(NH_4)_4Ce(SO_4)_4 \cdot 2H_2O$.⁴⁸¹ Although this Ce^{4+} sulfate is widely used as an oxidant, it was only in 1998 that its crystal structure was determined. It consists of dimeric anions $[Ce_2(SO_4)_8]^{8-}$ which are connected by the NH_4^+ ions. All of the sulfate groups in the structure are chelating ligands as can be seen from Figure 46.

4. Basic and Acidic Sulfates

Small and highly charged cations are known to undergo hydrolysis very easily, even in acidic solu-



Figure 46. Dimeric anion $[Ce_2(SO_4)_8]^{8-}$ in the crystal structure of $(NH_4)_4Ce(SO_4)_4\cdot 2H_2O$.

tions. Among the rare-earth elements this is true for Ce^{4+} and Sc^{3+} . Various basic sulfates of Sc^{3+} like ScOHSO₄·2H₂O, Sc₃O₂(OH)₃SO₄·4.5H₂O, Sc₄(OH)₁₀-SO₄·2H₂O, and Sc₈(OH)₂₂SO₄·2H₂O have been prepared, but in no case are structural data known. 482-484 For Ce⁴⁺ the crystal structures of three compounds have been investigated (Table 9). In Ce₂(OH)₂(SO₄)₃. 4H₂O,⁴⁸⁵ two 8-fold coordinated Ce⁴⁺ ions are linked via two common hydroxo ligands to the dimeric building unit shown in Figure 47. These are connected further by SO4²⁻ groups. An even stronger condensation is found in the structure of CeOSO₄. H_2O (Figure 47), where the oxide ion is attached to three Ce⁴⁺ ions.^{486,487} Finally, in the remarkable crystal structure of $Ce_6O_4(OH)_4(SO_4)_6$, six Ce^{4+} ions are connected via oxide and hydroxide ions, respectively.⁴⁸⁸ The cerium ions form an octahedron with metal-metal distances of around 3.7 Å. The eight faces of the octahedron are centered by the oxide and hydroxide ions. Furthermore, the octahedron has four chelating and 16 monodentate sulfate ligands. The connection of these units leads to the tetragonal three-dimensional crystal structure. Structural data of basic sulfates with other rare-earth elements are scarce because they are usually obtained only as powders when precipitated from aqueous solution with NaOH. However, it has been shown in the case of PrOHSO₄ that hydrothermal techniques provide a route to single crystals of these compounds.⁴⁸⁹ In the crystal structure of PrOHSO₄, cationic zigzag chains ${}^1_\infty[Pr(OH)_{2/2}]^{2+}$ are oriented along [100] and surrounded by $SO_4{}^{2-}$ ions. The Pr^{3+} ions are 9-fold coordinated by oxygen atoms. In the crystal structure of $Eu_2O_2(SO_4)$, which is the only anhydrous oxide sulfate of an rare-earth element which has been obtained in single-crystalline form, layers from edgeconnected [OM₄] tetrahedra are built which are separated by sulfate layers.490

The group of acidic sulfate includes hydrogensulfates as well as oxonium compounds where the proton is attached to a H_2O molecule to form H_3O^+ ions or their hydrated species $H_5O_2^+$. It was only in 1994 when the crystal structure of a lanthanide hydrogensulfate, namely, $Gd(HSO_4)_3$, was determined for the first time.⁴⁹¹ The orthorhombic structure has subsequently been shown to be adopted with the rareearth elements Eu–Lu and Y.^{492–494} It is a typical layer structure with the M³⁺ ions being in 8-fold coordination of oxygen atoms (Figure 48). The oxygen atoms belong to eight monodentate HSO_4^- groups which are themselves surrounded by three and two

Table 9.	Crysta	llographic	Data of	Basic and	l Acidic 🛛	Sulfates
----------	--------	------------	---------	-----------	------------	----------

				lattice para	ameters			
compound	space group	a/Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
		ł	pasic sulfates					
$Ce_2(OH)_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$	A112/a	15.58(1)	13.45(1)	6.748(4)			95.39(6)	485
CeOSO ₄ ·H ₂ O	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	11.987(2)	8.272(2)	4.331(1)				486
CeOSO ₄ ·H ₂ O	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	11.98(1)	8.27(1)	4.33(1)				487
$Ce_6(SO_4)_6(OH)_4O_4$	I4/m	10.661(5)		10.288(5)				488
PrOHSO ₄	$P2_1/c$	4.488	12.495	7.091		111.08		489
$Eu_2O_2SO_4$	I2/a	8.1333(8)	4.1830(4)	13.643(1)		107.28(1)		490
		а	cidic sulfates					
$Ce(HSO_4)_3$	$P6_3/m$	9.433(1)		5.8788(5)				495
$La(HSO_4)_3$	$P6_3/m$	9.4564(9)		5.9087(5)				495
Nd(HSO ₄) ₃	$P6_3/m$	9.3567(8)		5.8236(4)				495
Pr(HSO ₄) ₃	$P6_3/m$	9.399(2)		5.8482(9)				495
Sm(HSO ₄) ₃	$P6_3/m$	9.340(1)		5.7914(8)				494
Eu(HSO ₄) ₃	$P6_3/m$	9.3218(9)		5.7737(5)				494
Eu(HSO ₄) ₃	Pbca	12.158(2)	9.673(1)	16.567(2)				494
Gd(HSO ₄) ₃	Pbca	12.105(2)	9.6325(8)	16.549(1)				494
$Tb(HSO_4)_3$	Pbca	12.087(2)	9.610(1)	16.538(3)				494
Dy(HSO ₄) ₃	Pbca	12.053(2)	9.580(1)	16.536(3)				494
Ho(HSO ₄) ₃	Pbca	12.019(2)	9.558(1)	16.527(2)				494
Y(HSO ₄) ₃	Pbca	12.015(1)	9.5376(8)	16.504(1)				494
$Er(HSO_4)_3$	Pbca	11.951(1)	9.4930(7)	16.443(2)				492
Gd(HSO ₄) ₃	Pbca	12.080(8)	9.574(8)	16.515(8)				491
Er(HSO ₄) ₃	$P2_1/n$	5.2000(5)	13.578(2)	12.335(1)		92.13(1)		492
Tm(HSO ₄) ₃	Pbca	11.961(1)	9.4814(8)	16.443(2)				494
Yb(HSO ₄) ₃	Pbca	11.924(1)	9.4501(8)	16.440(2)				494
Lu(HSO ₄) ₃	Pbca	11.947(2)	9.445(1)	16.436(3)				494
$Er(HSO_4)(SO_4)$	$P2_{1}/n$	5.4561(6)	10.757(1)	10.532(1)		104.59(1)		492
$(H_5O_2)Gd(SO_4)_2$	$I4_1/amd$	6.9901(6)		17.423(2)				494
$(H_5O_2)Ho(SO_4)_2$	I4 ₁ /amd	6.9140(5)		17.246(2)				496
$(H_5O_2)Er(SO_4)_2$	I4 ₁ /amd	6.8967(7)		17.166(2)				496
$(H_5O_2)Y(SO_4)_2$	I4 ₁ /amd	6.8875(7)		17.159(2)				496
$Y(HSO_4)_3$	Pbca	12.0153(8)	9.5376(4)	16.504(1)				493
Y(HSO ₄) ₃ ·H ₂ O	$P\underline{1}$	6.799(1)	8.028(2)	9.659(2)	79.99(2)	77.32(2)	77.50(2)	493
Gd(HSO ₄) ₃ ·H ₂ O	<i>P</i> 1	6.863(2)	8.056(2)	9.743(3)	80.28(3)	77.27(3)	77.21(3)	494
$(H_3O)Ce(SO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$	$P2_1/n$	9.359(4)	9.926(4)	8.444(3)		96.53(9)		497
$(H_3O)La(SO_4)_2 \cdot 3H_2O$	$P2_{1}/c$	11.195(5)	6.933(2)	13.574(4)		110.94(4)		498
$(H_5O_2)(H_3O)_2Pr(SO_4)_3$	$P2_{1}/n$	11.620(2)	7.127(1)	15.871(2)		96.54(2)		494
$(H_5O_2)(H_3O)_2Nd(SO_4)_3$	P_{2_1}/n	11.600(4)	7.109(3)	15.948(6)	100	96.76(4)		499
$(H_3O)_2Nd(HSO_4)_3(SO_4)$	<i>P</i> 1	9.101(1)	9.404(1)	9.527(1)	100.15(1)	112.36(1)	105.02(1)	499
$Nd(HSO_4)(S_2O_7)$	$P2_{1}/n$	8.578(1)	10.610(2)	9.724(1)		99.33(2)		500
$H_9Ce_6Nd_7(SO_4)_{27} \cdot 72.33H_2O$	$P6_3/m$	19.165(3)		25.060(4)				а
$H_9Tb_7Ce_6(SO_4)_{27}.79H_2O$	$P6_3/m$	19.341(2)		25.688(3)				b

^a Barnes, J. C.; Paton, J. D.; Seaward, K. F. Acta Crystallogr. C 1993, 49, 2057. ^b Audebrand, N.; Auffredic, J.-P.; Louër, D. Z. Kristallogr.-New Cryst. Struct. 1998, 213, 453.



Figure 47. Coordination of O^{2-} and OH^{-} ions in the crystal structures of the basic sulfates $Ce_2(OH)_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$ (a), $CeOSO_4 \cdot H_2O$ (b), and $Ce_6O_4(OH)_4(SO_4)_6$ (c).

 M^{3+} ions, respectively. The layers $^2_\infty[M(SO_4)_{6/3}-(SO_4)_{2/2}]$ are held together by strong hydrogen bonds with donor–acceptor distances of about 2.7 Å. For $Er(HSO_4)_3$ a second modification has been character-

ized by single-crystal investigations.⁴⁹² The structure shows the same coordination of the $\rm Er^{3+}$ ions, but the linkage of the polyhedra now leads to a three-dimensional structure according to $^3_{\infty}[M(SO_4)_{6/3}]$



Figure 48. Crystal structures of the two modifications of Er(HSO₄)₃; hydrogen bonds are emphasized as black lines.



Figure 49. Thermal behavior of $Er(HSO_4)_3$; DSC/TG measurements and temperature-dependent powder diffraction show that $Er(HSO_4)(SO_4)$ is formed as an intermediate.

 $(SO_4)_{2/2}$] (Figure 48). The hydrogensulfates of the larger lanthanides La–Sm crystallize with another crystal structure^{494,495} that has also been found for anhydrous lanthanide perchlorates, amidosulfates and methanesulfonates (cf. section II.C.4/5). The M³⁺ ions are 9-fold coordinated by oxygen atoms in the form of a tricapped trigonal prism. The oxygen atoms belong to nine monodentate HSO₄⁻ ions which are attached to three M³⁺ ions. The OH groups of the ions remain uncoordinated and point toward channels which are formed in the hexagonal structure along [001]. If the hydrogensulfate tetrahedra are reduced to their centers, the structure corresponds to the one of UCl₃, which is well-known for the trichlorides of the larger lanthanides. Note, for Eu(HSO₄)₃ both modifications, the hexagonal and the orthorhombic one, are found (Table 9).

The thermal decomposition of the rare-earth hydrogensulfate leads in two steps to the anhydrous sulfates.⁴⁹⁴ With respect to DTA/TG and temperaturedependent powder diffraction investigations, the mixed sulfates-hydrogensulfates are formed as intermediates during the reaction (Figure 49).

$$M(HSO_4)_3 \rightarrow M(HSO_4)(SO_4)_2 + H_2SO_4^{\uparrow}$$
$$M(HSO_4)(SO_4) \rightarrow {}^{1}/{}_{_{2}}M_2(SO_4)_3 + {}^{1}/{}_{_{2}}H_2SO_4^{\uparrow}$$

For $Er(HSO_4)(SO_4)$, single crystals of this intermediate could be gained.⁴⁹² The crystal structure contains Er^{3+} ions surrounded by four monodentate SO_4^{2-} and three monodentate HSO_4^{-} ions. The linkage of the tetrahedra and the $[ErO_7]$ polyhedra leads to the three-dimensional structure depicted in Figure 50.

The hydrogensulfates of the rare-earth elements are very moisture sensitive. As can be seen with the help of time-resolved X-ray powder diffraction, Er-



Figure 50. Perspective view of the crystal structure of $Er-(HSO_4)(SO_4)$ along [100]; hydrogen bonds are emphasized as black lines.



Figure 51. Hydratization of $Er(HSO_4)_3$ followed by powder diffraction. As an intermediate, the acidic sulfate (H_5O_2) - $Er(SO_4)_2$ is formed.

 $(HSO_4)_3$ reacts with H_2O in the first step to form $H_5O_2Er(SO_4)_2$ and finally $Er_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$ (Figure 51).496 Single crystals of H₅O₂Er(SO₄)₂ and the isotypic compounds with Gd, Ho, and Y grow from sulfuric acid $(80\% H_2SO_4)$ so that the structure is known.⁴⁹⁶ Opposite to H₃OCe(SO₄)₂·H₂O,⁴⁹⁷ which has the same composition, in $H_5O_2Er(SO_4)_2$ the H_3O^+ ion and the water molecule are joined to a $H_5O_2^+$ ion with a very short hydrogen bond (Figure 52b). The Er³⁺ ions are in a dodecahedral surrounding of oxygen atoms (Figure 52a). Upon heating, $H_5O_2Er(SO_4)_2$ loses two molecules of water in the first step yielding $Er(HSO_4)(SO_4)$, which finally decomposes to Er_2 -(SO₄)₃.⁴⁹⁶ In the hydrogensulfates Y(HSO₄)₃·H₂O⁴⁹³ and Gd(HSO₄)₃·H₂O⁴⁹⁴ the hydrogen atom is not part of an oxonium ion but located on the sulfate group. The compounds are isotypic with the perchlorate Yb- $(ClO_4)_3 \cdot \hat{H}_2O$, which will be discussed later (section II.E.). With H₃OLa(SO₄)₂·3H₂O⁴⁹⁸ a more water-rich compound is known showing a unique structure with strongly hydrogen-bonded H₃O⁺ ions and 9-fold coordinated La³⁺ ions (Figure 53). Furthermore, two complicated acidic sulfates of neodymium have been described recently. They contain H₃O⁺ and HSO₄⁻ ions as in $(H_3O)_2Nd(HSO_4)_3SO_4$ or H_3O^+ and $H_5O_2^+$



Figure 52. Crystal structure of $H_5O_2Er(SO_4)_2$ viewed along [010] (a). The $H_5O_2^+$ ion is disordered as depicted in the lower part of the figure (b).



Figure 53. Crystal structure of $H_3OLa(SO_4)_2$ ·3 H_2O ; hydrogen bonds are emphasized as black lines.

ions as in $(H_5O_2)(H_3O)_2Nd(SO_4)_3$.⁴⁹⁹ Both compounds contain the Nd³⁺ ions in 9-fold coordination of oxygen atoms and show the SO₄²⁻ groups partly as chelating ligands. Furthermore, both sulfates exhibit strong hydrogen bonding as emphasized in Figure 54. The big variations in the composition and the crystal structures of acidic sulfates suggest that there might be further compounds to be discovered. A little more clarity is achieved if the compounds known so far are written as combinations of $Er_2(SO_4)_3$, H_2SO_4 , and H_2O , respectively, as done in Figure 55. In this way the acidic compounds can be arranged in a triangle with these three compounds as the vertexes.

A further hydrogensulfate of neodymium is Nd-(HSO₄)(S₂O₇), which has been obtained by treating Nd₂O₃ with fuming sulfuric acid.⁵⁰⁰ This compound is interesting because it is the first disulfate of a rareearth element. In the crystal structure the S₂O₇²⁻ ion acts as a chelating ligand to a Nd³⁺ ion and as a monodentate ligand to three further Nd³⁺ ions. One oxygen atom of the disulfate group remains uncoor-



Figure 54. Crystal structures of the acidic neodymium sulfates $(H_5O_2)(H_3O)_2Nd(SO_4)_3$ (a) and $(H_3O)_2Nd(HSO_4)_3$ -SO₄ (b).



Figure 55. Phase diagram for the acidic rare-earth sulfates known so far.

dinated and acts as the acceptor in a hydrogen bridge (Figure 56). According to $^3_{\infty}$ [Nd(S₂O₇)_{4/4}(HSO₄)_{3/3}], the Nd³⁺ ions are 8-fold coordinated.

5. Halide Sulfates

In 1970 Kilian and Matthes investigated the reaction of rare-earth oxidesulfates, $M_2O_2SO_4$, with gaseous HCl. They found that chloride sulfates, MClSO₄, were the reaction products, but they were not able



Figure 56. Crystal structure of the mixed disulfatehydrogensulfate Nd(HSO₄)(S₂O₇).

to determine the crystal structure of these compounds because no single crystals had been obtained.^{501–504} Recently, a structure determination was possible on single crystals which were prepared by the reaction of the trichlorides MCl₃ with the respective sulfate, $M_2(SO_4)_3$, at higher temperatures.^{505–507} Two structure types are known to date. With the larger lanthanides La and Pr, a structure is formed which contains M³⁺ ions coordinated by three Cl⁻ and five SO4²⁻ ions.⁵⁰⁵ Two of the latter act as a chelating ligand, leading to a CN of 10 for the M³⁺ ions. The anions are arranged in layers which extend in the (199) plane (Figure 57a) and are surrounded by three and five M³⁺ ions, respectively, so that one may formulate the linkage according to ${}^{3}_{\mu}$ [MCl_{3/3}-(SO₄)_{5/5}]. For the smaller lanthanides Sm–Tb, another type of structure has been found which shows the lanthanide ions in 9-fold coordination of three Clions and six oxygen atoms.^{506,507} The latter belong to five sulfate groups with one of them as a chelating ligand. The main difference between the two structures is the arrangement of the anions. As can be seen from Figure 57b for the example of $GdClSO_4$, layers of sulfate groups and layers of chloride ions are now stacked alternating. The structure is closely related to the one of $Nd_2(SO_4)_3$ in a way that layers of sulfate groups in the latter are substituted for Clions (cf Figure 39).

Fluoride sulfates of the rare-earth elements can be obtained from the reaction of the anhydrous sulfates with LiF in sealed gold ampules. For M = Gd, Tb, Lu, and Y, the crystal structures of MFSO₄-type compounds have been solved based on single-crystal data.^{506,507} They are isotypic with each other and can be seen as a rod packing from cationic ${}^{1}_{m}[M(F)_{2/2}]^{2+}$ and anionic ${}^1_\infty[SO_4]^{2-}$ columns (Figure 58). The coordination number of the M^{3+} ions is eight. Besides the two F^- ions, six oxygen atoms from five SO₄²⁻ groups contribute to the dodecahedral [MF₂O₆] coordination polyhedron. If the analogous reaction is performed with the sulfates of the larger lanthanides, the simple fluoride sulfates are not obtained but the lithiumcontaining species $LiM_2F_3(SO_4)_2$ (M = La-Eu).^{508,509} A characteristic feature of the monoclinic crystal structure is the dimeric building unit $[M_2F_5(SO_4)_{10}]^{19-1}$ which arises from the connection of two $[LaF_4(SO_4)_5]$



Figure 57. Two modifications of the chloride sulfates $MCISO_4$ on the examples of $GdCISO_4$ (a) and $LaCISO_4$ (b). The layer structure of $GdCISO_4$ is similar to that of Nd_2 - $(SO_4)_3$ (cf. Figure 39).

polyhedra via three common F^- ions. The dimeric units are linked with each other to chains by fluoride and sulfate anions (Figure 59a). The Li⁺ ion is surrounded by four oxygen atoms and one F^- ion. The space for the lithium ion is quite large, as indicated by the distances Li–O of around 2.4 Å. Thus, it is possible to replace Li⁺ by Na⁺, and the respective fluoride sulfates NaPr₂F₃(SO₄)₂ and NaEu₂F₃(SO₄)₂ have been prepared (Table 10).^{509,510} Compounds of the same composition could be also obtained for the smaller lanthanides Er and Yb under similar synthesis conditions. They show in principle the same

Table 10. Crystallographic Data of Halide Sulfates



Figure 58. Crystal structure of the fluoride sulfates $MFSO_4$ (M = Gd, Tb, Lu, Y); cationic chains ${}^1_{\infty}[M(F)_{2/2}]^+$ and anionic ${}^1_{\infty}[SO_4]^{2-}$ columns are arranged along the [100] direction.

crystal structure, but the lower coordination number of the M^{3+} ions (CN 8) leads to an orthorhombic symmetry (Figure 59b). Furthermore, the $M^{3+}-M^{3+}$ distances within the dimeric building units are significantly shorter (3.55 Å) and may cause interest for magnetic measurements on these compounds.

6. Amidosulfates

Although amidosulfates (sulfamates) have been investigated intensively for main-group and transition metals,⁵¹¹ the knowledge of the respective compounds of the f-elements is very limited. In 1960 Capestan pointed out that lanthanide oxides dissolve in aqueous amidosulfuric acid and amidosulfates with various water content can be obtained by evaporation of these solutions.⁵¹² However, in the following years no attempts have been undertaken to characterize the compounds, and only recently the crystal structures of La(NH₂SO₃)₃·2.5H₂O and M(NH₂- $SO_{3}_{3} \cdot 2H_{2}O$ (M = Pr-Lu, Y) (Table 11) and their thermal behavior have been investigated.⁵¹³⁻⁵¹⁵ According to these studies in La(NH₂SO₃)₃·2.5H₂O, La³⁺ is coordinated by nine oxygen atoms in the form of a monocapped square antiprism. The oxygen atoms belong to seven $NH_2SO_3^-$ groups and two H_2O

]	lattice parameter	ſS			
compound	space group	a/Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
LaCl(SO ₄)	$P2_1/n$	6.7588(7)	8.1506(9)	8.5141(9)		112.58(3)		505
PrCl(SO ₄)	$P2_1/n$	6.6927(9)	8.0167(7)	8.436(1)		112.37(1)		505
SmCl(SO ₄)	$P2_1/c$	9.480(1)	6.6101(8)	6.854(1)		104.65(1)		509
GdCl(SO ₄)	$P2_1/c$	9.4371(9)	6.5759(8)	6.801(1)		104.87(2)		506
GdF(SO ₄)	Pnma	8.436(1)	7.0176(8)	6.4338(7)				506
TbF(SO ₄)	Pnma	8.390(1)	7.004(1)	6.4248(9)				509
$LuF(SO_4)$	Pnma	8.287(2)	6.905(1)	6.377(1)				509
YF(SO ₄)	Pnma	8.309(1)	6.933(1)	6.411(1)				509
$LiLa_2F_3(SO_4)_2$	I2/a	8.283(2)	6.947(1)	14.209(3)		95.31(2)		508
$LiCe_2F_3(SO_4)_2$	I2/a	8.220(1)	6.914(1)	14.031(2)		95.11(2)		509
$LiPr_2F_3(SO_4)_2$	I2/a	8.1897(8)	6.8805(9)	14.017(1)		95.25(1)		509
$LiSm_2F_3(SO_4)_2$	I2/a	8.071(1)	6.7766(7)	13.857(2)		95.62(1)		509
$LiEr_2F_3(SO_4)_2$	Pbcn	14.791(3)	6.336(1)	8.137(1)				508
LiYb ₂ F ₃ (SO ₄) ₂	Pbcn	14.658(1)	6.3290(7)	8.0737(8)				509
$NaPr_2F_3(SO_4)_2$	I2/a	8.223(1)	6.9212(7)	14.199(2)		95.88(2)		510
$NaNd_2F_3(SO_4)_2$	I2/a	8.190(2)	6.895(1)	14.142(3)		96.03(2)		509
NaEu ₂ F ₃ (SO ₄) ₂	I2/a	8.070(1)	6.781(1)	13.959(2)		95.84(1)		509



Figure 59. Crystal structures of the fluoride sulfates $LiLa_2F_3(SO_4)_2$ (a) and $LiEr_2F_3(SO_4)_2$ (b).

Table 11.	Crystallograph	c Data of Amidosulfates	and Methanesulfonates
-----------	----------------	-------------------------	-----------------------

		lattice parameters						
compound	space group	<i>a</i> /Å	b∕Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
			amidosulfates	5				
La(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2.5H ₂ O	I2/a	14.139(3)	9.297(2)	19.106(6)		105.60(3)		513
Pr(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.921(1)	9.144(1)	9.254(1)	117.69(1)	95.18(1)	92.25(1)	514
Nd(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\bar{1}$	7.898(1)	9.114(2)	9.218(2)	117.59(2)	95.24(2)	92.24(2)	514
Sm(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.824(1)	9.068(2)	9.164(2)	117.61(2)	95.11(2)	92.10(2)	514
Gd(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.831(1)	9.051(1)	9.111(1)	117.20(2)	95.27(2)	92.42(2)	515
Tb(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.845(1)	9.077(1)	9.131(1)	117.19(2)	95.26(2)	92.55(2)	515
Dy(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.843(1)	9.044(2)	9.106(2)	117.05(2)	95.25(2)	92.50(2)	515
Ho(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.814(3)	9.033(3)	9.094(5)	117.00(5)	95.18(6)	92.60(5)	515
Y(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.808(1)	9.033(2)	9.067(2)	116.98(2)	95.26(2)	92.68(2)	515
Er(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.780(1)	8.995(1)	9.022(1)	116.81(1)	95.28(1)	92.65(1)	515
Tm(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.749(1)	8.971(1)	9.007(2)	116.99(2)	95.12(2)	92.29(2)	515
Yb(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.785(1)	8.991(2)	9.028(1)	116.80(2)	95.28(2)	92.71(2)	515
Lu(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.747(1)	8.956(1)	8.988(1)	116.71(1)	95.28(1)	92.81(1)	515
Sm(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	6.815(1)	9.397(2)	9.431(2)	68.06(2)	75.30(2)	83.34(2)	514
Tb(NH ₂ SO ₃) ₃ ·H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	6.755(1)	9.359(2)	9.377(2)	68.26(2)	75.80(2)	83.58(2)	515
$Nd(NH_2SO_3)(SO_4) \cdot 1.5H_2O$	<i>P</i> 1	6.892(1)	6.914(1)	9.620(2)	109.64(2)	97.00(2)	109.62(2)	515
	$I1^a$	9.779(2)	7.596(1)	11.130(2)	90.69(2)	115.06(2)	88.98(2)	515
$La(NH_2SO_3)_3$	$P6_3/m$	9.835 (1)		5.8803(7)				513
		m	ethanesulfona	tes				
La(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	5.2499(8)	10.153(2)	12.980(2)	98.63(2)	91.12(2)	104.61(2)	522
Ce(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P2_1/c$	9.489(1)	14.319(2)	9.837(1)		91.22(2)		524
Nd(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	5.2218(9)	10.109(2)	12.880(2)	98.27(2)	91.79(2)	104.91(2)	523
Nd(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P2_{1}/c$	9.446(1)	14.278(2)	9.792(1)		91.16(1)		524
Sm(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P2_{1}/c$	9.381(1)	14.179(2)	9.743(3)		91.19(2)		524
Sm(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P2_1/c$	9.392(2)	14.195(2)	9.740(2)		91.18(2)		525
Sm(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃ ·3H ₂ O	P1	6.103(1)	10.316(2)	11.746(2)	85.15(2)	78.24(2)	81.69(2)	525
Gd(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃ ·3H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	6.093(1)	10.315(3)	11.664(3)	85.23(3)	78.39(3)	81.76(3)	525
Tb(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P2_1/c$	9.313(3)	14.072(3)	9.664(3)		91.09(3)		524
Dy(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃ ·3H ₂ O	<i>P</i> 1	6.068(1)	10.296(2)	11.591(2)	85.30(2)	78.36(2)	81.58(2)	525
$La(CH_3SO_3)_3$	P6 ₃ /m	9.9826(6)		5.9797(6)				522
Nd(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃	$P2_1$	5.0233(7)	11.231(2)	9.987(1)		104.46(2)		523
Er(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃	$P2_1$	9.847(2)	5.1334(7)	11.874(2)		107.16(2)		525
Yb(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃	$P2_1$	9.798(5)	5.094(2)	11.837(5)		107.16(4)		524
Lu(CH ₃ SO ₃) ₃	$P2_1$	9.789(2)	5.0854(7)	11.864(2)		107.22(2)		525
ScOH(CH ₃ SO ₃)	$Pmc2_1$	7.4392(8)	14.977(3)	15.401(2)				526

^{*a*} Alternative setting of *P*1.

molecules (Figure 60a). Three of the amidosulfate groups connect to two additional La^{3+} ions; the remaining four are attached to another La^{3+} ion. Thus, the connection can be written as $La(H_2O)_2$ - $(NH_2SO_3)_{3/3}(NH_2SO_3)_{4/2}$. The linkage occurs exclusively in the a-b plane, yielding infinite sheets which are held together by hydrogen bonds which also involve the water molecules located between the

sheets. The dihydrates $M(NH_2SO_3)_3 \cdot 2H_2O$ are isotypic throughout the series Ce–Lu including Y and crystallize with triclinic symmetry. The coordination polyhedron of the M^{3+} ion is a distorted square antiprism of oxygen atoms which belong to six $NH_2SO_3^-$ groups and two H_2O molecules (Figure 60b). All of the three crystallographically different amidosulfate groups are bound via oxygen atoms to


Figure 60. Crystal structures of the hydrated amidosulfates $La(NH_2SO_3)_3 \cdot 2.5H_2O$ and $M(NH_2SO_3)_3 \cdot 2H_2O$ (M = Ce-Lu,Y).

two Pr^{3+} ions according to $[Pr(H_2O)_{2/1}(NH_2SO_3)_{6/2}]$. Just as in La(NH₂SO₃)₃·2.5H₂O, the linkage occurs only in two dimensions, leading to sheets which are again only connected via hydrogen bonding. In contrast to the lanthanum compound, there are no additional water molecules between the sheets (Figure 60). The thermal decomposition of $La(NH_2SO_3)_3$. 2.5H₂O and the dihydrates of Pr and Sm have been studied by means of DTA/TG measurements and temperature-dependent X-ray powder diffraction. The first step of the decomposition is the loss of water. In the case of Pr(NH₂SO₃)₃·2H₂O (Figure 61a) and $Sm(NH_2SO_3)_3 \cdot 2H_2O$ (Figure 61b), a monohydrate can be observed as an intermediate. The crystal structure of the monohydrates could be solved for Sm(NH₂-SO₃)₃·H₂O and Tb(NH₂SO₃)₃·H₂O.^{514,515} They also crystallize with a triclinic symmetry, and the CN of eight for the M³⁺ ions is retained compared to the dihydrates. This is achieved by a higher connectivity of one of the three crystallographically different amidosulfate groups which is linking three Sm³⁺ ions with each other according to Sm(H₂O)(NH₂SO₃)_{3/3}- $(NH_2SO_3)_{4/2}$. The linkage of the Sm³⁺ polyhedra and the NH₂SO₃⁻ tetrahedra again leads to infinite sheets only connected via hydrogen bridges.

The anhydrous amidosulfates which were obtained after complete dehydration were shown to be isotypic for M = La, Ce–Sm and adopt the structure which was previously described for the respective hydrogensulfates. For La(NH₂SO₃)₃, a single-crystal struc-

ture determination has been performed.⁵¹³ It shows that the OH group of the hydrogensulfates is now replaced by a NH2 group without structural changes (Figure 62). The anhydrous amidosulfates of the rareearth elements decompose in two steps yielding the respective sulfates. With respect to the mass loss and the DTA signals, a different mechanism can be assumed for the larger lanthanides M = La, Pr and the smaller ones with M = Sm, Er, but clarity can only be achieved by identification of the intermediates. Interestingly, the decomposition of the amidosulfate dihydrates follow a different route when it is carried out in a closed system. For Nd(NH₂SO₃)₃. 2H₂O it has been found that heating in an argon atmosphere leads to the mixed sulfate-amidosulfate $Nd(NH_2SO_3)(SO_4) \cdot 1.5H_2O$ which crystallizes triclinic with the acentric space group $P1.^{515}$ By choosing the alternative setting *I*1 of this space group one can see that the structure is nearly monoclinic (Figure 63). The crystal structure contains two crystallographically different Nd³⁺ ions. Nd(1)³⁺ is surrounded by four $NH_2SO_3^-$ groups, two SO_4^{2-} groups, and one $H_2O_3^$ molecule. Both sulfate groups act as bidentate ligands, so that the coordination number of $Nd(1)^{3+}$ is nine. The coordination polyhedron is a distorted tricapped trigonal prism. $Nd(2)^{3+}$ is 8-fold coordinated by oxygen atoms in the form of a square antiprism. The oxygen atoms belong to four sulfate groups, two $NH_2SO_3^-$ groups, and two water molecules. Each SO₄²⁻ group is connected to three Nd³⁺ ions; each $NH_2SO_3^{-}$ group is attached to two Nd^{3+} ions, so the connectivity can be written as $[Nd(1)(SO_4)_{2/3}]$ $(NH_2SO_3)_{4/3}(H_2O)_{1/1}$ and $[Nd(2)(SO_4)_{4/3}(NH_2SO_3)_{2/3}$ - $(H_2O)_{2/1}$], respectively. In contrast to the hydrates discussed so far, Nd(NH₂SO₃)(SO₄)·1.5H₂O has no layer structure. The polyhedra are connected to a three-dimensional network as can be seen from Figure 63.

7. Methanesulfonates

The methanesulfonates of the rare-earth elements are known as hydrates (Table 11) and adducts with organic molecules such as TMSO (tetramethylene-sulfoxide) and others.^{516–519} In a few cases also crystal structures of the anhydrous compounds are known.

Hydrates were obtained from solutions of the rareearth sesquioxides in aqueous solutions of methane sulfonic acid and crystallize with two or three molecules of water.⁵²⁰⁻⁵²⁵ For the dihydrates two different crystal structures occur. Modification I, which has been found for La and Nd, 522,523 contains the M^{3+} ions in 9-fold coordination of oxygen atoms with slightly distorted tricapped trigonal prisms as coordination polyhedra. The oxygen atoms belong to six CH₃SO₃⁻ ions and three water molecules. Four of the methane sulfonate groups and two of the water molecules connect the polyhedra to infinite chains along [100]. The remaining two CH₃SO₃⁻ ions link two of these chains to double chains (Figure 64a). The connectivity may be written as ${}^{1}_{\infty}[M(H_2O)(H_2O)_{2/2}(CH_3SO_3)_{6/2}].$ The double chains are connected with each other only by hydrogen bonds with the terminal water molecules and the CH₃ groups as donors and noncoordinating oxygen atoms of the CH₃SO₃⁻ ions as acceptors. The



Figure 61. Thermal decomposition of $Pr(NH_2SO_3)_3 \cdot 2H_2O$ (a) and $Sm(NH_2SO_3)_3 \cdot 2H_2O$ (b) followed by DTA/TG measurements and temperature-dependent X-ray powder diffraction.



Figure 62. Crystal structure of $La(NH_2SO_3)_3$ viewed along the [001] direction. Note, the same structure is also found for $La(ClO_4)_3$, $La(HSO_4)_3$, and $La(CH_3SO_3)_3$.

second modification for the dihydrates which has been found with $M=Ce-Tb^{523-525}$ and also for neodymium shows a layer structure. The crystal structure contains the M^{3+} ions in 8-fold coordination of oxygen. The oxygen atoms belong to six $CH_3SO_3^-$ groups and two H_2O molecules. Each methanesulfonate ions is connected to a further M^{3+} ion



Figure 63. Crystal structure of Nd(NH₂SO₃)(SO₄)·1.5H₂O. The compound is triclinic (space group P1), but if the unit cell is transformed to the setting I1, the pseudo-monoclinic symmetry is obvious.

according to ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [M(H₂O)_{2/1}(CH₃SO₃)_{6/2}]. The linkage of the [MO₈] polyhedra via the CH₃SO₃⁻ groups occurs only in the (100) plane and leads to puckered layers (Figure 64b). These are held together by hydrogen bonds involving the water molecules and CH₃ groups as donors and noncoordinating oxygen atoms of the methanesulfonate ions as acceptors.

In the crystal structure of the trihydrates $M(CH_3-SO_3)_3 \cdot 3H_2O$ (M = Sm, Gd, Dy), three H_2O molecules and five $CH_3SO_3^-$ ions are attached to M^{3+} ions. According to ${}^1_{\infty}[M(H_2O)_{3/1}(CH_3SO_4)_{4/2}(SO_4)_{1/1}]$, four of the latter act as bidentate bridging ligands while one of them is monodentate. The chains are held together by hydrogen bonds. The thermal decomposition of the



Figure 64. Two modifications of the dihydrates $M(CH_3 > SO_3)_3 \cdot 2H_2O$ contain double chains $\frac{1}{\infty}[M(H_2O)(H_2O)_{2/2} \cdot (CH_3SO_3)_{6/2}]$ as shown for the lanthanum compound (a) or puckered sheets $\frac{2}{\infty}[M(H_2O)_{2/1}(CH_3SO_3)_{6/2}]$ as depicted for the neodymium compound (b).

hydrates has been followed by temperature-dependent powder diffraction and DSC/TG measurements including the mass spectroscopic detection of released particles.^{522,523} The first step can be attributed to dehydration, which leads to the anhydrous compounds. For La(CH₃SO₃)₃ the structure could be derived from its powder pattern which could be indexed based on the single-crystal data of La(NH2- SO_3)₃.⁵²² Thus, the methanesulfonate crystallizes also with the hexagonal structure that can be seen as a derivative of the UCl₃ type of structure and which has still been discussed for the hydrogensulfates of the larger lanthanides. This structure occurs obviously only for lanthanum. With the slightly smaller Nd³⁺ ion, another structure has been determined which consists of layers built up from $[NdO_8]\-$ polyhedra and $CH_3SO_3^-$ ions. 523 Nd^{3+} is surrounded by eight methanesulfonate groups. Six of the latter are attached to three Nd³⁺ ions, while the remaining two are coordinated to only two Nd³⁺ ions. The noncoordinating oxygen atoms of these CH₃SO₃⁻ ions act as acceptors in hydrogen bonds with the CH₃ groups of adjacent layers as donors. These hydrogen bonds are known to be much weaker than those with oxygen atoms of water molecules as donors for instance. This modification of Nd(CH₃SO₃)₃ undergoes a phase transition at higher temperature leading to a crystal structure that is known for Er(CH₃- SO_3)₃⁵²⁵ and Yb(CH₃SO₃)₃.⁵²⁴ Thus, the structure changes in a way that the layers found in Nd(CH₃-SO₃)₃–I are cut into double chains running along [010] which are again connected via hydrogen bonds. If the two structures are viewed in the [100] direction (I) and [010] direction (II), respectively, they turned out to be quite similar (Figure 65). As a result of the



Figure 65. Crystal structure of $Nd(CH_3SO_3)_3-I$ (a) and $Nd(CH_3SO_3)_3-I$ (b).



Figure 66. Chain ${}^1_{\infty}$ [Sc₂(OH)_{2/2}(CH₃SO₃)_{4/2}] in the crystal structure of ScOH(CH₃SO₃)₂.

decreasing connection of polyhedra, the coordination number of Nd^{3+} decreases to seven and, furthermore, the molar volume expands remarkably. Upon further heating the anhydrous methane sulfonates decompose in a complicated way to give the oxide disulfides $M_2O_2S_2$ and, finally, M_2O_2S . The mass numbers detected during this process indicate the formation of CO, CO₂, SO₂, SO₃, H₂O, and possibly CH₂O and CH₄ during the reaction.⁵²³

Single crystals of the basic scandium methanesulfonate ScOH(CH₃SO₃)₂ were obtained from a solution of Sc₂O₃ in methanesulfonic acid at pH 7.⁵²⁶ According to the X-ray single-crystal determination, the orthorhombic compound contains the Sc³⁺ ions in an octahedral coordination of oxygen atoms belonging to two OH⁻ and four CH₃SO₃⁻ ions. The linkage of the Sc³⁺ ions leads to chains according to the formulation $\frac{1}{2000}$ [Sc₂(OH)_{2/2}(CH₃SO₃)_{4/2}] which are oriented along [100] and held together by hydrogen bonds (Figure 66).

D. Selenates

Similarly to the sulfates, the known crystal structures of the rare-earth selenates are mainly restricted to binary and ternary hydrates. They are closely related to the respective sulfates as one would expect from the identical structure and the comparable volume of the anions. On the other hand, the thermal

Table 12. Crystallographic Data of Selenates

				lattice para	ameters			
compound	space group	<i>a</i> /Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
		sel	enate-hydrat	es				
$La_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 12H_2O$	C2/c	10.670(2)	20.390(6)	10.740(2)		110.12(2)		531
Nd ₂ (SeO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	7.102(1)	13.992(2)	18.253(3)		99.84(2)		530
Sm ₂ (SeO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	7.014(1)	13.878(1)	18.121(2)		99.40(1)		527
Eu ₂ (SeO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	7.004(1)				99.37		530
Er ₂ (SeO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.728(2)	6.8751(7)	18.602(3)		101.85(2)		530
Yb ₂ (SeO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.704(6)	6.831(3)	18.507(7)		101.90(3)		528
Yb ₂ (SeO ₄) ₃ ·8H ₂ O	C2/c	13.751(2)	6.8544(9)	18.549(2)		101.80(2)		530
$Y_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$	C2/c	13.772(2)	6.883(1)	18.650(2)		101.84(2)		530
$Pr_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$	$P2_1/n$	13.367(2)	7.404(1)	13.670(2)		92.11(2)		529
$Sc_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$	$P\underline{1}$	11.225(4)	11.804(3)	5.766(2)	91.30(4)	100.10(2)	89.03(7)	533
$Sc_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$	P1	5.789(1)	11.239(1)	11.851(1)	89.12(1)	88.81(1)	79.84(1)	530
$Sc_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$	<i>P</i> 1	9.109(1)	10.631(1)	17.286(2)	72.21(1)	79.84(1)	89.87(1)	530
$La_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$	$P2_1/a$	9.879(1)	14.199(2)	10.761(1)		92.78(2)		530
$Ce_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$	P21/a	9.820(3)	14.050(5)	10.690(5)		92.00(4)		532
$Ce_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$	$P2_1/c$	10.722(2)	14.101(2)	9.876(1)	04.04(0)	93.18(2)	00.00(0)	530
$Gd_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$	P1	6.947(1)	9.317(2)	10.882(2)	94.81(2)	106.88(2)	99.33(2)	530
		anh	ydrous selena	tes				
$Sc_2(SeO_4)_3$	$P2_{1}/c$	8.899(2)	9.212(2)	15.179(3)		124.83(2)		539
$Yb_2(SeO_4)_3$	$P2_1/n$	9.220(2)	9.521(2)	12.886(3)		91.04(1)		540
$Ce(SeO_4)_2$	Pbca	9.748(2)	9.174(1)	13.740(3)				541
		te	rnary selenate	s				
CsNd(SeO ₄) ₂ ·4H ₂ O	$P2_1/c$	6.850(3)	19.479(5)	8.974(4)		94.80(3)		542
RbCe(SeO ₄) ₂ ·5H ₂ O	$P2_{1}/c$	7.200(2)	8.723(1)	19.258(6)		90.88(2)		543
(NH ₄)Pr(SeO ₄) ₂ ·5H ₂ O	Pccn	7.019(1)	9.865(2)	17.497(2)				544
NaLa(SeO ₄) ₂ ·2H ₂ O	$P\underline{2}_1/c$	11.421(2)	7.135(2)	11.178(2)		107.5(1)		а
$RbNd(SeO_4)_2 \cdot 3H_2O$	$P_{\underline{1}}$	5.843(1)	7.021(3)	13.261(1)	91.50(4)	95.33(2)	106.76(2)	545
KEr(SeO ₄) ₂ ·H ₂ O	<i>P</i> 1	5.676(8)	8.611(9)	9.298(8)	108.7(1)	84.1(1)	106.2(1)	b
KPr(SeO ₄) ₂	$P2_1/c$	8.823(1)	7.371(1)	11.139(1)		91.33(1)		546
$KDy(SeO_4)_2$	$Pna2_1$	27.470(2)	5.657(1)	8.989(1)	00 10(0)	00.00(0)	00 77(0)	547
$NaPr(SeO_4)_2$	PI	6.639(1)	7.118(1)	7.361(1)	99.16(2)	96.93(2)	89.77(3)	548
$(NH_4)_3Sc(SeO_4)_3$	R3	15.567(5)		9.871(3)				549
Na _{3.68} Dy _{1.44} (SeO ₄) ₄	$I4_{1}/a$	10.655(1)		12.290(1)				550
		a	cidic selenates	6				
La(HSeO ₄) ₃	$P6_3/m$	9.717(1)		6.1698(8)				551
$GdH(SeO_4)_2$	Pbca	9.204(1)	13.516(2)	10.040(1)				551
$EuH(SeO_4)_2$	Pbca	9.232(5)	13.514(6)	10.061(4)				552
$Na(HSeU_4)(Se_2U_7)$	$Pna2_1$	11.275(2)	6.1836(7)	12.281(2)		101 04(7)		553
SCH(SeU ₄) ₂ · ZH_2U	CZ/m	8.708(5)	5.632(4)	9.105(9)		101.64(7)		554
$(H_5U_2)SC(SeU_4)_2$	CZ/m	8.6835(8)	5.6139(6)	9.080(1)		101.75(2)		555
INALI (HSeU ₄) ₂ (SeU ₄)·SH ₂ U		11.100(2)	3.7013(7)	11.3893(9)		98.47(2)		330 557
$\Pi_3 \cup Ue^{3+} Ue^{4+} (SeU_4)_4$	cc	12.297(2)	10.207(2)	9.295(1)		129.51(1)		<u> </u>

^a Ovanisyan, S. M.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Trunov, V. K. *Kristallografiya* **1986**, *31*, 1081. ^b Ovanisyan, S. M.; Iskhakova, L. D. *Kristallografiya* **1988**, *33*, 1375.

behavior of sulfates and selenates is completely different. The selenates decompose at lower temperature compared to the sulfates, e.g., single crystals of the anhydrous species are even harder to get than for the sulfates. The lower decomposition temperature can be attributed to the higher stability of the oxidation state IV for selenium. Thus, the product of the first decomposition step of the anhydrous selenates is not an oxide selenate as found for the sulfates but the anhydrous selenite. The higher stability of SeO_3^{2-} compared to SO_3^{2-} makes it much easier to prepare single-crystalline selenites than anhydrous sulfites as will be pointed out later in section III.

1. Selenate Hydrates

Single crystals of rare-earth selenates have been studied to a lesser extent than the respective sulfates. As far as one knows there is a close relationship to the lanthanide sulfates. Thus, from aqueous solutions one obtains mainly the octahydrates $M_2(SeO_4)_3$ · $8H_2O$.^{527–530} Besides the crystal structure that has

already been described for the sulfate octahydrates (Table 7), a second modification has been found for M = Pr, Nd, and Sm (cf. Table 12). Compared to modification I it shows the same connection of $[MO_8]$ polyhedra and SeO_4^{2-} tetrahedra to layers according to $[M(H_2O)_{4/1}(SO_4(1))_{3/3}(SO_4(2))_{1/2}]_2$ which are linked via hydrogen bonds only. However, the arrangement of the polyhedra with respect to each other is different in the two structure types. With $La_2(SeO_4)_3$. 12H₂O there is one example for a highly hydrated rare-earth selenate which has no analogue among the respective sulfates.531 The compound has a layered crystal structure with the La³⁺ ions in 9-fold coordination of oxygen atoms. One-half of the H₂O molecules are coordinated to La³⁺ ions while the remaining are fixed between the layers via hydrogen bonds. Three pentahydrates are known, namely, La2- $(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$, 530 Ce₂ $(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$, 532 and Sc₂ $(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$, 532 and Sc₂ $(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$, 532 and 5325H₂O.^{530,533} The lanthanum and the cerium compound are isotypic and show similar structural characteristics with the respective sulfates although the space



Figure 67. Crystal structures of the two modifications of $Sc_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$. While all of the H_2O are coordinated to Sc^{3+} ions in $Sc_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O-I$ (a), modification II contains nonbonded crystal water molecules (b).

group is $P2_1/c$ in contrast to the sulfates. There are two crystallographically different M³⁺ ions in the structure which are coordinated by nine and eight oxygen atoms. In analogy to the sulfates, one of the H₂O molecules is not bonded to a cation but fixed by hydrogen bonds in the structure. For $Sc_2(SeO_4)_3$. 5H₂O, two modifications are known. Both of them contain the Sc³⁺ ions in octahedral coordination of oxygen atoms. $Sc_2(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O-I$ has the same structure as $Sc_2(SO_4)_3 \cdot 5H_2O_1$, and thus, all water molecules are coordinated to scandium ions.⁵³³ Formerly the space group P1 was given for the compound, but because of the obvious isotypy with the sulfate it is likely that the space group is $P\overline{1}$. In the triclinic crystal structure of Sc₂(SeO₄)₃·5H₂O-II the two crystallographically different Sc³⁺ ions are octahedrally coordinated by oxygen atoms.⁵³⁰ For Sc(1)³⁺ the oxygen atoms belong to six selenate groups which are themselves surrounded by three Sc³⁺ ions. In that way anionic sheets according to $^{2}_{\infty}[Sc(1)(SeO_{4})_{6/3}]^{-}$ are formed. $Sc(2)^{3+}$ is attached by three SeO_4^{2-} ions and three H_2O molecules. Again, the SeO_4^{2-} groups are linked to three Sc³⁺ ions leading to cationic layers according to ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [Sc(2)(H₂O)_{3/1}(SeO₄)_{3/3}]⁺. Cationic and anionic layers are stacked alternating parallel to (001) (Figure 67). The remaining two H_2O molecules are located between these layers. The selenate hydrates with the lowest water content which were structurally characterized are Pr₂(SeO₄)₃·4H₂O⁵³² and Gd₂(SeO₄)₃·4H₂O.⁵³⁰ The praseodymium compound is isotypic with the respective sulfate and the gadolinium selenate with Er₂(SO₄)₃·4H₂O.

Investigations of the thermal behavior of the selenate hydrates were carried out for various compositions mainly by DTA/TG measurements.^{534–537} Similarly to the findings for the sulfate hydrates, the

decomposition starts with the loss of water yielding the anhydrous species. The dehydration often occurs not in one step but with lower hydrates as intermediates. Thus, upon heating, La₂(SeO₄)₃·12H₂O leads to the octahydrate in the first step,538 and for Er2- $(SeO_4)_3 \cdot 8H_2O$ a trihydrate has been assumed as an intermediate,⁵³⁰ in analogy to the decomposition of Er₂(SO₄)₃•8H₂O. On the other hand, the decomposition of the anhydrous selenates is different compared to the sulfates. While the latter form oxide sulfates at higher temperature, the selenates decompose to the respective selenites, $M_2(SeO_3)_3$, in the first step. The different behavior can be attributed to the higher stability of the oxidation state IV for selenium compared to sulfur. Upon further heating the selenites lose successively SeO2 under formation of MO- $(SeO_3)_2$, MO₂ $(SeO_3)_1$, and finally M₂O₃.^{530,534-538} The following general decomposition scheme may be formulated

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{M}_2(\mathrm{SeO}_4)_3 &\cdot x \mathrm{H}_2 \mathrm{O} \to \mathrm{M}_2(\mathrm{SeO}_4)_3 + x \mathrm{H}_2 \mathrm{O}^{\uparrow} \\ \mathbf{M}_2(\mathrm{SeO}_4)_3 &\to \mathrm{M}_2(\mathrm{SeO}_3)_3 + \frac{3}{2} \mathrm{O}_2^{\uparrow} \\ \mathbf{M}_2(\mathrm{SeO}_3)_3 &\to \mathrm{M}_2 \mathrm{O}(\mathrm{SeO}_3)_2 + \mathrm{SeO}_2 \\ \mathbf{M}_2 \mathrm{O}(\mathrm{SeO}_3)_2 &\to \mathrm{M}_2 \mathrm{O}_2(\mathrm{SeO}_3) + \mathrm{SeO}_2 \\ \mathbf{M}_2 \mathrm{O}_2(\mathrm{SeO}_3) \to \mathrm{M}_2 \mathrm{O}_3 + \mathrm{SeO}_2 \end{split}$$

One should be aware that not all of the abovementioned intermediates have necessarily been seen. Besides the nature of the specific rare-earth element, the decomposition scheme depends strongly on the experimental conditions such as heating rates, gas atmosphere, and sensitivity of the measuring device.

2. Anhydrous Selenates

Although the anhydrous selenates are known as intermediates in the thermal decomposition of the selenate hydrates, structural data are still scarce. Single-crystal investigations have only been under-taken for $Sc_2(SeO_4)_3,^{539}\ Yb_2(SeO_4)_3,^{540}$ and Ce(Se- $O_4)_2$.⁵⁴¹ The latter is isotypic with $Ce(SO_4)_2$ and thus shows a three-dimensional network according to ${}^3_{\infty}$ [Ce(SeO₄)_{8/4}] (cf. section II.C.2). The structural features of $Sc_2(SeO_4)_3$ and $Yb_2(SeO_4)_3$ are identical with each other and with those of the lighter rare-earth sulfates: the M³⁺ ions are coordinated by six monodentate SeO_4^{2-} groups which are attached to four M^{3+} ions. Nevertheless, the symmetry is not rhombohedral or orthorhombic as in the case of the sulfates but monoclinic. However, from temperature-dependent powder diffraction measurements of the decomposition of Er₂(SeO₄)₃·8H₂O and Yb₂(SeO₄)₃·8H₂O there is some evidence that the anhydrous selenates are polymorphic and can adopt the symmetries of the respective sulfates.⁵³⁰

3. Ternary Selenates

As it can be seen from Table 12, the number of structurally characterized ternary selenates is quite limited. $CsNd(SeO_4)_2 \cdot 4H_2O^{542}$ is isotypic with the sulfate $CsPr(SO_4)_2 \cdot 4H_2O$, and thus, the structure has



С

Figure 68. Layers ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [M(SeO₄)_{4/2}(H₂O)₅]⁻ (a) and chains ${}^{1}_{\infty}$ [M(SeO₄)_{4/2}(H₂O)₅]⁻ (b) in the crystal structures of RbCe-(SeO₄)₂·5H₂O and (NH₄)Pr(SeO₄)₂·5H₂O, respectively.

to be formulated according to ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [M(SeO₄)_{4/2}(H₂O)₃]⁻ as described for the respective sulfates. The pentahydrates RbCe(SeO₄)₂· $5\dot{H}_2O^{543}$ and (NH₄)Pr(SeO₄)₂· 5H₂O⁵⁴⁴ which have no sulfate analogues contain 9-fold oxygen-coordinated M^{3+} ions. The oxygen atoms originate from five H₂O molecules and four selenate groups. In the rubidium compound the linkage of the polyhedra leads to layers ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [M(SeO₄)_{4/2}(H₂O)₅]⁻ (Figure 68a), while in the ammonium compound infinite chains according to $^{1}_{1}$ [M(SeO₄)_{4/2}(H₂O)₅]⁻ occur (Figure 68b). In the triclinic crystal structure of RbNd(SeO₄)₂·3H₂O, the Nd³⁺ ions are 8-fold coordinated.⁵⁴⁵ The lower H₂O content leads to a higher connectivity of the polyhedra to double sheets $^{2}_{\infty}[M(SeO_{4})_{3/3}(SeO_{4})_{2/2}(H_{2}O_{5})^{-1}]$ which are held together by the A⁺ ions.

Among the anhydrous ternary selenates, KPr- $(SeO_4)_2^{546}$ also has a layer structure while the other two compounds, KDy $(SeO_4)_2^{547}$ and NaPr $(SeO_4)_2$,⁵⁴⁸ have three-dimensional structures with the A⁺ ions incorporated in the voids formed. In accordance with the ionic radii, Pr³⁺ is 9-fold coordinated in both compounds and Dy³⁺ has a CN of 8 in KDy $(SeO_4)_2$. Anhydrous ternary selenates with a different M³⁺/ A⁺ ratio are $(NH_4)_3Sc(SeO_4)_3^{549}$ with anionic chains of $[ScO_6]$ octahedra and selenate tetrahedra, as may be formulated by $\frac{1}{\infty}[Sc(SeO_4)_{6/2}]^{3-}$ and the complicated nonstoichiometric selenate Na_{3.68}Dy_{1.44} $(SeO_4)_4^{550}$ with a mixed occupation of the cationic sites by Dy³⁺ and Na⁺.

4. Acidic Selenates

The only homoleptic hydrogenselenate known so far is $La(HSeO_4)_{3}$,⁵¹ which can be prepared from



Figure 69. Crystal structure of the mixed hydrogenselenate–selenates $M(HSeO_4)(SeO_4)$ (M = Eu, Gd); $HSeO_4^$ ions are drawn as light gray tetrahedra.



Figure 70. Crystal structure of the diselenate $Nd(HSeO_4)$ -(Se_2O_7).

La₂O₃ and concentrated selenic acid. It crystallizes isotypically with the respective hydrogensulfate and adopts a structure which can be seen as a derivative of the UCl₃ type of structure with complex anions. The mixed selenate hydrogenselenates Gd(HSeO₄)- $(SeO_4)^{551}$ and Eu(HSeO₄)(SeO₄)⁵⁵² are isotypic with each other and contain the M3+ ions in 8-fold coordination of oxygen atoms which belong to four selenate and four hydrogenselenate groups. Each of the anions is attached to four M³⁺ ions, leading to a threedimensional structure. The hydrogen atom of the HSeO₄⁻ group is involved in a asymmetric bifurcated hydrogen bond (Figure 69). The diselenate hydrogenselenate Nd(HSeO₄)(Se₂O₇) is not isotypic with the analogous sulfate.⁵⁵³ In the crystal structure Nd³⁺ is surrounded by six $\mathrm{Se_2O_7^{2-}}$ and three $\mathrm{HSeO_4^{-}}$ ions. The anions are monodentate, and tricapped trigonal prisms [NdO₉] are formed. These are linked to chains in the [010] direction which are connected further by $HSeO_4^-$ groups in the [001] and $Se_2O_7^{2-}$ in the [100] direction (Figure 70). Nd(HSeO₄)(Se₂O₇) is the first example for the investigation of crystals containing



Figure 71. Crystal of the ternary acidic selenate NaEr-(HSeO₄)₂(SeO₄) \cdot 5H₂O. Note, the H₂O molecules are exclusively bonded to the Er³⁺ ions.

Se₂O₇²⁻ ions by X-ray methods. The angle Se–O–Se within the ion is 124° and comparable to the one of the disulfate ion S₂O₇²⁻. A reinvestigation of the crystal structure of ScH(SeO₄)₂·2H₂O⁵⁵⁴ showed that the compound contains H₅O₂⁺ ions and should preferably be formulated as (H₅O₂)Sc(SeO₄)₂.⁵⁵⁵ The H₅O₂⁺ ions are located between sheets built from [ScO₆] octahedra and selenate tetrahedra. The bond length O–O of 2.47 Å within the oxonium ion hints at a strong hydrogen bond.

Besides these binary acidic selenates there is one example for a ternary selenate. NaEr(HSeO₄)₂(SeO₄)· $5H_2O^{556}$ contains both hydrogenselenate and selenate groups. The H₂O molecules are exclusively coordinated to Er³⁺ ions which have additionally two SeO_4^{2-} ions and one HSeO₄⁻ group as ligands (CN 8). Na⁺ is surrounded by four selenate and two hydrogenselenate ions which act as monodentate ligands. The linkage of the coordination polyhedra leads to the three-dimensional structure shown in Figure 71. A three-dimensional structure is also found for the structure of the unique mixed-valent cerium compound $(H_3O)Ce_2(SeO_4)_4$.⁵⁵⁷ The selenate groups are connected with the $[CeO_8]$ polyhedra via vertexes. The different oxidation state of the cations is significantly reflected by the Ce–O distances.

E. Perchlorates

1. Perchlorate Hydrates

The perchlorate ion, ClO_4^- , is known to be a very weak ligand. Thus, it shows very little tendency to enter the inner coordination sphere of a cation. This is especially true for the lanthanide ions. From aqueous solutions containing M^{3+} and ClO_4^{-} ions one obtains under ambient conditions exclusively complexes with only water molecules coordinated to the M^{3+} ions. The number of water molecules in the crystal structures has been reported to be 9, 8, or 7.^{558,559} but to date structure determinations have been undertaken only for the hexahydrates (Table 13) which exist for the whole series La-Lu and should be formulated as [M(H₂O)₆](ClO₄)₃.⁵⁶⁰ In the cubic crystal structure the M^{3+} ions are octahedrally coordinated and the perchlorate groups are highly disordered (Figure 72).

Upon heating the hexahydrates melt around 100 °C and the melt loses water molecules over a wide temperature range from 160 to 300 °C followed by complete decomposition of the perchlorate yielding MOCl. Although no significant plateaus can be seen in the thermogravimetry curve, it is possible to obtain lower hydrates by heating the hexahydrates to a certain temperature (Figure 73). For example, the heating of Yb(ClO₄)₃·6H₂O to 140 °C under an argon

lattice narameters

				future pur	unicters			
compound	space group	a/Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
	pe	rchlorate-h	ydrates					
$La(ClO_4)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$	Fm3m [°]	12.173(5)	•					560
Tb(ClO ₄) ₃ •6H ₂ O	$Fm\overline{3}m$	11.926(5)						560
$Er(ClO_4)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$	Fm3m	11.900(7)						560
$Tb(ClO_4)_3 \cdot 3H_2O$	$P\overline{1}$	7.521(1)	11.441(2)	14.879(4)	105.60(3)	100.66(3)	103.51(2)	565
$Lu(ClO_4)_3 \cdot 3H_2O$	$P\overline{1}$	7.503(1)	8.384(1)	10.546(2)	79.77(2)	79.18(2)	63.83(2)	563
$Yb(ClO_4)_3 \cdot 2H_2O$	I2/a	10.575(3)	10.309(3)	11.138(3)		116.66(3)		561
Yb(ClO ₄) ₃ ·H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.802(3)	9.473(4)	6.755(2)	78.14(2)	75.58(2)	77.21(2)	561
Yb(ClO ₄) ₃ ·H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	7.855(1)	9.549(1)	6.810(1)	78.05(2)	75.63(2)	77.15(2)	562
$Er(ClO_4)_3 \cdot H_2O$	$P\overline{1}$	7.834(1)	9.559(1)	6.7831(9)	78.31(1)	75.71(1)	77.29(1)	563
Pr(ClO ₄) ₃ ·H ₂ O	Pnma	5.8001(7)	7.6235(9)	10.899(2)				564
	anł	nydrous perc	hlorates					
Pr(ClO ₄) ₃	$P6_3/m$	9.3361(3)		5.8488(2)				567
Eu(ClO ₄) ₃	$P6_3/m$	9.2496(9)		5.7486(8)				568
Dy(ClO ₄) ₃	$P6_3/m$	9.238(1)		5.6656(6)				565
$Er(ClO_4)_3$	$P6_3/m$	9.197(1)		5.598(1)				567
Yb(ClO ₄) ₃	$P6_3/m$	9.2197(1)		5.5352(1)				566
Yb(ClO ₄) ₃	R3c	8.1241(1)		24.0818(1)				566
Yb(ClO ₄) ₃	R3c	8.167(2)		24.336(7)				561
	ł	basic perchlo	orates					
$[{Nd_6O}(OH)_8(H_2O)_{24}](ClO_4)_8 \cdot 8H_2O$	P4/mnc	14.4999(8)		15.249(1)				572
$[{Sm_6O}(OH)_8(ClO_4)_2H_2O)_{20}](ClO_4)_6 \cdot 4H_2O$	C2/c	23.583(2)	12.032(1)	21.112(2)		109.99(8)		573
$[{Gd_6O}(OH)_8(ClO4)2H_2O)_{20}](ClO_4)_6 \cdot 4H_2O$	C2/c	23.149(2)	11.9086(6)	21.010(2)		110.220(4)		572
ScOH(ClO ₄) ₂ ·H ₂ O	$P2_{1}/n$	9.428(1)	7.352(8)	11.579(2)		93.76		563

Table 13. Crystallographic Data of Perchlorates



Figure 72. In the crystal structure of the perchlorate hexahydrates $[M(H_2O)_6](ClO_4)_3$, the M^{3+} ions are surrounded only by water molecules and the perchlorate ions are highly disordered.



Figure 73. DTA/TG diagram for the thermal decomposition of $Yb(ClO_4)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$. The DTA signal around 100 °C is not accompanied by a mass loss and indicates that the compound melts in its crystal water.

stream led to the ytterbium perchlorates Yb(ClO₄)₃· 2H₂O⁵⁶¹ and Yb(ClO₄)₃·H₂O.^{561,562} Variation of the procedure like the use of higher temperatures or vacuum conditions led furthermore to the hydrates $Er(ClO_4)_3$ ·H₂O,⁵⁶³ Pr(ClO₄)₃·H₂O,⁵⁶⁴ Tb(ClO₄)₃·3H₂O,⁵⁶⁵ and Lu(ClO₄)₃·3H₂O.⁵⁶³

The crystal structure of Yb(ClO₄)₃·2H₂O contains Yb³⁺ in 8-fold coordination of oxygen atoms. The latter belong to two water molecules and five ClO₄⁻ groups, which can be divided into two crystallographically different species, $Cl(1)O_4^-$ and $Cl(2)O_4^-$. $\bar{C}l(\bar{1})O_4^-$ is attached to only one Yb^{3+} ion as a chelating ligand. Each of the four $Cl(2)O_4^-$ perchlorate ligands is coordinated to a second Yb^{3+} ion, leading to chains ${}^{1}_{\infty}$ [Yb(H₂O)₂(Cl(1)O₄)_{1/1}(Cl(2)O₄)_{4/2}] running along [001] (Figure 74). The chains are connected with each other via hydrogen bonds involving the H₂O molecules as donors and noncoordinating oxygen atoms of the ClO_4^- ions as acceptors. In the crystal structure of Yb(ClO₄)₃·H₂O and the isotypic erbium compound, besides the water molecule, seven monodentate ClO_4^- groups are connected to the M³⁺ ions leading to a coordination number of eight. Four of these groups are attached to a further M^{3+} ion; the remaining three are coordinated to two additional M³⁺ ions creating a three-dimensional network according to ${}^{3}_{\infty}[M(H_2O)_{1/1}(ClO_4)_{3/3}(ClO_4)_{4/2}]$



Figure 74. Chains ${}^{1}_{\infty}$ [Yb(H₂O)₂(Cl(1)O₄)_{1/1}(Cl(2)O₄)_{4/2}] in the crystal structure of Yb(ClO₄)₃·2H₂O.



Figure 75. Three-dimensional structure of $Yb(ClO_4)_3 \cdot H_2O$ (a) and two-dimensional layer structure of $Pr(ClO_4)_3 \cdot H_2O$ (b).

(Figure 75a). Hydrogen bonding is observed with the H_2O molecules as donors and noncoordinating O atoms of the ClO_4^- ions as acceptors within the bridge. For $Pr(ClO_4)_3$ · H_2O a coordination number of nine is observed for Pr^{3+} with a tricapped trigonal prism as coordination polyhedron. The $[PrO_9]$ and ClO_4^- polyhedra are linked to layers which are held together by hydrogen bonds (Figure 75b). One of the perchlorate groups seems to be disordered, but there is some evidence that this is the effect of a complicated superstructure.⁵⁶⁴

In the crystal structure of Lu(ClO₄)₃·3H₂O⁵⁶³ Lu³⁺ is surrounded by eight O atoms in the form of a distorted square antiprism. Five of the O atoms belong to just as many ClO₄⁻ groups, the remaining three to water molecules. Four of the ClO₄⁻ ions (2 × ClO₄(2)⁻, 2 × ClO₄(3)⁻) connect to further Lu³⁺ ions; the fifth one (ClO₄(1)⁻) has no additional contact so that the connectivity may be written as [Lu(H₂O)_{3/1}-(ClO₄)_{1/1}(ClO₄)_{4/2}]. The linkage of the [LuO₈] polyhedra occurs only in one direction so that an infinite chain running along [10–1] is formed (Figure 76). The chain is connected with other ones only via



Figure 76. Similar chains ${}^{1}_{\infty}$ [M(H₂O)_{3/1}(ClO₄)_{1/1}(ClO₄)_{4/2}] in the crystal structures of the trihydrates Lu(ClO₄)₃·3H₂O (a) and Tb(ClO₄)₃·3H₂O (b).

hydrogen bridges. Oxygen atoms of the ClO_4^- groups which are not coordinated to the Lu^{3+} ions show significantly shorter Cl–O bonds (1.40–1.43 Å) than the coordinating ones (1.45–1.46 Å) and act as acceptors in the hydrogen bridges. Tb(ClO₄)₃·3H₂O⁵⁶⁵ also has a chain structure, but it is different in the sense that it contains two crystallographically different Tb³⁺ ions with one of them being in 9-fold coordination of oxygen atoms (Figure 76). Compared to the lutetium compound the increasing coordination number is achieved via the chelating attack of one of the six crystallographic different ClO_4^- ions.

2. Anhydrous Perchlorates

The anhydrous perchlorates can be obtained by complete dehydration of the respective hydrates. Usually this procedure leads only to powder samples so that no single-crystal structure determination can be performed. Nevertheless, a successful elucidation of the crystal structures of anhydrous rare-earth perchlorates was possible using synchrotron or neutron powder data.^{566,567} Furthermore, it has been shown that the dehydration can be carried out in a way that even single crystals can be grown so that single-crystal data have become available.^{561,568}

Two structure types for anhydrous rare-earth perchlorates are known (Table 13). Most of the lanthanides, namely, La–Tm and Y, crystallize with a hexagonal structure which has already been found for the hydrogensulfates and amidosulfates of the lighter rare-earth elements (cf. section II.C.3/4). Thus, the M^{3+} ions are coordinated by nine perchlorate groups which are attached to three M^{3+} ions leading to a three-dimensional structure according to ${}^{3}_{\infty}$ [M(ClO₄)_{9/3}]. If the tetrahedra are regarded as spheres, the well-known UCl₃ type of structure arises (Figure 62). The anhydrous perchlorates of the smallest lanthanides Yb and Lu crystallizes with trigonal symmetry and the acentric space group *R*3*c*. The M^{3+}



Figure 77. Crystal structure of $Yb(ClO_4)_3$. Three of the six ClO_4^- ions around Yb^{3+} are chelating ligands leading to a coordination number of nine for Yb^{3+} .

ions are surrounded by six perchlorate groups with the chlorine atoms forming an octahedron around the cations. Three of the ClO_4^- groups act as chelating ligands (Figure 77), so that a coordination number of nine results for M³⁺ with a coordination polyhedron which may be viewed as a distorted tricapped trigonal prism. Because there is crystallographically only one ClO₄⁻ group present, each chelating perchlorate ion to one Yb3+ is a monodentate ligand to a second one and vice versa. Thus, the connectivity may be written as $[Yb(ClO_4)_{6/2}]$. The arrangement of anions in Yb(ClO₄)₃ is very similar to that found for Sc(H₂- PO_4)₃;⁵⁶⁹ it can be understood as a hexagonal closest packing of tetrahedra with the cations in octahedral voids. Compared to the scandium compound in which the cation is only six-coordinated by oxygen, the ClO_4^- groups in Yb(ClO₄)₃ are tilted a little bit in order to increase the coordination number of Yb³⁺. Both compounds are, however, in principle derivatives of the RhF₃ type of structure with complex anions. $Yb(ClO_4)_3$ has additionally be shown to be dimorphic and to adopt the UCl₃ type of structure at lower temperatures.⁵⁶⁶

The thermal decomposition of the perchlorates occurs around 300 °C and leads usually to the oxide chlorides, MOCl. For Yb(ClO₄)₃ the oxide chloride Yb₃O₄Cl was observed also as a decomposition product⁵⁶⁶ and Ce(ClO₄)₃ yielded exclusively CeO₂.⁵⁷⁰ Mass spectrometric investigations of the products released during the decomposition of Pr(ClO₄)₃ showed that no Cl₂O is produced, as stated previously, but only O₂ and Cl₂ (Figure 78).⁵⁷¹

3. Basic Perchlorates

The anhydrous scandium perchlorate cannot be prepared by dehydration of the respective hydrate. Instead, decomposition to the basic compound ScOH- $(ClO_4)_2 \cdot H_2O$ is always observed. Recently it was possible to obtain single crystals of the compound and to determine the crystal structure.⁵⁶³ According to this investigation the crystal structure contains the Sc³⁺ ion octahedrally coordinated by three ClO_4^- groups, two OH⁻ ions, and one H₂O molecule. Two of these octahedra share one common edge, which is built from OH⁻ groups, to form pairs according to $[Sc_2(OH)_2(H_2O)_2(ClO_4)_6]^{2-}$ with a Sc³⁺-Sc³⁺ distance of 3.20 Å (Figure 79). The $[Sc_2(OH)_2(H_2O)_2(ClO_4)_6]^{2-}$



Figure 78. TG/MS diagram for the thermal decomposition of $Pr(ClO_4)_3$. The signals of the mass spectrometer indicate that only chlorine and oxygen are released during the decomposition.



Figure 79. Anionic $[Sc_2(OH)_2(H_2O)_2(ClO_4)_6]^{2-}$ complex in the crystal structure of the basic perchlorate $ScOH(ClO_4)_2$ · H_2O .

complex contains two crystallographically different perchlorate ions, $Cl(1)O_4^-$ (4×) and $Cl(2)O_4^-$ (2×). Each $Cl(1)O_4^-$ ion connects to a further Sc^{3+} ion yielding infinite layers, while $Cl(2)O_4^-$ is not connected to other Sc^{3+} ions. Hence, the connectivity must be formulated as $^2_{\infty}[Sc_2(OH)_2(H_2O)_2(ClO_4)_{4/2}-(ClO_4)_{2/1}]$. The layers are connected via hydrogen bridges with the water molecules as donors and noncoordinating oxygen atoms O of the ClO_4^- ions as acceptors.

Another kind of basic perchlorate is obtained when an aqueous solution of lanthanide perchlorate is treated with an alkali hydroxide. The compounds known so far have the compositions $[Nd_6(\mu-O)(\mu_3 OH_{8}(H_{2}O)_{24}](ClO_{4})_{8} \cdot 8H_{2}O^{572}$ and $[M_{6}(\mu - O)(\mu_{3} - OH)_{8} - OH)_{8}$ $(\eta^2 - \text{ClO}_4)_2(\text{H}_2\text{O})_{20}](\text{ClO}_4)_6 \cdot 4\text{H}_2\text{O}$ (M = Sm,⁵⁷³ Gd⁵⁷²) (Table 13). The common features of all compounds are oxygen-centered M₆ clusters which are capped with OH⁻ ions over each triangular face. Additionally, the cluster cores are surrounded by water molecules and for the isotypic Sm and Gd compounds by two chelating ClO_4^{-} ligands (Figure 80). The crystal structures contain further perchlorate groups for charge compensation and nonbonded H2O molecules. The special arrangement of the metal ions leads to short distances $M^{3+}-M^{3+}$ of about 3.7-3.8 Å, but magnetic measurements show that there are no magnetic interactions, at least under ambient conditions.572

Note, the compounds described are the only basic perchlorates known so far. A number of others which were assumed to be basic perchlorates^{574,575} turned out to be sulfates in fact.



Figure 80. Complex cation $[M_6(\mu-O)(\mu_3-OH)_8(\eta^2-CIO_4)_2-(H_2O)_{20}]^{6+}$ in the crystal structure of $[M_6(\mu-O)(\mu_3-OH)_8(\eta^2-CIO_4)_2(H_2O)_{20}](CIO_4)_6\cdot 4H_2O$ (M = Sm, Gd).

III. Pyramidal Anions

A. Chalcogenites

This section deals with the rare-earth compounds containing SO_3^{2-} and SeO_3^{2-} ions as pyramidal complex anions. Because of the higher stability of Se^{+IV} compared to S^{+IV} , the crystal chemistry of the selenites is much better known and the reported crystal structures are quite numerous. Lanthanide compounds containing Te^{+IV} are not mentioned herein because hardly any of them can be seen as containing distinct $[TeO_3]^{2-}$ anions. The larger ionic radius of Te^{+IV} compared to Se^{+IV} leads to an increasing coordination number and in the structures known so far the Te^{+IV} ions have one or even more additional ligands.⁵⁷⁶ Thus, there is only one example for an isotypic crystal structure of a rare-earth tellurite and selenite, namely $Ce(TeO_3)_2$ and $Ce(SeO_3)_2$.⁵⁷⁷

1. Sulfites

As far as one knows the rare-earth sulfites are precipitated as trihydrates or hexahydrates when SO₂ is passed into a slurry of the lanthanide oxides in water. Due to the low solubility of the sulfites, fine amorphous powders are obtained so that structural information is still scarce. To date, a structure determination has been performed only for Gd₂(SO₃)₃. 3H₂O.⁵⁷⁸ The triclinic structure contains two crystallographically different Gd³⁺ ions which are in 8-fold coordination of oxygen atoms. For $Gd(1)^{3+}$ the oxygen atoms belong to six SO_3^{2-} groups and one H_2O molecule; $Gd(2)^{3+}$ is surrounded by two water ligands and five sulfite ions. In both cases one of the SO_3^{2-} ions is attached in a chelating way. Two of the three sulfite ions are attached to four Gd³⁺ ions; the third has three Gd³⁺ neighbors. The linkage leads to a three-dimensional network providing empty space for the lone pairs of the sulfite ions (Figure 81).



Figure 81. Crystal structure of $Gd_2(SO_3)_3 \cdot 3H_2O$ along [101].

Table 14.	Crystallographic	Data of Sulfites	and Selenites

				lattice para	ameters			
compound	space group	<i>a</i> /Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
			sulfites					
$Gd_2(SO_3)_3 \cdot 3H_2O$	P1	6.499(6)	6.621(3)	6.954(3)	110.71(5)	90.54(3)	106.05(1)	578
$(NH_4)_3Dy(SO_3)_3 \cdot H_2O$	P2/m	8.880	3.980	9.480		117.40		588
			selenites					
Sm(HSeO ₃)(SeO ₃)·2H ₂ O	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	6.667(1)	7.031(1)	16.426(3)				596
Nd(HSeO ₃)(SeO ₃)·2H ₂ O	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	6.699(4)	7.101(1)	16.39(2)				597
$Pr_2(HSeO_3)_2(SeO_3)_2$	$Pbc2_1$	7.0471(8)	8.3480(8)	18.987(3)				598
$La(HSe_2O_6)$	$Pc2_1b$	7.139(6)	19.008(9)	8.469(9)				599
Sc(HSeO ₃) ₃	Cc	11.130(2)	9.506(4)	7.598(2)		97.59(2)		604
$Nd_2(Se_2O_5)_3(H_2SeO_3)\cdot 2H_2O$	$Pna2_1$	10.665(5)	7.219(2)	23.662(3)				605
$PrH_3(SeO_3)_2(Se_2O_5)$	$P2_1/c$	12.933(3)	7.334(2)	10.811(2)		91.68(1)		606
$Y(Se_2O_5)NO_3 \cdot 3H_2O$	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	6.216(1)	7.100(2)	20.689(6)				607
Yb ₂ (SeO ₃) ₃	$P\overline{1}$	6.933(1)	7.974(2)	8.948(2)	71.39(2)	70.24(2)	65.94(2)	608
$Y_2(SeO_3)_3$	$P\overline{1}$	7.017(3)	8.069(3)	9.043(5)	71.20(6)	70.13(6)	65.67(5)	608
$Gd_2(SeO_3)_3$	$P\overline{1}$	7.145(2)	8.157(2)	9.115(2)	71.26(3)	69.84(3)	65.66(3)	608
$Er_2(SeO_3)_3$	$P\overline{1}$	6.982(1)	8.006(1)	8.950(1)	71.38(1)	70.13(1)	65.87(1)	609
$La_2(SeO_3)_3$	Pnma	8.467(3)	14.286(1)	7.1003(2)				610
LaF(SeO ₃)	$P2_1/c$	18.198(3)	7.1575(8)	8.464(1)		96.89		610
$Ce(IV)(Se_2O_6)$	$P2_1/n$	7.008(1)	10.587(2)	7.262(1)		107.00(1)		612
NaY(SeO ₃) ₂	P2 ₁ cn	5.397(2)	8.525(2)	12.765(2)				614
NaLa(SeO ₃) ₂	$P2_1/n$	6.696(4)	6.761(4)	13.199(5)		101.51(3)		614
$La_2Cu(SeO_3)_4$	$P2_1/c$	10.512(1)	7.136(1)	8.431(1)		110.61(1)		615
Tb ₂ O(SeO ₃) ₂	$P4_2/ncm$	10.6457(4)		5.2156(3)				617
Tb ₅ O ₄ Cl ₃ (SeO ₃) ₂	C2/m	12.291	5.462	9.788		90.49		619
$Gd_5O_4Br_3(SeO_3)_2$	C2/m	12.437	5.499	10.053		91.87		619
Sm ₉ O ₈ Cl ₃ (SeO ₃) ₄	$P\overline{1}$	6.887(1)	8.888(1)	9.591(2)	98.65(1)	95.42(1)	96.031(1)	619
Cu ₃ Er(SeO ₃) ₂ O ₂ Cl	Pmmn	6.299(1)	9.430(3)	6.967(2)				618
Gd ₃ (SeO ₃) ₄ F	P63mc	10.443(1)		6.9432(2)				620
Dy ₃ (SeO ₃) ₄ F	P63mc	10.360(1)		6.8647(7)				609
Nd ₃ (SeO ₃) ₄ F	P63mc	10.5149(7)		712.11(4)				611
Sm ₃ (SeO ₃) ₄ F	$P6_3mc$	10.474(1)		7.0224(7)				611
		mixed	selenates-se	elenites				
Er(SeO ₃)(SeO ₄) _{0,5} ·H ₂ O	<i>C</i> 2	11.935(2)	6.881(1)	6.473(1)		103.79(4)		621
NaSm(SeO ₄)(SeO ₃)	$P2_{1}/c$	10.669(2)	6.9166(8)	8.2588(9)		91.00(2)		623
NaLa(SeO ₄)(SeO ₃)	$P2_{1}/c$	10.751(2)	7.098(1)	8.437(1)		90.90(2)		611
$Pr_4(SeO_3)_2(SeO_4)F_6$	C2/c	22.305(3)	7.1054(9)	8.356(1)		98.05(2)		623
La(HSeO ₃)(SeO ₄)·2H ₂ O	$P2_{1}/n$	7.272(1)	9.409(2)	11.940(2)		93.32(1)		622

The trihydrates are known for the whole lanthanide series.⁵⁷⁹ Furthermore, for Sm, Eu, and Gd hexahydrates have been prepared.⁵⁷⁹ Their structure is not known, but the samarium compound is probably monoclinic with the lattice constants a = 20.74-(1) Å, b = 7.104(5) Å, c = 16.50(1) Å, and $\beta =$ 110.84(6). The thermal behavior of the sulfite hydrates was intensively studied under various atmospheres.^{580–582} According to these investigations the first step is the dehydration to the anhydrous compounds followed by the decomposition of the sulfite vielding oxide sulfates $M_2O_2SO_4$ and finally the oxides M₂O₃. If the decomposition is carried out under a reducing atmosphere like CO, one arrives at the oxide sulfides M₂O₂S.⁵⁸³ The latter procedure has been shown to be an appropriate method to prepare Eu^{3+} -doped Y_2O_2S which is an important phosphor material.

Besides the binary sulfites several ternary sulfites are mentioned in the literature, $^{584-587}$ but again no structural data are available due to the low solubility of the compounds. The only exception is $(\rm NH_4)_3\rm Dy-(\rm SO_3)_3\cdot\rm H_2O$ for which at least the positions of the Dy and S atoms were determined by X-ray investigations. 588

2. Selenites

Compared to the sulfites, our knowledge on selenites of the rare-earth elements is much deeper. The main reason might be the higher stability of the oxidation state +IV for selenium compared to sulfur. The resistance of SeO_3^{2-} against oxidation makes it possible to work in aqueous solutions without special precautions. Because in such solutions there exist many different species, such as H₂SeO₃, HSeO₃⁻, SeO_3^{2-} , and $Se_2O_5^{2-}$, depending on the conditions such as pH value, concentration, and temperatures, the selenite chemistry is rich with different compounds. Furthermore, because SeO₂ is a solid, typical solid-state synthesis techniques can be applied leading additionally to a large number of rare-earth selenites (Table 14). Thermoanalytical investigations showed that in the systems M_2O_3/SeO_2 compounds with the compositions $M_2Se_4O_{11}$, $M_4Se_7O_{20}$, $M_2Se_3O_9$, $M_2Se_2O_7$, and M_2SeO_5 exist.^{589,590}

The hydrous rare-earth selenites $M_2(SeO_3)_3 \cdot xH_2O$ were prepared nearly 30 years ago and were shown to contain seven, four, or three molecules of water.^{591–593} According to recent investigations of the phase diagram Tm_2O_3 – SeO_2 – H_2O , the stable selenite hydrate is $Tm_2(SeO_3)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$.⁵⁹⁴ Unfortunately,



Figure 82. Crystal structure of the acidic selenites $M(HSeO_3)(SeO_3)$ (M = La, Pr). The layers are only connected via hydrogen bonds.

only X-ray powder diffraction and IR measurements have been performed, so that details of the crystal structures are not known.595 Structure determinations were carried out for the acidic selenites $M(HSeO_3)(SeO_3) \cdot 2H_2O$ (M = Nd, Sm)^{596,597} and $M(HSeO_3)(SeO_3)$ (M = La, Pr).^{598,599} The first two compounds consist of layers according to ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [M(SeO_{3})_{4/4}(HSeO_{3})_{2/2}(H_{2}O)_{1/1}] with the M³⁺ ions in 8-fold coordination of oxygen atoms. The layers are stacked in the [001] direction and held together by hydrogen bonds involving the noncoordinated H₂O molecules. The anhydrous species also have a layer structure, except more strongly puckered (Figure 82). Again, they are held together via hydrogen bonds. For the M^{3+} ions the CN is 10. The oxygen atoms belong to five SeO₃²⁻ and two HSeO₃⁻ ions. Three of the former act as chelating ligands.

The thermal decomposition of M(HSeO₃)(SeO₃)· 2H₂O (M = Pr-Lu, Y)^{597,600,601} and Pr(HSeO₃)-(SeO₃)⁵⁹⁸ was investigated by DTA/TG methods. According to the investigations of the neodymium selenite, the compound decomposes with Nd₂-Se₄O₁₁·4H₂O, Nd₂Se₄O₁₁, Nd₄Se₇O₂₀, Nd₂Se₃O₉, and Nd₂SeO₅ as intermediates leading to Nd₂O₃ finally. Similarly, the decomposition of the praseodymium selenite occurs via Pr₂Se₄O₁₁, Pr₂Se₃O₉, and Pr₂SeO₅ and yields Pr₆O₁₁. The intermediate phases have been investigated by X-ray powder diffraction and IR spectroscopy, but no crystal structures are known.^{590,602,603}

Sc(HSeO₃)₃ is the only neat hydrogenselenite of which the structure is known.⁶⁰⁴ According to ${}^{3}_{\infty}$ [Sc(HSeO₃)_{6/2}], a three-dimensional network of [ScO₆] octahedra and selenite groups is formed. Another interesting acidic selenite which can be obtained from selenious acid (57% H₂SeO₃) is Nd₂-(Se₂O₅)₃(H₂SeO₃)·2H₂O.⁶⁰⁵ It contains two crystallographically different Nd³⁺ ions, both in 9-fold coordination of oxygen atoms. Nd(1)³⁺ is surrounded by seven Se₂O₅²⁻ groups of which two are attached in a chelating way. Nd(2)³⁺ has two chelating and two monodentate Se₂O₅²⁻ neighbors and, furthermore, two H₂O and one H₂SeO₃ ligands. The coordination polyhedra are linked to sheets which are stacked in the [001] direction and held together by hydrogen bonds with the acid and the water molecules as



Figure 83. Crystal structure of the diselenite Nd_2 - $(Se_2O_5)_3(H_2SeO_3)\cdot 2H_2O$.

donors (Figure 83). A diselenite group is also observed in $PrH_3(\check{Se_2O_5})(\check{SeO_3})_2^{606}$ and $Y(\check{Se_2O_5})(NO_3) \cdot 3H_2O^{.607}$ With respect to the distances Se-O, the former selenite should be formulated according to Pr-(Se₂O₅)(HSeO₃)(H₂SeO₃). The distinct anions have different functionalities in the structure. The diselenite and hydrogenselenite groups link the Pr³⁺ ions to double chains which are connected via hydrogen bonds of the H₂SeO₃ molecules. These are only monodentate to the Pr^{3+} ions which are in 9-fold coordination of oxygen atoms. A structure with double layers has also been determined for Y(Se₂O₅)- $(NO_3) \cdot 3H_2O$. In this case the layers are connected by hydrogen bonds involving the nitrate ions and the water molecules. The Y³⁺ ions are surrounded by two monodentate and one chelating $Se_2O_5^{2-}$ groups, three H₂O molecules, and one nitrate ion.

The anhydrous selenites, M₂(SeO₃)₃, were prepared in single-crystalline form either by fusion of the binary oxides in the presence of a alkali halide flux⁶⁰⁸ or by decomposition of the respective selenates in a LiF melt.⁶⁰⁹ According to the single-crystal determinations carried out so far, the lighter selenites M =Tb-Lu^{608,609} crystallize, in contradiction with the findings based on powder diffraction, with a triclinic crystal structure. The compounds contain two crystallographically different \hat{M}^{3+} ions and three crystallographically different SeO_3^{2-} groups. $M(1)^{3+}$ is coordinated by three $\text{Se}(2)\text{O}_3^{2-}$ and two $\text{Se}(3)\text{O}_3^{2-}$ groups and one $Se(1)O_3^{2-}$ ion. Because the latter acts as a chelating ligand, a coordination number of seven results (Figure 84). The coordination polyhedron can be seen as a pentagonal bipyramide. $M(2)^{3+}$ is surrounded by oxygen atoms of three $Se(1)O_3^{2-}$, two Se(3)O₃²⁻, and one Se(2)O₃²⁻ groups, respectively. Two selenite ions $(1 \times \text{Se}(2)O_3^{2-}, 1 \times \text{Se}(3)O_3^{2-})$ are attached in a chelating way leading to a coordination number of eight. Each of the three crystallographically different selenite groups is attached to four M³⁺ ions in a way that all oxygen atoms of a selenite ion are monodentate and two of them are additionally chelating. Another characteristic of the crystal structure is the stereochemical activity of the lone pairs of the selenium atoms. The linkage of the M^{3+} polyhedra and the selenite ions leads to rectangular channels along [01-1], providing enough space to incorporate the lone pairs. The three-dimensional crystal structure is shown for the example of Er₂-



Figure 84. Crystal structure of $\text{Er}_2(\text{SeO}_3)_3$ viewed along [01–1]. The voids in the structure incorporate the lone pairs of the SeO_3^{2-} groups.



Figure 85. Three-dimensional network ${}^{3}_{\infty}$ [Ce(Se(1)O₃)_{3/3}-(Se(2)O₃)_{4/4}] in Ce(SeO₃)₂.

 $(SeO_3)_3$ (Figure 84). A very similar influence of the lone pairs on the crystal structure has been observed for La₂(SeO₃)₃.⁶¹⁰ The compound crystallizes in the orthorhombic system and contains 10-fold coordinated La³⁺ ions and two crystallographically different selenite groups. The oxygen atoms belong to seven SeO_3^{2-} ions with three of them being chelating ligands. According to ${}^3_{\infty}$ [La(Se(1)O₃)_{2/4}(Se(2)O₃)_{5/5}] the selenite ions are 4- and 5-fold coordinated by La³⁺. The Se(1)O₃²⁻ groups connect the La³⁺ ions to sheets parallel (010) which are linked in the [010] direction via $Se(2)O_3^{2-}$ ions. The three-dimensional network provides empty space for the lone pairs of the selenium atoms (Figure 88a). The anhydrous selenites of the other larger lanthanides M = Ce-Sm seem to adopt in principle the same crystal structure but with a small monoclinic distortion.⁶¹¹ This leads obviously to a twinning problem of the crystals so that a high-quality structure determination has not been possible to date.

For cerium, the structure of the tetravalent compound, Ce(SeO₃)₂, is known also. Single crystals were obtained by the reaction of CeO₂ with excess SeO₂ in a silica tube.⁶¹² In the crystal structure the Ce⁴⁺ ions are coordinated by eight oxygen atoms which belong to seven SeO₃²⁻ groups with one of them being a chelating ligand. The two crystallographically different selenite ions are attached to four and three Ce⁴⁺ ions, respectively, and a three-dimensional network $\frac{3}{\omega}$ [Ce(Se(1)O₃)_{3/3}(Se(2)O₃)_{4/4}] is formed which is shown in Figure 85. Although the lone pair activity is not so prominent in the structure compared to the findings for the trivalent lanthanides, the need of space for the lone pairs is still obvious. The reaction



Figure 86. Crystal structure of Tb₂O(SeO₃)₂. The chains ${}^{1}_{\infty}$ [OM_{4/2}]⁴⁺ of oxygen-centered [OM₄] tetrahedra are oriented along [001] and shown as polyhedra.



Figure 87. Crystal structure of $La_2Cu(SeO_3)_4$ with the square planar [CuO₄] units.

of lanthanide oxides with SeO₂ may also lead to oxide selenites. With M_2SeO_5 (= $M_2(SeO_3)O_2$), one possible composition has been observed as an intermediate during the decomposition of the selenites (see above). Another composition, $M_2O(SeO_3)_2$, was obtained in single-crystalline form for M = Tb.⁶¹³ The tetragonal structure consists of oxide-centered tetrahedra which are linked to chains according to $\frac{1}{\infty}[OM_{4/2}]^{4+}$. These are oriented along [001] and connected by the SeO₃²⁻ ions. Again, prominent channels are formed incorporating the lone pairs of the selenium atoms (Figure 86).



Figure 88. Comparison of the crystal structures of $La_2(SeO_3)_3$ (a) and $LaFSeO_3$ (b). Both structures contain identical building units, and in both structures the need for space for the lone pairs is obvious.

The crystal structures of four ternary anhydrous selenites are known. Two of them, NaLa(SeO₃)₂ and $NaY(SeO_3)_{2},^{614}$ contain additional Na^+ ions, the third one, $La_2Cu(SeO_3)_4$, is a copper compound,⁶¹⁵ and another one has the composition Li₃Lu₅(SeO₃)₉.⁶¹⁶ The preparation of these selenites was carried out hydrothermally in Teflon-lined steel autoclaves or, in the latter case, by fusing Lu_2O_3 and SeO_2 in a LiCl flux. The lanthanum compound shows the La³⁺ ions in 10fold coordination of oxygen atoms which are part of three Se(1)O₃^{2–} and four Se(2)O₃^{2–} ions, respectively. Thus, three of the selenite groups are chelating ligands. In accordance with the formulation ${}^{3}_{m}$ [La(Se(1)O_{3})_{3/3}(Se(2)O_{3})_{4/4}]^{-}, a three-dimensional anionic network is built incorporating the Na⁺ ions for charge balance. On the basis of the distances Na-O for the latter, a CN number of "5+2" can be deduced. A three-dimensional anionic substructure is also found for the yttrium compound, but due to the smaller ionic radius of Y^{3+} compared to La^{3+} , the CN is lowered to 7. Five monodentate and one chelating $SeO_3{}^{2-}$ ions are attached to an Y^{3+} ion, and the linkage of the polyhedra according to ${}^{3}_{\infty}$ [Y(Se(1)O_{3})_{3/3}(Se(2)O_{3})_{3/3}]⁻ provides channels occupied by the Na⁺ ions in "5+3" fold coordination. The CN of 10 for the La³⁺ in La₂Cu(SeO₃)₄ is achieved by the attachment of five $Se(1)O_3^{2-}$ and two $Se(2)O_3^{2-}$ ions, part of them being chelating ligands. In this case the three-dimensional network has to be described as ${}^{3}_{m}$ [La(Se(1)O_3)_{5/5}(Se(2)O_3)_{2/2}]⁻. The Cu²⁺ are located on a special site of the monoclinic space group $P2_1/c$ and occurs one-half as much as La^{3+} in the unit cell. It shows the typical square planar coordination of oxygen atoms (Figure 87).

The usage of a flux for the crystal growth of rareearth selenites sometimes leads to unexpected compounds. For example, $Tb_3O_2Cl(SeO_3)_2$ was obtained when the reaction of SeO_2 , Tb_4O_7 , and Tb was carried out using $TbCl_3$ as a flux.⁶¹⁷ Characteristic features of the crystal structure are double chains of oxidecentered Tb tetrahedra and pseudohexagonal channels which incorporate the lone pairs of the selenite ions. Both of the crystallographically different Tb³⁺ ions are in 8-fold coordination. Tb(1)³⁺ has two Cl⁻ ions and six oxygen as ligands, while $Tb(2)^{3+}$ is surrounded by one Cl⁻ ion and seven oxygen atoms. The compound is similar to that of Cu₃Er(SeO₃)₂O₂-Cl,⁶¹⁸ which is isotypic with the mineral francisite, Cu₃Bi(SeO₃)₂O₂Cl. In these compounds open channels are formed also which incorporate the lone pairs. In contrast to the terbium compound, the chloride ions are also located in these channels and not attached to the cations. Thus, the 8-fold coordination of Er³⁺ arises only from oxygen ligands. Further examples of the flux participation in the reaction are Tb₅O₄-Cl₃(SeO₃)₂, Gd₅O₄Br₃(SeO₃)₃, and Sm₉O₈Cl₃(SeO₃)₄.⁶¹⁹ In these crystal structures double chains of vertexconnected double chains of [OM₄] tetrahedra occur.

If LiF is used as a flux for crystal growth, F⁻ incorporation is frequently observed. Attempts to grow a single crystal of $La_2(SeO_3)_3$ from a LiF melt led to the fluoride selenite LaFSeO₃.⁶¹⁰ The crystal structure contains three crystallographically different La^{3+} and SeO_3^{2-} ions. $La(1)^{3+}$ is surrounded by four F⁻ ions and six oxygen ligands. The latter belong to four monodentate and one chelating selenite groups. La(2)³⁺ has a coordination number of 11 too. Besides seven fluoride ions, two chelating SeO_3^{2-} groups are attached. In contrast, $La(3)^{3+}$ is exclusively surrounded by oxygen atoms (Figure 88b). The coordination geometry is the same as that described for $La_2(SeO_3)_3$. Furthermore, in accordance with the findings for La₂(SeO₃)₃, in LaFSeO₃ the La³⁺ ions are linked to layers, which are linked further in the [100] direction by SeO_3^{2-} groups. The main difference between the two compounds is that the connection within the sheet occurs also via fluoride ions in LaFSeO₃. The similarity of La₂(SeO₃)₃ and LaFSeO₃



Figure 89. Crystal structure of the fluoride selenites M_{3} -(SeO₃)₄F (M = Nd, Sm, Gd, and Dy). The [M₃] triangles are emphasized by black lines.

can be seen easily from Figure 88 and is also reflected by the lattice parameters in the layer planes (Table 14).

Fluoride selenites with a lower F^- content were obtained for M = Nd, Sm, Gd, and Dy and have the composition $M_3(SeO_3)_4F^{.609,620}$ The crystal structure of the isotypic compounds contains M^{3+} ions in triangular formation caused by the selenite group Se(1) O_3^{2-} which acts as a μ_3 -ligand as well as by a μ_3 -F⁻ ion capping the triangle on the opposite side (Figure 89). Each edge of the ring is bridged by one oxygen atom of the crystallographically second selenite group, $Se(2)O_3^{2-}$. The remaining oxygen atoms of this selenite ion also belong to the coordination sphere of the M³⁺ ions of the ring. The coordination sphere of the three M^{3+} ions is completed by three $\hat{Se}(1)O_3^{2-}$ and six $Se(2)O_3^{2-}$ ligands, so that the building unit $[M_3F(Se(1)O_3)_4(Se(2)O_3)_9]^{18-}$ results. These fragments are stacked with the same orientation along [001], leading to the acentricity of the crystal structure (space group $P6_3mc$, Table 14). The linkage of the fragments is performed by both selenite groups. The capping $Se(1)O_3^{2-}$ group connects one ring to three others, so that each oxygen atom of the anion is bidentate bridging while $Se(2)O_3^{2-}$ links two other triangles in a way that all oxygen atoms of the group are monodentate and two of them additionally chelating ligands. Thus, the connectivity can be written as $[M_3F(Se(1)O_3)_{4/4}(Se(2)O_3)_{9/3}]$ according to Niggli's formalism. The influence of the lone pairs of the ψ^1 -tetrahedral anion is even more prominent than that found for the other selenites. The lone pair of the $Se(1)O_3^{2-}$ ion is oriented along [001] in the direction of the fluoride ion, so that a very long distance Se-F of 3.69 Å results. The lone pairs of the $Se(2)O_3^{2-}$ ions are incorporated in channels which are running parallel to the [001] direction. The diameter of these channels is 6.63 Å with respect to opposite selenium atoms.

3. Selenate Selenites

A handful of compounds are known that contain selenate *and* selenite ions and thus are mixed valent



Figure 90. X-ray absorption investigation on $Er_2(SeO_3)_2$ -(SeO₄)·2H₂O. The observed signals prove the presence of Se⁴⁺ and Se⁶⁺ in the compound.



Figure 91. Crystal structure of the hydrogenselenite–selenate La(HSeO₃)(SeO₄)·2H₂O.

with respect to the oxidation state of the selenium ions. $Er_2(SeO_3)_2(SeO_4)\cdot 2H_2O$ was obtained via the reaction of Er(NO₃)₃·5H₂O and SeO₂ under hydrothermal conditions.⁶²¹ Unfortunately, the crystal structure determination suffers from the disorder of the selenate group. Therefore, the presence of both oxidation states for Se has been proved by means of XANES measurements⁶²¹ (Figure 90). The structure consists of layers of 8-fold coordinated Er³⁺ and SeO_3^{2-} ions which are linked via the SeO_4^{2-} tetrahedra. La(HSeO₃)(SeO₄)·2H₂O was also obtained hydrothermally.⁶²² The structure shows the La³⁺ ions in 9-fold coordination of oxygen atoms of three SeO₄²⁻, three HSeO₃⁻, and two H₂O ligands. One of the hydrogenselenite ions is attached chelating. The $HSeO_3^-$ groups connect the metal ions to double chains which are oriented in the [100] direction and linked to further double chains by the SeO₄²⁻ tetrahedra (Figure 91). Although the hydrogen atoms were not located, hydrogen bonding can be assumed with the H₂O molecules and the HSeO₃⁻ ions as donors when judged from the donor-acceptor distances which are around 3 Å.

Light green single crystals of $Pr_4(SeO_3)_2(SeO_4)F_6^{623}$ were obtained from the decomposition of $Pr_2(SeO_4)_3$ in the presence of LiF in a gold ampule. The monoclinic compound contains two crystallographically different Pr^{3+} ions. $Pr(1)^{3+}$ is attached by six fluoride ions and two chelating SeO_3^{2-} groups (CN = 10); $Pr-(2)^{3+}$ is surrounded by four fluoride ions, three monodentate SeO_3^{2-} , and two SeO_4^{2-} groups. One of the latter acts as a chelating ligand, so the CN of Pr-



Figure 92. Crystal structure of $Pr_4(SeO_3)_2(SeO_4)F_6$. As can be seen from Figure 88, the structure is very similar to those of $La_2(SeO_3)_3$ and $LaFSeO_3$.

 $(2)^{3+}$ is 10. The selenite ions are themselves coordinated by five and the selenate ions by four Pr^{3+} ions. The coordination numbers of the F^- ions are three and four, respectively. The anions F^- and SeO_3^{2-} are arranged in layers parallel (100) together with the Pr^{3+} ions. The layers are connected along [100] via SeO₄^{2–} groups. The linkage of the coordination polyhedra leads to cavities in the crystal structure which incorporate the lone pairs of the selenite ions. The structure of $Pr_4(SeO_3)_2(SeO_4)F_6$ is very similar to those of La₂(SeO₃)₃ and LaFSeO₃, as may be seen by comparing Figures 92 and 88. The reaction of Sm₂- $(SeO_4)_3$ and NaCl in gold ampules yielded light yellow single crystals of NaSm(SeO₃)(SeO₄).⁶²³ The crystal structure contains 10-fold oxygen-coordinated Sm³⁺ ions. The oxygen atoms belong to five SeO₃²⁻ and two SeO_4^{2-} ions. Two of the SeO_3^{2-} groups as well as one of the SeO₄²⁻ groups act as a chelating ligand. The sodium ions are surrounded by five SeO_4^{2-} ions and one SeO_3^{2-} group. One of the selenate ions is attached chelating leading to a coordination number of seven. Each selenite group is coordinated by six (5 \times Sm³⁺ and $1 \times Na^+$) and each selenate ion by seven cations (5 \times Na⁺ and 2 \times Sm³⁺). Again, the structure provides empty voids for the incorporation of the lone pairs.

B. Halogenates

1. Chlorates

Chlorates of the rare-earth elements can be prepared by the reaction of the respective sulfate with Ba(ClO₃)₂ in aqueous solutions. A second method is the reaction of rare-earth carbonates with aqueous HClO₃. In both cases crystals are obtained by evaporation of the solution. Depending on the exact conditions, hydrates containing from 10 to 2 molecules of crystal water are formed.^{624,625} Although the preparation was described more than 30 years ago, it was only recently that the first structure determination has been reported, namely, for Pr(ClO₃)₃·2H₂O.⁶²⁶ In the crystal structure Pr³⁺ is 9-fold coordinated by oxygen atoms. The coordination polyhedron can be understood as tricapped trigonal prism. The oxygen



Figure 93. Crystal structure of $Pr(ClO_3)_3$ · $2H_2O$ viewed along the [100] direction; hydrogen bonds are emphasized as black lines.

atoms belong to two H₂O molecules and seven chlorate groups which can be divided into three crystallographically different species. Three of the seven CIO_3^{-} ions are attached to two additional Pr^{3+} ions, while the remaining four chlorate groups are connected to only one additional Pr³⁺ ion. The connectivity may therefore be written as ${}^{3}_{\infty}$ [Pr(H₂O)₂(ClO₃)_{3/3}- $(ClO_3)_{4/2}$]. The linkage of the polyhedra leads to sheets parallel (001) which are connected with each other by hydrogen bonding with the H₂O molecules as donors and nonbonding oxygen atoms of the chlorate groups as acceptors (Figure 93). DTA/TG measurements show that Pr(ClO₃)₃·2H₂O dehydrates in the first step to form Pr(ClO₃)₃, which finally decomposes by releasing oxygen and chlorine to give PrOCl.⁶²⁶ The dehydration is endothermic with an onset temperature of 130 °C and an end temperature of approximately 230 °C. The decomposition of the chlorate is exothermic and occurs between 245 °C (onset) and 384 °C (end). The second structurally characterized rare-earth chlorate is Er(ClO₃)₃•8H₂O.⁶²⁷ The Er^{3+} ions are exclusively coordinated by H_2O molecules in the form of square antiprisms, while the ClO_3^- ions remain uncoordinated.

2. Bromates

The same situation as that described for Er(ClO₃)₃. 8H₂O is found for the bromates M(BrO₃)₃·9H₂O.⁶²⁸⁻⁶³² These can be prepared also from aqueous solution by treating rare-earth sulfates with Ba(BrO₃)₂ and are known for the whole lanthanide series. According to X-ray structure determinations for several rare-earth elements (cf. Table 15), they contain the M³⁺ ions in tricapped trigonal prismatic coordination of H₂O molecules. The $[M(H_2O)_9]^{3+}$ complexes are stacked in the [001] direction and separated by the BrO_3^- ions. From thermogravimetric measurements it can be assumed that various bromates of lower water content exist.^{633,634} Even the anhydrous compounds were observed as intermediates during the decomposition, especially for the larger lanthanides. The final decomposition product is MOBr in all cases. Unfortunately, none of the intermediate phases have been characterized to date.

3. Iodates

In the 1970s there was considerable interest in rare-earth iodates because one expected useful optical, magnetic, and dielectric properties. A huge

Table 15.	Crystal	lographic	: Data of	Hal	logenates
-----------	---------	-----------	-----------	-----	-----------

				lattice par	rameters			
compound	space group	a/Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
			chlorate	es				
Pr(ClO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	5.7603(7)	12.367(2)	13.140(2)				626
Eu(ClO ₃) ₃ ·2H ₂ O	$P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$	5.7017(6)	12.312(2)	13.153(2)				627
Er(ClO ₃) ₃ •8H ₂ O	$P\overline{1}$	8.362(1)	8.425(1)	11.124(2)	87.79(2)	86.37(2)	89.16(2)	627
			bromate	es				
Sm(BrO ₃) ₃ ·9H ₂ O	$P6_3/mmc$	11.86(3)		6.76(2)				628
Nd(BrO ₃)3·9H ₂ O	$P6_3mc$	11.73(2)		6.76(2)				629
Pr(BrO ₃) ₃ •9H ₂ O	$P6_3/mmc$	11.840(1)		6.8012(9)				630
Yb(BrO ₃) ₃ ·9H ₂ O	$P6_3/mmc$	11.706(1)		6.6474(9)				630
Tb(BrO ₃) ₃ •9H ₂ O	$P6_3/mmc$	11.755(2)		6.712(1)				631
Ho(BrO ₃) ₃ •9H ₂ O	Cmcm	11.699(1)	20.263(2)	6.671(1)				632
Ho(BrO ₃) ₃ ·9H ₂ O	Cmcm	11.670(1)	20.213(2)	6.611(1)				632
			iodates	5				
$Y(IO_3)_3 \cdot 2H_2O$	$P\bar{1}$	7.3529(2)	10.5112(4)	7.0282(2)	105.177(1)	109.814(1)	95.179(1)	а
$Lu(IO_3)_3 \cdot 2H_2O$	$P\bar{1}$	7.2652(9)	7.4458(2)	9.3030(3)	79.504(1)	84.755(1)	71.676(2)	а
Nd(IO ₃) ₃ ·H ₂ O	$P2_1$	10.201(1)	6.7053(9)	7.3538(9)		113.11(2)		640
Sm(IO ₃) ₃ ·H ₂ O	$P2_1$	10.133(1)	6.6571(6)	7.3110(7)		113.11(1)		641
La(IO ₃) ₃ •0.5H ₂ O	Pn	7.219(2)	11.139(4)	10.708(3)		91.86(1)		а
$Sc(IO_3)_3$	$R\bar{3}$	9.738(1)		13.938(1)				а
La ₃ (IO ₃) ₉ ·HIO ₃ ·7H ₂ O	Aba2	13.1801(1)	21.7208(1)	12.1551(2)				642
Ce(IO ₃) ₄ ·H ₂ O	$P2_1/n$	9.57(1)	14.92(2)	8.00(2)		98.0(2)		643
Ce(IO ₃) ₄ ·H ₂ O	$P2_1/n$	9.57(1)	14.92(2)	8.00(2)		98.0(2)		644
Ce(IO ₃) ₄	$P4_2/n$	9.90(2)		5.32(1)				645
Ce(IO ₃) ₄	$P4_2/n$	9.900		5.320				646
Gd(IO ₃) ₃	$P2_1/a$	13.4365(9)	8.5226(5)	7.1356(5)		99.72(1)		647
^a Hector, A. L.; Hend	erson, S. J.; Le	vason, W.; We	bster, M. Z. A	norg. Allg. Ch	em. 2002 , <i>628</i>	<i>8</i> , 198.		

number of iodates $M(IO_3)_3 \cdot xH_2O$ were prepared and characterized mainly by X-ray powder diffraction, IR spectroscopy, and thermal analysis.^{635–637} According to these investigations, the H₂O content varies between 0.5 and 6 and even the anhydrous compounds are known. Several reviews have summarized the findings, 638, 639 and thus, only the single-crystal investigations will be emphasized here. Surprisingly, despite the large number of known iodates, crystal structure determinations are still very limited (cf. Table 15). In the crystal structure of the isotypic monohydrates $Nd(IO_3)_3 \cdot H_2O^{640}$ and $Sm(IO_3)_3 \cdot H_2O^{,641}$ eight monodentate IO₃⁻ ions are attached to the M³⁺ ions. Two of them have two M³⁺ neighbors; the remaining six are coordinated to three M^{3+} centers, so that according to ${}^3_{\infty}$ [M(IO₃)_{6/3}(IO₃)_{2/2}] a three-dimensional network is formed in which the crystal water molecules are incorporated (Figure 94). In the complicated structure of the pyroelectric acidic iodate $La_3(IO_3)_9(HIO_3) \cdot 7H_2O^{642}$ the two crystallographically distinct La³⁺ ions are in 8-fold and 10-fold coordination of oxygen atoms, respectively. The iodate Ce- $(IO_3)_4$ ·H₂O^{643,644} has a layer structure in which sheets according to ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [Ce(IO₃)_{8/2}] are stacked in the [010] direction and the H₂O molecules are located in empty voids within the layers. The anhydrous iodate $Ce(IO_3)_4$ has a chain structure with the chains ${}^{1}_{m}$ [Ce(IO₃)_{8/2}] running along [001] of the tetragonal unit cell.^{645,646} The only structurally characterized anhydrous iodate of a trivalent rare-earth element, $Gd(IO_3)_{3}$,⁶⁴⁷ has a three-dimensional structure with three and two coordinated IO₃⁻ ions according to the formulation ${}^{3}_{\infty}$ [Gd(IO₃)_{6/3}(IO₃)_{2/2}]. All of the anions are monodentate, and thus, Gd³⁺ has a coordination number of 8.



Figure 94. Projection of the crystal structure of $M(IO_3)_3$ · H_2O (M = Nd, Sm) on (010).

IV. Triangular Anions

A. Carbonates

Carbonates of rare-earth elements play an important role in the geochemistry of these elements. The best known carbonate minerals are *lanthanite*, (La,-Ce)₂(CO₃)₃·8H₂O, *tengerite*, Y₂(CO₃)₃·2H₂O, and the fluoride carbonate *bastnaesite*, (La,Ce)(F,OH)CO₃. Despite the importance of rare-earth carbonates the knowledge of their crystal chemistry is very limited. This may be due to the difficulties in obtaining suitable single crystals for the structure determination. Thus, most of the work performed so far deals with the behavior of rare-earth carbonato complexes in solution.^{648,649} In the following, the structure of the rare-earth carbonates known so far shall be discussed.

1. Carbonate Hydrates

The carbonates of rare-earth elements have low solubilities in water and can therefore be precipitated from aqueous solutions containing the rare-earth ions by adding ammonium carbonate or by passing CO₂ in a suspension of rare-earth hydroxides in water. Unfortunately only powder samples are obtained in that way. A suitable method of growing single crystals is the hydrolysis of rare-earth trichloroacetates under elevated CO2 pressure.650 Attempts to obtain single-crystalline carbonates via hydrothermal syntheses or by applying high carbon dioxide pressure were not successful but yielded hydroxocarbonates or oxidecarbonates. Thus, to date no structural data of anhydrous rare-earth carbonates are available. $La_2(CO_3)_3$ ·8H₂O is the only structurally characterized binary synthetic carbonate hydrate.651 It contains the two crystallographically different La³⁺ ions in 10-fold coordination of oxygen atoms. The $CO(1)_{3^{2-}}$ and La^{3+} ions are arranged in layers in the (001) plane of the orthorhombic unit cell. The $La(1)^{3+}$ ions are additionally attached by four water molecules and the La(2)³⁺ by two H₂O ligands and one chelating CO_3^{2-} group. The layers are connected by hydrogen bonds involving nonbonded water molecules between the layers. According to DTA/TG measurements the octahydrate decomposes in a three-step process yielding La₂O₃. Between 150 and 250 °C the water is driven off, and slightly above 400 °C the carbonate starts to decompose leading to the oxide carbonate La₂O₂CO₃. Above 550 °C the latter is transformed to La₂O₃.⁶⁵²

In the structure of *tengerite* the Y³⁺ ions are 8-fold coordinated by oxygen atoms.⁶⁵³ These belong to three chelating and one monodentate CO_3^{2-} ions and one H_2O molecule. Crystallographically one can distinguish between two carbonate groups, $C(1)O_3^{2-}$ and $C(2)O_3^{2-}$. The former are surrounded by four Y³⁺ ions, while the latter are connected to two ions so that the linkage can be written as $[Y(C(1)O_3)_{4/4}(CO_3)_{1/2}(H_2O)]$. The different functionalities of the carbonate groups are easy to recognize in Figure 95. $C(1)O_3^{2-}$ is responsible for the linkage in the (001) plane, while $C(2)O_3^{2-}$ connects the resulting layers in the [001] direction.

Remarkable carbonate hydrates are the ternary compounds $K_4Ce(CO_3)_3(O_2)\cdot 6H_2O$,⁶⁵⁴ $K_3NaCe(CO_3)_3$ · $(O_2)\cdot 4H_2O$,⁶⁵⁵ and $K_4Ce(CO_3)_3O\cdot 2H_2O$.⁶⁵⁶ While in the latter [Ce(CO_3)_3] units are linked by two oxygen atoms to chains according to $\frac{1}{2}$ [Ce(CO_3)_3O_{2/2}], in the peroxides dimers [Ce₂(CO₃)₆(O₂)₂] are formed. In these dimeric units the O₂²⁻ ions are attached *side on* to two Ce⁴⁺ ions (Figure 96).

2. Basic Carbonates

Attempts to prepare single crystals of anhydrous rare-earth carbonates under hydrothermal conditions never were successful but led to the basic carbonates $M(OH)CO_3$, ^{657–660} $M_2(OH)_4CO_3$, ⁶⁶¹ and $M_2O_2CO_3$. ^{662,663}



Figure 95. Crystal structure of the mineral *Tengerite*, Y_2 -(CO₃)₃·2H₂O. The different functionalities of the carbonate groups are easy to recognize.



Figure 96. $[Ce_2(CO_3)_6(O_2)_2]^{8-}$ dimer in the crystal structure of $K_4Ce(CO_3)_3(O_2)$ ·6H₂O. Note that the bridging O_2^{2-} ions are attached side on to the Ce⁴⁺ ions.

The hydroxides are obtained at lower temperatures (300 °C), while the oxides require temperatures around 600 °C. For the hydroxide carbonates M(OH)- CO_3 (M = La-Er, Y) two structure types are known. The hexagonal one was described for Nd(OH)CO₃⁶⁵⁷ and contains layers of the composition 2[(OH)Nd3/3]2+ with each hydroxide ion connecting three Nd³⁺. The layers are stacked in the [001] direction and are linked by the carbonate groups which act as chelating and monodentate ligands. For the three crystallographically different Nd³⁺ ions, coordination numbers of 11 and 10 result. The orthorhombic modification has previously been described with the space group *Pmcn*, but a recent investigation on $Dy(OH)CO_3^{659}$ shows the correct symmetry to be $P2_12_12_1$. In the crystal structure the OH⁻ ions connect the cation to zigzag chains according to ${}^1_{\scriptscriptstyle \infty}\![(OH)M_{2/2}]^{2+}$ which are oriented along [010] and linked via the CO_3^{2-} ions (Figure 97). The coordination number for Dy^{3+} is 10. For the hydroxide-rich carbonates M₂(OH)₄CO₃ which are known for M = Ho, Er, Yb, and Y,⁶⁶¹ a formal condensation of these chains to layers of the composition ${}^{2}_{\infty}[M(1)(OH)_{5/3}M(2)(OH)_{4/3}(OH)_{2/2}]^{2+}$ can be observed which extend in the (100) plane. The sheets are connected by the carbonate groups (Figure 98). Further hydroxide carbonates have been mentioned in the literature, for example, the scandium compound Sc(OH)CO₃·*x*H₂O ($\dot{x} = 1$, 3),⁶⁶⁴ but structural data are not available.

The oxides $M_2O_2CO_3$ are described for several lanthanides (cf. Table 16). Three different crystal structures were assumed, a monoclinic, *pseudo*-tetragonal one, a tetragonal one, and a hexagonal





Figure 97. Crystal structures of the hexagonal and the orthorhombic modifications of the basic carbonates M(OH)-CO₃.



Figure 98. Layers of the composition ${}^2_{\infty}$ [M(1)(OH)_{5/3}-M(2)(OH)_{4/3}(OH)_{2/2}]²⁺ in the (100) plane of the crystal structure of M₂(OH)₄CO₃ (M = Ho, Er, Yb, Y).

one. Only for the latter are structural known. According to these data the carbonates $M_2O_2CO_3$ (M = La-Yb)^{662,663,665} contain oxide-centered [OM₄] tetrahedra which share three common *cis*-edges leading to a double layer of composition ${}^2_{\infty}{[OM_{4/4}]}{}^2^{2+}$. They are stacked in the [001] direction and connected by $CO_3{}^{2-}$ groups (Figure 99). The carbonate ions are disordered in a way that the sites of the carbon atom



Figure 99. Crystal structure of the oxide carbonates $M_2O_2CO_3$ (M = La–Yb). Double layers of composition ${}^2_{\infty}{[OM_{4/4}]_2^{2+}}$ are alternating stacked with disordered carbonate ions.

and one of the oxygen atoms are occupied to only one-third.

3. Acidic Carbonates

Two binary hydrogencarbonates are described in the literature, $Ho(HCO_3)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ and $Gd(HCO_3)_3 \cdot$ 5H₂O.^{666,667} They were obtained by acidifying freshly precipitated carbonates. Both compounds are built up from the molecular complexes $[M(H_2O)_4(HCO_3)_3]$ which contain the M³⁺ ions in 10-fold oxygen coordination due to the chelating attachment of the HCO_3^- ions. Two additional H_2O molecules are present in the holmium compound, whereas in the gadolinium hydrogencarbonate only one of them is found. The neutral complexes are linked in the structures only by hydrogen bonds. Structurally both of the compounds are closely related to the respective rare-earth nitrates, and Ho(HCO₃)₃·6H₂O is even isotypic with $M(NO_3)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ (M = La–Tb, cf. below). Recently, a new rare-earth mineral has been described containing hydrogencarbonate anions. It is named thomasclarkite and has the approximate composition $NaY(HCO_3)(OH)_3(H_2O)_4$, but in fact other rare-earth and/or alkaline-earth ions may be incorporated on the cation sites and part of the OHgroups may be substituted by F⁻.⁶⁶⁸

4. Ternary Carbonates

Most of the ternary carbonates have been prepared with alkali metals as the third component and are known either as hydrates or anhydrous species. Unfortunately, structural data are not available for all of these compounds. Furthermore, the data provided are often not of high quality, so that details of the structures remain unknown. Accurate structure determinations of ternary hydrates have been performed mainly for scandium-containing compounds. They have the compositions $Na_5[Sc(CO_3)_4]\cdot 2H_2O,^{669,670}$ $Na_{2}[Co(NH_{3})_{6}][Sc(CO_{3})_{4}]\cdot 14H_{2}O, K_{5}[Sc(CO_{3})_{4}]\cdot 5H_{2}O,$ and $K_7[Sc(CO_3)_4](CO_3) \cdot 9H_2O^{670}$ and contain the $[Sc(CO_3)_4]^{5-}$ anion. It shows the Sc^{3+} ions in 8-fold coordination of oxygen atoms which belong to the four chelating carbonate groups. In Na₅[Sc(CO₃)₄]·2H₂O the complex anions and the [NaO₄] tetrahedra are

Table 16. Crystallographic Data of Carbonates

				lattice para	ameters			
compound	space group	a/Å	b/Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
$\begin{array}{l} La_2(CO_3)_3\cdot 8H_2O\\ Y_2(CO_3)_3\cdot 2H_2O\\ K_4Ce(CO_3)_3(O_2)\cdot 6H_2O\\ K_3NaCe(CO_3)_3(O_2)\cdot 4H_2O\\ K_4Ce(CO_3)_3O\cdot 2H_2O\\ \end{array}$	Pccn Bb21m Pl Pl Amm2	carbon 8.984(4) 6.078(4) 8.887(1) 8.412(1) 4.1741(6)	ate-hydrates 9.580(4) 9.157(2) 10.392(1) 9.789(2) 16.305(2)	17.00(1) 15.114(6) 10.958(1) 10.186(2) 9.395(1)	66.8(1) 96.2(1)	68.4(1) 102.9(1)	74.4(1) 112.2(1)	651 653 654 655 656
$\begin{array}{l} NdOH(CO_3) \\ NdOH(CO_3) \\ Dy(OH)(CO_3) \\ Y(OH)(CO_3) \\ Ho_2(OH)_4(CO_3) \\ Y(B(OH)_4)(CO_3) \\ Nd_2O_2(CO_3) \\ La_2O_2(CO_3) \\ La_2O_{2,3}(CO_3)_{0.85} \\ Li_{0.52}La_2O_{2.52}(CO_3)_{0.74} \end{array}$	$P\bar{6}$ Pmcn $P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$ $P2_{1}2_{1}2_{1}$ $P2_{2}/c$ Pbca $P6_{3}/mmc$ $P6_{3}/mmc$ $P6_{3}/mmc$ $P6_{3}/mmc$	basic 12.320 4.953(3) 4.835(1) 4.809(1) 6.274(2) 9.089(1) 3.974 4.0755(6) 4.0852(4) 4.0580(1)	8.477(3) 6.984(1) 6.957(1) 6.041(1) 12.244(1)	$\begin{array}{c} 9.880\\ 7.210(3)\\ 8.449(1)\\ 8.466(1)\\ 15.416(4)\\ 8.926(1)\\ 15.703\\ 15.957(1)\\ 16.2211(6)\\ 16.2219(1) \end{array}$		97.38(2)		$\begin{array}{c} 657\\ 658\\ 659\\ 660\\ 661\\ a\\ 662\\ 663\\ 664\\ 665 \end{array}$
Ho(HCO ₃) ₃ ·6H ₂ O Gd(HCO ₃) ₃ ·5H ₂ O NaY(HCO ₃)(OH) ₃ ·4H ₂ O	$Par{1}$ $P112_1/a$ $P12_1$	9.18(2) 6.877(1) 4.556(1)	11.59(1) 9.575(2) 13.018(6)	6.73(1) 18.871(2) 4.556(2)	88.87(6)	112.45(8) 90.15(3)	71.54(6) 102.61(2)	666 667 668
	P 00	fluorio	de carbonates	0.707				005
$\begin{array}{c} Ce(CO_3) \ F \\ Ce(CO_3) F \\ Ce(CO_3) F \\ Ce(CO_3) F \\ La(CO_3) F \\ NaY(CO_3) F \\ NaY(CO_3) F_2 \end{array}$	P62 c P62 c P62 c P62 c P62 c P62 c Pmcn	7.162 7.117(1) 7.1438(9) 7.1561(9) 7.094(4) $6.959(2)$	9.170(2)	$\begin{array}{c} 9.787\\ 9.762(1)\\ 9.808(2)\\ 9.816(1)\\ 4.859(4)\\ 6.301(1)\end{array}$				685 686 687 <i>b</i> 688 689
$\begin{array}{l} Ba_{2}Y(CO_{3})_{2}F_{3}\\ Ba_{3}Ce_{2}(CO_{3})_{5}F_{2}\\ Ba_{2}Ce(CO_{3})_{3}F\\ BaCe(CO_{3})_{2}F\\ BaCe(CO_{3})_{2}F_{3}\\ Ba_{2}Cd(CO_{3})_{2}F_{3}\\ Ba_{2}Cd(CO_{3})_{2}F_{3}\\ Ba_{2}Cd(CO_{3})_{2}F_{3}\\ Ba_{3}Cd(CO_{3})_{2}F_{3}\\ Ba_{3}Cd(CO_{3})_{3}F_{3}\\ $	Pbcn C2/m P2 ₁ /m R3m Pbcn	$\begin{array}{c} 9.458(3) \\ 21.42(5) \\ 13.365(3) \\ 5.072(1) \\ 9.513(1) \\ 21.472(6) \end{array}$	6.966(2) 5.078(5) 5.097(1) 6.978(1)	$11.787(4) \\13.30(5) \\6.638(1) \\38.46(1) \\11.864(4) \\12.225(2)$		94.8(5) 106.45(1)		694 690 691 d
$\begin{array}{c} Ba_{3}La_{2}(CO_{3})_{5}F_{2}\\ Ca_{0.5}BaCe_{2}(CO_{3})_{4}F\\ CaCe(CO_{3})_{2}F\\ Ca_{2}Ce_{3}(CO_{3})_{5}F_{3}\\ BaSm(CO_{3})_{2}F\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} C2/m\\ P\bar{6}2c\\ P3_1\\ R3\\ R\bar{3}m\\ R\bar{3}m\\ CD \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 21.472(6) \\ 5.093(6) \\ 7.126(6) \\ 7.130 \\ 5.016(1) \\ 10.020(2) \end{array}$	5.098(2)	$\begin{array}{c} 13.325(3) \\ 23.017(6) \\ 55.08(1) \\ 69.400 \\ 37.944(6) \\ 10.741(0) \end{array}$		94.96(1)		e f 685 692
$\begin{array}{l} CaCe(CO_3)_2F \\ KGd(CO_3)_F_2 \\ NaBaCe_2(CO_3)_4F \\ Na_3Ce_2(CO_3)_4F \\ Na_2Eu(CO_3)_F_3 \\ Na_3La_2(CO_3)_4F \\ Na_15Y_2(CO_3)_9(SO_3F)Cl \\ K_4Gd_2(CO_3)_9F_4 \\ Ba_3Sc(CO_3)F_7 \end{array}$	C2/c Fddd P6 ₃ /mmc P6 ₃ /mmc P6 ₃ /mmc P6 R32 Cmcm	$\begin{array}{c} 12.329(2)\\ 7.006(2)\\ 5.088(2)\\ 5.0612(1)\\ 6.596(4)\\ 5.083(1)\\ 8.763(1)\\ 9.027(1)\\ 11.519(3) \end{array}$	7.110(1) 11.181(3) 10.774(4) 13.456(3)	$\begin{array}{c} 18.741(2)\\ 21.865(6)\\ 23.168(1)\\ 22.820(9)\\ 14.09(1)\\ 23.034(5)\\ 10.736(2)\\ 13.684(3)\\ 5.974(1) \end{array}$		102.68(1)		h 693 689 <i>i</i> <i>j</i> <i>k</i> <i>l</i> 695
$N_2 V(CO)$, 24.0	Dro9	ternai	ry carbonates	5 046(2)				0
$\begin{aligned} & \text{Na}_{3}(\text{CO}_{3})_{4}\cdot 2\text{H}_{2}\text{O} \\ & \text{Na}_{5}\text{Sc}(\text{CO}_{3})_{4}\cdot 2\text{H}_{2}\text{O} \\ & \text{Na}_{5}\text{Sc}(\text{CO}_{3})_{4}\cdot 2\text{H}_{2}\text{O} \\ & \text{Na}_{5}\text{Sc}(\text{CO}_{3})_{4}(\text{CO}_{3})\cdot 9\text{H}_{2}\text{O} \\ & \text{Na}_{2}[\text{Co}(\text{NH}_{3})_{6}][\text{Sc}(\text{CO}_{3})_{4}]\cdot 14\text{H}_{2}\text{O} \\ & \text{Na}_{2}[\text{Co}(\text{NH}_{3})_{6}][\text{Sm}(\text{CO}_{3})_{3}]\cdot 5\text{H}_{2}\text{O} \\ & \text{[Co}(\text{NH}_{3})_{6}][\text{Sm}(\text{CO}_{3})_{3}]\cdot 5\text{H}_{2}\text{O} \\ & \text{[Co}(\text{NH}_{3})_{6}][\text{Nd}_{2}(\text{CO}_{3})_{6}]\cdot 15\text{H}_{2}\text{O} \\ & \text{[Co}(\text{NH}_{2})_{3}]_{6}[\text{Ce}(\text{CO}_{3})_{5}]\cdot 3\text{H}_{2}\text{O} \\ & \text{[C}(\text{NH}_{2})_{3}]_{6}[\text{Ce}(\text{CO}_{3})_{5}]\cdot 4\text{H}_{2}\text{O} \\ & \text{Na}_{4}\text{Eu}(\text{CO}_{3})_{2} \\ & \text{Na}_{3}\text{Eu}(\text{CO}_{3})_{2} \\ & \text{Na}_{4}\text{Ce}_{2}(\text{CO}_{3})_{5} \\ & \text{KHo}(\text{CO}_{3})_{2} \\ & \text{KNd}(\text{CO}_{3})_{2} \\ & \text{KNd}(\text{CO}_{3})_{2} \\ & \text{KDy}(\text{CO}_{3})_{2} \\ & \text{KDy}(\text{CO}_{3})_{2} \\ & \text{KDy}(\text{CO}_{3})_{2} \\ & \text{Nb}(\text{CO}_{3})_{2} \\ \end{array}$	P_{42_1c} P_{42_1c} P_{42_1c} $P_{2_1/n}$ C_2 $P_{2/n}$ $P_{2/n}$ $P_{2_1/c}$ $P_{1/c}$ $P_{1/c}$ P_{2_1m} Ama2 P_{2_1} $C_{2/c}$ P_{2_1} $C_{2/c}$ P_{2_1m} $C_{2/c}$ P_{2_1m} $C_{2/c}$ $C_{$	7.46(1) 7.4637(4) 8.831(1) 13.960(1) 8.7185(9) 8.7091(5) 21.895(2) 13.2320(5) 21.472(1) 16.0500(1) 6.41(3) 9.942(2) 20.872(4) 8.510(1) 8.468(1) 9.731(2) 8.575(2) 8.538(2) 8.812(1)	18.262(2) 10.8135(7) 10.848(1) 10.8744(6) 6.7568(6) 15.5731(7) 6.8615(3) 13.14(3) 7.30(3) 11.024(3) 6.367(1) 9.455(1) 9.381(2) 6.4569(8) 9.573(2) 9.491(1) 9.226(1)	$\begin{array}{c} 3.340(2)\\ 11.60(2)\\ 11.570(2)\\ 11.132(2)\\ 33.781(4)\\ 15.632(2)\\ 15.7971(9)\\ 14.578(1)\\ 26.015(1)\\ 18.8797(9)\\ 6.6300(1)\\ 5.23(2)\\ 7.147(2)\\ 10.601(2)\\ 6.923(1)\\ 6.923(1)\\ 8.556(1)\\ 6.990(1)\\ 8.556(1)\\ 6.990(1)\\ 1.200(1)$		93.28(2) 93.76(1) 93.38(1) 93.117(1) 125.67(1) 90.952(1) 108.1(2) 120.50(1) 111.0(1) 110.76(1) 111.19(2) 111.06(1) 111.5(1)		669 670 670 670 670 671 672 673 674 675 678 679 680 681 681 681 681 681
CsPr(CO ₃) ₂ CsGd(CO ₃) ₂		8.602(3) 8.453(2)	8.874(3) 8.778(2)	8.926(3) 8.779(2)	98.6(2) 98.62(2)	96.2(1) 96.58(2)	115.3(2) 115.30(2)	683 684

CSGU(CO3)2 P1 8.453(2) 8.778(2) 8.779(2) 98.62(2) 96.58(2) 115.30(2) 684 ^a Grice, J. D.; Ercit, T. S. *Can. Miner.* **1986**, *24*, 675. ^b Terada, Y.; Nakai, I.; Kawashima, T. *Anal. Sci.* **1993**, *9*, 561. ^c Rastsvetaeva, R. K.; Pushcharovskii, D. Yu.; Pekov, I. V. *Eur. J. Miner.* **1996**, *8*, 1249. Yang, Z. M. *Sci. Geol. Sin.* **1996**, *31*, 140. ^d Mercier, N.; Leblanc, M. *Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem.* **1991**, *28*, 727. ^e Mercier, N.; Leblanc, M. *Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem.* **1997**, *30*, 195. ^f Shen, J.-C.; Mi, J.-X. *J. China Univ. Geosci.* **1992**, *3*, 17. ^g Gandolfi, E. *Mineral. Petrogr. Acta* **1965**, *11*, 123. ^h Wang, L.-B.; Ni, Y.-X.; Hughes, J. M.; Bayliss, P.; Drexler, J. W. *Can. Mineral.* **1994**, *32*, 865. ⁱ Grice, J. D.; Chao, G. Y. *Am. Mineral.* **1997**, *82*, 1255. ^j Mercier, N.; Leblanc, M. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1994**, *C50*, 1854. ^k Mercier, N.; Taulelle, F.; Leblanc, M. *Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem.* **1997**, *34*, 241.



Figure 100. Complex $[Sc(CO_3)_4]^{5-}$ ions and $[NaO_4]$ tetrahedra (drawn as polyhedra) are stacked in the crystal structure of $Na_5[Sc(CO_3)_4]\cdot 2H_2O$.

arranged in layers which are stacked in the [001] direction and held together by further Na⁺ ions (Figure 100). The thermal decomposition of the compound proceeds in two steps with the anhydrous carbonate as an intermediate around 300 °C. Final products are Sc_2O_3 and Na_2CO_3 . The packing of the complex anions in $K_5[Sc(CO_3)_4] \cdot 5H_2O$ is nearly in a hcp fashion with the K⁺ ions and the H₂O molecules in the empty voids. In K₇[Sc(CO₃)₄](CO₃)·9H₂O formally one formula unit K₂CO₃ and four water molecules are added. The structure is built up from double layers of the anions which are stacked alternating with a double layer of free carbonate groups. The connection within and between the layers is achieved by the K⁺ ions. The precipitation of [Sc- $(CO_3)_4$ ⁵⁻ has been achieved using the complex cation $[Co(NH_3)_6]^{3+}$. The resulting compound has the composition Na₂[Co(NH₃)₆][Sc(CO₃)₄]·14H₂O⁶⁷⁰ and contains dimeric $[Na(H_2O)_{4/1}(H_2O)_{2/2}]_2^{2+}$ units, octahedral $Co(NH_3)_6^{3+}$ ions, and free water molecules. The octahedra and the complex anions are arranged in puckered layers in the (010) plane which are held together by the $[Na(H_2O)_{4/1}(H_2O)_{2/2}]_2^{2+}$ ions. According to thermoanalytical investigations, the compound decomposes in the first step between 50 and 110 °C to Na₂[Co(NH₃)₆][Sc(CO₃)₄] \cdot 5H₂O, which releases H₂O and NH₃ at 165 °C to give Na₂Co[Sc(CO₃)₄]·H₂O. In the final step above 350 °C Sc₂O₃, Co₂O₃, and Na₂-CO₃ are formed.⁶⁷⁰ The tetracarbonatoscandates have been intensively investigated by IR spectroscopy including a detailed theoretical discussion.⁶⁷⁰

A few carbonato complexes with other rare-earth ions are known. $Na_2[Co(NH_3)_6][Ho(CO_3)_4] \cdot 14H_2O^{671}$ is isotypic with the respective scandium compound, while $[Co(NH_3)_6][Sm(CO_3)_3(H_2O)] \cdot 4H_2O^{672}$ contains no monomeric complex anions but zigzag chains according to ${}^{1}_{\infty}$ [Sm(CO₃)_{3/3}(CO₃)_{2/1}(H₂O)]³⁻ which are held together by the $[Co(NH_3)_6]^{3+}$ octahedra (Figure 101). In this way a coordination number of nine is achieved for the Sm³⁺ ions. Similarly, a chain structure is found for K[Co(NH₃)₆]₃[Nd₂(CO₃)₈]·15H₂O.⁶⁷³ In the structure Nd³⁺ is coordinated by four chelating and one monodentate carbonate groups leading to a CN of nine. The chains ${}^{1}_{\infty}$ [Nd(CO₃)_{2/2}(CO₃)_{3/1}]⁵⁻ are connected by cobalt hexaammine and dimeric [K2- $(H_2O)_{10}]^{2+}$ cations. Monomeric carbonato complexes with larger lanthanide ions are obtained if guanidinium, $[C(NH_2)_3]^+$, is used as the counterion. Structural data are known for [C(NH₂)₃]₅[Nd(CO₃)₄(H₂O)]·



Figure 101. Zigzag chains ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [Sm(CO₃)_{3/3}(CO₃)_{2/1}(H₂O)]³⁻ in the crystal structure of [Co(NH₃)₆][Sm(CO₃)₃(H₂O)]· 4H₂O.

 $2H_2O^{674}$ and the tetravalent cerium compound $[C(NH_2)_3]_6[Ce(CO_3)_5] \cdot 4H_2O^{.675}$ In the former Nd^{3+} is surrounded by four chelating CO_3^{2-} ions and one water molecule, while in the latter Ce^{4+} is exclusively attached by carbonate groups leading to a coordination number of 10.

Anhydrous ternary carbonates were synthesized under elevated CO₂ pressure in steel autoclaves from alkali carbonates and rare-earth chlorides or oxalates at 450 °C. Often the products were obtained as powders, so that only powder diffraction data are available. This is especially true for the lithium compounds for which no single-crystal data have been available.^{676,677} With Na⁺ the structure of NaLa(CO₃)₂ is known⁶⁷⁸ which contains the La³⁺ ions in 10-fold coordination of oxygen atoms which belong to three chelating and four monodentate CO₃^{2–} groups. These are attached to three and four La³⁺ ions, respectively, so that according to ${}^3_{\infty}[La(CO_3)_{3/3}(CO_3)_{4/4}]^-$ a three-dimensional network is formed which incorporates the 7-fold coordinate Na^+ ions. With $Na_3Eu(CO_3)_3$ the structure of a sodium-rich carbonate has been determined recently.⁶⁷⁹ It crystallizes acentrically with the space group Ama2, and two crystallographically different CO_3^{2-} ions are found. $C(2)O_3^{2-}$ connects the Eu^{3+} ions to chains running along [011], and the linkage of the chains is performed by $C(1)O_3^{2-}$ (Figure 102). Due to the chelating attachment of three carbonate ions and the monodentate behavior of three additional CO_3^{2-} groups, Eu^{3+} gains a coordination number of nine. A third composition for sodium-containing carbonates has been described for the new mineral Petersenite, Na₄Ce₂(CO₃)₅,⁶⁸⁰ which has a complicated structure containing four crystallographically different Ce³⁺ and 10 crystallographically different CO_3^{2-} ions. For all of the Ce^{3+} ions the CN is 10. The largest number of anhydrous ternary rare-earth carbonates is described for potassium compounds $KM(CO_3)_2$.⁶⁸¹ They are known with Nd, Gd, Dy, Ho, and Yb and adopt two different structure types. The orthorhombic modification was described for $KNd(CO_3)_2$, and its structure can be divided in layers of the composition ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [Nd(CO₃)]⁺ and ${}^{2}_{m}$ [K(CO₃)]⁻ which are connected along [010] (Figure



Figure 102. Crystal structure of $Na_3Eu(CO_3)_3$ viewed along [011].



Figure 103. Comparison of the crystal structures of KNd- $(CO_3)_2$ (a) and KDyCO₃)₂ (b).

103a). Thereby the Nd³⁺ ions are surrounded by three chelating and three monodentate CO_3^{2-} , so that a CN of nine is obtained. The monoclinic modification is observed for the smaller lanthanides and has essentially the same structural features as the orthorhombic one but the carbonate groups are rearranged a little bit in order to decrease the coordination number of M³⁺ to eight (Figure 103b). The same structure has been found for RbSm(CO₃)₂,⁶⁸² while

 $CsPr(CO_3)_2$ and $CsGd(CO_3)_2$ adopt a triclinic structure.^{683,684} The coordination number for the M^{3+} ions is still eight, but the larger Cs^+ ions lead to a severe distortion of the monoclinic structure.

5. Fluoride Carbonates

The most important fluoride carbonate is the mineral bastnasite which has essentially the composition CeFCO₃ but may contain other large rare-earth ions on the cerium position. The mineral serves as a natural source for the rare earths. Therefore, its structure has been determined several times.685-688 It can be described as a stacking of hexagonal layers ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [CeF_{3/3}]²⁺ which are stacked alternating with layers of carbonate ions. Thus, it shows a close similarity to the hexagonal modification of M₂O₂CO₃-type compounds. Further fluoride carbonates containing additional cations are frequently observed as minerals. They contain very often alkaline-earth metals, mainly barium and calcium, and show a large number of different compositions, for example, NaBaCe2- $(CO_3)_4F^{689}$ (baiyuneboite), $Ba_2Ce(CO_3)_3F^{690}$ (zhong*huacerite*), BaCe(CO₃)₂ F^{691} (*huangoite*), and Ca₂Ce₃- $(CO_3)_5F_3^{685}$ (*rontgenite*). Most of these compounds can be also prepared artificially bearing the opportunity to produce similar compound with all of the rare-earth elements. $BaSm(CO_3)_2F^{692}$ and $KGd(CO_3)F_2^{693}$ may serve as examples. Two further synthetic fluoride carbonates are Ba₂Y(CO₃)₂F₃⁶⁹⁴ and Ba₃Sc(CO₃)- F_{7} .⁶⁹⁵ In the yttrium compound Y^{3+} is surrounded by two chelating and two monodentate CO_3^{2-} and by three F⁻ ligands. The carbonate groups link the polyhedra to layers ${}^{2}_{\infty}[Y(CO_{3})_{4/2}F_{3}]^{4-}$ which are connected by 9-fold coordinate Ba2+ ions. The fluoriderich scandium carbonate is built up from complex $[Sc(CO_3)F_5]^{4-}$ anions with a chelating carbonate group. The ions are separated by Ba^{2+} in 11-fold coordination and lonesome fluoride ions. A new sodium-containing fluoride carbonate is the mineral *horvatite*, NaYCO₃F₂.⁶⁹⁶ The structure contains 8-fold coordinated Y^{3+} (4 × O²⁻, 4 × F⁻) and 7-fold coordinated Na⁺ ions (4 × F⁻, 3 × O²⁻) and consists of layers $\sum_{m}^{2} [NaY(CO_3)]^{2+}$ which are connected in the [100] direction by F^- double sheets (Figure 104).



Figure 104. Crystal structure of the mineral *horvatite*, NaYCO₃F₂. The structure is composed from $\frac{2}{\omega}$ [NaY-(CO₃)]²⁺ layers which are connected by F⁻ double sheets.

B. Nitrates

Nitrates of the rare-earth elements are a strongly investigated group of compounds. On one hand, the



Figure 105. $^1_{\infty}[La(H_2O)_{4/1}(NO_3)_{2/1}(NO_3)_{2/2}]$ chains in La- $(NO_3)_3{\cdot}4H_2O{-I}$ (a) and La(NO_3)_3{\cdot}4H_2O{-II} (b).

ternary complexes $Mg_3M_2(NO_3)_{12}$ ·24 H_2O and $(NH_4)_2M_{(NO_3)_5}$ ·4 H_2O were formerly used in the separation and purification process of rare-earth elements;⁶⁹⁷ on the other hand, nitrates are frequent reagents during various syntheses due to their high solubilities, even in organic solvents. Thus, a large number of structure determinations have been performed for a large variety of compounds (Table 17). However, most of these compounds are hydrates or ternary complexes and, analogously to the carbonates, there is no structure of an anhydrous binary rare-earth nitrate known to date. Two short reviews on the systematics of hydrous and anhydrous ternary rare-earth nitrates were published a few years ago.^{698,699}

1. Nitrate Hydrates

The series of the hexahydrates includes the lanthanides from La to Tb and additionally Y.⁷⁰⁰⁻⁷¹² The compounds are isotypic and contain neutral [M(H₂O)₄- $(NO_3)_3$ complexes and two molecules of crystal water. The same complexes are known for the pentahydrates, which have been structurally characterized for M = Eu, Gd, Yb, and Y, but in this case only one additional water H₂O molecule is found.⁷¹³⁻⁷¹⁶ Ďehydration of the hydrates is possible and leads to powder samples of the anhydrous species, also the formation of basic nitrates may readily occur especially for the smaller lanthanides.^{717,718} Tetrahydrates are known with La, Ce, and Lu, and for $La(NO_3)_3$ · $4H_2O$ two modifications were found.^{716,719,720} Both show the La³⁺ ions surrounded by four nitrate groups and four H₂O molecules. According to ${}^{1}_{\infty}$ [La(H₂O)_{4/1}- $(NO_3)_{2/1}(NO_3)_{2/2}$] the polyhedra are linked to chains which are held together by hydrogen bonds. The difference between the two structures is that in the monoclinic one (Figure 105a) three NO_3^- ions are attached chelating to La³⁺ while the orthorhombic one shows only two chelating ions, e.g., the coordination number decreases from 11 to 10 (Figure 105b). In the structure of Lu(NO₃)₃·4H₂O,⁷¹⁶ again neutral complexes [Lu(H₂O)₃(NO₃)₃] containing three chelating nitrate groups occur besides a free molecule of crystal water. The different structure compared to



Figure 106. Crystal structure of $Y(NO_3)_3 \cdot 3.5H_2O$ containing cationic $[Y(H_2O)_5(NO_3)_2]^+$ and anionic $[Y(H_2O)_2(NO_3)_4]^-$ complexes.



Figure 107. Crystal structure of $Y(NO_3)_3 \cdot H_2O$ with chains according to ${}^1_{\infty}[Y(H_2O)_{1/1}(NO_3)_{4/2}(NO_3)_{1/1}]$.

the lanthanum nitrates results from the smaller Lu³⁺ radius yielding a lower coordination number of nine. The unique hydrate $Y(NO_3)_3 \cdot 3.5H_2O^{721}$ is built up from cationic $[Y(H_2O)_5(NO_3)_2]^+$ and anionic $[Y(H_2O)_2(NO_3)_4]^-$ complexes which are arranged in layers alternating stacked in the [001] direction (Figure 106).

Interestingly, the trihydrates of Y,⁷²² Lu,⁷¹⁶ and Yb⁷²³ are not isotypic with each other, although the ions are of comparable size. All of the three nitrates contain $[M(H_2O)_3(NO_3)_3]$ complexes which can be seen as distorted octahedra, if the NO₃⁻ ligand is reduced to its nitrogen atom. The difference between the structures arises from the *mer*-configuration of the nitrate ligands in the Y and Lu compounds, respectively, compared to the *fac*-configuration in Yb(NO₃)₃. 3H₂O. Furthermore, the arrangement of the complexes differs slightly in the former two. In the lowest hydrate known so far, Y(NO₃)₃·H₂O,⁷²⁴ the Y³⁺ ions are 9-fold coordinated by oxygen atoms which belong to three chelating and two monodentate NO_3^- ligands as well as to one H_2O molecule. Four of the NO_3^- ions connect to further Y^{3+} ions leading to infinite chains ${}^{1}_{\infty}$ [Y(H₂O)_{1/1}(NO₃)_{4/2}(NO₃)_{1/1}] extending in the [010] direction (Figure 107).

2. Basic Nitrates

A number of basic rare-earth nitrates are known having the composition $M(OH)_2NO_3$.^{725–728} They crystallize with the same structure which can be understood as a two-dimensional network $^2_{\infty}[M(OH)_{6/3}]^+$ which is slightly puckered and oriented parallel to (001). The OH⁻ ions are in trigonal pyramidal environment of M^{3+} ions. The coordination sphere of the M^{3+} ion is completed by one chelating attached

Table 17. Crystallographic Data of Nitrates

				lattice para	ameters			
compound	space group	<i>a</i> /Å	<i>b</i> /Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
	_	nitrate-h	ydrates					
$La(NO_3)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$	$P\underline{1}$	8.896	10.677	6.633	78.90	102.10	92.50	700
$La(NO_3)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$	$P_{\underline{1}}$	8.933(5)	10.723(4)	6.664(2)	78.86(3)	77.92(4)	87.91(4)	701
$Ce(NO_3)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$	P_{1}	8.886(6)	10.671(9)	6.612(3)	78.76(6)	102.19(5)	92.08(6)	702
$Pr(NO_3)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$	Pl	9.19(3)	11.70(4)	6.78(3)	89.0(5)	110.7(5)	110.2(5)	703
$Pr(NO_3)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$		9.23(3)	11.77(4)	6.78(2)	91.17(8)	111.77(5)	69.5(1)	704
$Pr(INO_3)_3 \cdot bH_2O$		9.19(3)	11.70(4)	0.78(3)	89.0(5)	110.7(5)	110.2(5)	705
$Nd(NO_3)_3 \cdot 6H_0$	$\frac{P_1}{D_1}$	9.307(1) 6.768(5)	11.747(1) 0.105(6)	0.770(1) 11726(7)	91.11(1) 60 70(5)	112.24(1) 88.03(5)	109.13(1) 60.22(5)	700
$Sm(NO_2)$ + 6H - O	$\frac{P_1}{D_1}$	6.708(3)	9.155(0) 9.156(1)	11.720(7) 11.673(1)	60.79(3)	88.83(3)	60 20(1)	707
$F_{11}(NO_3)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$	$\frac{P_1}{P_1}$	6.705(1)	9.130(1) 9.140(1)	11.073(1) 11.647(1)	69.30(1)	88 94(1)	69.29(1)	700
$Gd(NO_2)_2 \cdot 6H_2O$	$P^{\frac{1}{2}}$	6.712(3)	9.110(1)	11.607(8)	70.17(5)	88.80(5)	69.04(5)	710
Tb(NO ₃) ₃ •6H ₂ O	PĪ	9.095(7)	11.600(6)	6.705(4)	91.14(4)	110.79(5)	70.14(5)	711
Y(NO ₃) ₃ ·6H ₂ O	$P\bar{1}$	9.151(5)	12.097(8)	6.723(2)	104.50(4)	112.40(3)	104.10(5)	712
$Eu(NO_3)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$	$P\bar{1}$	10.638(3)	9.568(3)	6.704(2)	76.12(3)	84.68(2)	63.72(2)	713
$Gd(NO_3)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$	$P\bar{1}$	6.692(1)	9.588(2)	10.622(2)	63.70(1)	84.68(1)	76.19(1)	714
$Y(NO_3)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$	$P\overline{1}$	6.652(4)	9.558(5)	10.563(5)	63.60(3)	84.60(4)	76.10(4)	715
$Yb(NO_3)_3 \cdot 5H_2O$	<i>P</i> 1	6.578(3)	9.514(4)	10.496(4)	63.55(3)	84.61(3)	76.03(3)	716
$La(NO_3)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$	$P2_1/m$	6.7778(9)	11.3673(1)	6.5843(1)		90.64(1)		719
$La(NO_3)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$	Pbca	11.834(1)	12.973(1)	13.531(1)				719
$Ce(NO_3)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$	Pbca	11.756(6)	12.901(9)	13.522(3)		00.00(7)		720
$Lu(NO_3)_3 \cdot 4H_2O$	PZ_1/n	7.379(7)	10.364(5)	14.20(1)		96.09(7)		/10
$I(INU_3)_3 \cdot 3.5H_2U$	$D_2 C_2 C_1$	9.274(0) 11755(1)	11.001(4)	20.055(9)				792
$I_{10}(NO_3)_3 \cdot 3H_2O$		11.755(1) 12 501(4)	19 144(2)	7255(9)	80 22(2)	77 68(2)	62 20(2)	716
$V(NO_2)_{2}$ 3H ₂ O	$\frac{P_1}{D_1}$	6 0/6(2)	7393(1)	10.948(1)	7150(2)	77.08(2) 78 $40(1)$	67.60(2)	799
$Y(NO_3)_3 \cdot H_3O$	P^{1}	7.388(1)	7 889(1)	8 204(2)	$64 \ 40(2)$	70.90(1)	62.74(1)	724
$\Pr(1,0,3),3,11,20$ $\Pr(1,0,0,3),5H_{2}O$	P2/c	12 288(2)	6484(1)	12.66(2)0	01.10(2)	91 91(1)	02.7 1(1)	, ~ 1 k
	1 110	hasic nit	rates	12100(2)0		01101(1)		
$L_{a}(OH)_{a}(NO_{a})\cdot H_{a}O$	C^{2}/m	21 192(2)	3 9899(6)	6 4048(8)		114 15(1)		725
$Nd(OH)_2(NO_2) \cdot H_2O$	C^2/m	20.996(4)	3.875(2)	6282(2)		11373(1)		729
$Ce_{2}O(NO_{3})_{6}\cdot 8H_{2}O$	$P2_1/c$	8.7233(8)	8.9397(8)	13.981(1)		94.91(1)		731
$La(OH)_2(NO_3)$	$P2_1/m$	6.488(2)	3.962(2)	7.770(4)		99.96(1)		725
Pr(OH) ₂ NO ₃	$P2_1$	6.449(5)	3.881(5)	7.747(8)		98.73(6)		726
Nd(OH) ₂ NO ₃	$P2_1$	6.420(1)	3.838(1)	7.746(2)		98.18(2)		727
Gd(OH) ₂ NO ₃	$P2_1$	6.340(2)	3.715(1)	7.728(2)		96.95(2)		727
$Sm(OH)_2(NO_3)$	$P2_1$	6.3852(3)	3.7784(2)	7.7402(3)		97.57(1)		728
$YO(NO_3)$	P4/nmm	3.859(1)		9.716(6)				730
$Y_4O(OH)_9(NO_3)$	$P2_1$	9.376(2)	16.376(3)	3.623(1)		101.2(2)		724
$Mg_2Nd(NO_3)_6(OH) \cdot 12H_2O$	R3 D4 mm	10.998(1)		17.314(2)				765
$I DI_2 U_4 (INU_3)$ (Sm $(U_1 O) = (OU) = (NO_3) = O) (NO_3) = GU_1 O$	P4////// Di	3.8071(1) 11505(9)	11 607(9)	10.1930(3)	01.05(9)	00.00(1)	112 07(9)	700
$(Sin_6(H_2O)_{12}(OH)_8(NO_3)_6O)(NO_3)_2OH_2O$ $(Cd_2O(OH)_2(H_2O)_{12}(NO_2)_2)(NO_2)_2OH_2O$	$\frac{\Gamma}{C^2/c}$	11.393(2)	11.097(2) 10.175(5)	10.720(3) 17 554(6)	91.05(2)	90.00(1) 106 73(1)	112.97(2)	731
$(Dv_{0}(H_{0}O)_{10}(H_{2}O)_{12}(H_{0}O_{0})_{0})(NO_{0})_{0} \cdot 5H_{0}O$	C^2/c	12.623(3)	18 798(4)	17.004(0) 17.465(4)		100.70(1) 106.70(2)		733
$(Er_{e}(H_{2}O))_{12}(OH)_{8}(NO_{2})_{e}O)(NO_{2})_{2} \cdot 4H_{2}O$	$P\bar{1}$	10.056(2)	10.760(1) 10.064(2)	11.397(2)	96 49(1)	108.81(2)	110 90(2)	733
$(Yb_{6}O(OH)_{8}(H_{2}O)_{12}(NO_{3})_{6})(NO_{3})_{2} \cdot 4H_{2}O$	$P\bar{1}$	10.006(2)	10.040(1)	11.318(5)	96.52(2)	108.68(3)	110.79(2)	734
$(Y_6O(OH)_8(H_2O)_{12}(NO_3)_6)(NO_3)_2 \cdot 4H_2O$	$P\bar{1}$	10.09(2)	10.13(2)	11.47(2)	96.7(1)	108.8(1)	110.8(1)	734
$Er_4O_2(OH)_8(HNO_3)$	$P2_1$	9.338(3)	16.369(3)	3.608(1)		101.16(2)		а
	h	vdrous terna	ry nitrates					
$Cs_4La(NO_3)_7 \cdot HNO_3$	$P2_{1}/c$	7.873(2)	13.530(3)	11.418(7)		94.37(3)		b
$(H_3O)_2Ce(NO_3)_5 \cdot H_2O$	P2/c	21.364(7)	7.8990(7)	15.133(2)		91.02(2)		С
$(NH_4)_2(La(NO_3)_5 \cdot 4H_2O)$	C2/c	11.152(5)	8.966(4)	17.881(6)		101.6(4)		729
$(NH_4)_2(La(NO_3)_5 \cdot 4H_2O)$	C2/c	10.97(1)	9.012(5)	17.44(1)		100.1(1)		737
$(NH_4)_2(Pr(NO_3)_5 \cdot 4H_2O)$	C2/c	11.047(5)	8.928(3)	17.875(8)		101.78(7)		730
$Rb_{1.69}La(NO_3)_5 \cdot 4H_2O$	Cc	11.092(2)	8.984(2)	17.863(6)		100.85(1)		739
$Rb_2La(NO_3)_5 \cdot 4H_2O$	Cc	11.073(3)	8.945(3)	17.790(9)		101.15(3)		739
$Rb_{1.82}Ce(NO_3)_5 \cdot 4H_2O$	Cc	11.027(4)	8.937(2)	17.817(9)		101.06(3)		739
$KD_2Ce(NO_3)_5 \cdot 4H_2O$		11.003(9)	8.887(9)	17.737(9)		101.65(7)		739
$KD_2 Ce(INO_3) \cdot 2H_2 O$	$\frac{U}{D}$	11.030(1) 10.868(3)	0.977(1) 0.063(4)	17.639(2) 17.557(4)		100.00(1) 102.20(2)		740
$C_{S_2}C_a(NO_3)$	C^2/c	10.000(3) 11.195(9)	9.003(4) 8 708(1)	17.337(4) 16 503(2)		103.20(3) 103.77(2)		741
$C_{s_2}Nd(NO_2)_{\epsilon} \cdot 2H_2O$	C^2/c	11.126(2)	8 750(4)	16 399(9)		103.77(2) 103.43(5)		743
$K_{2}La(NO_{3})_{5} \cdot 2H_{2}O$	Fdd2	11.336(5)	21.62(1)	12.355(9)		100.10(0)		744
$K_2La(NO_3)_5 \cdot 2H_2O$	Fdd2	11.2814(6)	21.480(1)	12.2589(4)				745
$K_2Ce(NO_3)_5 \cdot 2H_2O$	Fdd2	11.263(3)	21.404(3)	12.230(4)				745
$K_2Pr(NO_3)_5 \cdot 2H_2O$	Fdd2	11.213(2)	21.392(4)	12.204(2)				745
$K_2Pr(NO_3)_5 \cdot 2H_2O$	Fdd2	21.411(3)	11.221(1)	12.208(2)				746
$K_2Pr(NO_3)_5 \cdot 2H_2O$	Fdd2	21.411(3)	11.221(1)	12.208(2)				747
$K_2Nd(NO_3)_5 \cdot 2H_2O$	Fdd2	11.197(1)	21.378(1)	12.195(1)				745
$K_2Nd(NO_3)_5 \cdot 2H_2O$	Fdd2	11.137(1)	21.272(3)	12.151(2)			00	748
$Na_2Nd(NO_3)_5 \cdot H_2O$	P112/a	15.147(5)	21.216(9)	7.903(4)			90.74(3)	750

Table 17. (Continued)

				lattice para	meters			
compound	space group	<i>a</i> /Å	bځ	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	ref
Na ₂ Pr(NO ₃) ₅ ·H ₂ O	P2/c	21.309(6)	7.910(3)	15.16(1)		90.72(3)		751
$Ag_2Ce(NO_3)_5 \cdot H_2O$	P2/c	21.472(5)	8.027(1)	15.413(3)		90.45(2)		752
RbTm(NO ₃) ₄ ·4H ₂ O	$P2_1/n$	10.578(4)	11.641(3)	11.466(2)		111.31(3)		755
CsDy(NO ₃) ₄ ·3H ₂ O	$P112_{1}/n$	10.859(3)	11.217(3)	11.887(3)			108.55(2)	753
CsNd(NO ₃) ₄ ·3H ₂ O	$P\bar{1}$	6.986(5)	7.089(3)	13.908(6)	80.58(4)	104.68(4)	105.33(5)	754
KTb(NO ₃) ₄ ·2H ₂ O	$P2_1$ cn	7.966(2)	11.571(9)	12.694(5)				756
KSm(NO ₃) ₄ ·2H ₂ O	$Pna2_1$	12.7904(6)	11.6050(4)	7.9968(4)				757
$Rb_5Nd_2(NO_3)_{11}$ ·H ₂ O	C2/c	15.767(4)	14.593(4)	14.336(4)		108.28(2)		758
$Li_3La_2(NO_3)_9 \cdot 3H_2O$	$P2_{1}3$	13.354(2)						759
Li ₃ Nd ₂ (NO ₃) ₉ ·3H ₂ O	$P2_{1}3$	13.22(1)						759
$Ce_2Mg_3(NO_3)_{12} \cdot 24H_2O$	$R\bar{3}$	11.004(6)		34.59(1)				760
$La_2Mg_3(NO_3)_{12} \cdot 24D_2O$	$R\bar{3}$	11.041(5)		34.59(1)				761
$La_2Mg_3(NO_3)_{12} \cdot 24H_2O$	$R\bar{3}$	10.989(2)		34.63(1)				762
$Mg_3Eu_2(NO_3)_{12} \cdot 24H_2O$	$R\bar{3}$	13.117(3)			49.34(1)			d
MgCe(NO ₃) ₆ •8H ₂ O	$P2_{1/c}$	9.003(1)	8.6840(8)	13.533(1)		96.80(1)		763
MgCe(NO ₃) ₆ •8H ₂ O	Pa3	12.5702(7)						763
LaAl(NO ₃) ₆ ·12H ₂ O	$R\bar{3}$	10.948(1)		16.802(2)				764
LaAl(NO ₃) ₆ ·12H ₂ O	$P2_{1}3$	12.301(1)						764
		terna	arv anhvdrous	nitrates				
$(NH_4)_2 Tm(NO_3)_5$	$P3_1$	11.2496(7)	j j	9.316(1)				766
$Rb_2Y(NO_3)_5$	$P3_1$	11.239(2)		9.419(3)				767
$Rb_2Sc(NO_3)_5$	$P3_1$	11.034		9.474				768
$Tl_2Er(NO_3)_5$	$P2_1/c$	8.113(1)	12.079(2)	14.599(2)		103.73(2)		769
$Ag_2Er(NO_3)_5$	$P2_1/c$	7.8821(9)	11.567(1)	13.235(1)		97.32(1)		769
$K_2 \tilde{E}r(NO_3)_5$	$P2_1/c$	7.954(4)	11.943(4)	14.269(7)		102.85(4)		770
$Li_2Pr(NO_3)_5$	Pnnm	9.020(2)	10.532(2)	11.779(2)				771
$Li_3Er(NO_3)_6$	$P2_1/n$	7.760(1)	7.4886(8)	23.96(1)				780
$(NH_4)_3Pr_2(NO_3)_9$	$P4_{3}32$	13.770(1)						772
$(NH_4)_6Nd(NO_3)_9$	C2/c	17.751(4)	9.127(3)	20.723(5)		126.56(1)		781
$Rb_3Pr_2(NO_3)_9$	$P4_{3}32$	13.8091(4)						773
$Rb_3Ce_2(NO_3)_9$	$P4_{1}32$	13.8411(4)						774
$Rb_3Nd_2(NO_3)_9$	$P4_{3}32$	13.759(2)						775
$K_3Pr_2(NO_3)_9$	$P4_{3}32$	13.52(1)						776
$K_3Nd_2(NO_3)_9$	$P4_{3}32$	13.474(3)						777
$K_3Ce_2(NO_3)_9$	$P4_{1}32$	13.5975(8)						778
$K_3La_2(NO_3)_9$	$P4_{1}32$	13.6607(5)						779
$Na_3Nd_2(NO_3)_9$	$P4_{1}32$	13.1279(8)						е
Ag ₆ Pr(NO ₃) ₉	R3c	16.410(1)		14.631(1)				769
$Ag_6Ce(NO_3)_9$	R3c	16.402(2)		14.573(2)				f
$Ag_5Er_2(NO_3)_{11}$	C2/c	26.638(1)	8.2270(7)	25.378(2)		103.86(1)		769
$K_2Ce(NO_3)_6$	$P_{2_1/n}$	12.707(4)	6.6858(6)	8.2535(7)		91.55(1)		ģ
$K_2Ce(NO_3)_6$	P3	13.5737(4)	0.000.0/=`	6.6624(3)				h
$Rb_2Ce(NO_3)_6$	$P2_1/n$	13.0567(5)	6.8684(2)	8.1786(3)		91.44(1)		i
$(NH_4)_2Ce(NO_3)_6$	$P2_1/n$	13.061(7)	6.842(4)	8.183(4)		91.34(2)		j

^a Wolcott, H. A.; Milligan, W. O.; Beall, G. W. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. **1977**, 39, 59. ^b Manek, E.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. **1992**, 610, 20. ^c Guillou, N.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louer, M.; Louer, D. J. Solid State Chem. **1993**, 106, 295. ^d Akimov, V. M.; Yanovskii, A. I.; Struchkov, Y. T.; Molodkin, A. K.; Grigorev, Y. A.; Novikov, N. K. Zh. Neorg. Khim. **1987**, 32, 1547. ^e Stockhause, S.; Meyer, G. Z. Kristallogr.-New Cryst. Struct. **1997**, 212, 316. ^f Audebrand, N.; Auffredic, J.-P.; Benard-Rocherulle, P.; Louer, D. Acta Crystallogr. C **1997**, 53, 1748. ^g Guillou, N.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louer, D. Acta Crystallogr. C **1995**, 51, 1032. ^h Guillou, N.; Louer, M.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louer, D. Acta Crystallogr. C **1995**, 51, 1029. ⁱ Guillou, N.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louer, D. J. Solid State Chem. **1996**, 122, 59. ^j Beineke, T. A.; Delgaudio, J. Inorg. Chem. **1968**, 7, 715. ^k Wickleder, M. S.; Müller, I.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. **2001**, 627, 4.

nitrate group. The structure may incorporate an additional water molecule as has been shown for La- $(OH)_2(NO_3)$ ·H₂O and Nd(OH)₂(NO₃)·H₂O.^{725,729} The structure of these two is essentially the same as that described for the respective anhydrous structure, but the NO₃⁻ ligand is only monodentate now because the water molecule enters the M³⁺ coordination sphere (Figure 108). The oxide nitrate YO(NO₃)⁷³⁰ is structurally closely related to other rare-earth oxides containing additional anions. It contains O²⁻-centered [OM₄] tetrahedra, and if the ratio M³⁺/O²⁻ equals one, these tetrahedra condense to layers $^2_{\infty}$ [OM_{4/4}]⁺ which are stacked alternating with the anions. This has, for example, been observed for Nd₃O₃(PO₄), the oxide carbonates M₂O₂(CO₃), and the oxide sulfates M₂O₂-

(SO₄), and it is also a common feature in the structural chemistry of lanthanide halides (MOCl) and sulfides (M_2O_2S). An oxide nitrate of tetravalent cerium is Ce₂O(NO₃)₆·8H₂O.⁷³¹ The structure is built up from dimers [Ce₂O(H₂O)₆(NO₃)₆] with a linear Ce–O–Ce bridge and three chelating NO₃⁻ groups at each Ce⁴⁺ ion (Figure 109). The Ce⁴⁺–O^{2–} distances to the bridging oxide ions are remarkably short (2.05 Å). The neutral complexes are packed in the unit cell together with two additional water molecules.

In the structure of $Y_4O(OH)_9(NO_3)$,⁷³² the oxide ion is again found in tetrahedral coordination of Y^{3+} but the structure is more complicated due to the presence of additional OH⁻ ions. These are attached to three Y^{3+} ions, and a three-dimensional network is built



Figure 108. Comparison of the crystal structures of La- $(OH)_2(NO_3)$ (a) and La $(OH)_2(NO_3) \cdot H_2O$ (b).



Figure 109. $[Ce_2O(H_2O)_6(NO_3)_6]$ dimers with a linear Ce– O–Ce bridge in the crystal structure of $Ce_2O(NO_3)_6 \cdot 8H_2O$.



Figure 110. Crystal structure of $Y_4O(OH)_9(NO_3)$; the oxygen-centered $[OY_4]$ tetrahedra are shown as polyhedra.

providing large channels which are occupied by free nitrate ions (Figure 110). Other hydroxide-rich oxide-containing rare-earth nitrates are the compounds $\{[M_6O](OH)_8(H_2O)_{12}(NO_3)_6\}(NO_3)_2 \cdot xH_2O.^{733-735}$ Analogously to the related basic perchlorates, they contain as the characteristic structural feature an oxide-centered $[OM_6]$ octahedron with each of its triangular faces capped by an OH⁻ ion. Furthermore, 12 H₂O molecules are bridging the 12 edges of the octahe-

dron. Finally, a monodentate nitrate group acts as a terminal ligand for the six vertexes of the octahedron. Because the unit $\{[M_6O](OH)_8(H_2O)_{12}(NO_3)_6\}^{2+}$ is positive, additional nitrate groups are needed for charge compensation. Depending on the rare-earth ion, the crystal structures contain from four to six molecules of crystal water. Finally, the basic yttrium nitrate YBi₂O₄(NO₃) should be mentioned.⁷³⁶ It consists of layers $^{2}_{\infty}$ [YO_{8/2}]⁵⁻ which are separated by Bi³⁺ and NO³⁻ sheets, respectively, with severe disorder of the nitrate ions.

3. Hydrous Ternary Nitrates

As previously mentioned, the nitrates $(NH_4)_2M_{(NO_3)_5} \cdot 4H_2O$ were used in previously for the separation of rare-earth elements by fractional crystallization. This type of compound, which can be also obtained with Rb⁺, contains the complexes $[M(H_2O)_2 - (NO_3)_5]^{2-}$ with 12-fold coordinate M^{3+} ions due to the chelating nitrate groups.^{737–740} These complexes are packed in the unit cell together with the A⁺ ions and two molecules of crystal water. One-half of the free water molecules can evidently be removed from the lattice without structural changes as shown for $(NH_4)_2La(NO_3)_5 \cdot 3H_2O$.⁷³⁷ Furthermore, a disorder in the A⁺ sublattice has been observed for the rubidium nitrates $Rb_2M(NO_3)_5 \cdot 4H_2O$.⁷³⁹

The structure of the dihydrates Cs₂M(NO₃)₅·2H₂O $(M = La, Ce, Nd)^{741-743}$ is also closely related to one of the tetrahydrates, which might also be seen by comparing the lattice constants (Table 17). The same complexes $[M(H_2O)_2(NO_3)_5]^{2-}$ are found in the structure but they are tilted slightly compared to the tetrahydrates. Of much greater interest are the potassium nitrates $K_2M(NO_3)_5 \cdot 2H_2O$ (M = La, Pr, Nd).^{744–748} Again, the anions $[M(H_2O)_2(NO_3)_5]^{2-}$ are found but they are now packed in a way that a highly symmetric structure with the space group Fdd^2 is formed (Figure 111). The polar acentric space group of the structure leads to interesting physical properties which have been investigated in detail even on large single crystals of the compounds, revealing that these nitrates are promising materials for frequency doubling.^{745,749} Monohydrates $A_2M(NO_3)_5 \cdot H_2O$ (M = Ce, Pr, Nd) are known only with the small A⁺ ions

Figure 111. Crystal structure of the acentric nitrates $K_2M(NO_3)_5$ ·2H₂O (M = La, Pr, Nd) containing $[M(H_2O)_2$ - $(NO_3)_5]^{2-}$ anions.



Figure 112. $[Nd_2(NO_3)_{11}]^{5-}$ dimer in the crystal structure of $Rb_5Nd_2(NO_3)_{11}$ ·H₂O.

 Na^+ and $Ag^+.^{750-752}$ The M^{3+} ions are surrounded by six chelating nitrate groups. According to ${}^1_{\rm o}[M(NO_3)_{4/1}(NO_3)_{2/2}]^{2-}$ the $[M(NO_3)_6]$ complexes are linked by two of the nitrate groups to infinite chains running along [100]. The chains are connected by four crystallographically different A^+ ions being in 8- and 9-fold coordination.

Ternary nitrate hydrates containing A^+ and M^{3+} in a ratio of 1:1 are known as the trihydrates CsM- $(NO_3)_4 \cdot 3H_2O$ (M = Dy, Nd)^{753,754} and RbTm $(NO_3)_4 \cdot$ 3H₂O⁷⁵⁵ and as the dihydrates KM(NO₃)₄·2H₂O (M = $\tilde{S}m$, Tb).^{756,757} Two different structures occur for the trihydrates (Table 17). In both modifications the M³⁺ ions are 10-fold coordinated. The coordination number is achieved by four chelating nitrate groups and two water molecules in the monoclinic form and three chelating and one monodentate NO₃⁻ ions and three water ligands in the triclinic modification. The dihydrates are isotypic with each other and contain the M³⁺ ions coordinated with four chelating NO₃⁻ ions and two H₂O molecules. The highest A⁺/M³⁺ ratio is found in Rb₅Nd₂(NO₃)₁₁·H₂O.⁷⁵⁸ In the crystal structure dimers [Nd₂(NO₃)₁₁]⁵⁻ are formed (Figure 112) by the connection of two $[Nd(NO_3)_6]$ units via a common nitrate group. The dimers are separated by the Rb⁺ ions and free H₂O molecules. An even higher condensed network of $[M(NO_3)_6]$ complexes has been described for the lithium compounds $Li_3M_2(NO_3)_9$. $3H_2O$ (M = La, Nd).⁷⁵⁹ In this case the linkage occurs via three NO₃⁻ groups leading to a three-dimensional arrangement according to $\frac{3}{6}$ [M(NO₃)_{3/1}(NO₃)_{3/2}]₂]³⁻ which incorporates the Li⁺ ions and the H₂O molecules.

A limited number of nitrate hydrates has also been prepared with alkaline-earth metals. Twelve oxygen atoms from six chelating nitrate groups surround the M^{3+} ions icosahedrally in the structures of Mg_3M_2 - $(NO_3)_{12}\cdot 24H_2O$ (M = La, Ce).^{760–762} The icosahedra are stacked in a ccp fashion with octahedral [Mg- $(H_2O)_6$]²⁺ ions in the empty voids. The two modifications of MgCe(NO₃)₆·8H₂O⁷⁶³ contain tetravalent cerium also surrounded by six chelating nitrate ions, and again, the Mg²⁺ ions are exclusively coordinated by water molecules. With the examples of AlLa- $(NO_3)_6\cdot 6H_2O$ and AlLa $(NO_3)_6\cdot 12H_2O$ it has recently been shown that the complex [La $(NO_3)_6$]³⁻ may also be crystallized with [Al $(H_2O)_6$]³⁺ countercations.⁷⁶⁴ To the group of compounds containing [M $(NO_3)_6$]³⁻ com-

plexes and hexaaquametal ions also belongs the unusual nitrate $Mg_2Nd(NO_3)_6(OH) \cdot 12H_2O.^{765}$ If the formula is rewritten as $[Mg(H_2O)_6]_2[Nd(NO_3)_6](OH)$, the close relationship to the compounds described is obvious.

4. Anhydrous Ternary Nitrates

Single crystals of anhydrous ternary nitrates were obtained from melts of alkali, ammonium, thallium, or silver nitrate. The compounds which have been structurally characterized contain the A⁺ and M³⁺ ions in a ratio of 2:1, 3:2, 3:1, 5:2, and 6:1, respectively. The 2:1-type compounds are known with A = NH_4^+ , Rb^+ , K^+ Tl^+ , Ag^+ , and Li^+ . The series $(NH_4)_2M^ (NO_3)_5$ has been shown to exist with M = Tb-Lu, Y, and a single-crystal investigation has been carried out for the thulium compound.766 The isotypic rubidium nitrates occur with M = Eu, Lu, Y, Sc,^{767,768} and the structure has been elucidated for yttrium and scandium by single-crystal data. For A = K, Ag, and Tl, the respective erbium nitrates have been investigated.^{769,770} All of these compounds contain as the characteristic building unit $[\hat{M}(NO_3)_5]^{2-}$ anions with the five NO₃⁻ groups as chelating ligands (Figure 113). The differences in the structure arise from the radii of the countercations. In the trigonal acentric (space group $P3_1$) structures of $(NH_4)_2 M(NO_3)_5$ and $Rb_2M(NO_3)_5$ the A⁺ ions are in 9- and 10-fold coordination, whereas coordination numbers of nine and eight are found for the $K^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$ and $Tl^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$ ions in the respective nitrates. Furthermore, for Tl⁺ the influence of the lone pair can be seen, although Tl₂Er- $(NO_3)_5$ is otherwise isotypic with the potassium compound. The Ag^+ ion in $Ag_2Er(NO_3)_5$ is coordinated by four oxygen ligands with short distances (\sim 2.4 Å) and five additional oxygen atoms with distances up to 3.2 Å. In contrast, the lithium nitrates Li₂M(NO₃)₅ $(M = La, Pr-Eu)^{771}$ exhibit the hexanitrate complexes [M(NO₃)₆] which are connected by two of the nitrate ions to chains ${}^1_{\infty}[M(NO_3)_{4/1}(NO_3)_{2/2}]^{2-}$ in the [010] direction. The chains are linked by Li⁺ ions in "4+4" coordination.

The $A_3M_2(NO_3)_9$ -type nitrates are frequent for the larger lanthanides M = La-Gd and are found with $A = NH_4^+$, Rb^+ , and K^+ .^{772–779} The isotypic compounds crystallize with the acentric space group $P4_3$ -32. Similarly to the respective hydrates with lithium, they are built up from $[M(NO_3)_6]$ polyhedra $(CN_M^{3+} = 12)$ which are linked according to $\frac{3}{\infty} \{[M(NO_3)_{3/1}-(NO_3)_{3/2}]_2\}^{3-}$ yielding a three-dimensional network which incorporates the A^+ ions. The nitrates of the composition $A_3M(NO_3)_6$ are only known for $A = Li^{780}$ and are unique in the sense that they do *not* contain



Figure 113. $[M(NO_3)_5]^{2-}$ anion in the crystal structure of $A_2M(NO_3)_5$ -type nitrates (A = NH₄⁺, Rb⁺, K⁺ Tl⁺, Ag⁺, Li⁺).



Figure 114. Crystal structure of $Li_3M(NO_3)_6$ (M = Gd–Lu, Y) with $[M(NO_3)_5]^{2-}$ ions and "lonesome" nitrate ions.

 $[M(NO_3)_6]^{3-}$ complexes but $[M(NO_3)_5]^{2-}$ ions and "lonesome" nitrate ions (Figure 114). This might be due to the fact that these compounds are only known with the smaller rare-earth elements M = Gd-Lu, Y, which prefer a lower coordination number. The Li⁺ ions are in tetrahedral and octahedral coordination of oxygen atoms, respectively. With $Ag_5Er_2(NO_3)_{11}$ only one example has been reported for A₅M₂(NO₃)₁₁type nitrates.⁷⁶⁹ This compound consists of [Er(NO₃)₅]²⁻ ions and additional nitrate groups so that the formula should be rewritten as Ag₅[Er(NO₃)₅]₂(NO₃). The five crystallographically different Ag⁺ ions are coordinated by eight and nine oxygen atoms. For the nitrates with the highest A^+ content, $A_6M(NO_3)_9$, two structure types are known. According to the formulation $A_6[M(NO_3)_6](NO_3)_3$ both the monoclinic $(NH_4)_6$ -Nd(NO₃)₉⁷⁸¹ (Figure 115b) and the trigonal-rhombohedral silver nitrates $Ag_6M(NO_3)_9$ (M = Ce, Pr)^{782,769} (Figure 115a) contain the hexanitrate complexes $[M(NO_3)_6]^{3-}$ and additional free nitrate ions. Again, the different structures arise from the different A⁺ sizes.

V. Bent and Linear Anions

A. Chlorites

Chlorites of composition $M(ClO_2)_3 \cdot xH_2O$ with x varying between 0.5 and 4 were prepared roughly 40 years ago in a metathesis reaction of the nitrates M(NO₃)₃ and sodium chlorite NaClO₂.⁷⁸³ Unfortunately, only one of these chlorites, La(ClO₂)₃·3H₂O, has been structurally investigated.784 It has a hexagonal structure, and the La³⁺ ions are coordinated by six monodentate ClO₂⁻ ions yielding a trigonal prismatic coordination polyhedron. The three H₂O ligands are capping the rectangular faces of the prism. According to the formulation ${}^{3}_{\infty}$ [La(H₂O)_{3/1}- $(ClO_2)_{6/2}$ each chlorite group links two La³⁺ ions with each other so that a three-dimensional network is gained. Thereby channels are formed along the [001] direction which provide space for the lone pairs of the ClO_2^- groups (Figure 116).



Figure 115. Crystal structures of $(NH_4)_6Nd(NO_3)_9$ (b) and $Ag_6M(NO_3)_9$ (M = Ce, Pr) (a); both compounds contain "lonesome" NO_3^- ions and should be formulated according to $A_6[M(NO_3)_6](NO_3)_3$.



Figure 116. Perspective view of the crystal structure of $La(ClO_2)_3 \cdot 3H_2O$ along [001].

B. Nitrites

Nitrites have been prepared by the reaction of Ba-(NO₂)₂ and rare-earth sulfates in aqueous solution with precipitation of BaSO₄. For M = La–Sm pentahydrates crystallize from the solution.^{785,786} Furthermore, rare-earth oxide nitrates MO(NO₂) are said to form in an eutectic melt of LiNO₂/KNO₂ or NaNO₂/ KNO₂.⁷⁸⁷ For Pr(NO₂)₃·5H₂O, IR and thermoanalytical investigations were performed. According to these



Figure 117. Crystal structure of the nitrites A_5M - $[B(NO_2)_6]_2$ (M = Ce, Y, B = Fe, Co, Ni, Cu; A = Tl, K, Rb, NH₄).



Figure 118. Crystal structures of the thiocyanides $Pr(SCN)_3 \cdot 7H_2O$ (b) and $M(SCN)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ (M = Ho, Er, Lu) (a) containing the neutral complexes $[Pr(H_2O)_6(SCN)_3]$ and $[M(H_2O)_5(SCN)_3]$, respectively.

data, part of the H_2O molecules are attached to the Pr^{3+} ions and the nitrate ions act as chelating ligands.⁷⁸⁵ Upon heating the compound, $PrO(NO_2)$ forns in the first step and decomposes to Pr_6O_{11} finally.⁷⁸⁵ Although the preparation of the nitrite-hydrates seems to be quite simple, a structure



Figure 119. Projection of the crystal structure of K_4 Nd- $(SCN)_7$ ·4H₂O on (001).



Figure 120. Crystal structure of Eu(SCN)₂; according to the different attachment of the anions, the compound should be formulated as Eu(NCS)(SCN).



Figure 121. Three-dimensional network ${}^{3}_{\infty}$ [Nd(N₃)_{3/1}-(N₃)_{6/2}]³⁻ in the crystal structure of Cs₃Nd(N₃)₆.

determination has never been carried out for any of them. Structural data are provided for the polynary nitrites $A_5M[B(NO_2)_6]_2$ with M = Ce, Y, B = Fe, Co, Ni, Cu, and A = Tl, K, Rb, NH₄.⁷⁸⁸ The cubic structure of these compounds consists of $[B(NO_2)_6]$ octahedra, and the M^{3+} as well as the A^+ ions are in icosahedral oxygen coordination (Figure 117). The nitrate Cs₂-NaLa(NO₂)₆ has been investigated by powder diffraction and conductivity measurements.⁷⁸⁹ It has in principle the cubic elpasolite structure if NO_2^- is regarded as a spherical ligand. Surprisingly, the compound turned out to be semiconducting.

C. Thiocyanates

While there are a large number of rare-earth thiocyanato complexes with organic ligands, report

Table 18.	Crystallographi	c Data of Compo	ounds with Bent an	d Linear Anions
-----------	-----------------	-----------------	--------------------	-----------------

			_ 0	iattice para	ameters			
compound	space group	a/Å	b/Å	c/Å	α/°	β/°	γ/°	re
	1 20	0.077(4)	chlorites	0.000(4)				~
$La(ClO_2)_3 \cdot 3H_2O$	P62c	8.077(1)		8.296(1)				78
NU(CIO ₂) ₃ ·3H ₂ O		8.037(1)		6.199(1)				78
$Z C_{2}[E_{2}(NO)]$	D9	10.000	nitrites					70
$K_5 Ce[Fe(INO_2)_6]_2$ $\Gamma_1 Ce[Fe(INO_2)_2]_2$	Pn3 Pn3	10.380						78
$K_{2}Ce[\Gamma e(INO_{2})_{6}]_{2}$	$P_{n\bar{3}}$	10.370						79
$Rb_5Ce[Co(NO_2)_6]_2$	$Pn\bar{3}$	10.640						78
$\Gamma l_5 Ce[Co(NO_2)_6]_2$	$Pn\bar{3}$	10.590						78
$K_5Ce[Ni(NO_2)_6]_2$	$Pn\bar{3}$	10.560						78
Rb ₅ Ce[Ni(NO ₂) ₆] ₂	$Pn\bar{3}$	10.740						78
$Cs_5Ce[Ni(NO_2)_6]_2$	Pn3	10.830						78
$[NH_4)_5 Ce[[N1([NO_2)_6]_2]$	Pn3 $Dn\overline{2}$	10.580						7
$C_{15}Ce[INI(INO_2)_{6}]_2$	$P_{n\bar{3}}$	10.550						79
$R_{5}Ce[Cu(NO_{2})_{6}]_{2}$	$Pn\bar{3}$	10.680						7
$Cs_5Ce[Cu(NO_2)_6]_2$	$Pn\bar{3}$	11.000						7
$[l_5Ce[Cu(NO_2)_6]_2$	$Pn\bar{3}$	10.790						7
$X_5Y[Co(NO_2)_6]_2$	$Pn\overline{3}$	10.340						7
$[l_5Y[Co(NO_2)_6]_2]$	Pn3	10.600						7
$K_5 Y[Ni(NO_2)_6]_2$	Pn3	10.360						7
$I_5 Y [CU(NO_2)_6]_2$	PN3	10.700	_					1
		~ 4 ~ 0 ~ (0)	thiocyanate	es		00.40(4)		~
$T(SUN)_3 \cdot / H_2 U$	PZ_1/C	7.1565(8)	15.200(2)	13.910(3)		92.43(1)		7
$I_0(SCN)_3 \cdot 6H_0O$	P_{λ_1}	8.470(1) 8.515(1)	7.190(1)	12.220(2) 12 291(3)		103.79(1)		7
$10(SCN)_{3} \cdot 6H_{2}O$	$P2_1$	8 466(1)	7 216(1)	12.201(3) 12.201(1)		103.72(2) 103.87(1)		7
4Nd(SCN)7•4H2O	B112/b	25.25(2)	20.62(2)	6.86(1)		100.07(1)	122.8(3)	7
K₄Eu(SCN)7·6H2O	B112/b	25.41(2)	20.32(2)	6.52(1)			122.0(3)	7
4Er(SCN)7·6H2O	12/a	20.260(8)	6.475(2)	22.401(9)		107.78(4)		7
$(^{n}Bu)_{4}N][Er(SCN)_{6}]$	A1	22.63(3)	16.73(2)	18.82(2)	87.97(2)	89.08(3)	92.47(3)	7
$BiLa(SCN)_6 \cdot 5H_2O$	$P6_3/m$	8.251(6)		18.745(2)				7
SiNd(SCN) ₆ ·5H ₂ O	$P6_3/m$	8.200(2)	6 600(1)	18.606(3)		01 59(2)		7
$Eu(SCIN)_2$	CZ/C	9.793(2)	6.609(1)	8.137(2)		91.58(3)		1
C- NLJ(NL)	\mathcal{O}	94 001(7)	azides	10 105(5)		110.00(0)		0
$S_2 INO(IN_3)_5$ $S_2 INO(IN_3)_5$	$\frac{CZ/C}{DI}$	24.601(7) 0.445(2)	12.568(3)	18.185(5)	08 58(2)	113.98(2) 110.12(2)	109 19(9)	ð Q
2 5 31 NU (1 N 3)6	F1	9.445(3)	9.040(2)	10.105(3)	90.30(2)	110.13(2)	102.12(2)	0
$\sim O(CN)$	TA / managem	4.0004(9)	cyanamide	S				0
$a_2 O_2(C N_2)$	$\frac{14}{mmm}$	4.0904(2) 2.014(1)		12.333(1)				ð Q
$J_2O_2(CIN_2)$		3.914(1) 3.8140(7)		8.332(2) 8.311(1)				8
$Sm_2O_2(CN_2)$	$P\bar{3}m$	3.8276(9)		8.267(2)				8
$Eu_2O_2(CN_2)$	$P\bar{3}m$	3.8049(6)		8.2515(9)				8
			cvanides					
Eu(Ag(CN) ₂) ₃ ·3H ₂ O	$P6_3/mmc$	6.688(1)	-5	18.479(7)				8
Sm(Au(CN) ₂) ₃ ·2.6H ₂ O	$P\overline{6}2m$	6.589(1)		9.236(1)				8
$Gd(Au(CN)_2)_3 \cdot 2.3H_2O$	P62m	6.6319(6)		9.108(2)				8
$\operatorname{Nd}_2(\operatorname{Pd}(\operatorname{CN})_4)_3 \cdot 12 \operatorname{H}_2O$	C2/c	11.516(5)	17.569(4)	17.371(5)		92.57(3)		8
$Lu_2(Pd(CN)_4)_3 \cdot 12H_2O$	C2/c	11.504(2)	17.556(2)	17.298(2)		92.83(1)		8
$aFe(CN)_6 \cdot 3H_2O$	$P0_3/III$ $P6_2/mmc$	7.334(1)		14.452(1)				ð
$aFe(CN)_{6}$, $4H_{2}O$	$P6_{2}/m$	7.541(3) 7 554(1)		13.933(9) 14 452(1)				8
$aC_0(CN)_6 \cdot 5H_2O$	$P6_3/m$	7.507(2)		14.343(4)				8
$ErFe(CN)_6$ ·4H ₂ O	Cmcm	7.435	12.868	13.729				8
SmCo(CN) ₆)·4H ₂ O	Cmcm	7.366(1)	12.780(2)	13.653(2)				8
SmFe(CN) ₆)•4H ₂ O	Cmcm	7.435(1)	12.866(3)	13.724(3)				8
$ErFe(CN)_{6} \cdot 4H_{2}O$	Cmcm	7.435(2)	12.868(3)	13.729(2)				8
$omFe(CN)_6 \cdot 4H_2O$	Cmcm De /m	7.436(2)	12.866(3)	13.724(3)				8
$a \cup \Gamma(\cup N)_6 \cdot 3 H_2 \cup$	F03/III	1.1003(4) 7 2919(6)	12 7576(2)	14.8100(9) 13 5626(0)				б о
dFe(CN) ₆ ·4H ₂ O		7 3964(3)	12,8379(5)	13.6726(4)				0 2
$PrCo(CN)_{6} \cdot 5H_{2}O$	$P6_3/m$	7.472(2)	12.0012(0)	14.223(3)				8
$Vd(Co(CN)_6) \cdot 4H_2O$	Cmcm	7.4251(8)	12.790(3)	13.723(2)				8
GdFe(CN) ₆ •4H ₂ O	C2	12.759(6)	7.404(1)	13.654(5)		90.22(3)		8
SmFe(CN) ₆ •4H ₂ O	$P2_{1}/m$	7.431(1)	13.724(3)	7.429(2)		119.95(1)		8
SmCo(CN) ₆ ·4H ₂ O	$P2_1/m$	7.365(1)	13.653(2)	7.385(2)		120.08(2)		8
SmFe(UN) ₆ ·4H ₂ O	Cmcm	7.433(3)	12.875(4)	13.730(5)				8
$\Gamma \Gamma P(UN)_6 \cdot 3H_2 U$	P03/III	1.323(2)		14.344(2)				ð



Figure 122. ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [OLa_{4/4}]⁺ layers (a) and ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ {[OM_{4/4}]₂}²⁺ double layers (b) in the crystal structures of La₂O₂(CN₂) and M₂O₂(CN₂) (M = Pr, Nd, Sm, Er), respectively.

of the structural knowledge of inorganic rare-earth compounds with SCN⁻ anions is very limited. The first report on a crystal structure containing an $[M(SCN)_6]^{3-}$ complex occurred in 1968 with the example of $[N(n-Bu)_4]_3[Er(NCS)_6]^{.790}$ The complex anion shows the Er^{3+} ion in an octahedral coordination of nitrogen atoms. Further, thiocyanides of that type have been prepared subsequently.⁷⁹¹

The metathesis reaction of Ba(SCN)₂ and rareearth sulfates in water leads to solutions from which thiocyanate hydrates with 6 or 11 molecules of water crystallize.792,793 The crystal structure of the heptahydrates M(SCN)₃·7H₂O, which are found with the larger lanthanides, has been determined for M = Prand contains neutral complexes [Pr(H₂O)₆(SCN)₃] which are held together by hydrogen bonds involving the free crystal water molecule⁷⁹³ (Figure 118b). For the smaller lanthanides the hexahydrate occurs. The structure was reported for $M(SCN)_3 \cdot 6H_2O$ (M = Ho, Er, Lu) (Table 18) and shows that again neutral complexes are formed, now with the M^{3+} ion in 8-fold coordination according to $[M(H_2O)_5(SCN)_3]$. In this structure one of the water molecules is also not in the inner Er³⁺ coordination sphere (Figure 118a). The thermal decomposition of the erbium compound shows that first the water is driven off and finally the sulfide forms.⁷⁹³ Between dehydration and decomposition no significant plateau is observed.

The ternary thiocyanates $K_4Nd(SCN)_7 \cdot 4H_2O^{794,795}$ and $K_4M(SCN)_7 \cdot 6H_2O$ (M = Eu, Er)⁷⁹³⁻⁷⁹⁵ are composed of the complex anions $[M(H_2O)_4(SCN)_4]^-$ and



Figure 123. Crystal structures of $Eu[Ag(CN)_2]_3 \cdot 3H_2O$ (a) and $M[Au(CN)_2]_3 \cdot 3H_2O$ (M = Sm, Gd) (b). Note, the $[Au(CN)_2]^-$ anion is bent while $[Ag(CN)_2]^-$ is linear.

free SCN⁻ ions. In the structure, disordered SCN⁻ ions and the complex anions are arranged in layers which are alternating stacked with further SCN⁻ groups and the K⁺ ions along [001] (Figure 119). Two bismuth-containing rare-earth thiocyanates are known. The isotypic compounds MBi(SCN)₆·5H₂O (M = La, Nd)⁷⁹⁶ show the Bi^{3+} ions in an octahedral environment of sulfur atoms while the M³⁺ ions are coordinated by six nitrogen atoms in the form of a trigonal prism. The prism is additionally capped by three H₂O molecules. The Bi and M polyhedra are alternating stacked in the [001] direction. Two molecules of free water are incorporated in the structure. The linkage of the polyhedra occurs in a way that each M^{3+} ion is surrounded by six $[Bi(SCN)_6]^{3-}$ groups which are themselves connected to six La³⁺ ions according to ${}^{3}_{\infty}$ {La(H₂O)₃[Bi(SCN)₆]_{6/6}}.

For the trivalent lanthanides no simple binary anhydrous thiocyanate is structurally known to date. On the other hand, the preparation of yellow single crystals of Eu(SCN)₂ was successful by reacting EuCl₂ with NaSCN in glass ampules at 320 °C.⁷⁹⁷ The structure is isotypic with the ones of Sr(SCN)₂, Ba-(SCN)₂, and Pb(SCN)₂ and contains the Eu²⁺ ions in square antiprismatic coordination of four nitrogen



Figure 124. Crystal structure of $M_2[Pd(CN)_4]_3$ ·12 H_2O (M = Eu, Nd) with square planar $[Pd(CN)_4]^{2-}$ groups.

and four sulfur ligands (Figure 120). Thus, the formula is better written as $Eu(NCS)_{4/4}(SCN)_{4/4}$, emphasizing the different attachment of the ligands and indicating that each ligand connects four Eu^{2+} ions with each other. The unusual coordination of Eu^{2+} makes the compound interesting for spectroscopic investigations, and indeed, a bright green luminescence is observed at low temperature. Upon heating, $Eu(SCN)_2$ decomposes at 400 °C by yielding EuS as the final product. Mass spectroscopy showed that mainly (CN)₂ is evolved during the reaction.⁷⁹⁷

D. Azides

The formation of azide complexes with rare-earth elements has been known for more than 30 years. In dimethyl sulfoxide as a solvent the species $M(N_3)_3$ and $M(N_3)_4^-$ were found,⁷⁹⁸ and from aqueous solution the basic compounds $M(N_3)(OH)_2 \cdot H_2O$ were precipitated.⁷⁹⁹ However, no single-crystal data have been provided to date for neither $M(N_3)_3$ nor $M(N_3)$ - $(OH)_2 \cdot H_2O$. On the other hand, the ternary compounds $Cs_2Nd(N_3)_5$, $Cs_3Nd(N_3)_6$, and $Cs_4Nd(N_3)_7$ have been prepared in single-crystalline form from a solution of Nd_2O_3 and CsN_3 in HN_3 .⁸⁰⁰ For the first two compounds the structure has been determined. In $Cs_2Nd(N_3)_5^{801}$ the Nd^{3+} ions are coordinated by eight N_3^- groups. Six of the latter are connected to another Nd^{3+} ion so one can formulate according to

 ${}^3_{\infty}$ [Nd(N₃)_{2/1}(N₃)_{6/2}]²⁻. In the three-dimensional network the four crystallographically different Cs⁺ ions are incorporated, being irregularly coordinated by 10 and 12 nitrogen atoms. A coordination number of nine is found for the Nd³⁺ ions in Cs₃Nd(N₃)₆.⁸⁰² Four of the bridging N₃⁻ ions connect the [Nd(N₃)₉] polyhedra to dimers which are further linked by N₃⁻ groups to a three-dimensional network ${}^3_{\infty}$ [Nd(N₃)_{3/1}-(N₃)_{6/2}]³⁻ (Figure 121). The Cs⁺ ions show coordination numbers between 9 and 13.

E. Cyanamides

No simple cyanamides $M_2(CN_2)_3$ of the rare-earth elements are known, but recently the crystal structures of the oxide cyanamides $M_2O_2(CN_2)$ (M = La, Pr, Nd, Sm, Er) have been reported.^{803,804} The lanthanum compound crystallizes tetragonally, while those of the others have a trigonal structure. Both structures of both modifications are similar in the sense that they contain oxygen-centered [OM₄] tetrahedra which are connected to infinite layers. In $La_2O_2(CN_2)$ the linkage occurs via four of the six edges of the tetrahedron, leading to tetragonal sheets ${}^{2}_{\infty}$ [OLa_{4/4}]⁺ (Figure 122a), while the connection via three cis-edges leads to trigonal double layers $\sum_{\infty}^{2} \{ [OLa_{4/4}]_2 \}^{2+}$ in the cyanamides of the smaller lanthanides (Figure 122b). The layers are stacked in both cases alternating with CN_2^{2-} ions in the [001] direction. In the trigonal compound the anions are aligned exactly along the *c*-axis and are attached with both of the nitrogen atoms to three M³⁺ ions. In the tetragonal lanthanum compound the CN²⁻ ions are oriented perpendicular to [001] and disordered over two possible positions in the crystal.

F. Cyanides

Cyanides of rare-earth elements were prepared for the first time in 1966 by metathesis reactions of the lanthanide tribromides with LiCN in THF.⁸⁰⁵ Subsequently, a method has been elaborated to prepare anhydrous rare-earth cyanides from liquid ammonia.⁸⁰⁶ However, no single crystals have been obtained so far. To date, structure determinations were carried out for the dicyanoargentate Eu[Ag(CN)₂]₃. 3H₂O,⁸⁰⁷ the dicyanoaurates M[Au(CN)₂]₃·3H₂O (M = Sm, Gd),^{808,809} the tetracyanopalladates M_2 [Pd- $(CN)_4]_3 \cdot 12H_2O$ (M = Eu, Nd),^{810,811} and the hexacyanometalates of Fe, Co, and Cr with various rare-earth elements (Table 18).^{812–828} The dicyanoargentates and aurates contain either the $Ag(CN)_2^-$ or the $Au(CN)_2^$ anion, respectively. Six of the anions and the three water molecules are attached to the M³⁺ ion, giving a tricapped trigonal prism as a coordination polyhedron. The structure of the argentate (Figure 123a) and the aurates (Figure 123b) are both hexagonal, but while the argentate anion is strictly linear, the aurate shows an angle C-Au-C of 121°. Presumably this effect may be attributed to d¹⁰-d¹⁰ interactions of the Au+ ions. In the tetracyanopalladates the M³⁺ ions are surrounded by three square planar $[Pd(CN)_4]^{2-}$ groups which are themselves attached to two M³⁺ ions, leading to a two-dimensional network according to ${}^{2}_{\infty}{M[Pd(CN)_{4}]_{3/2}}$. The H₂O molecules complete the coordination sphere of the M³⁺ ions to a tricapped trigonal prism (Figure 124). In the hexacyanometalates the transition metals are octahedrally coordinated by the carbon atoms of six CNions. Each nitrogen atom of the cyanide group is attached to a M^{3+} ion, which has two or three additional H_2O ligands, depending on the ionic radius.

VI. Acknowledgement

The author is deeply indebted to Professor G. Meyer for his permanent and generous support. The help of my co-workers I. Krügermann and S. Grupe and the technical assistance of I. Müller is also kindly acknowledged. Finally, I would thank the Fond der Chemischen Industrie, Frankfurt am Main, and the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft for financial support.

VII. References

- (1) Prandtl, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1938, 238, 321.
- (2) Bock, R. Angew. Chem. 1950, 62, 375.
- (3)Thompson, L. C. Handbook on the Physics and the Chemistry of Rare Earths; Eyring, L., Gschneider, H., Eds.; North-Holland: Amsterdam, 1979; Vol. 3, p 209.
- (4) Becker, P. Adv. Mater. 1998, 10, 979.
- (5) Becker, P. Z. Kristallogr. 2001, 216, 523.
- Leskelä, M.; Niinistö, L. Handbook on the Physics and the Chemistry of Rare Earths; Eyring, L., Gschneider, H., Eds.; Elsevier Science Publishers: New York, 1986; Vol. 16, p 203. (6)

- (7) Niinistö, L.; Leskelä, M. Handbook on the Physics and the *Chemisto, E., Icsach, M. Tatulook, On the The Solids under Chemistory of Rare Earths*; Eyring, L., Gschneider, H., Eds.; Elsevier Science Publishers: New York, 1987; Vol. 18, p 91.
- Gmelin Handbook of Inorganic Chemistry, Springer-Verlag: (8)(b) Ghrein, 1980–84; Vol. 3, pp D2, D3.
 (9) Felsche, J. *Struct. Bonding (Berlin)* **1973**, *13*, 99.
 (10) Marchand, R. L.; Haridon, P.; Laurent, Y. J. Solid State Chem.
- **1978**, *24*, 71.
- (11) Felsche, J. Naturwissenschaften 1971, 58, 218.
- (12) Smolin, Yu. I.; Tkachev, S. P. *Kristallografiya* 1969, 14, 22.
 (13) Smolin, Y. I. *Kristallografiya* 1969, 14, 985.
- Maksimov, B. A.; Kharitonov, Y. A.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1968, 183, 1072. (14)
- (15) Michel, C.; Buisson, G.; Bertaut, E. F. Compt. Rend. 1967, 264, 397
- Maksimov, B. A.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Kharitonov, Y. A.; Belov, N. V. Kristallografiya **1970**, *15*, 926. (16)
- (17) Kolitsch, U.; Ijevskii, V.; Seifert, H. J.; Wiedmann, I.; Aldinger, F. J. Mater. Sci. 1997, 32, 6135.
- (18) Müller-Bunz, H.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 613.
- (19)Grupe, M.; Urland, W. Z. Naturforsch. 1990, 45b, 465.
- (20) Brennan, T. D.; Ibers, J. A. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 1062. (21)
- Stöwe, K. Z. Naturforsch. 1994, 49b, 733.
- (22) Weber, F. A.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 2071. (23) Gravereau, P.; Es-Sakhi, B.; Fouassier, C. Acta Crystallogr. **1988**, *C44*, 1884.
- (24)Guo, G.-C.; Wang, Y.-G.; Zhuang, J.-N.; Chen, J.-T.; Huang; J.-S.; Zhang, Q.-E. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 2471. Sieke, C.; Hartenbach, I.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem.
- (25)2000, 626, 2235.
- (26) Sieke, C.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 377. (27)
- Chi, L.-S.; Zhou, L.-F.; Chen, H.-Y.; Zhang, H.-H.; Huang, J.-S. Jiegon Huaxue 1997, 16, 219.
- (28) Hartenbach, I.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 2493.

- (29) Ayasse, C.; Eick, H. A. *Inorg. Chem.* **1973**, *12*, 1140.
 (30) Hartenbach, I.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., in press.
 (31) Mao, J.-G.; Zhuang, H.-H.; Huang, J.-S. *Jiegon Huaxue* **1996**, 15 280
- (32) Sieke, C.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 761.
 (33) Gravereau, P.; Es–Sakhi, B.; Fouassier, C. Acta Crystallogr.
- 1989, C45, 1677.
- (34) Jacobsen, H.; Meyer, G.; Schipper, W.; Blasse, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1994, 620, 451.
- (35) Beck, H. P.; Schuster, M.; Grell, J. J. Solid State Chem. 1993, 103. 433.
- (36) Müller-Bunz, H.; Schleid, Th. Z. Kristallogr. 2002, Suppl. 19. (37) Kuz'min, E. A.; Belov, A. N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1965, 165.88.
- (38) Belokoneva, E. L.; Petrova, T. L.; Simonov, M. A.; Belov, N. V. Kristallografiya 1972, 17, 490.
- Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1969, 5, (39) 1823
- (40)Gaude, J. L.; Haridon, P.; Hamon, C.; Marchand, R.; Laurent, Y. Bull. Soc. Fr. Mineral. Cristallogr. 1975, 98, 214.
- (41) Schroeder, L. W.; Mathew, M. J. Solid State Chem. 1978, 26, 383
- (42) Sieke, C.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1997, 623, 1345.
 (43) Sieke, C.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 131.
- (44) Pushcharovskii, D. Y. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSR 1978, 242, 835.
- (45) Pushcharovskii, D. Y.; Dorokhova, G. I.; Pobedimskaya, E. A.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSR 1978, 242, 835
- (46) Fahey, J. A.; Weber, W. J.; Rotella, F. J. J. Solid State Chem. 1985, 60, 145.
- (47) Chi, L.-S.; Deng, S.-Q.; Zhang, H.-H.; Huang, J.-S. Jiegon Huaxue **1996**, 15, 113.
- (48) Ansell, G. B.; Wanklyn, B. M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1976, 1976, 706.
- (49)Kluever, E.; Mueller-Buschbaum, Hk. Z. Naturforsch. 1995, B 50. 61.
- (50)Sidorov, P. M.; Belokoneva, E. L.; Fwedokov, N. F.; Tunik, T. A.; Simonov, H. A.; Belov, N. V. Zh. Struk. Khim. 1977, 18, 397.
- (51) Kalsbeek, N.; Larsen, S.; Ronsbo, J. G. Z. Kristallogr. 1990, 191, 249.
- (52) Sato, M.; Kono, Y.; Ueda, H.; Uematsu, K.; Toda, K. Solid State Ionics 1996, 83, 249.
- Malinovsky, Yu. A.; Genkina, E. A.; Dimitrova, O. V. Kristal-(53) lografiya 1990, 35, 328
- Gunawardane, R. P.; Howie, R. A.; Glasser, F. P. Acta Crystal-(54)logr. 1982, B38, 1564.
- Wickleder, C.; Lauxmann, P.; Hartenbach, I.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2002, in press. (55)
- (56) Kono, Y.; Uematsu, K.; Sato, M. Kidoruip 1994, 24, 148.
- (57) Chichagov, A. V.; Belov, N. V. *Geokhimiya* **1968**, *1968*, 1456.
 (58) Chichagov, A. V.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Belov, N. V. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk* SSSR 1967, 177, 574.
- (59) Avetisyan, E. I.; Chichagov, A. V.; Belov, N. V. Kristallografiya **1970**, *15*, 1066.

- (60) Merinov, B. V.; Maksimov, B. A.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1979, 248, 1108.
 (61) Maksimov, B. A.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Belov, N. V. Kristallografiya
- 1966, 11, 681.
- Nikolsky, Y. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1976, 230, 331. (62)
- (63) Steele, I. M.; Pluth, J. J.; Ito, J. Z. Kristallogr. 1978, 147, 119.
 (64) Balko, V. P.; Bakakin, V. V. Zh. Struk. Khim. 1975, 16, 837.
 (65) Merinov, B. V.; Maksimov, B. A.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Belov, N. V.
- Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1980, 255, 348.
- (66) Haferkorn, B.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 1079.
 (67) Chi, L.-S.; Chen, H.-Y.; Deng, S.-Q.; Zhuang, H.-H.; Huang, J.-S. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 2385.
 (68) Chi, L.-S.; Chen, H.-Y.; Lin, X.; Zhuang, H.-H.; Huang, J.-S.
- Jiegon Huaxue 1998, 17, 297
- (69) Müller-Bunz, H.; Grossholz, H.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 1436.
- (70) Serhan, K.; Taibi, M.; Aride, J.; Boukhari, A.; Darriet, J.; Le Flem, G. J. Solid State Chem. 1994, 110, 384.
- (71) Zenser, L.-P.; Weil, M.; Gruehn, R. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 423.
- (72) Benbertal, D.; Mosset, A.; Trombe, J. C. Mater. Res. Bull. 1994, C 29. 47.
- (73) Betteridge, P. W.; Cheetham, A. K.; Howard, J. A. K.; Jakubicki, G.; McCarroll, W. H. *Inorg. Chem.* **1984**, *23*, 737.
 (74) Mill, B. V.; Batushin, A. V.; Hodzhabagjan, Belokoneva, E. L.; Belov, N. V. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* **1982**, *264*, 1385.
- Kaminskii, A. A. Phys. Status Solidi A 1983, 387
- (76) Kaminskii, A. A. Phys. Status Solidi A 1983, 607.
- (77) Bohm, J.; Heimann, R. B. J. Cryst. Growth 1999, 204, 128.
- (78) Bohm, J.; Heimann, R. B. J. Cryst. Growth 2000, 216, 293.
- Stade, J.; Wirth, V.; Bohatý, L.; Heimann, R. B.; Bohm, J.; (79)Hengst, M. Z. Kristallogr. 2001, Suppl. 18, 77. (80) Dago, A. M.; Pushcharovskii, D. Yu.; Strelkova, E. E.; Pobed-
- imskaya, E. A.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1980, 252, 1117.
- (81) Greis, O.; Bossemeyer, H. G.; Greil, P.; Breidenstein, B.; Haase, A. Mater. Sci. Forum **1991**, *79*, 803.
- (82) Christensen, A. N. Z. Kristallogr. 1994, 209, 7.
 (83) Müller-Bunz, H.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2002, 628, in press
- (84) Müller-Bunz, H.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 2549.
- (85) Tas, A. C.; Akinc, M. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 1994, 77, 2968.
- Christensen, A. N.; Hazell, R. G. Acta Chem. Scand. 1994, 48, (86) 1012
- (87) Felsche, J. Naturwissenschaften 1970, 57, 669.
- (88) Felsche, J. Naturwissenschaften 1970, 57, 452.
- (89) Felsche, J. Z. Kristallogr. 1971, 133, 364.
- Chi, L.-S.; Chen, H.-Y.; Deng, S.-Q.; Zhuang, H.-H.; Huang, J.-S. *Jiegon Huaxue* **1997**, *16*, 177. (90)
- (91) Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F. Zh. Struk. Khim. 1971, 12, 462.
- (92) Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F. Acta Crystallogr. 1970, B26, 484.
- (93) Christensen, A. N.; Frost-Jensen, A.; Kruse-Themsen, B.; Gronbaek-Hazell, R.; Hanfland, M.; Dooryhee, E. Acta Chem. Scand.
- **1997**, *51*, 1178. Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F.; Butikova, I. K. *Kristallografiya* (94) 1970, 15, 256.
- Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1967, 3, (95) 1034.
- (96) Felsche, J. Naturwissenschaften 1972, 59, 35.
- (97) Christensen, A. N. Z. Kristallogr. 1994, 209, 7.
- Chi, L.-S.; Chen, H.-Y.; Zhuang, H.-H.; Huang, J.-S. Jiegon (98)Huaxue 1998, 17, 24.
- Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1968, 4, (99)1133.
- (100) Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F.; Butikova, I. K. Zh. Struk. Khim. **1971**, *12*, 272.
- (101) Yakubovich, O. V.; Simonov, M. A.; Voloshin, A. V.; Pakho-movskii, Y. A. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSR 1986, 291, 863.
- (102) Dias, H. W.; Glasser, F. P.; Gunwardane, R. P.; Howie, R. A. Z. Kristallogr. 1990, 191, 117.
- (103) Batalieva, N. G.; Pyatenko, Y. A. Kristallografiya 1971, 16, 905.
- (104) Batalieva, N. G.; Pyatenko, Y. A. *Zh. Struk. Khim* 1968, *9*, 921.
 (105) Monteverde, F.; Celotti, G. *J. Eur. Ceram. Soc.* 1999, *19*, 2021. (106) Reid, A. F.; Li, C.; Ringwood, A. E. J. Solid State Chem. 1977,
- 20, 219.
- (107) Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F.; Titov, A. P. Kristallografiya 1972, *17*, 857.
- (108) Cruickshank, D. W. J.; Lynton, H.; Barclay, G. A. Acta Crystallogr. 1962, 15, 491.
- (109) Zachariasen, W. H. Z. Kristallogr. 1930, 1.
- (110) Foord, E. E.; Birmingham, S. D.; Demartin, F.; Pilati, T.; Gramaccioli, C. M.; Lichte, F. *Can. Mineral.* **1993**, *31*, 337.
- (111) Bianchi, R.; Pilati, T.; Diella, V.; Gamaccioli, C. M.; Mannucci, G. Am. Mineral. 1988, 73, 601.
- Bianchi, R.; Pilati, T.; Diella, V.; Gramaccioli, C. M.; Mannucci, (112)G. J. Solid State Chem. 1988, 73, 601.
- (113) Felsche, J. J. Less-Common Met. 1970, 21, 1.

(114) Bocquillon, G.; Chateau, C.; Loriers, J. Rare Earths Mod. Sci. Technol. **1980**, *2*, 209.

Wickleder

- (115) Tamazyan, R. A.; Malinovskii, Yu. A. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1985, *Ž85*, 124.
- Maksimov, B. A.; Melnikov, O. K.; Zhdanova, T. A.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR **1980**, 251, 98. (116)
- (117) Siegrist, T.; Petter, W.; Hulliger, F. Acta Crystallogr. 1982, B38, 2872
- (118) Deudon, C.; Meerschaut, A.; Rouxel, J. J. Solid State Chem. 1993, 104, 282.
 (119) Zeng, H. Y.; Mao, J. G.; Huang, J. S. J. Alloys Compd. 1999, Comput. Nature 10, 100 (2010).
- 291, 89.
- (120) Grupe, M.; Urland, W. Naturwissenschaften 1989, 76, 327. (121) Grupe, M.; Lissner, F.; Schleid, T.; Urland, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1992, 616, 53.

- (122) Sieke, C.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 196.
 (123) Sieke, C.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 131.
 (124) Range, K.-J.; Andratschke, M.; Gietl, A. Z. Kristallogr. 1996, 211, 816.
- (125) Chen, J.-T.; Guo, G.-C.; Huang, J.-S.; Zhang, Q.-E. Acta Crys-(126) Sieke, C.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 196.
 (127) Müller-Bunz, H.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627,
- 218.
- (128) Tamazyan, R. A.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Sirota, M. I.; Simonov, V.
- (129) Hwang, M. S.; Hong, H. Y.-P.; Cheng, M. C.; Wang, Y. Acta Crystallogr. 1987, C43, 1241.
 (130) Sebais, M.; Pobedimskaya, E. A.; Dimitrova, O. V. Kristal-
- lografiya 1985, 30, 802.
- (131) Merinov, B. V.; Maksimov, B. A.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1981, 260, 1128.
- (132) Skshat, S. M.; Simonov, V. I.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk *SSSR* **1969**, *184*, 337. (133) Maksimov, B. A.; Zhdanova, T. A.; Voronkov, A. A.; Mironova,
- G. C.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1979, 247, 103.
- (134) Zhdanova, T. A.; Maksimov, B. A.; Voronkov, A. A.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Belov, N. V. Kristallografiya 1980, 25, 708.
- (135) Chen, J. T.; Guo, G. C.; Zhuang, H. H.; Huang, J. S.; Zhang, Q. N. J. Solid State Chem. **1995**, 116, 211. (136) Chen, J.-T.; Guo, G.-C.; Zhang, H.-H.; Huang, J.-S.; Zhang, Q.-
- (136) Chen, J.-1.; Guo, G.-C.; Zhang, H.-H.; Huang, J.-S.; Zhang, Q.-E. *Jiegon Huaxue* 1995, *14*, 314.
 (137) Chen, J.-T.; Guo, G.-C.; Zhuang, H.-H.; Huang, J.-S.; Zhang, Q.-E. *Acta Crystallogr.* 1996, *C52*, 2125.
 (138) Gueho, C.; Giaquinta, D.; Mansot, J. L.; Ebel, T.; Palvadeau, P. *Chem. Mater.* 1995, *7*, 486.
 (139) Wang, S.-M.; Hwu, S.-J.; Paradis, J. A.; Whangbo, M.-H. *J. Am. Chem.* 502, 1025, 112, 525.

- *Chem. Soc.* **1995**, *117*, 5515. Wang, S.; Hwu, S.-J. *Inorg. Chem.* **1995**, *34*, 166.
- (140)
- (141) Wang, S.; Hwu, S. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 6920.
 (142) Schleid, Th.; Müller-Bunz, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 1082
- Yakubovich, O. V.; Voloshin, A. V.; Pakhomovskii, Ya. A.; (143)Simonov, M. A. Kristallografiya **1988**, *33*, 605. Müller-Bunz, H.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. **2000**, *626*,
- (144)845.
- Kornev, A. N.; Batalieva, N. G.; Maksimov, B. A.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Belov, N. V. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* **1972**, *202*, 1324. (145)
- (146) Müller-Bunz, H.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 1377.
- (147) Morgan, P. E. D.; Carroll, P. J. J. Mater. Sci. 1977, 12, 2343.
- Morgan, P. E. D.; Carroll, P. J.; Lange, F. F. Mater. Res. Bull. 1977, 12, 251. (148)
- Mishra, K. C.; DeBoer, B. G.; Schmidt, P. C.; Osterloh, I.; (149)Stephan, M.; Eyert, V.; Johnson, K. H. Ber. Bunsen-Ges. 1998, *102*, 1772
- (150) Sieke, C.; Hartenbach, I.; Schleid, Th. Z. Kristallogr. 1999, Suppl. 16, 62
- (151) Hartenbach, I.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 2493.
- (152) Jacobsen, H.; Meyer, G.; Schipper, W.; Blasse, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1994, 620, 451.
- Jacobsen, H.; Meyer, G. Z. Kristallogr. 1995, 210, 363. (153)
- (154) Maksimov, B. A.; Merinov, B. V.; Borovkov, V. S.; Ivanov-Shits, A. K.; Kharitonov, Y. A. Kristallografiya 1979, 24, 265
- (155) Merinov, B. V.; Maksimov, B. A.; Kharitonov, Y. A.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1978, 240, 81.
- (156) Ponomarev, V. I.; Filipenko, O. S.; Chekhlov, A. N.; Atovmyan, L. O. Khim. Fiz. **1983**, 9, 1603.
- (157) Atovmyan, L. O.; Filipenko, O. S.; Ponomarev, V. I.; Bakaev, V. A.; Leonova, L. S.; Ukshe, E. A. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1981, 262, 638.
- (158) Filipenko, O. S.; Atovmyan, I. O.; Ponomarev, V. I.; Alimova, L. D.; Leonova, L. S.; Bakaev, V. A., Ukshe, E. A. Kristallografiya 1988, 33, 82,
- (159) Maksimov, B. A.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1981, 261, 623 (160) Beyeler, H. U.; Hibma, T. Solid State Commun. 1978, 27, 641.

- (161) Merinov, B. V.; Maksimov, B. A.; Sirota, M. I. Kristallografiya **1986**. 31. 244.
- (162) Merinov, B. V.; Maksimov, B. A.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk (102) Instance (102) SSSR 1980, 255, 577.
 (163) Ponomarev, V. I.; Filipenko, O. S.; Atovmyan, L. O. Dokl. Akad.
- lografiya 1988, 33, 98.
- (165) Filipenko, O. S.; Dimitrova, O. V.; Atovmyan, L. O.; Ponomarev, V. I. Kristallografiya 1988, 33, 1122.
- (166) Liebau, F. Structural Chemistry of Silicates; Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1985. (167) Maksimov, B. A.; Kalinin, V. P.; Merinov, B. V.; Ilyukhin, V. V.;
- Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1980, 252, 875.
- (168) Samygina, V. R.; Genkina, E. A.; Maksimov, B. A.; Leonyuk, N. I. Kristallografiya 1993, 38, 61.
- (169) Ono, Y.; Takayama, K.; Kajitani, T. J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 1996, 65, 3224
- (170) Belokoneva, E. L.; Shuvaeva, V. A.; Antipin, M. Yu.; Leonyuk, N. I. Zh. Neorg. Khim. **1996**, 41, 1097. (171) Voronkov, A. A.; Pyatenko, Y. A. Kristallografiya **1967**, 12, 258.
- (172) Callegari, A.; Giuseppetti, G.; Mazzi, F.; Tadini, C. Neues Jahrb.
- Mineral. 1992, 49. (173) Chi, L.; Chen, H.; Zhuang, H.; Huang, J. J. Alloys Compd. 1997,
- *252*, 12.
- (174) Shi, Y.; Liang, J. K.; Zhang, H.; Yang, J. L.; Zhuang, W. D.; Rao, G. H. J. Alloys Compd. **1997**, 259, 163.
- (175) Ono, Y.; Takayama, K.; Kajitani, T. J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 1996, 65, 3224.
- (176)Belokoneva, E. L.; Shuvaeva, V. A.; Antipin, M. Yu.; Leonyuk,
- N. I. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1996, 41, 1097.
 (177) Pushcharovskii, D. Y.; Karpov, O. G.; Pobedimskaya, E. A.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1977, 234, 1323.
- (178) Haile, S. M.; Siegrist, T.; Laudise, R. A.; Wuensch, B. J. Mater. *Res. Soc. Symp. Proc.* **1991**, *210*, 645. (179) Haile, S. M.; Maier, J.; Wuensch, B. J.; Laudise, R. A. Acta
- Crystallogr. 1995, B51, 673.
- (180) Gunawardane, R. P.; Howie, R. A.; Glasser, F. P. Acta Crystallogr. 1982, B38, 1405.
- (181) Karpov, O. G.; Pobedimskaya, E. A.; Belov, N. V. *Kristallografiya* 1977, *22*, 382.
- (182) Lauterbach, R.; Schnick, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 429
- (183) Rae, A. W. J. M.; Thompson, D. P.; Pipkin, N. J.; Jack, K. H. Spec. Ceram. **1975**, 6, 347.
- (184) MacKenzie, K. J. D.; Gainsford, G. J.; Ryan, M. J. J. Eur. Ceram. Soc. 1996, 16, 553.
- Wang, P.-L.; Werner, P.-E.; Gao, L.; Harris, R. K.; Thompson, D. P. *J. Mater. Sci.* **1997**, *7*, 2127. (185)
- (186) Mueller, C.; Mueller-Buschbaum, Hk. J. Alloys Compd. 1993, *199*, 151.
- (187) Bartram, S. F. Acta Crystallogr. 1969, B25, 791.
- (188) Karpov, O. G.; Pushcharovskii, D. Y.; Pobedimskaya, E. A.; Belov, N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1976, 228, 88.
- (189) Karpov, O. G.; Pobedimskaya, E. A.; Belov, N. V. Kristallografiya **1977**, *22*, 382.
- (190) Woike, M.; Jeitschko, W. J. Solid State Chem. 1997, 129, 312.
- (191) Koellisch, K.; Schnick, W. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, *38.* 357
- (192) Kimata, M. Mineral. Mag. 1988, 52, 257.
 (193) Bennett, J. M.; Smith, J. V. Mater. Res. Bull. 1968, 3, 865.
 (194) Bennett, J. M.; Smith, J. V. Angell, C. L. Mater. Res. Bull. 1969,
- C4, 77.
- (195)Bennett, J. M.; Smith, J. V. Mater. Res. Bull. 1969, C4, 7
- (196) Park, H. D.; Kreider, E. R. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 1984, 67, 23.
 (197) Palkina, K. K. Inorg. Mater. 1982, 18, 1199.
- (198) Mullica, D. F.; Milligan, W. O.; Grossie, D. A.; Beall, G. W.; Boatner, L. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1984, 95, 231.
- (199) Mullica, D. F.; Grossie, D. A.; Boatner, L. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1985, 109, 105.
- (200) Mullica, D. F.; Grossie, D. A.; Boatner, L. A. J. Solid State Chem. 1985, 57, 71
- (201) Kurbanov, Kh. M.; Efremov, V. A.; Orlovskii, V. P. Kristal-lografiya 1986, 31, 800.
 (202) Ghouse, K. M. Ind. J. Pure Appl. Phys. 1968, 6, 265.
- (203) Kokkoros, M. P. Prak. Akad. Athenon 1942, 17, 163.
 (204) Ueda, T. Mem. Coll. Sci., Univ. Kyoto, Ser. B. 1953, 20, 227.
- (205) Ni, Y.-X.; Hughes, J. M.; Mariano, A. N. Am. Mineral. 1995, 80,
- 21
- (206) Beall, G. W.; Boatner, L. A.; Mullica, D. F.; Milligan, W. O. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1981, 43, 101. (207)
- Young, R. A.; Mackie, P. E.; v. Dreele, R. B. J. Appl. Crystallogr. 1977, 10, 262.
- (208) Mullica, D. F.; Sappenfield, E. L.; Wilson, G. A. Lanthanide Actinide Res. 1989, 3, 51.
- (209) Ueda, T. J. Jpn. Assoc. Mineral. Petrol. Geol. 1967, 58, 170.
 (210) Mooney, R. C. L. J. Chem. Phys. 1948, 16, 1003.
- (211) Jaulmes, S. Bull. Soc. Fr. Mineral. Cristallogr. 1972, 95, 42.

- (212) Lohmueller, G.; Schmidt, G.; Deppisch, B.; Gramlich, V.; Scheringer, C. Acta Crystallogr. **1973**, B29, 141. (213) Patscheke, E.; Fuess, H.; Will, G. Chem. Phys. Lett. **1968**, *2*, 47.
- (214) Schaefer, W. Ber. Kernforschungsanlage Juelich 1972, 830, 70.
 (215) Milligan, W. O.; Mullica, D. F.; Beall, G. W.; Boatner, L. A. Inorg.
- Chim. Acta 1983, 70, 133
- (216) Milligan, W. O.; Mullica, D. F. Acta Crystallogr. 1983, C39, 23. (217)Milligan, W. O.; Mullica, D. F.; Beall, G. W.; Boatner, L. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1982, 60, 39.
- Scharenberg, W.; Will, G. Int. J. Magn. 1971, 1, 277. (218)
- (219) Ni, Y.-X.; Hughes, J. M.; Mariano, A. N. Am. Mineral. 1995, 80,
- (220) Coing-Boyat, J.; Sayetat, F.; Apostolov, A. J. Phys. 1975, 36, 1165.
- (221)Mooney, R. C. L. Acta Crystallogr. 1956, 9, 677
- (222) Strada, M.; Schwendimann, G. *Gazz. Chim. Ital.* **1934**, *64*, 662.
 (223) Krstanovic, I. Z. *Kristallogr.* **1965**, *121*, 315.
 (224) Ni, Y.-X.; Hughes, J. M.; Mariano, A. N. *Am. Mineral.* **1995**, *80*, 21
- (225) Rasmussen, S. E.; Jorgensen, J.-E.; Lundtoft, B. Powder Diffr. **1993**, *8*, 164.
- (226) Bernhard, F.; Walter, F.; Ettinger, K.; Taucher, J.; Mereiter, K. Am. Mineral. **1998**, 83, 625.
- Mullica, D. F.; Sappenfield, E. L.; Boatner, L. A. J. Solid State (227)Chem. 1992, 99, 313.
- (228) Mullica, D. F.; Sappenfield, E. L.; Boatner, L. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1990, 174, 155
- (229)Mullica, D. F.; Grossie, D. A.; Boatner, L. A. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1986, 118, 173.
- (230) Mooney, R. C. L. Acta Crystallogr. 1950, 3, 337.
 (231) Mooney, R. C. L. J. Chem. Phys. 1948, 16, 1003.
- (232) Hikichi, Y.; Hukuo, K.; Shikowa, J. Bull. Soc. Chem. Jpn. 1978, 51, 3645.
- (233)Strunz, H. Naturwissenschaten 1942, 30, 14.
- (234) McCarthy, G. J.; White, W. B.; Pfoertsch, D. E. Mater. Res. Bull. 1978, 13, 1239.
- (235) Boatner, L. A.; Beall, G. W.; Abraham, M. M.; Finch, C. B.; Huray, P. G.; Rappaz, M. Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management; Northrup, C. J., Ed.; Plenum: New York, 1980; Vol. 2, p 289
- (236) Petek, M.; Abraham, M. M.; Boatner, L. A. Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management; Topp, S. V., Ed.; Elsevier-North-Holland: The Netherlands, 1982; Vol. 4, p 181.
- (237)Salmon, R.; Parent, C.; Vlasse, M.; le Flem, G. Mater. Res. Bull. 1978, 13, 439.
- (238) Zah-Letho, J.; Houenou, P.; Eholie, R. Compt. Rend. 1988, 307, 1177.
- (239) Efremov, V. A.; Melnikov, P. P.; Komissarova, L. N. Koord. Khim. 1981, 7, 467.
- Karpov, O. G.; Pushcharovskii, D. Y.; Khomyakov, A. P.; Pobe-(240) dimskaya, E. A.; Belov, N. V. *Kristallografiya* **1980**, *25*, 1135. Hong, Y. P.; Chinn, S. R. *Mater. Res. Bull.* **1976**, *11*, 421.
- (241)
- (242) Toumi, M.; Smiri-Dogguy, L.; Bulou, A. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. **1999**, *1999*, 1545.
- Efremov, V. A.; Melnikov, P. P.; Komissarova, L. N. Rev. Chim. Mineral. 1985, 22, 666. (243)
- Okada, K.; Ossaka, J. Acta Crystalogr. 1980, B36, 919 (244)
- (245) Finke, B.; Schwarz, L. Radiat. Effects Defects Solids 1995, 135, 407.
- (246)Schwarz, L.; Finke, B.; Kloss, M.; Rohmann, A.; Sasum, U.; Haberland, D. J. Lumin. 1997, 72-74, 257.
- Schwarz, L.; Kloss, M.; Rohmann, A.; Sasum, U.; Haberland, (247)D. J. Alloys Compd. 1998, 275, 93.
- Salmon, R.; Parent, C.; Vlasse, M.; le Flem, G. Mater. Res. Bull. (248)**1979**, *14*, 85.
- (249)Efremov, V. A.; Kalinin, V. B. Kristallografiya 1978, 23, 703.
- (250) Hong, H. Y. P. Fast Ion Transp. Solids: Electrodes Electrolytes 1979, 431.
- (251) Efremov, V. A.; Kalinin, V. B. *Kristallografiya* 1978, *23*, 703.
 (252) Lazoryak, B. I.; Kalinin, V. B.; Stefanovich, S. Yu.; Efremov, V. A. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* 1980, *250*, 861.
- (253) Maksimov, B. A.; Muradyan, L. A.; Genkina, E. A.; Verin, I. A. Kristallografiya 1986, 31, 592.
- (254)Sotofte, I.; Fu, D. C. Solid State Ionics 1988, 26, 307.
- Kondratyuk, I. P.; Sirota, M. I.; Maksimov, B. A.; Muradyan, L. (255) A.; Simonov, V. I. Kristallografiya 1986, 31, 488
- (256) Atovmyan, L. O.; Tkachev, V. V. Russ. J. Coord. Chem. 1995, *21*, 562.
- (257) Susman, S.; Delbecq, C. J.; Brun, T. O.; Prince, E. Solid State Ionics 1983, 9, 839
- (258)Efremov, V. A.; Melnikov, P. P.; Komissarova, L. N. Rev. Chim. Miner. 1985, 22, 666.
- Collin, G.; Comes, R.; Boilot, J. P.; Colomban, P. J. Phys. Chem. (259)Solids 1986, 47, 843.
- (260) Susman, S.; Delbecq, C. J.; Brun, T. O.; Prince, E. Solid State Ionics 1983, 9, 839. (261) Collin, G.; Comes, R.; Boilot, J. P.; Colomban, P. J. Phys. Chem.

Solids 1986, 47, 843.

- (262) Suzuki, T.; Yoshida, K.; Uematsu, K.; Kodama, T.; Toda, K.; Zuo-Guang, Ye.; Ohashi, M.; Sato, M. Solid State Ionics 1998, 13, 89.
- (263) Maksimov, B. A.; Muradyan, L. A.; Vydanov, N. N.; Sarin, V. A.; Bykov, A. B.; Timofeeva, V. A., Simonov, V. I. Kristallografiya **1991**, *36*, 1431. (264) Tkachev, V. V.; Ponomarev, V. I.; Atovmyan, L. O. *Zh. Struk.*
- Khim. 1984, 25, 128.
- (265) Sato, M.; Suzuki, T.; Yoshida, K.; Uematsu, K.; Toda, K.; Ye, Z.-G. J. Alloys. Compd. 1997, 250, 510.
 (266) Wulff, H.; Guth, U.; Loescher, B. Powder Diffr. 1992, 7, 103.
- (267) Demyanets, L. N.; Ivanov-Shits, A. K.; Melnikov, O. K.; Chirkin, A. P. *Fiz. Tverd. Tela* **1985**, *27*, 1913.
- Vashman, A. A.; Pronin, I. S. Solid State Ionics 1992, 58, 201. (268)(269) Barbier, J.; Greedan, J. E.; Asaro, T.; McCarthy, G. J. Eur. J.
- Solid State Inorg. Chem. 1990, 27, 855
- (270) Barbier, J. J. Solid State Chem. 1992, 101, 249.
- (271) Engel, G.; Kirchberger, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1975, 417, 81.
 (272) Mayer, I. JCPDS 27–217.
- (273) Mayer, I. Isr. J. Chem. 1969, 7, 717.
 (274) Wu, G.; Tang, Z.; Yu, Y.; Lin, P.; Jansen, M.; Koenigstein, K. Z.
- Anorg. Allg. Chem. **1992**, 610, 135. (275) Palkina, K. K.; Kuzmina, N. E.; Dzurinskii, B. F.; Tselebrovskaya, E. G. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1995, 341, 644
- (276) Serra, J. J.; Coutures, J.; Rouanet, A. High Temp.-High Press. 1976, 8, 337.
- Rouanet, A.; Serra, J. J.; Allaf, K.; Orlovskii, K. *Inorg. Mater.* **1981**, *17*, 72. (277)
- (278)Dzhurinskii, B. F.; Tananaev, I. V.; Tselebrovskaya, E. G.; Prozorovskii, A. I. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1991, 27, 334.
- (279) Ben-Amara, M.; Dabbabi, B. Acta Crystallogr. 1987, C43, 616. (280) Sieke, C.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 761.
- (281) Akrim, A.; Zambon, D.; Metin, J.; Cousseins, J.-C. Compt. Rend. **1994**, *318*, 1319.
- (282) Hamady, A.; Jouini, T. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 2949
- (283) Akrim, A.; Zambon, D.; Metin, J.; Cousseins, J. C. Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem. 1993, 30, 483.
- (284) Hamady, A.; Faouzi-Zid, M.; Jouini, T. J. Solid State Chem. 1994, 113, 120.
- (285) Jansen, M.; Wu, G. Q.; Koenigstein, K. Z. Kristallogr. 1991, 197, 245.
- (286) Hamady, A.; Jouini, T. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem 1996, 622, 1987.
 (287) Bagieu-Beucher, M.; Tordjman, I.; Durif, A. Rev. Chim. Miner.
- 1971, *8*, 753. Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F.; Domanskii, A. I.; Belov, N. V. (288)Kristallografiya 1978, 23, 187.
- (289) Bagieu-Beucher, M.; Guitel, J. C. Acta Crystallogr. 1978, 34, 1439.
- (290) Palkina, K. K.; Maksimova, S. I.; Chibiskova, N. T. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1981, 257, 357.
- (291) Koizumi, H.; Nakano, J. Acta Crystallogr. 1977, B33, 2680.
 (292) Dorokhova, G. I.; Filipenko, O. S.; Atovmyan, L. O.; Litvin, B. N. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1988, 33, 2751.
- (293) Litvin, B. N.; Dorokhova, G. I.; Filipenko, O. S. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1981, 259, 1102.
- (294) Palkina, K. K.; Kuznetsov, V. G.; Chudinova, N. N.; Chibiskova, N. T. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1976, 12, 730.
- (295) Palkina, K. K.; Maksimova, S. I.; Chibiskova, N. T. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR* **1981**, *17*, 1248.
- (296) Zhou, Q.-L.; Hu, N.-H.; Hong, G.-Y.; Yue, S.-Y. Yingyong Huaxue 1987, 4, 46.
- (297) Hamady, A.; Jouini, T.; Driss, A. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 1970.
- (298) Palkina, K. K.; Kuznetsov, U. G.; Chudinova, N. N.; Chibiskova, N. T. Inorg. Mater. 1976, 12, 730.
- (299) Palkina, K. K.; Chudinova, N. N.; Litvin, B. N.; Vinogradova, N. V. Inorg. Mater. 1981, 17, 1126.
- (300) Palkina, K. K.; Maksimova, S. I.; Chibiskova, N. T. Inorg. Mater. **1981**, 17, 921
- (301) Masse, R.; Guittel, J.-C.; Durif, A. Acta Crystallogr. 1977, B33, 630
- (302)Elmokhtar, O. S. M.; Rzaigui, M.; Bagieu-Beucher, M.; le Fur, Y. Mater. Res. Bull. 1995, 30, 995.
- (303) Elmokhtar, O. S. M.; Rzaigui, M. Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg. 1996, 105.307
- (304) Trunov, V. K.; Chudinova, N. N.; Borodina, L. A. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1988, 300, 1375.
- (305) Bagieu-Bacher, M.; Rzaigui, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 1789.
- (306) Bagieu-Beucher, M.; Rzaigui, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1992, C48, 244.

- (307) Hong, H. Y. P. Acta Crystallogr. 1974, B30, 468.
 (308) Hong, H. Y. P. Acta Crystallogr. 1974, B30, 1857.
 (309) Dorokhova, G. I.; Karpov, O. G. Kristallografiya 1984, 29, 677.
- (310) Matuszewski, J.; Kropiwnicka, J.; Znamierowska, T. Solid State Chem. 1988, 75, 285.
- Domanskii, A. I.; Shepelev, Y. F.; Smolin, Y. I.; Litvin, B. N. (311)Kristallografiya 1982, 27, 229.
- (312) Koizumi, H. Acta Crystallogr. 1976, B32, 266.

- (313) Hong, H. Y. *Mater. Res. Bull.* **1975**, *10*, 635.
 (314) Liu, J.-C.; Li, D.-Y. *Acta Phys. Sin.* **1983**, *32*, 786.
 (315) Koizumi, H.; Nakano, J. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1978**, *B34*, 3320.
- (316) Palkina, K. K.; Maksimova, S. I.; Kuznetsov, V. G. Izv. Akad.
- Nauk SSSR 1978, 14, 284.
- (320) Xing, Y.; Hu, N.-H.; Zhou, Q.-L.; Hong, G.-Y.; Yue, S.-Y. Wuli
- Huaxue Xenbao 1987, 3, 218.
- (321) Yong-Hua, L.; Ning-Hai, H.; Qing-Lian, Z.; Shu-Zhen, L. Acta Phys. Sin. 1983, 32, 675.
 (322) Maksimova, S. I.; Palkina, K. K.; Chibiskova, N. T. Izv. Akad.
- Nauk SSSR 1982, 18, 653
- (323) Palkina, K.; Saifuddinov, V. Z.; Kuznetsova, V. G.; Chudinova, N. N. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1977, 237, 837.
- (324) Maksimova, S. I.; Palkina, K. K.; Loshchenov, V. B.; Kuznetsov, V. G. *Zh. Neorg. Khim.* **1978**, *23*, 2959. Maksimova, S. I.; Palkina, K. K.; Loshchenov, V. V. *Izv. Akad.*
- (325) Nauk SSSR 1981, 17, 116.
- Dago, A. M.; Pushcharovskii, D. Y.; Pobedimskaya, E. A.; Belov, (326)N. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR **1980**, 251, 1392
- (327) Karpov, O. G.; Dorokhova, G. I. Kristallografiya 1989, 34, 1006. (328) Bagieu-Beucher, M.; Guitel, J. C. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1988,
- 55*9*, 123.
- (329) Maksimova, S. I.; Masloboev, V. A.; Palkina, K. K.; Sazhenkov, A. A.; Chibiskova, N. T. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1988, 33, 2503. Linde, S. A.; Gorbunova, Y. E.; Lavrov, A. V. Zh. Neorg. Khim. (330)
- 1983, 28, 1426.
- Koizumi, H. Acta Crystallogr. 1976, B32, 2254. (331)
- Trunov, V. K.; Anisimova, N. Yu.; Karmanovskaya, N. B.; Chudinova, N. N. *Izv. Akad. Nauk* **1990**, *SSSR 26*, 1288. (332)
- Palkina, K. K.; Maksimova, S. I.; Chudinova, N. N.; Vinogradova, (333)N. V.; Chibiskova, N. T. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1981, 17, 110.
- (334) Rzaigui, M.; Averbuch-Pouchot, M. T.; Durif, A. Acta Crystallogr. 1983, C39, 1612.
- (335) Krasnikov, V.; Vairada, M.; Konstants, Z. J. Solid State Chem. 1988, 74, 1.
- (336) Rzaigui, M.; Ariguib, K.; Averbuch-Pouchot, M. T.; Durif, A. Acta Crystallogr. 1986, B42, 1612.
 (337) Palkina, K. K.; Krasnikov, V. V.; Konstants, Z. Inorg. Mater.
- 1981, 17, 1243.
- Palkina, K. K.; Sazhenkov, A. Yu.; Maksimova, S. I.; Chibiskova, (338)N. T.; Masloboev, V. A. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1989, 34, 1175.
- Rzaigui, M.; Trabelsi, M.; Kbir-Ariguip, N. J. Solid State Chem. 1983, 50, 86. (339)
- Hassen, D. B.; Kbir-Ariguip, N.; Trabelsi, M. *Thermochim. Acta* 1984, 79, 251. (340)
- (341) Jezowska-Trzebiatowska, B.; Mazurak, Z.; Lis, T. Acta Crystallogr. 1980, C36, 1639.
- (342) Kangjing, Z.; Yitai, Q.; Guangyan, H. Cryst. Struct. Comm. 1982, 11. 1695
- (343) Hong, H. Y. P.; Pierce, J. W. Mater. Res. Bull. 1974, 9, 179.
 (344) Bagieu, M.; Tordjman, I.; Durif, A.; Bassi, G. Cryst. Struct. Comm. 1973, 2, 387.
- (345)Liu, S.; Hong, G.; Hu, N. Acta Phys. Sin. 1991, 40, 64.
- (346) Lin, Y.-H.; Hu, N.-H.; Zhou, Q.-G.; Wu, S.-X. Yingyong Huaxue 1983, 1, 33
- (347)Lin, Y.-H.; Hu, N.-H.; Wang, M.-Y.; Shi, E.-D. Hua Hsueh Hsueh Pao **1982**, 40, 211.
- Albrand, K. R.; Attig, R.; Fenner, J.; Jeser, J. P.; Mootz, D. Mater. (348)Res. Bull. 1974, 9, 129.
- Hong, H. Y. P. Acta Crystallogr. 1974, B30, 468. (349)
- (350)Tranqui, D.; Bagieu, M.; Durif, A. Acta Crystallogr. 1974, B30, 1751.
- (351) Katrusiak, A.; Kaczmarek, F. Cryst. Res. Technol. 1995, 30, 501.
- Schulz, H.; Thiemann, K. H.; Fenner, J. Mater. Res. Bull. 1974, (352) 9, 1525
- (353) Tranqui, D.; Bagieu-Beucher, M.; Durif, A. Bull. Soc. Fr. Mineral. Cristallogr. 1972, 95, 437.
- (354) Durif, A. Bull. Soc. Fr. Mineral. Cristallogr. 1971, 94, 314.
 (355) Lin, Y.-H.; Hu, N.-H.; Zhou, Q.-L.; Shi, E.-D.; Wang, M.-Y.; Liu,
- S.-Z.; Wu, S.-X. Ko Hsueh Tung Pao 1982, 27, 1126 (356) Rzaigui, M.; Kbir-Ariguib, N.; Averbuch-Pouchot, M. T.; Durif,
- A. J. Solid State Chem. **1984**, 52, 61. (357) Hamady, A.; Jouini, T. J. Solid State Chem. **1994**, 111, 443.
- (358) Foulon, J. D.; Durand, J.; Cot, L.; Tijani, N.; Rafiq, M. Acta
- *Crystallogr.* **1995**, *C51*, 348. (359) Foulon, J. D.; Tijani, N.; Durand, J.; Rafiq, M.; Cot, L. Acta
- (36) Foulon, J. D.; Tijani, N.; Durand, J.; Rafiq, M.; Cot, L. Acta Crystallogr. 1993, C49, 1.
 (360) Foulon, J. D.; Tijani, N.; Durand, J.; Rafiq, M.; Cot, L. Acta Crystallogr. 1993, C49, 849.
 (361) Tijani, N.; Durand, J.; Cot, L. Acta Crystallogr. 1988, C44, 2048.
- (362) Loukili, M.; Durand, J.; Larbot, A.; Cot, L.; Rafiq, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, 477.
- (363) Loukili, M.; Durand, J.; Larbot, A.; Cot, L.; Rafiq, M. J. Chim. Phys. Phys.-Chim. Biol. 1991, 88, 1975.
- (365) Loukili, M.; Durand, J.; Cot, L.; Rafiq, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1988, C44. 6.
- (366) Tanner, P. A.; Faucher, M. D.; Mak, T. C. W. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 38. 6008.
- (367) Ionov, V. M.; Aslanov, L. A.; Rybakov, V. B.; Porai-Koshits, M. A. *Kristallografiya* 1973, *18*, 403.
 (368) Seddon, J. A.; Jackson, A. R. W.; Kresinski, R. A.; Platt, A. W. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1999, 2189.
 (369) Ionov, V. M.; Aslanov, L. A.; Porai-Koshits, M. A.; Rybakov, V. P. Kristallografiva 1973, *18*, 405.
- B. Kristallografiya **1973**, *18*, 405. (370) Kresinski, R. A., Platt, A. W. G., Seddon, J. A. Cryst. Eng. Commun. **2000**, *33*, 1.
- (371) Palkina, K. K.; Maksimova, S. I.; Mironova, V. S.; Chibiskova,
- V. S.; Tananaev, I. V. *Zh. Neorg. Khim.* **1983**, *28*, 566.
 (372) Palkina, K. K.; Maksimova, S. I.; Chibiskova, N. T.; Mironova, V. S. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR* **1984**, *20*, 1889.
- (373) Palkina, K. K.; Maksimova, S. I.; Chibiskova, N. T.; Mironova, V. S.; Tananaev, I. V. *Zh. Neorg. Khim.* **1987**, *32*, 1790. (374) Pakhomov, V. I.; Palkina, K. K.; Maksimova, S. I.; Chibiskova,
- N. T.; Mironova, V. S.; Tananaev, I. V. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. 1987, 32, 20.
- (375) Palkina, K. K.; Maksimova, S. I.; Chibiskova, N. T. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1983, 28, 885
- (376)Niinistö, L. Systematics and the Properties of the Lanthanides, Sinha, S. P., Ed.; Reidel: Dordrecht, 1983; p 125. Voronkov, A. A.; Kadoshnikova, N. V.; Mukhtarova, N. V.;
- (377) Rastsvetaev, R. K.; Shumyatskaya, N. A.; Ilyukhin, V. V. Probl. Teor. Kristallokhim. Slozhnykh. Oksidov, Lazarev, A. N., Ed.; Izv. Nauka: Leningrad, 1982; p 5. (378) Podberezskaya, N. V.; Borisov, S. Zh. Struk. Khim. **1976**, *17*,
- (379) Hiltunen, L.; Niinistoe, L. Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1976, 5, 561.
- (380) Ahmed Farag, I. S.; El Kordy, M. A.; Ahmed, N. A. Z. Kristallogr. 1981, 155, 165.
- (381) Hummel, H.-U.; Fischer, E.; Fischer, T.; Joerg, P.; Pezzei, G. Z.

- (381) Hummel, H.-U.; Fischer, E.; Fischer, I.; Joerg, P.; Pezzel, G. Z. *Anorg. Allg. Chem.* **1993**, *619*, 805.
 (382) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. **1999**, *625*, 1548.
 (383) Gebert Sherry, E. J. Solid State Chem. **1976**, *19*, 271.
 (384) Bartl, H.; Rodek, E. Z. Kristallogr. **1983**, *162*, 13.
 (385) Junk, P. C.; Kepert, C. J.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. Aus. J. *Chem.* **1999**, *52*, 601.
 (386) Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
 (387) Dereigne A.; Pannetier C. Bull Soc. Chim. Fr. **1968**, 174.
- (387) Dereigne, A.; Pannetier, G. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1968, 174.
 (388) Hunt, E. B.; Rundle, R. E.; Stosick, A. J. Acta Crystallogr. 1954,
- 7. 106.
- (389) Larsson, L. O.; Linderbrandt, S.; Niinistoe, L.; Skoglund, U. (300) Dereigne, A.; Mandi J. M.; Pannetier, G.; Herpin, P. Bull. Soc.
 (390) Dereigne, A.; Manoli, J. M.; Pannetier, G.; Herpin, P. Bull. Soc.
- *Fr. Mineral. Cristallogr.* **1972**, *95*, 269. (391) Bede, S. *Jiegon Huaxue* **1987**, *6*, 70.
- (392) Bohatý, L. Personal communication.

- (393) Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
 (394) Wendtlandt, W. W. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1958, 7, 51.
 (395) Wendtlandt, W. W.; George, T. D. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1961, 19, 245.
- (396) Nathans, M. W.; Wendtlandt, W. W. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1962, 24, 869.
- (397) Bukovec, N.; Bukovec, P.; Siftar, J. Vestn. Slov. Kem. Drus. 1975, *22*, 5.
- (398) Brittain, H. G. J. Less-Common Met. 1983, 93, 97.
- Niinistö, L.; Saikkonen, P.; Sonninen, P. Proc. Acad. Sci. Est. (399) SSR Chem. 1984, 33, 209.
- (400) Niinistö, L.; Saikkonen, P.; Sonninen, P. Rare Earths Mod. Sci. *Technol.* **1982**, *3*, 257.
- (401) Sirotinkin, S. P.; Efremov, V. A.; Kovba, L. M.; Prokovskii, A. N. *Kristallografiya* **1977**, *22*, 1272.
- (402) Sirotinkin, S. P.; Prokovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. Kristallografiya 1981, 26, 385.
- (403) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 1468.
- (404) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., submitted for publication.
- (405) Sirotinkin, S. P.; Prokovskii, A. N. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1982, 27, 2142
- (406) Iskhakova, L. D.; Kozlova, N. P.; Marugin, V. V. Kristallografiya 1990, 35, 1089.
- (407) Rogachev, D. L.; Porai-Koshits, M. A.; Kuznetsov, V. Y.; Dikareva, L. M. Zh. Strukn. Khim. 1974, 15, 465.
- (408) Bukovec, N.; Kaucic, V.; Golic, L. Acta Crystallogr. 1980, B36, 129.
- (409) Bukovec, N.; Golic, L.; Bukovec, P.; Siftar, J. Monatsh. Chem. 1978, 109, 1305
- (410) Sirotinkin, S. P.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. Kristallografiya 1981, 26, 385
- (411)Chizhov, S. M.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. Kristallografiya 1981, *26*, 834.
- (412) Chizhov, S. M.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. Kristallografiya 1982, 27, 997.

- Chemical Reviews, 2002, Vol. 102, No. 6 2083
- (413) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Kristallogr. 1997, Suppl. 12, 146.
 (414) Sirotinkin, S. P.; Chizhov, S. M.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. J. Less Common Met. 1978, 58, 101.
- (415) Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
- (416) Sarukhanyan, N. L.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Trunov, V. K. Kristal-
- (416) Sarukhanyan, N. L.; Iskhakova, L. D.; ITUIIOV, V. K. *Mistatlografiya* 1983, 28, 452.
 (417) Sirotinkin, S. P.; Efremov, V. A.; Kovba, L. M.; Pokrovskii, A. N. *Kristallografiya* 1977, 22, 966.
 (418) Degtyarev, P. A.; Korytnaya, F. M.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. Vestn. Mosk. Univ., Khim. 1977, 1977, 705.
 (419) Sirotinkin, S. P.; Tchijov, S. M.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M.
- (420) Sirotinkin, S. P.; Efremov, V. A.; Kovba, L. M.; Pokrovskii, A. N. *Kristallografiya* 1978, *23*, 406.
 (421) Degtyarev, P. A.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. *Kristallografiya*
- 1978, 23, 840. (422) Sarukhanyan, N. L.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Trunov, V. K.; Ganeev
- *G. Kristaľlografiya* **1984**, *29*, 440.
- Sarukhanyan, N. L.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Trunov, V. K. Kristal-(423)lografiya 1984, 29, 687. Sarukhanyan, N. L.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Trunov, V. K. Kristal-(424)
- *lografiya* **1985**, *30*, 274. (425)
- Iskhakova, L. D.; Gasanov, Y.; Trunov, V. K. Zh. Struk. Khim. 1988, 29, 95.
- (426) Sarukhanyan, N. L.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Trunov, V. K. Kristal*lografiya* **1984**, *29*, 435. (427) Degtyarev, P. A.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. Ann. Chim.
- [Paris] **1978**, *3*, 187. Kudin, O. V.; Efremov, V. A.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Degtyarev, P. (428)
- A.; Trunov, V. K. *Zh. Neorg. Khim.* **1977**, *22*, 95. Iskhakova, L. D.; Sukhova, I. E.; Chernova, O. P.; Shakhno, I. (429)
- V.; Plyushchev, V. E. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1975, 20, 348.
- (430) Samartsev, B. G.; Prokofev, M. V.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1978, 23, 540.
- (431) Komissarova, L. N.; Bashkov, B. I.; Shatskii, V. M. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1970, 15, 300.
- Samartsev, B. G.; M. V.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M.; Novichkov, V. A. *Zh. Neorg. Khim.* **1979**, *24*, 2112. Samartsev, B. G.; M. V.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. *Zh.* (432)
- (433)Neorg. Khim. 1977, 22, 2721.
- (434) Pospelova, L. A.; Kokunova, V. N.; Zaitsev, L. M. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1970, 15, 2349.
- (435) Il'yashenko, V. S.; Zaitseva, L. L.; Barabash, A. I.; Sudakova, L. S. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1973, *18*, 2981.
 (436) Degtyarev, P. A.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M.; Korytnaia, F.
- M. J. Solid State Chem. 1977, 22, 419.
- (437) Degtyarev, P. A.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1980, 25, 2113.
- (438) Iskhakova, L. D.; Plyushchev, V. E.; Perezhogina Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1971, 16, 1836.
- (439) Komissarova, L. N.; Bashkov, B. I.; Shatskii, V. M. *Zh. Neorg. Khim.* **1970**, *15*, 1507.
 (440) Prokofev, M. V.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. *Zh. Neorg.*
- Khim. 1979, 24, 2114.
- (441) Degtyarev, P. A.; Korytnaya, F. M.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. Kristallografiya 1978, 23, 1036.
- (442) Iskhakova, L. D.; Gasanov, Yu. M. Zh. Struk. Khim. 1991, 32, 110.
- (443) Samartsev, B. G.; Pokrovskii, A. N.; Kovba, L. M. Kristallografiya 1980, 25, 394
- (444)Chibiskova, N. T.; Maksimova, Storozhenko, D. A.; Palkina, K. K.; Skorikov, V. M.; Shevchuk, V. G. Izv. Akad. Nauk. SSR 1984, 20, 1944.
- (445) Iskhakova, L. D.; Efremov, V. A.; Trunov, V. K. Coord. Chem. (USSR) 1981, 7, 1417.
- (446) Junk, P. C.; Kepert, C. J.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. Aus. J. Chem. 1999, 52, 601.
- (447) Rogaachev, D. L.; Rastsvetaeva, R. K.; Kusnetsov, V. Y.; Dikareva, L. M. *Zh. Struk. Khim.* **1989**, *30*, 105.
 (448) Kuznetsov, V. Y.; Dikareva, L. M.; Rogachev, D. L.; Porai-Koshits, M. A. *J. Struct. Chem. (USSR)* **1990**, *31*, 14.
- (449)Lyutin, V. I.; Safyanov, Y. N.; Kuzmin, E. A.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Belov, N. V. Kristallografiya **1974**, *19*, 376. Niinisto, L.; Toivonen, J.; Valkonen, J. Fin. Chem. Lett. **1980**,
- (450)3.87
- Sarukhanyan, N. L.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Trunov, V. K., Ilyukhin, (451) V. V. Coord. Chem. (USSR) 1984, 10, 981.
- (452) Prokof'ev, M. V. Kristallografiya 1981, 26, 598.
- (453) Iskhakova, L. D.; Sarukhanyan, N. L.; Shchegoleva, T. M.; Trunov, V. K. Kristallografiya 1985, 30, 474.
- (454) Iskhakova, L. D.; Bondar, S. A.; Trunov, V. K. Kristallografiya 1987, 32, 328. Iskhakova, L. D.; Bondar, S. A.; Trunov, V. K. Kristallografiya (455)
- 1987, *32*, 328. (456) Blackburn, A. C.; Gerkin, R. E. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51,
- 2215.
- Barnes, J. C. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 2466. (457)
- (458) Iskhakova, L. D.; Sarukhanyan, N. L.; Trunov, V. K. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1985, 30, 978.

- (459) Robinson, P. D.; Jasty, S. Acta Crystallogr. 1998, C54, 1.
- (460) Eriksson, B.; Larsson, L. O.; Niinistoe, L.; Skoglund, U. Inorg. Chem. 1974, 13, 290.
- (461) Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
 (462) Bukovec, N.; Golic, L.; Siftar, J. Doc. Chem. Yougosl 1979, 26, 377.
- (463) Bukovec, P.; Golic, L. Doc. Chem. Yougosl. 1975, 22, 19.
 (464) Iskhakova, L. D.; Starikova, Z. A.; Trunov, V. K. Coord. Chem. (USSR) 1981, 7, 1713.
- (465) Safyanov, Y. N.; Kuzmin, E. A.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Ilyukhin, V. V.; Belov, N. V. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSR* **1975**, *220*, 346.
- (466) Jasty, S.; Robinson, P. D.; Malhotra, V. M. Phys. Rev. B 1991, 43. 13215.
- (467) Mirceva, A.; Golic, L. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 175.
 (468) Sarukhanyan, N. L.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Drobinskaya, I. G.; Trunov, V. K. Kristallografiya **1985**, 30, 880.
- (469) Kaucic, V.; Bukovec, N.; Golic, L. Acta Crystallogr. 1985, C41, 636
- (470) Iskhakova, L. D.; Trunov, V. K. Kristallografiya 1985, 30, 279.
- (471) Erämetsä, O.; Niinistö, L. Suom. Kemistil. B 1971, 44, 107.
- (472) Belousova, A. P.; Shakno, I. V.; Plyushchev, V. E. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1970, 15, 226.
- (473) Storozhenko, D. A. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1983, 28, 1162.
- (474) Misra, S. K.; Isber, S.; Li, L. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 1998, 10, 10667.
- (475) Zaitseva, L. L.; Konarev, M. I.; Kruglov A. A.; Chebotarev, N. Г. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1964, 9, 2554
- (476) Belousova, A. P.; Shakno, I. V.; Plyushchev, V. E. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1968, 13, 1948.
- Storozhenko, D. A.; Molodkin, K. A.; Shevchuk, V. G.; Akimov, (477)V. M.; Grigorev, Yu. A. *Zh. Neorg. Khim.* **1983**, *28*, 894. (478) Kolcu, Ö.; Zümreoglu-Karan, B. *Thermochim. Acta* **1997**, *296*,
- 135.
- (479) Govindarajan, S.; Patil, K. C.; Manohar, H.; Werner, P.-E. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1986, 119.
- (480) Mirceva, A.; Golic, L. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 175.
- (481) Shan, Y.; Huang, S. D. *Acta Crystallogr.* 1998, *C54*, 1744.
 (482) Shatskii, V. M.; Bashkov, B. I.; Komissarova, L. N.; Grevtsev, A. M. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1974, 19, 2013.
 (483) Shatskii, V. M.; Churaev, V. F.; Bashkov, B. I.; Grevtsev, A. M.;
- Komissarova, L. N. *Zh. Neorg. Khim.* **1974**, *19*, 2327. (484) Komissarova, L. N.; Churaev, V. F.; Shatskii, V. M.; Bashkov,
- B. I.; Grevtsev, A. M.; Teterin, E. G. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1974, 19, 2606.
- (485) Lindgren, O. Acta Chem. Scand. 1977, A31, 163.
- (486) Lindgren, O. Acta Crystallogr. 1976, B32, 3347.

- (487) Lundgren, G. Ark. Kemi 1953, 6, 59.
 (488) Lundgren, G. Ark. Kemi 1956, 10, 183.
 (489) Fahey, J. A.; Williams, G. J. B.; Haschke, J. M. BNL report 26129, 1979, 1/12.
- (490) Wontcheu, J.; Hartenbach, I.; Schleid, Th. Personal communication.
- (491) Hummel, H.-U.; Joerg, P.; Pezzei, G.; Wolski, A. Z. Naturforsch. 1994, 49b, 347.
- (492) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 1347.
 (493) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 1707.
 (494) Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.

- (495) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1998, 624, 1583.
- (496) Wickleder, M. S. Chem. Mater. 1998, 10, 3212.
 (497) Gatehouse, B. M.; Pring, A. J. Solid State Chem. 1981, 38, 116.
- (498) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 1439.
 (499) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 1439.
 (499) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 474.
 (500) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 621.
 (501) Kilian, H.; Matthes, F. Z. Chem. 1967, 7, 397.

- (501) Kilian, H.; Matthes, F. Z. Chem. 1967, 7, 397.
 (502) Kilian, H.; Matthes, F. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1970, 374, 286.
 (503) Kilian, H.; Matthes, F. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1970, 377, 287.
 (504) Kilian, H.; Matthes, F. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1971, 386, 185.
 (505) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 93-96.
 (506) Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
 (508) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 302.
 (509) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 302.

- (509) Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
 (510) Wickleder, M. S. *Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem.* **2000**, *626*, 1724.
 (511) Benson, G. A.; Spillane, W. J. *Chem. Rev.* **1980**, *80*, 151.

- (512) Capestan, M. Ann. Chim. 1960, 207.
 (513) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 1794.
 (514) Wickleder, M. S. J. Alloys Compd. 2000, 303–304, 445.
 (515) Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
- (516) Vicentini, G.; Chiericato, G., Jr. An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 1979, 51, 217.
- (517) Zinner, L. B.; Vicentini, G. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1980, 42, 1349. (518) de Matos, J. E. X.; Niinistö, L.; Matos, J. R.; Vicentini, G.; Zinner, L. B. Acta Chem. Scand. 1988, A42, 111.
- (519) Zinner, L. B. An. Acad. Bras. Ciènc. 1979, 30, 57.
 (520) Zinner, L. B. An. Acad. Bras. Ciènc. 1980, 52, 715.

- (520) Zhinier, L. B. All. Acad. Dias. Clenc. 1900, 52, 715.
 (521) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 1675.
 (522) Wickleder, M. S. Chem. Mater., in press.
 (523) Aricó, E. M.; Zinner, L. B.; Apostolidis, C.; Dornberger, E.; Kanellakopulos, B.; Rebizant, J. J. Alloys Compd. 1997, 249, 111.

- (524) Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
- (525) Wickleder, M. S.; Müller, I. Z. Naturforsch. b, submitted for publication.

Wickleder

- (526) Ovanisyan, S. M.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Trunov, V. K. Kristallografiya **1988**, *33*, 69.
- Hiltunen, L.; Niinistö, L. Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1976, 5, 567. (527)
- (528) Iskhakova, L. D.; Makarevich, L. G. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1996, 41, 1102.
- (529) Krügermann, I.; Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
- (530) Karvinen, S.; Niinistö, L. Lanthanide Actinide Res. 1986, 1, 169.
 (531) Aslanov, L. A.; Farag, I. S. A.; Ionov, V. M.; Porai-Koshits, M. A. Russ. J. Phys. Chem. 1973, 47, 1233.
- (532) Valkonen, J.; Niinistö, L.; Eriksson, B.; Larsson, L. O.; Skoglund,

- U. Acta Chem. Scand. 1975, A29, 866.
 (533) Giolito, I.; Giesbrecht, E. An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 1969, 41, 517.
 (534) Nabar, M. A.; Paralkar, S. V. Thermochim. Acta 1976, 15, 390.
 (535) Nabar, M. A.; Paralkar, S. V. Thermochim. Acta 1976, 15, 239. (536) Niinistö, L.; Saikkonen, P.; Sonninen, R. Rare Earths Mod. Sci.
- Technol. **1982**, 3, 257
- (537)Karvinen, S.; Niinistö, L. Lanthanide Actinide Res. 1986, 1, 169.
- Valkonen, J. Acta Crystallogr. 1978, B34, 1957 (538)
- (539) Iskhakova, L. D.; Ovanisyan, S. M. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1995, 40, 1768
- (540)Iskhakova, L. D.; Kozlova, N. P.; Marugin, V. V. Kristallografiya 1990, 35, 1089.
- (541) Ovanisyan, S. M.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Trunov, V. K. Zh. Neorg.
- *Khim.* **1987**, *32*, 896.
 (542) Ovanisyan, S. M.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Trunov, V. K. *Kristallografiya* **1987**, *32*, 1148.
- Iskhakova, L. D. Kristallografiya 1995, 40, 631 (543)
- (544) Gasanov, Y. M.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Trunov, V. K. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1985, 30, 3047
- (545) Iskhakova, L. D.; Ovanisyan, S. M.; Trunov, V. K. Kristal*lografiya* **1990**, *35*, 1083.
- (546) Iskhakova, L. D.; Ovanisyan, S. M.; Trunov, V. K. Kristallografiya 1990, 35, 1099.
- (547) Ovanisyan, S. M.; Iskhakova, L. D. Kristallografiya 1989, 34,
- (548) Valkonen, J.; Niinistö, L. Acta Crystallogr. 1978, B34, 266.
- (549) Ovanisyan, S. M.; Iskhakova, L. D.; Efremov, V. A.; Trunov, V. K. Kristallografiya 1988, 33, 63.
- (550) Göhausen, I.; Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 1115.
- (551) Iskhakova, L. D.; Ovanisyan, S. M.; Trunov, V. K. Zh. Struk. Khim. 1991, 32, 30.
- (552) Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.

- (553) Valkonen, J. Acta Crystallogr. 1978, B34, 3064.
 (553) Valkonen, J.; Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
 (555) Krügermann, I.; Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results. (cf. Göhausen, I. Diploma thesis, University of Cologne, 2000).
- (556)
- Iskhakova, L. D.; Tursina, A. I. *Kristallografiya* **1989**, *34*, 1414. Slavinka, R. I.; Usubaliv, D.; Serebrennikov, V. V. *Tr. Tomsk.* (557)(557) Shavinka, R. I., Osubally, D., Schenfelmiko Gos. Univ. Ser. Khim. 1963, 157, 304.
 (558) Petru, F.; Kutek, F. Z. Chem. 1963, 3, 473.

Belin, C.; Favier, F.; Pascal, J. L.; Thillard-Charbonnel, M. Acta Crystallogr. **1996**, *C52*, 1872. Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. **1999**, *625*, 1556. Wickleder, M. S. Z. Kristallogr. **2000**, Suppl. 17, 133.

Wickleder, M. S.; Schäfer, W. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625,

Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. **1999**, 625, 11. Smolin, Y. I.; Shepelev, Y. F.; Domanskii, A. I. Sov. Phys. Crystallogr. **1982**, 27, 2, 146.

Steinberg, M.; Shidlovsky, I. Bull. Res. Counc. Isr. A 1962, 11,

Wang, R.; Carducci, M. D.; Zheng, Z. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39,

Schleid, Th.; Meyer, G.; Oczko, G.; Legenziewicz, J. J. Alloys

Weber, F. A.; Meier, S. F.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 2225.

(576) Meier, S. F.; Weber, F. A.; Gläser, R. J.; Schleid, Th. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 2448.

(577) Hummel, H. U.; Joerg, P.; Pezzei, G.; Wolski, A. Z. Naturforsch.

(578) Koskenlinna, M.; Niinistö, L. *Finn. Chem. Lett.* **1975**, 83.
(579) Niinistö, L.; Koskenlinna, M. *Suom. Kemistil. B* **1973**, 245.
(580) Koskenlinna, M.; Leskelä, M.; de Matos, J. E. X.; Niinistö, L.

(565) Favier, F.; Pascal, J. L.; Cunin, F.; Fitch, A. N.; Vaughan, G. Inorg. Chem. 1998, 37, 1776.

Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.

Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.

Compd. 1991, 176, 337.

Thermochim. Acta 1985, 95, 401.

b 1994, 49, 60.

Wickleder, M. S.; Grupe, S. Unpublished results. (573) Csöregh, I.; Huskowska, E.; Ertan, A.; Legendziewicz, J.; Kierkegaard, P. Acta Chem. Scand. 1989, 43, 829.

submitted for publication.

(560)

(561)

(562)

(563)(564)

(566)

(567)(568)

(569)

(570)

(571)

(572)

(574)

(575)

309

234

1836

Glaser, J.; Johansson, G. Acta Chem. Scand. **1981**, A35, 639. Wickleder, M. S.; Grupe, S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. **2002**, (559)

- (582) Koskenlinna, M.; Niinistö, L. Suom. Kemistil. B 1973, 46, 326.
- Erämetsä, O.; Niinistö, L.; Korvela, T. Suom. Kemistil. B 1972, (583)45. 394.
- (584) Moskalenko, V. I.; Korotaeva, L. G.; Molodkin, A. K.; Pen'ya, N. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1976, 21, 1513.
- (585) Moskalenko, V. I.; Korotaeva, L. G.; Molodkin, A. K.; Pen'ya, N. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1976, 21, 1747.
- Moskalenko, V. I.; Korotaeva, L. G.; Molodkin, A. K. *Zh. Neorg. Khim.* **1978**, *23*, 2072. (586)
- Niinistö, L.; Larsson, L. O. Acta Chem. Scand. **1973**, 27, 2250. Oppermann, H.; Zhang-Presse, M. Z. Naturforsch. b **2001**, 56, (587)(588)
- 917 (589) Oppermann, H.; Zhang-Presse, M.; Weck, S.; Liebig, S. Z. Anorg.
- Allg. Chem. 2002, 628, in press. (590) Petrov, K. I.; Golovin, Yu. M.; Varfolomeev, M. B.; Remennik,
- E. M. Zh. Neorg. Khim. 1973, 18, 385 (591) Savchenko, G. S.; Tananaev, I. V.; Volodina, A. N. Inorg. Mater. 1986, 4, 965.
- (592) Giolito, I.; Giesbrecht, E. An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 1967, 39, 233.
- (593) Gospodinov, G. G.; Stancheva, M. G. Monatsh. Chem. 2001, 132, 1031
- Ionashiro, M.; Melios, C. B.; Ribeiro, C. A.; Spirandeli Crespi, M.; Giolito, I. *Thermochim. Acta* **1990**, *168*, 223. (594)
- (595) Koskenlinna, M.; Mutikainen, I.; Leskelä, M.; Niinistö, L. Acta Crystallogr. 1994, C50, 1384.
- (596) de Pedro, M.; Enjalbert, R.; Castro, A.; Trombe, J. C.; Galy, J. J. Solid State Chem. 1994, 108, 87.
- Castro, A.; Enjalbert, R.; de Pedro, M.; Trombe, J. C. J. Solid State Chem. **1994**, *112*, 418. (597)
- (598) Morris, R.; Harrison, W. T. A.; Stucky, G. D.; Cheetham, A. K. Acta Crystallogr. 1992, C48, 1182.
- (599) Immonen, E.; Koskenlinna, M.; Niinistö, L.; Pakkanen, T. Finn. Chem. Lett. 1976, 3, 67.
- (600) Leskelä, M.; Hölsä, J. Thermochim. Acta 1985, 92, 489.
- (601) de Pedro, M.; Rasines, I.; Castro, A. J. Mater. Sci. Lett. 1993, *12*. 1637.
- (602) de Pedro, M.; Trombe, J. C.; Castro, A. J. Mater. Sci. Lett. 1995, 14, 994.
- (603)Valkonen, J.; Leskelä, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1978, B34, 1323.
- (604) Stancheva, M.; Petrova, R.; Macicek, J. Acta Crystallogr. 1998, C54, 699. (605) Koskenlinna, M.; Valkonen, J. Acta Chem. Scand. 1977, A31,
- 457.
- (606) Valkonen, J.; Ylinen, P. Acta Crystallogr. 1979, B35, 2378. (607) Wontcheu, J.; Schleid, Th.; Krügermann, I.; Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., in press.
- (608) Krügermann, I.; Wickleder, M. S. J. Solid State Chem. 2002, in press.

- (609) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 547.
 (610) Krügermann, I.; Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
 (611) Delage, C.; Carpy, A.; H'Naifi, A.; Goursolle, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1986, C42, 1475.
- (612) Wontcheu, J.; Schleid, Th. Personal communication.
 (613) Morris, R. E.; Hriljac, J. A.; Cheetham, A. K. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 2013.
- (614)Harrison, W. T. A.; Zhang, Z. J. Solid State Chem. 1997, 133, 572
- (615) Wontcheu, J.; Schleid, Th. Personal communication.
- (616) Wontcheu, J.; Schleid, Th. Z. Kristallogr. 2002, Suppl. 19.
- (617) Berrigan, R.; Gatehouse, B. M. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 496.
- (618) Wontcheu, J.; Schleid, Th. Unpublished results
- (619) Göhausen, I.; Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 1725.
- (620) Morris, R. E.; Wilkinson, A. P.; Cheetham, A. K. Inorg. Chem. 1992, *31*, 4774.
- (621) Harrison, W. T. A.; Zhang, Z. Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem. 1997, 34, 599
- (622) Göhausen, I.; Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2002, 628, 47.
- (623) Yakunina, G. M.; Serebrennikov, V. V. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. 1970, 15, 447.
- (624) Smirnov, N. I.; Volkov, A. V. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 1974, 217, 639
- (625) Wickleder, M. S. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1999, 625, 1771.(626) Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
- (627) Sikka, S. K. Acta Crystallogr. 1969, A25, 621.
 (628) Helmholz, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1939, 61, 1544.
- (629) Albertsson, J.; Elding, I. Acta Crystallogr. 1977, B33, 1460.
 (630) Gallucci, J. C.; Gerkin, R. E.; Reppart, W. J. Cryst. Struct.
- Commun. 1982, 11, 1141
- (631) Gerkin, R. E.; Reppart, W. J. Acta Crystallogr. 1987, C43, 623.
 (632) Mayer, I.; Glasner, Y. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1967, 29, 1605.
 (633) Yakunina, G. M.; Alekseenko, L. A.; Serebrennikov, V. V. Zh.
- Fiz. Khim. 1970, 44, 60.
- (634) Nassau, K.; Shiever, J. W. J. Solid State Chem. 1975, 13, 368.
- (635) Abrahams, S. C.; Bernstein, J. L.; Nassau, K. J. Solid State Chem. 1976, 16, 173.

- (636) Abrahams, S. C.; Bernstein, J. L.; Nassau, K. J. Solid State *Chem.* **1977**, *22*, 243. Nassau, K.; Shiever, J. W.; Prescott, B. E.; Cooper, A. S. *J. Solid*
- (637)State Chem. 1974, 11, 314.
- (638)
- Nassau, K. Proceedings of the 12th Rare Earth Research Confer-ence, Vail, CO, 1976; Vol. 2, p 772. Liminga, R.; Abrahams, S. C.; Bernstein, J. L. J. Chem. Phys. 1975, 62, 755. (639)
- (640) Sen-Gupta, P. K.; Ammon, H. L. Acta Crystallogr. 1989, C45, 175.
- (641) Abrahams, S. C.; Bernstein, J. L. J. Chem. Phys. 1978, 69, 2505.

- (641) Abrahams, S. C., Bernstein, J. L. J. Chem. Phys. 1976, 69, 2303.
 (642) Ibers, J. A. Acta Crystallogr. 1956, 9, 225.
 (643) Ibers, J. A.; Cromer, D. T. Acta Crystallogr. 1958, 11, 794.
 (644) Cromer, D. T.; Larson, A. C. Acta Crystallogr. 1956, 9, 1015.
 (645) Azarova, L. A.; Vinogradova, E. E.; Mohajlova, E. M.; Pakhomov, M. J. Debl. Acta March 502 1979, 2020, 214 V. I. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSR 1972, 206, 613.
- (646) Liminga, R.; Abrahams, S. C.; Bernstein, J. L. J. Chem. Phys. **1977**, 67, 1015.
- Dumonceau, J.; Bigot, S.; Trevil, M.; Faucherre, J.; Fromage, F. Rev. Chim. Minér. **1979**, *16*, 583. (647)
- Spahiu, K. Acta Chem. Scand. 1985, A35, 820. (648)
- (649)Salutsky, M. L.; Quill, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1950, 72, 3306.
- (650) Shinn, D. B.; Eick, H. A. *Inorg. Chem.* **1968**, *7*, 1340. (651) Head, E. L.; Holley, C. H., Jr. *Rare Earth Research II*; Vorres, K. S., Ed.; Gordon and Breach: New York 1964; p 51.
- (652) Miyawaki, R.; Kuriyama, J.; Nakai, I. Am. Mineral. 1993, 78, 425
- (653) Barnes, J. S.; Blyth, C. S. *Inorg. Chem. Acta* **1985**, *110*, 133.
 (654) Barnes, J. S.; Blyth, C. S.; Paton, J. D.; Smith, I. G. B.
- Lanthanide Actinide Res. **1990**, *3*, 181. Yonezawa, S.; Maisonneuve, V.; Marrot, J.; Takashima, M.; Leblanc, M. J. Phys. Chem. Solids **2001**, *62*, 1507. (655)
- (656)
- Christensen, N. Acta Chem Scand. **1973**, *27*, 2973. Dexpert, H.; Caro, P. Mater. Res. Bull. **1974**, *9*, 1577 (657)
- (658) Doert, Th.; Rademacher, O.; Getzschmann, J. Z. Kristallogr. **1999**, *214*, 11.
- (659) Beall, G. W.; Milligan, W. O.; Mroczkowski, S. Acta Crystallogr. 1976, B32, 3143.
- (660) Christensen, A. N.; Hazell, R. G. Acta Chem Scand. 1984, 38, 157
- (661) Christensen, A. N. Acta Chem Scand. 1970, 24, 2440.
- (662) Attfield, J. P.; Ferey, G. J. Solid State Chem. **1989**, *82*, 132.
 (663) Komissarova, L. N.; Prozorovskaya, Z. N.; Chuvaev, V. F.; Kosinova, N. M. Russ. J. Inorg. Chem. **1971**, *16*, 23.
 (664) Turcotte, R. P.; Sawyer, J. O.; Eyring, L. Inorg. Chem. **1969**, *8*,
- 238.
- Rohrbaugh, W. J.; Jacobson, R. A. *Inorg. Chem.* **1974**, *13*, 2535. Furmanova, N. G.; Soboleva, L. V.; Belyaev, L. M. *Kristal-lografiya* **1981**, *26*, 312. (665)(666)
- Grice, J. D.; Gault, R. A. Can. Mineral. 1998, 36, 1293. (667)

- (667) Grice, J. D.; Gault, R. A. *Can. Mineral.* **1998**, *36*, 1293.
 (668) Zhdanova, T. A.; Voronkov, A. A.; Komissarova, L. N.; Pyatenko, Y. A. *Dokl. Khim. Nauk* SSSR **1971**, *196*, 1076.
 (669) Dahm, M. Thesis, University at Cologne, 2000.
 (670) Bond, D. L.; David, L.; Clark, D. L.; Donohoe, R. J.; Gordon, J. C.; Gordon, P. L.; Keogh, D. W.; Scott, B. L.; Tait, C. D.; Watkin, J. G. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2001**, *39*, 2921.
 (671) David, L.; Clark, D. L.; Donohoe, R. J.; Gordon, J. C.; Gordon, D. W.; Scott, B. L.; Tait, C. D.; Watkin, J. G. L.; Keogh, D. W.; Scott, B. L.; Tait, C. D.; Watkin, J. G. J. *Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans.* **2000**, 1975.
 (672) Bond, D. L.; David, L.; Clark, D. L.; Donohoe, R. J.; Gordon, J.
- (672) Bond, D. L.; David, L.; Clark, D. L.; Donohoe, R. J.; Gordon, J. C.; Gordon, P. L.; Keogh, D. W.; Scott, B. L.; Tait, C. D.; Watkin, J. G. *Inorg. Chem.* **2000**, *39*, 3934. Runde, W.; Neu, M. P.; Van Pelt, C.; Scott, B. L. *Inorg. Chem.*
- (673) 2000. 6. 1050.
- (674) Marsh, R. E.; Herbstein, F. H. Acta Crystallogr. 1988, B44, 77. Voliotis, S.; Rimsky, A.; Faucherre, J. Acta Crystallogr. 1975, B31, 2607.
- Schweer, H.; Seidel, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1981, 477, 196. (675)
- (676) Kalz, H. J.; Seidel, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1982, 486, 221.
 (677) Voronkov, A. A.; Pyatenko, Y. A. Zh. Struk. Chim. 1967, 8, 935.
- Mercier, N.; Leblanc, M.; Antic-Fidancev, E.; Lemaitre-Blaise, (678)M. J. Solid State Chem. 1997, 132, 33.
- (679) Grice, J. D.; van Velthuizen, J.; Gault, R. A. Can. Mineral. 1994, 32, 405
- (680)Kutlu, I.; Kalz, H.-J.; Wartchow, R.; Ehrhardt, H.; Seidel, H.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. **1997**, 623, 1753. Kutlu, I.; Meyer, G. Z. Kristallogr. **1998**, 213, 236 (681)

(684) Donnay, G.; Donnay, J. D. H. Am. Mineral. **1953**, *38*, 932.
 (685) Ni, Y.; Hughes, J. M.; Mariano, A. N. Am. Mineral. **1993**, *78*,

(686) Mi, J. X.; Shen, J. C.; Pan, B. M.; Liang, J. Deqiu Kexue 1996,

(687) Oftedal, I. Z. Kristallogr. 1930, 72, 239.
 (688) Pingqui, F.; Youhua, K.; Guohong, G.; Meicheng, S.; Jinzi, Q. Kuangwu Xuebao 1987, 7, 298.

Mercier, N.; Leblanc, M. Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem. 1993,

(683) Kutlu, I.; Meyer, G. Z. Kristallogr. 1998, 213, 237.

(682)

(689)

415.

21, 63.

30. 207.

Lossin, A.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1993, 619, 2031.

- (690) Yang, Z. M.; Pertlik, F. Sci. Geol. Sin. 1993, 28, 221.
- (691) Mercier, N.; Leblanc, M. Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem. 1993, 30. 195.
- (692) Mercier, N.; Leblanc, M.; Antic-Fidancev, E.; Lemaitre-Blaise, M.; Porcher, P. J. Alloys Compd. 1995, 198, 225.
 (693) Mercier, N.; Leblanc, M. Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem. 1991,
- 28 727
- (694) Mercier, N.; Leblanc, M. Acta Crystallogr. 1994, C50, 1862.
- (695) Grice, J. D.; Chao, G. Y. Can. Mineral. 1997, 35, 743.
- (696) Greinacher, E.; Reinhardt, K. Chemische Technologie, 4th ed.; Harrisch, H., Steiner, R., Winnacker, K., Eds.; Hanser: Munich, 1982; Vol. 2, p 678.
- (697) Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Yu. A. Sov. Phys. Crystallogr. 1990, *35*, 223.
- (698) Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Yu. A. Crystallogr. Rep. 1995, *40*. 69.
- (699) Iveronova, V. I.; Tarasova, V. P.; Zolina, Z. K.; Markhasin, G. V.; Suokhodreva, I. M. Zh. Fiz. Khim. 1955, 29, 314.
- (700) Eriksson, B.; Larsson, L. O.; Niinistoe, L.; Valkonen, J. Inorg. Chem. 1980, 19, 1207.
- (701) Milinski, N.; Ribar, B.; Sataric, M. Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1980, 9.473.
- (702) Rumanova, I. M.; Volodina, G. F.; Belov, N. V. Kristallografiya 1964, 9, 642.
- (703) Fuller, C.; Jacobson, R. A. Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1976, 5, 349. (704) Volodina, G. F.; Rumanova, I. M.; Belov, N. V. Kristallografiya
- 1961, 6, 919. (705) Rogers, D. J.; Taylor, N. J.; Toogood, G. E. Acta Crystallogr. 1983,
- *C39*, 939. (706)
- Shi, B.; Wang, J. Xiamen Daxue Xuebao 1991, 30, 55.
- (707) Shi, B. D.; Wang, J. Z. Jiegon Huaxue 1990, 9, 164.
- (708) Stumpf, Th.; Bolte, M. Acta Crystallogr. 2001, E57, 10.
- (709) Ma, H.; Gao, S.; Zupci, Y. *Wuji Huaxue Xuebao* **1991**, *7*, 351.
 (710) Moret, E.; Buenzli, J.-C. G.; Schenk, K. J. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 1990, 178, 83.
- (711) Ribar, B.; Milinski, N.; Budovalcev, Z.; Krstanovic, I. Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1980, 9, 203.
- (712) Ribar, B.; Kapor, A.; Argay, G.; Kalman, A. Acta Crystallogr. 1986, B42, 1450.
- (713) Stockhause, S.; Meyer, G. Z. Kristallogr.-New Cryst. Struct. 1997, 212, 315.
- (714) Eriksson, B. Acta Chem. Scand. 1982, A36, 186.
- (715) Junk, P. C.; Kepert, D. L.; Skelton, B. W.; White, A. H. Aust. J. Chem. **1999**, 52, 497.
- Wendlandt, W. W. Anal. Chim. Acta 1956, 15, 439. (716)
- (717) Wendlandt, W. W.; Baer, J. L. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1960, 12, 276.
- (718) Gobichon, A. E.; Louër, M.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louër, D. J. Solid State Chem. 1996, 126, 127.
- (719) Milinski, N.; Radivojevic, P.; Ribar, B.; Djuric, S. Cryst. Struct. Commun. 1982, 11, 1241.
- (720) Radivojevic, P.; Milinski, N.; Ribar, B.; Lazar, D. Croat. Chem. Acta 1984, 57, 451.

- (721) Ribar, B.; Radivojevic, P. Acta Crystallogr. 1988, C44, 595.
 (722) Meyer, G.; Jacobsen, H. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1992, 615, 16.
 (723) Ribar, B.; Radivojevic, P.; Argay, G.; Kalman, A. Acta Crystallogr. **1990**, *C46*, 525.
- (724) Louër, M.; Louër, D.; Lopez-Delgado, A.; Garcia-Martinez, O. Eur. J. Inorg. Solid State Chem. 1989, 26, 241.
 (725) Lundberg, M.; Skarnulis, A. J. Acta Crystallogr. 1976, B32, 2944.
- (726) Mullica, D. F.; Sappenfield, E. L.; Grossie, D. A. J. Solid State
- Chem. 1986, 63, 231. (727) Lengauer, C. L.; Giester, G.; Unfried, P. Powder Diffr. 1994, 9,
- 115.
- (728) Louër, D.; Louër, M. J. Solid State Chem 1987, 68, 292.
- (729) Pelloquin, D.; Louër, M.; Louër, D. J. Solid State Chem. 1994, *112*, 182.
- (730) Guillou, N.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louër, D. J. Solid State Chem. 1994, 112, 45.
- (731) Christensen, A. N.; Nielsen, M.; O, Reilly, K. P. J.; Wroblewski, (171) Christensen, A. A., Meisen, M., O., Reiny, R. T. S., Wiobewski, T. Acta Chem. Scand. 1992, 46, 224.
 (732) Giester, G.; Unfried, P.; Zak, Z. J. Alloys Compd. 1997, 257, 175.
 (733) Zak, Z.; Unfried, P.; Giester, G. J. Alloys Compd. 1994, 205, 235.

- (734) Audebrand, N.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louër, D. J. Solid State Chem. 1997, 132, 361
- (735) Kumada, N.; Takahashi, N.; Kinomura, N.; Sleight, A. W. J. Solid State Chem. 1998, 139, 321.
- (736)Eriksson, B.; Larsson, L. O.; Niinistoe, L. Acta Chem. Scand. 1982, A36, 465.
- (737) Meyer, G.; Manek, E.; Reller, A. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1990, 59Ĭ, 77.
- (738) Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Dryuchko, A. G.; Kalinin, V. B.; Verin, I. A.; Stefanovich, S. Y. Kristallografiya 1992, 37, 1449.
- (739) Audebrand, N.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louër, M.; Guillou, N.; Louër, D. Solid State Ionics **1996**, *84*, 323. Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Dryuchko, A. G. Kristal-
- (740)lografiya 1990, 35, 1395.

(741) Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Dryuchko, A. G. Kristallografiya 1990, 35, 1399.

Wickleder

- (742) Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Dryuchko, A. G. Kristallografiya 1989, 34, 292.
- (743) Eriksson, B.; Larsson, L. O.; Niinistoe, L.; Valkonen, J. Acta Chem. Scand. 1980, A34, 567.
 (744) Held, P.; Hellwig, H.; Rühle, S.; Bohatý, L. J. Appl. Crystallogr.
- 2000, 33, 372.
- C. S. J. Solid State Chem. **1999**, 148, 302. Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Dryuchko, A. G.; Verin, I.
- (747)A. Kristallografiya **1992**, 37, 882.
- (748) Held, P.; Hellwig, H.; Rühle, S.; Bohatý, L. J. Appl. Crystallogr. **2000**, *33*, 380. Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Andrianov, V. I.; Dryuchko, (749)
- A. G. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSR **1990**, 26, 2357 (750) Stockhause, S.; Meyer, G. Z. Kristallogr.-New Cryst. Struct. 1997,
- 212. 317. (751) Audebrand, N.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louër, D. J. Solid State Chem.
- 1997, 132, 361. Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Dryuchko, A. G. Kristal-(752)
- *lografiya* **1989**, *34*, 1396. (753) Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Dryuchko, A. G. Zh. Struk.
- Khim. 1989, 30, 175 Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Dryuchko, A. G. Zh. Struk. (754)
- Khim. 1991, 32, 26. Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Dryuchko, A. G. Kristal-(755)
- *lografiya* **1989**, *34*, 1434. (756) Held, P.; Bohat, L. Z. Kristallogr.-New Cryst. Struct. 2001, 216, 33.
- (757) Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Tamazyan, R. A.; Dryuchko,
- A. G. Kristallografiya **1988**, *33*, 613. Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Y. A.; Dryuchko, A. G.; Verin, I. (758)A. Kristallografiya 1991, 36, 1395.
- (759) Zalkin, A.; Forrester, J. D.; Templeton, D. H. J. Chem. Phys. 1963, *39*, 2881.
- (760) Balagurov, A. M.; Borca, E.; Dlouha, M.; Gheorghiu, Z.; Mironova, G. M.; Zlokazov, V. B. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1979**, *A35*, 131. (761) Anderson, M. R.; Jenkin, G. T.; White, J. W. *Acta Crystallogr.*
- 1977, B33, 3933.
- (762) Guillou, N.; Louër, M.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louër, D. Eur. J. Inorg. Solid State Chem. 1995, 32, 35.
- (763) Gobichon, A. E.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louër, D. J. Alloys Compd. 1998, 275, 130.
- Stockhause, S.; Meyer, G. Unpublished results. Cf. Stockhause, S. Thesis, University of Hannover, 1996. Manek, E.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. **1993**, 619, 1237. Manek, E.; Meyer, G. Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem. **1993**, (764)
- (765)
- (766)30. 883.
- Meyer, G.; Stockhause, S. Z. Kristallogr. 1994, 209, 180. (767)
- Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results. (768)

- (769) Witcheder, M. S. Onpublisher results.
 (769) Sherry, E. G. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1978, 40, 257.
 (770) Manek, E.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1993, 619, 513.
 (771) Manek, E.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1992, 616, 141.
 (772) Manek, E.; Meyer, G. Eur. J. Solid State Inorg. Chem. 1993, and appendix a *30.* 883
- (773) Guillou, N.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louër, D. J. Solid State Chem. 1996, 122, 59
- (774) Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Yu. A.; Dryuchko, A. S. Zh. Struk. *Khim.* **1989**, *30*, 152. Carnall, W. T.; Siegel, S.; Ferraro, J. R.; Tani, B. S.; Gebert, E.
- (775)Inorg. Chem. **1973**, 12, 560.
- Vigdorchik, A. G.; Malinovskii, Yu. A.; Dryuchko, A. G.; Verin, (776)I. A. Kristallografiya 1992, 37, 882.
- (777) Guillou, N.; Auffredic, J. P.; Louër, D. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 1032.
- Gobichon, A.-E.; Auffredic, J.-P.; Louër, D. J. Solid State Chem. (778) 1999, 144, 68.

- (779) Manek, E.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1995, 621, 1903.
 (780) Manek, E.; Meyer, G. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 1993, 619, 761.
 (781) Audebrand, N.; Auffredic, J.-P.; Benard-Rocherulle, P.; Louër, D. Acta Crystallogr. 1997, C53, 1748.
- Castellani Bisi, C.; Clerici, A. *Gazz. Chim. Ital.* **1963**, *93*, 1444. Castellani-Bisi, C. *Acta Crystallogr.* **1984**, *C40*, 1120. (783)
- (784) Protsenko, P. I.; Ivleva, T. I.; Protsenko, G. P. Zh. Neorg. Khim.
- 1970, 15, 9. (785) Protsenko, P. I.; Berdyukova, V. A.; Protsenko, G. P. Zh. Neorg.
- Khim. 1969, 14, 886.
- (786) Habboush, D. A.; Kerridge, D. H. Thermochim. Acta 1984, 73, 25
- (787) Ferrari, A.; Cavalca, L.; Nardelli, M. Gazz. Chim. Ital. 1951, 81, 964
- (788)Barnes, J. C.; Thomas, J. M. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1974, 9, 171.
- Martin, J. L.; Thompson, L. C.; Radonovich, L. J.; Glick, M. D. (789)J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 4493. (790) Burmeister, J. L.; Patterson, S. D.; Deardorff, E. A. Inorg. Chim.

Acta 1969, 3, 105.

- (792) Wickleder, M. S. Unpublished results.
 (793) Lazarev, P. I.; Ionov, V. M.; Aslanov, L. A.; Porai-Koshits, M. A. *Zh. Strukt. Khim.* **1973**, *14*, 168.
- (794) Lazarev, P. I.; Aslanov, L. A.; Ionov, V. M.; Porai-Koshits, M. A. Koord. Khim. 1975, 1, 710.
- (795) Maniukewicz, W.; Sieron, L.; Bukowska-Strzyzewska, M.; Turek, A. Acta Crystallogr. 1996, C52, 753.
- (796) Wickleder, C. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2001, 627, 1693.
 (797) Gutmann, V.; Leitmann, O.; Schütz, R. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem.
- Lett. 1966, 2, 133.
- (798) El-Ezaby, M. S.; Abdel-Aziz, I. E. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1975, 37, 2013. (799) Popitsch, A.; Mautner, F. A.; Fritzer, H. P. J. Mol. Struct. 1982,
- 79, 313. (800) Mautner, F. A.; Krischner, H.; Fritzer, H. P. Z. Kristallogr. 1989,
- *188*, 279.
- (801) Mautner, F. A.; Krischner, H.; Fritzer, H. P.; Kratky, C. J. Mol. *Struct.* **1989**, *213*, 169. (802) Hashimoto, Y.; Takahashi, M.; Kikkawa, S.; Kanamaru, F. J.
- Solid State Chem. 1995, 114, 592. (803) Hashimoto, Y.; Takahashi, M.; Kikkawa, S.; Kanamaru, F. J.
- Solid State Chem. 1996, 125, 37.
- (804) Rossmanith, K. Monatsh. Chem. 1966, 97, 1698.
- (805) McColm, I. J.; Thompson, S. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1972, 34, 3801.
- (806) Assefa, Z.; Staples, R. J.; Fackler, J. P., Jr.; Patterson, H.; Shankle, G. Acta Crystallogr. 1995, C51, 2527.

- (807) Stier, A.; Range, K.-J. Z. Kristallogr. 1997, 212, 51.
 (808) Range, K.-J.; Stier, A. Z. Naturforsch. b 1996, 51, 698.
 (809) Klement, U. Z. Kristallogr. 1993, 208, 285.
 (810) Klement, U. Z. Kristallogr. 1993, 208, 288.
 (811) Bailey, W. E.; Williams, R. J.; Milligan, W. O. Acta Crystallogr. 1973, B29, 1365.

- (812) Mullica, D. F.; Milligan, W. O.; Garner, R. L. Acta Crystallogr. 1980, B36, 2561.
- (813) Mullica, D. F.; Milligan, W. O.; Kouba, W. T. J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 1979, 41, 967.
- (814) Marsh, R. E. Acta Crystallogr. 1989, C45, 330.
- Mullica, D. F.; Sappenfield, E. L. J. Solid State Chem. 1989, (815)82. 168.
- (816) Gramlich, V.; Petter, W. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 724.
- (817) Petter, W.; Gramlich, V.; Hulliger, F. J. Solid State Chem. 1988, 74, 9.
- (818) Dommann, A.; Vetsch, H.; Hulliger, F. Acta Crystallogr. 1990, C46, 1994.
- Dommann, A.; Vetsch, H.; Hulliger, F.; Petter, A. Acta Crystal-(819)logr. 1990, C46, 1992.
- Mullica, D. F.; Sappenfield, E. L. Acta Crystallogr. 1991, C47, (820)2433.
- (821) Mullica, D. F.; Sappenfield, E. L. J. Crystallogr. Spectrosc. Res. 1991, 21, 529.
- Mullica, D. F.; Hayward, P. K.; Sappenfield, E. L. Acta Crystal-(822)logr. 1996, C52, 61.
- Shi, J.-M.; Liao, D.-Z.; Cheng, P.; Jiang, Z.-H.; Wang, G.-L.; Yao, (823)X.-K.; Wang, H.-G. Hua Hsueh Hsueh Pao 1997, 55, 467.
- (824) Mullica, D. F.; Perkins, H. O.; Sappenfield, E. L.; Grossie, D. A. J. Solid State Chem. 1988, 74, 9.
- (825) Mullica, D. F.; Perkins, H. O.; Sappenfield, E. L. J. Solid State Chem. 1988, 74, 419.
- (826) Petter, W.; Gramlich, V.; Hulliger, F. J. Solid State Chem. 1989, 82, 161.
- (827) Wang, X.-Y.; Yukawa, Y.; Masuda, Y. J. Alloys Compd. 1999, 290. 85.

CR010308O